
 

If you would like help to understand this document, or would like it in 
another format, please call Governance Services on 01432 260635 or e-
mail emma.daly@herefordshire.gov.uk in advance of the meeting. 

 

 

 
 
AGENDA 
 
Audit and Governance 
Committee 
 

 

Date: Monday 29 September 2014 

Time: 10.00 am 

Place: Grand Jury Room, Shire Hall, St. Peter's Square, 
Hereford, HR1 2HX 

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of the meeting. 

For any further information please contact: 

Governance Services 
Tel: 01432 260635 
Email: emma.daly@herefordshire.gov.uk 

 
 

 



 

 

Agenda for the Meeting of the Audit and 
Governance Committee 
Membership  
  
Chairman Councillor JG Jarvis 
Vice-Chairman Councillor EMK Chave 
   
 Councillor CNH Attwood  
 Councillor PGH Cutter  
 Councillor MAF Hubbard  
 Councillor TM James  
 Councillor Brig P Jones CBE  
 Councillor PJ McCaull  
 Councillor NP Nenadich  
 Councillor J Stone  
 

Non Voting    
 
 



 
HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL  29 SEPTEMBER 2014 
 

 

AGENDA  
 Pages 
PUBLIC INFORMATION AND FIRE INFO 
 

 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 

 

2. NAMED SUBSTITUTES (IF ANY) 
 

 

 To receive details of any Members nominated to attend the meeting in place 
of a Member of the committee. 
 

 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 

 To receive any declarations of interest by Members in respect of items on the 
agenda. 
 

 

4.   MINUTES 
 

7 - 10 

 To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 9 September 2014. 
 

 

5.   PROGRESS REPORT ON 2014/15 INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 
 

11 - 24 

 To update Members on the progress of internal audit work and to bring to 
their attention any key internal control issues arising from work recently 
completed. 
 

 

6.   REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL'S AUDIT FINDINGS REPORT FOR 2013/14 
 

25 - 66 

 To update the committee on the improved audit findings for 2013/14. 
 

 

7.   STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
 

67 - 190 

 To seek the Audit and Governance Committee’s approval of the 2013/14 
Statement of Accounts and Annual Governance Statement. 
 

 

8.   WASTE VFM 
 

191 - 260 

 To advise of the conclusion of the waste PFI contract variation value for 
money assessment. 
 

 

9.   DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 

 

 The next scheduled meeting is Wednesday 26 November 2014 10.00 am 
 

 





The Public’s Rights to Information and Attendance at Meetings  
 
YOU HAVE A RIGHT TO: - 
 
• Attend all Council, Cabinet, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings unless the business 

to be transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or ‘exempt’ information. 

• Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of the meeting. 

• Inspect minutes of the Council and all Committees and Sub-Committees and written 
statements of decisions taken by the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members for up to six 
years following a meeting. 

• Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a period of up to 
four years from the date of the meeting.  (A list of the background papers to a report is 
given at the end of each report).  A background paper is a document on which the officer 
has relied in writing the report and which otherwise is not available to the public. 

• Access to a public Register stating the names, addresses and wards of all Councillors with 
details of the membership of Cabinet and of all Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have a reasonable number of copies of agenda and reports (relating to items to be 
considered in public) made available to the public attending meetings of the Council, 
Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the Council have delegated 
decision making to their officers identifying the officers concerned by title. 

• Copy any of the documents mentioned above to which you have a right of access, subject 
to a reasonable charge (20p per sheet subject to a maximum of £5.00 per agenda plus a 
nominal fee of £1.50 for postage). 

• Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend meetings of the 
Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees and to inspect and copy documents. 

 

5



FIRE AND EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 

 

In the event of a fire or emergency the alarm bell will ring continuously. 

You should vacate the building in an orderly manner through the nearest 
available fire exit and make your way to the Fire Assembly Point in the Shire 
Hall car park. 

Please do not allow any items of clothing, etc. to obstruct any of the exits. 

Do not delay your vacation of the building by stopping or returning to collect 
coats or other personal belongings. 

The Chairman or an attendee of the meeting must take the signing in sheet so it 
can be checked when everyone is at the assembly point. 

6



HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL 

MINUTES of the meeting of Audit and Governance Committee 
held at Town Hall Chamber, Town Hall, 10 St Owen Street, 
Hereford. HR1 2SP on Tuesday 9 September 2014 at 2.00 pm 
  

Present: Councillor JG Jarvis (Chairman) 
Councillor EMK Chave (Vice Chairman) 

   
 Councillors: CNH Attwood, WLS Bowen, PGH Cutter, Brig P Jones CBE, 

PJ McCaull, AJW Powers, J Stone and DB Wilcox 
 
  
In attendance: Councillors CM Bartrum and EPJ Harvey  
  
Officers: Bill Norman (Assistant Director Governance), Phil Jones (Grant Thornton), 

Terry Tobin (Grant Thornton) 
  

12. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor MAF Hubbard and Councillor NP 
Nenadich. 
 

13. NAMED SUBSTITUTES (IF ANY)   
 
In accordance with paragraph 4.1.23 of the Council’s Constitution, Councillor AJW Powers 
attended the meeting as a substitute Member for Councillor MAF Hubbard and Councillor DB 
Wilcox attended the meeting as a substitute Member for Councillor NP Nenadich. 
 

14. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

15. MINUTES   
 
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 23 June 2014 be confirmed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

16. HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL PIDA INVESTIGATION: REVIEW OF CUSTOMER 
RELATIONSHIP MANAGER IMPLEMENTATION   
 
External Auditors, Grant Thornton UK LLP, presented the findings of a recent Public Interest 
Disclosure Act (PIDA) investigation concerning the implementation of the council’s IT based 
customer relationship management (CRM) system and an agreed management action plan 
as a result of its findings. 
 
Grant Thornton looked at two broad areas in its investigation, procurement and 
implementation of the CRM system, and made the following key points from the report: 
 

• The business case for the project was very ambitious and not fully owned by parts of 
the council. 

• The estimated savings in the business case of £1.6million were not supported by 
robust analysis. However it is difficult for the exact savings to be calculated. 

• There is no evidence to suggest the procurement was not carried out properly. 

AGENDA ITEM 4

7



 

• The senior officers involved in the project are no longer employed by 
Herefordshire Council. Every co-operation has been given to the investigation by 
the current senior officers. 

• The CRM system in place is reasonably effective. However, it does not deliver all 
that was envisaged. It does not extend to all areas of the council and its partners, 
and it does not join up customer data to give a proactive response system. 

• The cost of the implementation was £1million, an underspend of £0.5million. It is 
difficult to gauge if this was value for money as, although the system is over 
engineered for its current use, the spend is not incommensurate with an IT 
system of this kind. 

• When looking at why the system has not delivered, the following conclusions 
were made –  

o The world changed, for example the Primary Care Trust was abolished. 
o The impact of austerity on the authority. 
o Changes in senior management. 
o The model of required customer service changed. 
o Corporate changes were not recognised. 

• An action plan has been written with 5 key points, all of which have been agreed 
by the management board. 

 
Grant Thornton UK LLP pointed out an error in their report. On page 9 the Annual Costs 
total figure should read £671,540 rather than £1,820,383. Grant Thornton confirmed that 
an amended version of the report would be sent to committee members as soon as 
possible.  
 
Grant Thornton UK LLP confirmed the report and action plan has been shared with the 
complainant and that they are broadly satisfied with its content. 
 
The following points were raised by members during the resulting discussion: 
 

• Staff turnover has meant projects fail to continue or be driven through when staff 
leave. The driving factor needs to be projects rather than people. 

• Contracts should have flexibility within them to enable the authority to cope when 
changes happen. 

• With major projects the whole council needs to own the business case. 
• What is being done to improve what is currently in place for CRM? 
• Concerns were raised with the action plan. Members felt more details are needed 

to give assurance that the same mistakes will not happen again and that lessons 
have been learnt. 

 
Following discussion from members, it was decided a Task and Finish Group should be 
created to scope and research work on governance structures, systems and procedures 
relating to procurement and projects. The membership of this group is to be confirmed at 
the briefing meeting on 23 September 2014 and circulated to all members prior to the 
next meeting on 29 September 2014. 
 
The Assistant Director Governance pointed out that since the CRM implementation took 
place new senior officers are in post and now follow updated procedures. Members 
requested a report to the committee meeting on 26 November 2014 to give a perspective 
on what is done differently now and the current processes and procedures. 
 
The Committee wished to commend the whistle blower for bringing the issue to the 
council’s attention. 
 
Resolved: That 
 

8



 

(a) The external audit report, including agreed management action plan, at 
Appendix 1 be noted. 

(b) The Audit and Governance Committee form a Task and Finish Group to 
scope and research work on governance structures, systems and 
procedures relating to procurement and projects, to include matters such as 
avoiding over reliance on any individual and incorporating ‘what if’ 
challenges. 

(c) The Assistant Director, Governance brings a report to the committee on 26 
November 2014 explaining what is now done differently with major projects 
within the organisation since the CRM implementation. 

 
17. COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REVIEW, ROSS-ON-WYE   

 
The Assistant Director, Governance, presented a report following the Ross-on-Wye 
Community Governance Review. The principal recommendations were that Ross Rural 
Parish Council and Ross Town Council cease to exist and a new Ross-on-Wye Parish 
Council be formed all with effect from 1 April 2015.  
 
Following the results of the consultation with Ross Rural Parish Council and Ross-on-
Wye Town Council the Assistant Director, Governance, explained he had made an 
amendment to the recommendations as published in the agenda. He recommended that 
Point (n) be replaced with a recommendation that the new parish be represented by the 
councillors of Ross Rural Parish Council and Ross-on-Wye Town Council, as at 31 
March 2015, for the period 1 April 2015 until the councillors for the new council, to be 
elected on 7 May 2015, come into office. As currently one councillor sits on both councils 
this will mean there will be 18 councillors representing the new parish for this period. Any 
councillor representing both councils on 31 March 2015 will only have one vote. 
 
It was confirmed an effective date of 1 April 2015 is preferred as this ensures a 
consistent precept will be set for 2015/2016 for the whole of the new parish council’s 
area. If the commencement date of the new council is later than 1 April 2015 there is a 
risk that different precepts could be charged. A precept can only be set once for the 
whole financial year. 
 
For legal reasons, the name of the new council is recommended to be Ross-on-Wye 
Parish Council. However, it was confirmed the new council has the right to change its 
name and could change it to ‘Town Council’ if it so wished. If this were to happen the 
Chairman of the new council would have the right to be called Mayor. 
 
It was pointed out that practical matters, such as staffing structure and financial issues, 
will need to be resolved by the new council. It would be very sensible if joint working 
between the two existing councils takes place prior to the commencement of the new 
council for practical arrangements to be discussed to ensure a smooth transfer. If any 
legal or administrative advice is required Legal and Governance Services at 
Herefordshire Council will provide this if requested. 
 
Resolved: That 
 
Audit and Governance Committee recommends to Council that with effect from 1 
April 2015 (‘the effective date’): 
 
(a) The existing parishes of Ross-on-Wye Rural and Ross-on-Wye Town shall 

be amalgamated to constitute a new parish; 
(b) The new parish shall be known as ‘Ross-on-Wye’; 
(c) The existing parishes of Ross-on-Wye Rural and Ross-on-Wye Town shall 

cease to exist; 

9



 

(d) The parish councils for the parishes of Ross-on-Wye Rural and Ross-on-
Wye Town shall be dissolved; 

(e) There shall be a parish council for the new parish of Ross-on-Wye; 
(f) The name of that new council shall be ‘Ross-on-Wye Parish Council’; 
(g) The first election of all parish councillors for the new parish of Ross-on-

Wye shall be held on the ordinary day of election of councillors in 2015; 
(h) The term of office of every parish councillor elected on the ordinary day of 

election of councillors in 2015 for the new parish of Ross-on-Wye shall be 
four years; 

(i) The existing Ross Rural East and Ross Rural West wards of the parish of 
Ross-on-Wye Rural; and the existing Ross-on-Wye East and Ross-on-Wye 
West wards of the parish of Ross-on-Wye Town, shall all be abolished; 

(j) The number of parish councillors to be elected for the new parish of Ross-
on-Wye shall be eighteen; 

(k) The new parish of Ross-on-Wye shall be divided into three wards which 
shall be named: Ross-on-Wye East, Ross-on-Wye North, and Ross-on-Wye 
West; and shall comprise the respective areas of the district wards bearing 
the same names; 

(l) The number of parish councillors to be elected for each ward in the new 
parish of Ross-on-Wye shall be six; 

(m) All the land, property, rights and liabilities of Ross-on-Wye Rural Parish 
Council and Ross-on-Wye Town Council shall transfer from those councils 
to the new Ross-on-Wye Parish Council; 

(n) From the effective date until the councillors to be elected to the new parish 
council come into office, the new parish shall be represented by those 
persons who were councillors for Ross-on-Wye Rural Parish Council 
and/or Ross-on-Wye Town Council on the 31 March 2015 provided that any 
person who was a councillor for both of those councils on that date shall 
have only one vote on the new Ross-on-Wye Parish Council. 

(o) That no recommendations be made to the Electoral Commission to request 
consequential alterations be made to any electoral areas of the County of 
Herefordshire District Council;  

(p) The Assistant Director, Governance be given delegated authority to 
execute The County of Herefordshire District Council (Reorganisation of 
Community Governance) (Ross-on-Wye) Order 2014 (‘the Reorganisation 
Order’) (to be substantially in the form set out in Annex 3 to this report, 
subject to any necessary typographical and/or technical amendments) and 
publicise the outcome of the community governance review in accordance 
with section 96 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health 
Act 2007; and 

(q) The Electoral Registration Officer be requested to commence preparatory 
electoral administrative work from 15 October 2014 as a consequence of 
the above changes; and that the Reorganisation Order shall have effect 
from that date for those purposes. 

 
 

The meeting ended at 3.33 pm CHAIRMAN 

10



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Jacqui Gooding - Audit Manager (SWAP) on Tel: 01432 260294 or 07872500675 

 

MEETING Audit and Governance Committee 

MEETING DATE: 29 September 2014 

TITLE OF REPORT: Progress Report on 2014/15 Internal Audit 
Plan 

REPORT BY: Internal Audit - South West Audit Partnership 
 

Alternative Options 

1 This report is for information and therefore alternative options are not applicable. 

Reasons for Recommendations 

2 To ensure compliance with good practice as set out in the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS). 

Key Considerations 

3 See Appendix A. 

Classification  

Open 

Wards Affected 

County-wide  

Purpose 

The purpose of this Internal Audit Report is to update Members on the progress of internal 
audit work and to bring to their attention any key internal control issues arising from work 
recently completed. 

The attached report (Appendix A) is a summary of the activity completed at 31 August 2014 
for the 2014/15 audit plan. 

Recommendation 

That subject to any comments the Committee wishes to make, the report be noted. 

AGENDA ITEM 5

11



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Jacqui Gooding - Audit Manager (SWAP) on Tel: 01432 260294 or 07872500675 

Community Impact 

4 The report does not impact on this area. 

Equality and Human Rights 

5 The report does not impact on this area. 

Financial Implications 

6 There are no financial implications. 

Legal Implications 

7 There are no legal implications.  

Risk Management 

8 There is a risk that the level of work required to give an opinion on the Council’s 
systems of Internal Control is not achieved.  This is mitigated by the regular active 
management and monitoring of progress against the agreed internal audit plan. 

Consultees 

9 The Chief Financial Officer (Section 151 Officer) was consulted in the drafting of this 
report. 

10 Appendices 

Appendix A - SWAP Plan Progress Report 2014/15 

Appendix B - 2014/15 Annual Plan Progress 

Appendix C - Audit Framework Definitions 

Background Papers 

• None identified. 

12



A
pp

en
di

x 
A 

   
       

                              

  H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
 C

ou
nc

il 
  Re

po
rt

 o
f I

nt
er

na
l A

ud
it 

Ac
tiv

ity
 

Pl
an

 P
ro

gr
es

s 
20

14
-1

5 
up

 to
 3

1st
 A

ug
us

t 2
01

4 
 

In
te

rn
al

 A
ud

it
 §

 R
is

k 
§ 

Sp
ec

ia
l I

nv
es

ti
ga

ti
on

s 
§ 

Co
ns

ul
ta

nc
y 

 

13



 
   

 

SW
AP

 w
or

k 
is

 c
om

pl
et

ed
 t

o 
co

m
pl

y 
w

ith
 t

he
 In

te
rn

at
io

na
l P

ro
fe

ss
io

na
l P

ra
ct

ic
es

 F
ra

m
ew

or
k 

of
 t

he
 In

st
itu

te
 o

f I
nt

er
na

l A
ud

ito
rs

, f
ur

th
er

 g
ui

de
d 

by
 in

te
rp

re
ta

tio
n 

pr
ov

id
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

PS
IA

S 
an

d 
th

e 
CI

PF
A 

Co
de

 o
f P

ra
ct

ic
e 

fo
r I

nt
er

na
l A

ud
it 

in
 E

ng
la

nd
 a

nd
 W

al
es

. 

                  

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
Su

m
m

ar
y:

 
 

 
Ro

le
 o

f I
nt

er
na

l A
ud

it 
 

 
 

 
Pa

ge
 1

 
 

O
ve

rv
ie

w
 o

f I
nt

er
na

l A
ud

it 
A

ct
iv

ity
  

 
In

te
rn

al
 A

ud
it 

W
or

k 
Pl

an
 2

01
4/

15
: 

 
 

 
Re

po
rt

 o
n 

Si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 F

in
di

ng
s 

 
 

 
Pa

ge
 2

  
 

A
ud

it 
Pl

an
 P

ro
gr

es
s 

 
 

 
 

Pa
ge

s 
3-

4 
  

 
 

 
Fu

tu
re

 P
la

nn
ed

 W
or

k 
} 

 
 

Co
nc

lu
si

on
s 

 
 

} 
 

 
 

Pa
ge

 5
 

 AP
PE

N
D

IC
ES

: 
 

 

 
 

 
20

14
/1

5 
An

nu
al

 P
la

n 
Pr

og
re

ss
 

 
 

 
Ap

pe
nd

ix
 ‘B

’ 
 

A
ud

it 
Fr

am
ew

or
k 

D
ef

in
iti

on
s 

 
 

 
Ap

pe
nd

ix
 ‘C

’ 

Co
nt

en
ts

 

Th
e 

co
nt

ac
ts

 a
t S

W
A

P 
in

 
co

nn
ec

ti
on

 w
it

h 
th

is
 r

ep
or

t a
re

: 
 G

er
ry

 C
ox

 
Ch

ie
f E

xe
cu

tiv
e 

Te
l: 

01
93

5 
38

59
06

 
ge

rr
y.

co
x@

so
ut

hw
es

ta
ud

it.
co

.u
k 

  Ia
n 

Ba
ke

r 
D

ire
ct

or
 o

f Q
ua

lit
y 

Te
l: 

07
91

76
28

77
4 

ia
n.

ba
ke

r@
so

ut
hw

es
ta

ud
it.

co
.u

k 
  Ja

cq
ui

 G
oo

di
ng

  
Au

di
t M

an
ag

er
 

Te
l: 

01
43

2 
26

04
26

 o
r 0

78
72

50
06

75
 

Ja
cq

ui
.g

oo
di

ng
@

so
ut

hw
es

ta
ud

it.
co

.u
k 

    
 

14



 
   

 

SW
AP

 w
or

k 
is

 c
om

pl
et

ed
 t

o 
co

m
pl

y 
w

ith
 t

he
 In

te
rn

at
io

na
l P

ro
fe

ss
io

na
l P

ra
ct

ic
es

 F
ra

m
ew

or
k 

of
 t

he
 In

st
itu

te
 o

f I
nt

er
na

l A
ud

ito
rs

, f
ur

th
er

 g
ui

de
d 

by
 in

te
rp

re
ta

tio
n 

pr
ov

id
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

PS
IA

S 
an

d 
th

e 
CI

PF
A 

Co
de

 o
f P

ra
ct

ic
e 

fo
r I

nt
er

na
l A

ud
it 

in
 E

ng
la

nd
 a

nd
 W

al
es

. 

  
 

Su
m

m
ar

y 
Pa

ge
 1

 

O
ur

 a
ud

it
 a

ct
iv

it
y 

is
 s

pl
it

 
be

tw
ee

n:
 

 
· 

O
pe

ra
ti

on
al

 A
ud

it
 

· 
Sc

ho
ol

 T
he

m
es

 
· 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

A
ud

it
 

· 
Ke

y 
Co

nt
ro

l A
ud

it
 

· 
IT

 A
ud

it
 

· 
G

ra
nt

s 
· 

O
th

er
 R

ev
ie

w
s 

 

Ro
le

 o
f I

nt
er

na
l A

ud
it

 
 Th

e 
In

te
rn

al
 A

ud
it 

se
rv

ic
e 

fo
r 

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
 C

ou
nc

il 
is

 p
ro

vi
de

d 
by

 S
ou

th
 W

es
t 

Au
di

t 
Pa

rt
ne

rs
hi

p 
Li

m
ite

d 
(S

W
AP

). 
 S

W
AP

 is
 a

 L
oc

al
 A

ut
ho

rit
y 

co
nt

ro
lle

d 
Co

m
pa

ny
.  

SW
AP

 h
as

 a
do

pt
ed

 a
nd

 w
or

ks
 to

 th
e 

St
an

da
rd

s 
of

 
th

e 
In

st
itu

te
 o

f 
In

te
rn

al
 A

ud
ito

rs
, f

ur
th

er
 g

ui
de

d 
by

 in
te

rp
re

ta
tio

n 
pr

ov
id

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
Pu

bl
ic

 S
ec

to
r 

In
te

rn
al

 
A

ud
it 

St
an

da
rd

s 
(P

SI
AS

), 
an

d 
al

so
 fo

llo
w

s 
th

e 
CI

PF
A

 C
od

e 
of

 P
ra

ct
ic

e 
fo

r 
In

te
rn

al
 A

ud
it.

  T
he

 P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 is
 

al
so

 g
ui

de
d 

by
 th

e 
In

te
rn

al
 A

ud
it 

Ch
ar

te
r 

ap
pr

ov
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

Au
di

t 
an

d 
G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
Co

m
m

itt
ee

 a
t i

ts
 m

ee
tin

g 
on

 2
3rd

 Ju
ne

 2
01

4.
 

 In
te

rn
al

 A
ud

it 
pr

ov
id

es
 a

n 
in

de
pe

nd
en

t 
an

d 
ob

je
ct

iv
e 

op
in

io
n 

on
 t

he
 A

ut
ho

ri
ty

’s
 c

on
tr

ol
 e

nv
iro

nm
en

t 
by

 
ev

al
ua

tin
g 

its
 e

ff
ec

tiv
en

es
s.

  P
ri

m
ar

ily
 th

e 
w

or
k 

in
cl

ud
es

: 

· 
O

pe
ra

tio
na

l A
ud

it 
Re

vi
ew

s 
· 

Sc
ho

ol
 T

he
m

es
 

· 
Cr

os
s 

Cu
tt

in
g 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

Au
di

ts
 

· 
An

nu
al

 R
ev

ie
w

 o
f K

ey
 F

in
an

ci
al

 S
ys

te
m

 C
on

tr
ol

s 
· 

IT
 A

ud
its

 
· 

G
ra

nt
s 

· 
O

th
er

 S
pe

ci
al

 o
r 

U
np

la
nn

ed
 R

ev
ie

w
s 

O
ve

rv
ie

w
 o

f I
nt

er
na

l A
ud

it
 A

ct
iv

it
y 

In
te

rn
al

 A
ud

it 
w

or
k 

is
 la

rg
el

y 
dr

iv
en

 b
y 

an
 A

nn
ua

l A
ud

it 
Pl

an
.  

Th
is

 is
 a

pp
ro

ve
d 

by
 th

e 
Ch

ie
f F

in
an

ci
al

 O
ff

ic
er

 
(S

ec
tio

n 
15

1 
O

ff
ic

er
) f

ol
lo

w
in

g 
co

ns
ul

ta
tio

n 
w

ith
 th

e 
Se

ni
or

 M
an

ag
em

en
t T

ea
m

.  
Th

is
 y

ea
r’

s 
(2

01
4/

15
) P

la
n 

w
as

 p
re

se
nt

ed
 to

 th
is

 C
om

m
itt

ee
 o

n 
23

rd
 Ju

ne
 2

01
4.

 

A
ud

it 
as

si
gn

m
en

ts
 a

re
 u

nd
er

ta
ke

n 
in

 a
cc

or
da

nc
e 

w
ith

 t
hi

s 
Pl

an
 t

o 
as

se
ss

 c
ur

re
nt

 l
ev

el
s 

of
 g

ov
er

na
nc

e,
 

co
nt

ro
l a

nd
 ri

sk
. 

 

15



 
   

 

SW
AP

 w
or

k 
is

 c
om

pl
et

ed
 t

o 
co

m
pl

y 
w

ith
 t

he
 In

te
rn

at
io

na
l P

ro
fe

ss
io

na
l P

ra
ct

ic
es

 F
ra

m
ew

or
k 

of
 t

he
 In

st
itu

te
 o

f I
nt

er
na

l A
ud

ito
rs

, f
ur

th
er

 g
ui

de
d 

by
 in

te
rp

re
ta

tio
n 

pr
ov

id
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

PS
IA

S 
an

d 
th

e 
CI

PF
A 

Co
de

 o
f P

ra
ct

ic
e 

fo
r I

nt
er

na
l A

ud
it 

in
 E

ng
la

nd
 a

nd
 W

al
es

. 

               

 Th
es

e 
ar

e 
ac

ti
on

s 
th

at
 w

e 
ha

ve
 

id
en

ti
fie

d 
as

 b
ei

ng
 h

ig
h 

pr
io

ri
ty

 
or

 c
or

po
ra

te
 ri

sk
s 

th
at

 h
av

e 
be

en
 a

ss
es

se
d 

as
 “

V
er

y 
H

ig
h”

 
or

 “
H

ig
h”

 a
nd

 th
at

 w
e 

be
lie

ve
 

sh
ou

ld
 b

e 
br

ou
gh

t t
o 

th
e 

at
te

nt
io

n 
of

 th
e 

A
ud

it
 

Co
m

m
it

te
e 

‘ 

Ap
pe

nd
ix

 B
 is

 a
 s

um
m

ar
y 

of
 th

e 
A

nn
ua

l P
la

n 
fo

r 
20

14
/1

5 
– 

a 
lis

t o
f a

ll 
au

di
ts

 a
s 

ag
re

ed
 in

 t
he

 A
nn

ua
l A

ud
it 

Pl
an

 2
01

4/
15

.  
It

 is
 im

po
rt

an
t t

ha
t M

em
be

rs
 a

re
 a

w
ar

e 
of

 th
e 

st
at

us
 o

f a
ud

its
 a

s 
th

is
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
he

lp
s 

th
em

 
pl

ac
e 

re
lia

nc
e 

on
 th

e 
w

or
k 

of
 In

te
rn

al
 A

ud
it 

an
d 

its
 a

bi
lit

y 
to

 c
om

pl
et

e 
th

e 
pl

an
 a

s 
ag

re
ed

. 

 W
he

re
 a

 r
ev

ie
w

 h
as

 a
 s

ta
tu

s 
of

 ‘F
in

al
’ a

nd
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

as
se

ss
ed

 a
s 

‘P
ar

tia
l’ 

or
 ‘N

o 
As

su
ra

nc
e’

, I
 w

ill
 p

ro
vi

de
 

fu
rt

he
r d

et
ai

l t
o 

in
fo

rm
 M

em
be

rs
 o

f t
he

 k
ey

 is
su

es
 id

en
tif

ie
d.

   
 Fo

r t
he

 a
ud

its
 c

om
pl

et
ed

 to
 re

po
rt

 s
ta

ge
 n

o 
au

di
ts

 h
av

e 
be

en
 a

ss
es

se
d 

as
 ‘P

ar
tia

l’ 
or

 ‘N
o 

As
su

ra
nc

e’
.  

Fo
r O

pe
ra

tio
na

l R
ev

ie
w

s 
an

 a
ss

es
sm

en
t o

n 
th

e 
m

an
ag

em
en

t o
f e

ac
h 

ris
k 

is
 in

cl
ud

ed
 in

 th
e 

re
po

rt
. A

ny
 ri

sk
s 

w
he

re
 t

he
 a

ud
ito

r’
s 

as
se

ss
m

en
t 

of
 r

is
k 

to
 t

he
 o

rg
an

is
at

io
n 

is
 “

Ve
ry

 H
ig

h”
 o

r 
“H

ig
h”

 w
ill

 b
e 

re
po

rt
ed

 t
o 

th
e 

A
ud

it 
Co

m
m

itt
ee

.  
N

o 
ris

ks
 h

av
e 

be
en

 a
ss

es
se

d 
as

 V
er

y 
H

ig
h 

or
 H

ig
h.

  

   Re
po

rt
 o

n 
Si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

 F
in

di
ng

s/
Ri

sk
 

In
te

rn
al

 A
ud

it
 W

or
k 

Pl
an

 –
 2

01
4/

20
15

 
Pa

ge
 2

 

16



 
   

 

SW
AP

 w
or

k 
is

 c
om

pl
et

ed
 t

o 
co

m
pl

y 
w

ith
 t

he
 In

te
rn

at
io

na
l P

ro
fe

ss
io

na
l P

ra
ct

ic
es

 F
ra

m
ew

or
k 

of
 t

he
 In

st
itu

te
 o

f I
nt

er
na

l A
ud

ito
rs

, f
ur

th
er

 g
ui

de
d 

by
 in

te
rp

re
ta

tio
n 

pr
ov

id
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

PS
IA

S 
an

d 
th

e 
CI

PF
A 

Co
de

 o
f P

ra
ct

ic
e 

fo
r I

nt
er

na
l A

ud
it 

in
 E

ng
la

nd
 a

nd
 W

al
es

. 

  
 

Co
m

pl
et

ed
 A

ud
it

 A
ss

ig
nm

en
ts

 
in

 th
e 

Pe
ri

od
 

 
Th

e 
su

m
m

ar
y 

of
 th

e 
An

nu
al

 P
la

n 
fo

r 2
01

4/
15

 (A
pp

en
di

x 
B)

 h
ig

hl
ig

ht
s p

ro
gr

es
s t

o 
da

te
.  

Ba
se

d 
on

 th
e 

fin
di

ng
s 

of
 e

ac
h 

re
vi

ew
, a

n 
ov

er
al

l c
on

tr
ol

 a
ss

ur
an

ce
 is

 o
ff

er
ed

.  
Fo

r 
a 

su
m

m
ar

y 
of

 C
on

tr
ol

 A
ss

ur
an

ce
 D

ef
in

iti
on

s,
 

Ca
te

go
ris

at
io

n 
of

 R
ec

om
m

en
da

tio
ns

 a
nd

 R
is

k 
Le

ve
ls

, p
le

as
e 

re
fe

r t
o 

Ap
pe

nd
ix

 ‘C
’. 

A
s 

ca
n 

be
 s

ee
n 

fr
om

 A
pp

en
di

x 
‘B

’, 
th

e 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

au
di

ts
 h

av
e 

be
en

 p
ro

gr
es

se
d 

to
 d

at
e:

  
O

pe
ra

ti
on

al
: 

· 
In

 P
ro

gr
es

s,
 3

 R
ev

ie
w

s 
· 

In
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t,

 2
 R

ev
ie

w
s 

 
G

ov
er

na
nc

e,
 F

ra
ud

 a
nd

 C
or

ru
pt

io
n:

 

· 
Co

m
pl

et
e,

 2
 R

ev
ie

w
s 

– 
(1

 R
ea

so
na

bl
e,

 1
 N

on
-O

pi
ni

on
) 

· 
D

is
cu

ss
io

n 
D

oc
um

en
t ,

 1
 R

ev
ie

w
 

· 
In

 P
ro

gr
es

s,
 1

 R
ev

ie
w

 
· 

N
ot

 S
ta

rt
ed

, 2
 R

ev
ie

w
s 

 
Fo

llo
w

 U
p 

Re
vi

ew
s:

 (N
on

-O
pi

ni
on

) 

· 
Co

m
pl

et
e,

 1
 R

ev
ie

w
 

· 
D

ra
ft

, 1
 R

ev
ie

w
 

· 
In

 P
ro

gr
es

s,
 2

 R
ev

ie
w

s 
 

Sc
ho

ol
 T

he
m

es
 –

: P
re

ve
nt

io
n 

of
 F

ra
ud

 
· 

N
ot

 S
ta

rt
ed

, 1
 R

ev
ie

w
  

· 
 

Ke
y 

Co
nt

ro
l: 

· 
D

is
cu

ss
io

n 
D

oc
um

en
t,

 2
 R

ev
ie

w
s 

 A
ud

it
 P

la
n 

Pr
og

re
ss

 
 

In
te

rn
al

 A
ud

it
 W

or
k 

Pl
an

 –
 2

01
4/

20
15

 
Pa

ge
 3

 

17



 
   

 

SW
AP

 w
or

k 
is

 c
om

pl
et

ed
 t

o 
co

m
pl

y 
w

ith
 t

he
 In

te
rn

at
io

na
l P

ro
fe

ss
io

na
l P

ra
ct

ic
es

 F
ra

m
ew

or
k 

of
 t

he
 In

st
itu

te
 o

f I
nt

er
na

l A
ud

ito
rs

, f
ur

th
er

 g
ui

de
d 

by
 in

te
rp

re
ta

tio
n 

pr
ov

id
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

PS
IA

S 
an

d 
th

e 
CI

PF
A 

Co
de

 o
f P

ra
ct

ic
e 

fo
r I

nt
er

na
l A

ud
it 

in
 E

ng
la

nd
 a

nd
 W

al
es

. 

                
 

 
 

 
 

Co
m

pl
et

ed
 A

ud
it

 A
ss

ig
nm

en
ts

 
in

 th
e 

Pe
ri

od
 

 
IC

T 
Re

vi
ew

s:
 

· 
In

 P
ro

gr
es

s,
  1

 R
ev

ie
w

 
G

ra
nt

s:
 

· 
Co

m
pl

et
e,

 2
 C

la
im

s,
 1

 G
ra

nt
 S

ig
n 

O
ff

 
 A

ud
it

 P
la

n 
Pr

og
re

ss
 

In
te

rn
al

 A
ud

it
 W

or
k 

Pl
an

 –
 2

01
4/

20
15

 
Pa

ge
 4

 

Sp
ec

ia
l R

ev
ie

w
s 

U
np

la
nn

ed
 w

or
k,

 s
pe

ci
al

 r
ev

ie
w

s 
or

 p
ro

je
ct

s 
ca

rr
ie

d 
ou

t 
on

 a
 r

es
po

ns
iv

e 
ba

si
s 

ar
e 

re
qu

es
te

d 
by

 t
he

 C
hi

ef
 

Fi
na

nc
ia

l O
ff

ic
er

 (S
ec

tio
n 

15
1 

O
ff

ic
er

). 

 A
 re

vi
ew

 to
 lo

ok
 a

t t
he

 p
ro

ce
ss

es
, r

ol
es

 a
nd

 re
sp

on
si

bi
lit

ie
s 

fo
r s

ch
oo

l m
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 is
 c

ur
re

nt
ly

 in
 p

ro
gr

es
s.

   

  

18



 
   

 

SW
AP

 w
or

k 
is

 c
om

pl
et

ed
 t

o 
co

m
pl

y 
w

ith
 t

he
 In

te
rn

at
io

na
l P

ro
fe

ss
io

na
l P

ra
ct

ic
es

 F
ra

m
ew

or
k 

of
 t

he
 In

st
itu

te
 o

f I
nt

er
na

l A
ud

ito
rs

, f
ur

th
er

 g
ui

de
d 

by
 in

te
rp

re
ta

tio
n 

pr
ov

id
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

PS
IA

S 
an

d 
th

e 
CI

PF
A 

Co
de

 o
f P

ra
ct

ic
e 

fo
r I

nt
er

na
l A

ud
it 

in
 E

ng
la

nd
 a

nd
 W

al
es

. 

           
 

  
 

             

In
te

rn
al

 A
ud

it
 W

or
k 

Pl
an

 –
 2

01
4/

20
15

 
 P

ag
e 

5 

W
e 

ke
ep

 o
ur

 a
ud

it
 p

la
ns

 u
nd

er
 

re
gu

la
r 

re
vi

ew
, s

o 
as

 to
 e

ns
ur

e 
w

e 
ar

e 
au

di
ti

ng
 th

e 
ri

gh
t t

hi
ng

s 
at

 t
he

 ri
gh

t t
im

e.
 

 

Fu
tu

re
 P

la
nn

ed
 W

or
k 

 A
s 

ne
w

 a
nd

 e
m

er
gi

ng
 r

is
ks

 a
re

 id
en

tif
ie

d,
 a

ny
 c

ha
ng

es
 t

o 
th

e 
pl

an
 w

ill
 b

e 
su

bj
ec

t 
to

 t
he

 a
gr

ee
m

en
t 

of
 t

he
 

Ch
ie

f 
Fi

na
nc

ia
l O

ff
ic

er
.  

M
em

be
rs

 w
ill

 n
ot

e 
th

at
 t

he
 S

pe
ci

al
 R

ev
ie

w
 is

 a
n 

ad
di

tio
na

l a
ud

it 
to

 t
he

 p
la

n 
an

d 
in

 
ag

re
em

en
t w

ith
 th

e 
Ch

ie
f F

in
an

ci
al

 O
ff

ic
er

 a
n 

au
di

t o
f e

qu
iv

al
en

t d
ay

s 
w

ill
 b

e 
re

m
ov

ed
 fr

om
 th

e 
pl

an
.  

 Co
nc

lu
si

on
 

 SW
AP

 h
as

 a
pp

oi
nt

ed
 t

w
o 

ne
w

 m
em

be
rs

 o
f 

st
af

f t
o 

th
e 

te
am

 w
ho

 a
re

 c
ur

re
nt

ly
 r

ec
ei

vi
ng

 o
ng

oi
ng

 t
ra

in
in

g.
 

Th
e 

th
re

e 
ex

is
tin

g 
m

em
be

rs
 o

f 
th

e 
te

am
 h

av
e 

m
ad

e 
a 

po
si

tiv
e 

st
ar

t 
to

 t
he

 a
ud

it 
pl

an
 a

nd
 h

av
e 

re
ce

iv
ed

 
tr

ai
ni

ng
 in

 th
e 

us
e 

of
 M

Ki
ns

ig
ht

 –
 th

e 
au

di
t m

an
ag

em
en

t s
ys

te
m

 u
se

d 
by

 S
W

AP
.  

St
ea

dy
 p

ro
gr

es
s 

ha
s 

be
en

 m
ad

e 
ag

ai
ns

t 
th

e 
20

14
/1

5 
pl

an
.  

Al
l q

ua
rt

er
 1

 w
or

k 
ag

re
ed

 b
ef

or
e 

th
e 

Co
un

ci
l 

jo
in

ed
 S

W
A

P 
is

 a
t r

ep
or

t s
ta

ge
 w

ith
 th

e 
ex

ce
pt

io
n 

of
 U

se
r A

cc
es

s 
M

an
ag

em
en

t.
 T

hi
s 

au
di

t w
ill

 lo
ok

 a
t a

cc
es

s 
co

nt
ro

ls
 f

or
 P

ay
ro

ll  
an

d 
A

cc
ou

nt
s 

Pa
ya

bl
e 

as
 w

el
l a

s 
th

e 
ce

nt
ra

lis
ed

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

by
 H

oo
pl

e 
IC

T,
 e

.g
. 

da
ta

 b
as

e 
ad

m
in

is
tr

at
or

 a
cc

es
s 

as
 w

el
l a

s 
sy

st
em

 a
dm

in
is

tr
at

or
 a

nd
 u

se
r 

ac
ce

ss
 c

on
tr

ol
s.

 H
oo

pl
e 

IC
T 

ha
s 

re
ce

nt
ly

 b
ee

n 
op

er
at

in
g 

w
ith

ou
t a

n 
ag

re
ed

 S
LA

; h
ow

ev
er

 th
e 

SL
A 

ha
s 

no
w

 b
ee

n 
ag

re
ed

.  
 Th

is
 h

as
 m

ea
nt

 t
ha

t 
H

oo
pl

e 
IC

T 
ar

e 
ha

vi
ng

 t
o 

co
st

 u
p 

re
so

ur
ce

s,
 r

at
he

r 
th

an
 w

or
k 

of
f a

 t
ar

iff
 b

as
is

, a
nd

 h
as

 
m

ea
nt

 d
el

ay
s 

in
 o

bt
ai

ni
ng

 a
cc

es
s 

to
 t

he
 c

en
tr

al
is

ed
 a

ct
iv

iti
es

. W
e 

to
ok

 th
is

 is
su

e 
to

 th
e 

cl
ie

nt
, a

nd
 a

 d
at

e 
of

 
th

e 
22

nd
 A

ug
us

t 
w

as
 a

gr
ee

d 
to

 s
ta

rt
 t

he
 f

ie
ld

w
or

k 
in

 H
oo

pl
e 

IC
T 

– 
th

is
 h

as
 r

es
ul

te
d 

in
 t

he
 d

el
ay

 i
n 

th
e 

co
m

pl
et

io
n 

of
 th

is
 a

ud
it.

  

M
os

t 
of

 th
e 

qu
ar

te
r 

2 
au

di
ts

 a
re

 in
 p

ro
gr

es
s 

w
ith

 o
nl

y 
th

re
e 

no
t 

st
ar

te
d.

 T
he

 s
ch

oo
l t

he
m

e 
re

vi
ew

 h
as

 b
ee

n 
de

la
ye

d 
be

ca
us

e 
of

 t
he

 s
ch

oo
l 

su
m

m
er

 b
re

ak
, 

bu
t 

vi
si

ts
 h

av
e 

be
en

 b
oo

ke
d 

no
w

 t
ha

t 
th

e 
Sc

ho
ol

s 
ha

ve
 

re
tu

rn
ed

.  
 

Th
er

e 
ar

e 
no

 si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 fi

nd
in

gs
 o

r h
ig

h 
co

rp
or

at
e 

ris
ks

 to
 re

po
rt

 a
t t

hi
s t

im
e 

bu
t I

 w
ill

 u
pd

at
e 

th
e 

Co
m

m
itt

ee
 

if 
th

is
 c

ha
ng

es
.  

19



20



A
p

p
en

d
ix

 B
H

er
ef

o
rd

sh
ir

e 
C

o
u

n
ci

l 2
01

4-
15

 A
u

d
it

 P
la

n
 

5
4

3
2

1

Ke
y 

Co
nt

ro
l

 P
ay

ro
ll 

20
14

-1
5

1
 D

is
cu

ss
io

n 
D

oc
um

en
t

Re
as

on
ab

le
0

0
0

0
0

0

Ke
y 

Co
nt

ro
l

 A
cc

ou
nt

s 
Pa

ya
bl

e 
20

14
-1

5
1

D
is

cu
ss

io
n 

D
oc

um
en

t
Re

as
on

ab
le

0
0

0
0

0
0

G
ov

er
na

nc
e,

 F
ra

ud
 &

 C
or

ru
pt

io
n

 E
xp

en
se

 F
ra

ud
1

 D
is

cu
ss

io
n 

D
oc

um
en

t
Re

as
on

ab
le

 
0

0
0

0
0

0

G
ov

er
na

nc
e,

 F
ra

ud
 &

 C
or

ru
pt

io
n

 M
em

be
rs

 E
xp

en
se

s
1

 C
om

pl
et

ed
Re

as
on

ab
le

3
0

0
3

0
0

O
pe

ra
tio

na
l

H
ou

si
ng

 - 
H

om
e 

Po
in

t
1

In
 P

ro
gr

es
s

0
0

0
0

0
0

IC
T

H
C_

U
se

r A
cc

es
s 

M
an

ag
em

en
t

1
In

 P
ro

gr
es

s
0

0
0

0
0

0

G
ra

nt
 C

er
tif

ic
at

io
n

G
re

en
 D

ea
l P

io
ne

er
 P

la
ce

s 
G

ra
nt

1
Co

m
pl

et
ed

N
on

-O
pi

ni
on

0
0

0
0

0
0

G
ra

nt
 C

er
tif

ic
at

io
n

H
C 

Ad
op

tio
n 

Re
fo

rm
 G

ra
nt

1
 C

om
pl

et
ed

N
on

-O
pi

ni
on

0
0

0
0

0
0

G
ra

nt
 C

er
tif

ic
at

io
n

Ca
re

 B
ill

 g
ra

nt
1

Co
m

pl
et

ed
N

on
-O

pi
ni

on
0

0
0

0
0

0

G
ov

er
na

nc
e,

 F
ra

ud
 &

 C
or

ru
pt

io
n

Fr
au

d 
&

 C
or

ru
pt

io
n 

Su
rv

ey
1

Co
m

pl
et

ed
N

on
-O

pi
ni

on
0

0
0

0
0

0

Fo
llo

w
 U

p
In

co
m

e 
Co

lle
ct

io
n

2
In

 P
ro

gr
es

s
0

0
0

0
0

0

Fo
llo

w
 U

p
Le

ga
l S

er
vi

ce
s

2
 D

ra
ft

N
on

-O
pi

ni
on

1
0

0
1

0
0

Fo
llo

w
 U

p
D

at
a 

Pr
ot

ec
tio

n
2

Co
m

pl
et

ed
N

on
 O

pi
ni

on
1

0
0

1
0

0

Fo
llo

w
 U

p
G

yp
sy

 &
 T

ra
ve

lle
r S

er
vi

ce
2

In
 P

ro
gr

es
s

0
0

0
0

0
0

G
ov

er
na

nc
e,

 F
ra

ud
 &

 C
or

ru
pt

io
n

Ri
sk

 M
an

ag
em

en
t

2
 In

 P
ro

gr
es

s
0

0
0

0
0

0

G
ov

er
na

nc
e,

 F
ra

ud
 &

 C
or

ru
pt

io
n

Fr
au

d 
&

 C
or

ru
pt

io
n 

Po
lic

y
2

N
ot

 S
ta

rt
ed

0
0

0
0

0
0

G
ov

er
na

nc
e,

 F
ra

ud
 &

 C
or

ru
pt

io
n

W
hi

st
le

bl
ow

in
g 

Po
lic

y
2

N
ot

 S
ta

rt
ed

0
0

0
0

0
0

O
pe

ra
tio

na
l

Pr
oc

ur
em

en
t

2
 In

 P
ro

gr
es

s
0

0
0

0
0

0

O
pe

ra
tio

na
l

Fi
na

nc
ia

l C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

ns
 &

 F
ai

re
r C

ha
rg

in
g

2
 In

 P
ro

gr
es

s
0

0
0

0
0

0

O
pe

ra
tio

na
l

Fr
am

ew
or

k 
i-c

as
e 

m
an

ag
em

en
t s

ys
te

m
2

In
iti

al
 M

ee
tin

g 
17

 A
ug

us
t 

20
14

 
0

0
0

0
0

0

Sc
ho

ol
s

Sc
ho

ol
s 

- P
re

ve
nt

io
n 

of
 F

ra
ud

2
Cr

ea
te

d
0

0
0

0
0

0

O
pe

ra
tio

na
l

Lo
ok

ed
 A

ft
er

 C
hi

ld
re

n
2

In
iti

al
 M

ee
tin

g 
9 

Se
pt

em
be

r 2
01

4 
0

0
0

0
0

0

Sp
ec

ia
l I

nv
es

tig
at

io
n

Co
lw

al
l P

rim
ar

y 
Sc

ho
ol

- D
am

p 
Pr

ob
le

m
s 

- L
es

so
n 

Le
ar

ne
d

2
In

 P
ro

gr
es

s

Fo
llo

w
 U

p
Pa

yr
ol

l
3

N
ot

 S
ta

rt
ed

0
0

0
0

0
0

Fo
llo

w
 U

p
Ac

co
un

ts
 P

ay
ab

le
3

N
ot

 S
ta

rt
ed

0
0

0
0

0
0

Ke
y 

Co
nt

ro
l

Ac
co

un
ts

 R
ec

ei
va

bl
e

3
N

ot
 S

ta
rt

ed
0

0
0

0
0

0

Ke
y 

Co
nt

ro
l

M
ai

n 
Ac

co
un

tin
g

3
N

ot
 S

ta
rt

ed
0

0
0

0
0

0

Ke
y 

Co
nt

ro
l

Tr
ea

su
ry

 M
an

ag
em

en
t

3
N

ot
 S

ta
rt

ed
0

0
0

0
0

0

Ke
y 

Co
nt

ro
l

Ca
pi

ta
l A

cc
ou

nt
in

g
3

N
ot

 S
ta

rt
ed

0
0

0
0

0
0

Ke
y 

Co
nt

ro
l

Co
un

ci
l T

ax
3

N
ot

 S
ta

rt
ed

0
0

0
0

0
0

Re
co

m
m

en
da

ti
on

s
A

ud
it

 T
yp

e
A

ud
it

 A
re

a
Q

ua
rt

er
St

at
us

O
pi

ni
on

N
o.

 o
f 

re
cs

21



A
p

p
en

d
ix

 B
H

er
ef

o
rd

sh
ir

e 
C

o
u

n
ci

l 2
01

4-
15

 A
u

d
it

 P
la

n
 

5
4

3
2

1

Re
co

m
m

en
da

ti
on

s
A

ud
it

 T
yp

e
A

ud
it

 A
re

a
Q

ua
rt

er
St

at
us

O
pi

ni
on

N
o.

 o
f 

re
cs

Ke
y 

Co
nt

ro
l

N
D

R
3

N
ot

 S
ta

rt
ed

0
0

0
0

0
0

Ke
y 

Co
nt

ro
l

H
ou

si
ng

 &
 C

ou
nc

il 
Ta

x 
Be

ne
fit

s
3

N
ot

 S
ta

rt
ed

0
0

0
0

0
0

Fo
llo

w
 U

p
H

ea
lth

 &
 S

af
et

y
3

D
ef

er
re

d 
to

 q
ua

rt
er

 4
0

0
0

0
0

0

O
pe

ra
tio

na
l

U
se

 o
f A

ge
nc

y 
St

af
f

3
N

ot
 S

ta
rt

ed
0

0
0

0
0

0

IC
T

So
ft

w
ar

e 
As

se
t M

an
ag

em
en

t
3

N
ot

 S
ta

rt
ed

0
0

0
0

0
0

IC
T

Ed
uc

at
io

n,
 H

ea
lth

 &
 C

ar
e 

Pl
an

s 
da

ta
3

N
ot

 S
ta

rt
ed

0
0

0
0

0
0

O
pe

ra
tio

na
l

Pr
ep

ar
at

io
ns

 fo
r t

he
 C

ar
e 

Bi
ll

3
N

ot
 S

ta
rt

ed
0

0
0

0
0

0

O
pe

ra
tio

na
l

H
om

el
es

sn
es

s
4

N
ot

 S
ta

rt
ed

0
0

0
0

0
0

O
pe

ra
tio

na
l

Pe
er

 C
ha

lle
ng

e/
Be

ne
fit

s 
Re

al
is

at
io

n
4

N
ot

 S
ta

rt
ed

0
0

0
0

0
0

O
pe

ra
tio

na
l

Re
gi

st
ra

rs
 &

 C
or

on
er

s
4

N
ot

 S
ta

rt
ed

0
0

0
0

0
0

O
pe

ra
tio

na
l

H
om

e 
Sc

ho
ol

 T
ra

ns
po

rt
4

N
ot

 S
ta

rt
ed

0
0

0
0

0
0

O
pe

ra
tio

na
l

El
ec

tio
ns

4
N

ot
 S

ta
rt

ed
0

0
0

0
0

0

Sc
ho

ol
Sc

ho
ol

s 
- S

af
er

 R
ec

ru
itm

en
t

4
N

ot
 S

ta
rt

ed
0

0
0

0
0

0

O
pe

ra
tio

na
l

Sa
fe

r R
ec

ru
itm

en
t -

 E
xc

lu
di

ng
 S

ch
oo

ls
4

N
ot

 S
ta

rt
ed

0
0

0
0

0
0

IC
T

H
ar

dw
ar

e 
As

se
t M

an
ag

em
en

t
4

N
ot

 S
ta

rt
ed

0
0

0
0

0
0

IC
T

IS
O

27
00

1 
Im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n

4
N

ot
 S

ta
rt

ed
0

0
0

0
0

0

22



                     APPENDIX C 

 Audit Framework Definitions 

 
 

Control Assurance Definitions 

 
 

Substantial 

�««« I am able to offer substantial assurance as the areas reviewed were found to be 
adequately controlled.  Internal controls are in place and operating effectively and risks 
against the achievement of objectives are well managed. 

  

 

Reasonable 

�««« I am able to offer reasonable assurance as most of the areas reviewed were found to be 
adequately controlled.  Generally risks are well managed but some systems require the 
introduction or improvement of internal controls to ensure the achievement of objectives. 

  

 

Partial 

�««« 
I am able to offer Partial assurance in relation to the areas reviewed and the controls 
found to be in place. Some key risks are not well managed and systems require the 
introduction or improvement of internal controls to ensure the achievement of objectives. 

  

 

None 
�««« I am not able to offer any assurance. The areas reviewed were found to be inadequately 

controlled. Risks are not well managed and systems require the introduction or 
improvement of internal controls to ensure the achievement of objectives. 

  

 
 

Categorisation Of Recommendations 

 
When making recommendations to Management it is important that they know how important the recommendation is to 
their service. There should be a clear distinction between how we evaluate the risks identified for the service but scored at a 
corporate level and the priority assigned to the recommendation. No timeframes have been applied to each Priority as 
implementation will depend on several factors, however, the definitions imply the importance. 

 Priority 5: Findings that are fundamental to the integrity of the unit’s business processes and require the    immediate 
attention of management. 
 
Priority 4: Important findings that need to be resolved by management.  
 
Priority 3: The accuracy of records is at risk and requires attention.  
 
Priority 2: Minor control issues have been identified which nevertheless need to be addressed. 
 
Priority 1: Administrative errors identified that should be corrected. Simple, no-cost measures would serve to enhance an 
existing control. 
 

 
 Definitions of Risk 

 
 

Risk Reporting Implications 
 

 
Low Issues of a minor nature or best practice where some improvement can be made. 

 

 
Medium Issues which should be addressed by management in their areas of responsibility. 

 

 
High 

Issues that we consider need to be brought to the attention of senior 
management. 

 

 
Very High 

Issues that we consider need to be brought to the attention of both senior 
management and the Audit Committee. 

 

 

23



24



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Josie Rushgrove, Head of Technical Finance on Tel (01432) 261867 

 

MEETING: Audit and Governance Committee 

MEETING DATE: 29 September 2014 

TITLE OF REPORT: Review of the Council’s Audit Findings 
Report for 2013/14 

REPORT BY: Chief Finance Officer 
 

1. Classification 

Open 

2. Key Decision 

This is not an executive decision. 

3. Wards Affected 

County-wide 

4. Purpose 

4.1 To update the committee on the improved audit findings for 2013/14. 

5. Recommendation 

THAT the report be noted. 

6. Alternative Options 

6.1 There are no alternative options. 

7. Reasons for Recommendations 

7.1 The external auditors are required to produce an annual audit findings report on the 
financial resilience, value for money and statement of accounts of the council. 

8. Key Considerations 

8.1 The auditors reviewed the financial resilience, value for money and statement of 
accounts of the council by looking at key indicators of financial performance, its 
approach to strategic financial planning, its approach to financial governance and its 
approach to financial control. 

8.2 The overall conclusion has improved to a green assessment in these areas.  The 
2012/13 report concluded that the council faced very significant financial risks which 

AGENDA ITEM 6

25



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Josie Rushgrove, Head of Technical Finance on Tel (01432) 261867 

needed to be responded to urgently.  Action has been taken in 2013/14 to reduce 
these risks significantly. 

8.3 In 2012/13 Grant Thornton assessed the following areas as amber rated;- 

• Key indicators of financial performance 

• Strategic Financial Planning 

• Financial Governance 

• Financial Control 

These have now been reassessed as green, meaning adequate arrangements are 
now in place.  In addition the 2012/13 assessment rated the council reserve position 
to be red, inadequate, this is now green due to the delivery of a break even position in 
2013/14, the setting aside of specific reserves and the increase in the general fund 
reserve balance above the policy of 3% of our net budget. 

9. Community Impact 

9.1 There is no community impact arising from this report. 

10. Equality and Human Rights 

10.1 The content of the report has no direct impact on equality or human rights. 

11. Financial Implications 

11.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

12. Legal Implications 

12.1 This report has no legal implications. 

13. Risk Management 

13.1 The Audit Report Findings reviews the risk management arrangements of the 
council’s finances. 

14. Consultees 

14.1 S151 Officer 

15. Appendices 

15.1 Appendix A - Grant Thornton, The Audit Findings for Herefordshire Council 

16. Background Papers 

16.1 None. 

26



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

. 
T

he
 A

ud
it 

Fi
nd

in
gs

 
fo

r H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
 C

ou
nc

il 
 Y

ea
r 

en
d

ed
 3

1 
M

ar
ch

 2
01

4 

P
h

il 
Jo

n
es

 
E

ng
ag

em
en

t L
ea

d 
T

 
01

21
 2

32
 5

23
2 

E
  

ph
il.

w
.jo

ne
s@

uk
.g

t.c
om

 

T
er

ry
 T

o
b

in
 

S
en

io
r  

M
an

ag
er

 
T

 
01

21
 2

32
 5

27
6 

E
  

te
rr

y.
p.

to
bi

n@
uk

.g
t.c

om
 

S
ar

ah
 G

o
o

d
 

A
ud

it 
E

xe
cu

tiv
e 

T
 

01
21

 2
32

 5
33

4 
E

  
sa

ra
h.

l.g
oo

d@
uk

.g
t.c

om
 

S
ep

te
m

be
r 2

01
4 

A
pp

en
di

x 
A

27



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

2 

Th
e 

co
nt

en
ts

 o
f t

hi
s 

re
po

rt
 re

la
te

 o
nl

y 
to

 th
os

e 
m

at
te

rs
 w

hi
ch

 c
am

e 
to

 o
ur

 
at

te
nt

io
n 

du
rin

g 
th

e 
co

nd
uc

t o
f o

ur
 n

or
m

al
 a

ud
it 

pr
oc

ed
ur

es
 w

hi
ch

 a
re

 
de

sig
ne

d 
pr

im
ar

ily
 fo

r t
he

 p
ur

po
se

 o
f e

xp
re

ss
in

g 
ou

r o
pi

ni
on

 o
n 

th
e 

fin
an

ci
al

 
st

at
em

en
ts

. O
ur

 a
ud

it 
is 

no
t d

es
ig

ne
d 

to
 te

st
 a

ll 
in

te
rn

al
 c

on
tr

ol
s 

or
 id

en
tif

y 
al

l 
ar

ea
s o

f c
on

tr
ol

 w
ea

kn
es

s. 
H

ow
ev

er
, w

he
re

, a
s p

ar
t o

f o
ur

 te
st

in
g,

 w
e 

id
en

tif
y 

an
y 

co
nt

ro
l w

ea
kn

es
se

s, 
w

e 
w

ill
 re

po
rt

 th
es

e 
to

 y
ou

.  
In

 c
on

se
qu

en
ce

, o
ur

 w
or

k 
ca

nn
ot

 b
e 

re
lie

d 
up

on
 to

 d
isc

lo
se

 d
ef

al
ca

tio
ns

 o
r o

th
er

 ir
re

gu
la

rit
ie

s, 
or

 to
 

in
cl

ud
e 

al
l p

os
sib

le
 im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 in

 in
te

rn
al

 c
on

tr
ol

 th
at

 a
 m

or
e 

ex
te

ns
iv

e 
sp

ec
ia

l e
xa

m
in

at
io

n 
m

ig
ht

 id
en

tif
y.

 
 W

e 
do

 n
ot

 a
cc

ep
t a

ny
 re

sp
on

sib
ili

ty
 fo

r a
ny

 lo
ss

 o
cc

as
io

ne
d 

to
 a

ny
 th

ird
 p

ar
ty

 
ac

tin
g,

 o
r r

ef
ra

in
in

g 
fr

om
 a

ct
in

g 
on

 th
e 

ba
sis

 o
f t

he
 c

on
te

nt
 o

f t
hi

s 
re

po
rt

, a
s 

th
is 

re
po

rt
 w

as
 n

ot
 p

re
pa

re
d 

fo
r, 

no
r i

nt
en

de
d 

fo
r, 

an
y 

ot
he

r p
ur

po
se

. 
 

28



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

3 

C
on
te
nt
s 

S
e

c
ti

o
n

 
P

a
g

e
 

1.
E
xe
cu
tiv
e 
su
m
m
ar
y 

4 

2.
A
ud
it 
fin
di
ng
s 

8 

3.
V
al
ue
 fo
r M

on
ey
  

19
 

4.
Fe
es
, n
on
 a
ud
it 
se
rv
ic
es
 a
nd
 in
de
pe
nd
en
ce
 

25
 

5.
C
om

m
un
ic
at
io
n 
of
 a
ud
it 
m
at
te
rs
 

27
 

A
pp

en
di

ce
s 

A
  A
ct
io
n 
pl
an
 

30
 

B 
 D
et
ai
le
d 
re
po
rt
in
g 
on
 E
ne
rg
y 
fr
om

 W
as
te
 P
la
n 

   
   
   
   
   
  3
1 

C
  A
ud
it 
op
in
io
n 
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
34
 

D
  F
in
an
ci
al
 re
sil
ie
nc
e 
ra
tin
gs
 

37
 

29



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

Se
ct

io
n 

1:
 
E
xe
cu
tiv
e 
su
m
m
ar
y 

01
. 

E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 s

u
m

m
ar

y 

02
. 

A
u

d
it

 f
in

d
in

g
s 

03
. 

V
al

u
e 

fo
r 

M
o

n
ey

 

04
. 

F
ee

s,
 n

o
n

 a
u

d
it

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
an

d
 in

d
ep

en
d

en
ce

 

05
. 

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
at

io
n

 o
f 

au
d

it
 m

at
te

rs
 

30



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

5 

E
xe
cu
tiv
e 
su
m
m
ar
y 

E
xe

cu
tiv

e 
su

m
m

ar
y 

P
u

rp
o

s
e

 o
f 

th
is

 r
e

p
o

rt
 

Th
is 
re
po
rt
 h
ig
hl
ig
ht
s t
he
 k
ey
 m
at
te
rs
 a
ris
in
g 
fr
om
 o
ur
 a
ud
it 
of
 H
er
ef
or
ds
hi
re
  

C
ou
nc
il'
s 
('t
he
 C
ou
nc
il'
) f
in
an
ci
al
 s
ta
te
m
en
ts
 fo
r t
he
 y
ea
r e
nd
ed
 3
1 
M
ar
ch
 2
01
4.
 It
 

is 
al
so
 u
se
d 
to
 re
po
rt
 o
ur
 a
ud
it 
fin
di
ng
s t
o 
m
an
ag
em
en
t a
nd
 th
os
e 
ch
ar
ge
d 
w
ith
 

go
ve
rn
an
ce
 in
 a
cc
or
da
nc
e 
w
ith
 th
e 
re
qu
ire
m
en
ts
 o
f I
nt
er
na
tio
na
l S
ta
nd
ar
d 
on
 

A
ud
iti
ng
 2
60
 (I
SA
). 
 

 U
nd
er
 th
e 
A
ud
it 
C
om
m
iss
io
n'
s C
od
e 
of
 A
ud
it 
Pr
ac
tic
e 
w
e 
ar
e 
re
qu
ire
d 
to
 re
po
rt
 

w
he
th
er
, i
n 
ou
r o
pi
ni
on
, t
he
 C
ou
nc
il'
s f
in
an
ci
al
 st
at
em
en
ts
 p
re
se
nt
 a
 tr
ue
 a
nd
 fa
ir 

vi
ew
 o
f t
he
 fi
na
nc
ia
l p
os
iti
on
, i
ts
 e
xp
en
di
tu
re
 a
nd
 in
co
m
e 
fo
r t
he
 y
ea
r a
nd
 w
he
th
er
 

th
ey
 h
av
e 
be
en
 p
ro
pe
rly
 p
re
pa
re
d 
in
 a
cc
or
da
nc
e 
w
ith
 th
e 
C
IP
FA
 C
od
e 
of
 P
ra
ct
ic
e 

on
 L
oc
al
 A
ut
ho
rit
y 
A
cc
ou
nt
in
g.
 W
e 
ar
e 
al
so
 re
qu
ire
d 
to
 re
ac
h 
a 
fo
rm
al
 c
on
cl
us
io
n 

on
 w
he
th
er
 th
e 
C
ou
nc
il 
ha
s p
ut
 in
 p
la
ce
 p
ro
pe
r a
rr
an
ge
m
en
ts
 to
 s
ec
ur
e 
ec
on
om
y,
 

ef
fic
ie
nc
y 
an
d 
ef
fe
ct
iv
en
es
s i
n 
its
 u
se
 o
f r
es
ou
rc
es
 (t
he
 V
al
ue
 fo
r M

on
ey
 

co
nc
lu
sio
n)
. 

 In
tr

o
d
u

c
ti

o
n

 
In
 th
e 
co
nd
uc
t o
f o
ur
 a
ud
it 
w
e 
ha
ve
 n
ot
 h
ad
 to
 a
lte
r o
r c
ha
ng
e 
ou
r p
la
nn
ed
 a
ud
it 

ap
pr
oa
ch
, w
hi
ch
 w
e 
co
m
m
un
ic
at
ed
 to
 y
ou
 in
 o
ur
 A
ud
it 
Pl
an
 in
 F
eb
ru
ar
y 
20
14
.  
 

 O
ur
 a
ud
it 
is 
su
bs
ta
nt
ia
lly
 c
om
pl
et
e 
al
th
ou
gh
 w
e 
ar
e 
fin
al
isi
ng
 o
ur
 w
or
k 
in
 th
e 

fo
llo
w
in
g 
ar
ea
s: 
 

•
re
vi
ew
 o
f t
he
 fi
na
l v
er
sio
n 
of
 th
e 
fin
an
ci
al
 st
at
em
en
ts
 

•
ob
ta
in
in
g 
an
d 
re
vi
ew
in
g 
th
e 
fin
al
 m
an
ag
em
en
t l
et
te
r o
f r
ep
re
se
nt
at
io
n,
 a
nd
 

•
up
da
tin
g 
ou
r p
os
t b
al
an
ce
 s
he
et
 e
ve
nt
s r
ev
ie
w
, t
o 
th
e 
da
te
 o
f s
ig
ni
ng
 th
e 

op
in
io
n.
 

 W
e 
ca
nn
ot
 fo
rm
al
ly
 c
on
cl
ud
e 
th
e 
au
di
t a
nd
 is
su
e 
an
 a
ud
it 
ce
rt
ifi
ca
te
 u
nt
il 
w
e 

ha
ve
 c
om
pl
et
ed
 o
ur
 c
on
sid
er
at
io
n 
of
 m
at
te
rs
 b
ro
ug
ht
 to
 o
ur
 a
tte
nt
io
n 
by
 a
 lo
ca
l 

au
th
or
ity
 e
le
ct
or
 in
 re
la
tio
n 
to
 th
e 
E
ne
rg
y 
fr
om
 W
as
te
 fa
ci
lit
y.
 W
e 
ar
e 
sa
tis
fie
d 

th
at
 th
is 
w
or
k 
do
es
 n
ot
 h
av
e 
a 
m
at
er
ia
l e
ff
ec
t o
n 
th
e 
fin
an
ci
al
 st
at
em
en
ts
 o
r a
 

sig
ni
fic
an
t i
m
pa
ct
 o
n 
th
e 
va
lu
e 
fo
r m

on
ey
 c
on
cl
us
io
n 

 W
e 
re
ce
iv
ed
 d
ra
ft 
fin
an
ci
al
 st
at
em
en
ts
 a
nd
 s
om
e 
ac
co
m
pa
ny
in
g 
w
or
ki
ng
 p
ap
er
s 

at
 th
e 
st
ar
t o
f o
ur
 a
ud
it.
 

 

31



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

6 

E
xe

cu
tiv

e 
su

m
m

ar
y 

K
e
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a

ri
s
in

g
 f

ro
m

 o
u
r 

a
u
d
it

 
 F

in
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

 o
pi

ni
on

 
W
e 
an
tic
ip
at
e 
pr
ov
id
in
g 
an
 u
nq
ua
lif
ie
d 
op
in
io
n 
on
 th
e 
fin
an
ci
al
 st
at
em
en
ts
.  

 W
e 
as
ke
d 
m
an
ag
em
en
t t
o 
m
ak
e 
so
m
e 
ad
ju
st
m
en
ts
 to
 im
pr
ov
e 
th
e 
pr
es
en
ta
tio
n 
of
 

th
e 
ac
co
un
ts
 w
hi
ch
 m
an
ag
em
en
t a
gr
ee
d 
to
 d
o.
   

  
 Th
e 
ke
y 
m
es
sa
ge
s a
ris
in
g 
fr
om
 o
ur
 a
ud
it 
of
 th
e 
C
ou
nc
il'
s f
in
an
ci
al
 st
at
em
en
ts
 a
re
: 

•
Th
e 
dr
af
t a
cc
ou
nt
s 
pr
es
en
te
d 
fo
r a
ud
it 
w
er
e 
of
 a
 g
oo
d 
qu
al
ity
, a
 fu
rt
he
r 

im
pr
ov
em
en
t o
n 
pr
ev
io
us
 y
ea
rs
. W
e 
di
d 
no
t f
in
d 
an
y 
m
at
er
ia
l e
rr
or
s i
n 
th
e 

st
at
em
en
ts
. 

•
M
an
y 
w
or
ki
ng
 p
ap
er
s w
er
e 
pr
ov
id
ed
 a
t t
he
 s
ta
rt
 o
f t
he
 a
ud
it 
an
d 
w
er
e 
fit
 fo
r 

pu
rp
os
e.
 M
os
t o
ff
ic
er
s r
es
po
nd
ed
 p
ro
m
pt
ly
 to
 a
ud
it 
qu
er
ie
s. 
Bo
th
 o
f t
he
se
 

ar
ea
s w
er
e 
a 
sig
ni
fic
an
t i
m
pr
ov
em
en
t o
n 
pr
ev
io
us
 y
ea
rs
. T
he
re
 w
er
e 
st
ill
 th
ou
gh
 

so
m
e 
ar
ea
s w
he
re
 it
 st
ill
 to
ok
 to
o 
lo
ng
 to
 o
bt
ai
n 
su
pp
or
t f
or
 a
cc
ou
nt
 b
al
an
ce
s. 

O
ne
 p
ar
tic
ul
ar
 im
pr
ov
em
en
t a
re
a 
fo
r t
he
 fu
tu
re
 is
 th
e 
su
pp
or
t t
o 
ag
re
e 
th
e 

st
at
em
en
t o
f a
cc
ou
nt
s t
o 
th
e 
le
dg
er
 tr
ia
l b
al
an
ce
.  

•
W
e 
ar
e 
pl
ea
se
d 
to
 se
e 
th
at
 th
e 
C
ou
nc
il 
is 
ve
ry
 k
ee
n 
to
 c
on
tin
ue
 th
is 

im
pr
ov
em
en
t a
nd
 c
ha
ng
e 
pr
oc
es
se
s t
o 
en
su
re
 a
n 
ef
fic
ie
nt
 c
lo
se
do
w
n 
an
d 
au
di
t 

ne
xt
 y
ea
r a
nd
 w
e 
ar
e 
ha
pp
y 
to
 h
el
p 
in
 th
is 
pr
oc
es
s. 
Th
is 
w
ill
 b
e 
im
po
rt
an
t a
s t
he
 

au
di
t o
f a
cc
ou
nt
s t
im
et
ab
le
 m
ov
es
 fo
rw
ar
d 
in
 fu
tu
re
 y
ea
rs
. 

 
Fu
rt
he
r d
et
ai
ls 
ar
e 
se
t o
ut
 in
 se
ct
io
n 
2 
of
 th
is 
re
po
rt
. 

 

  V
al

ue
 fo

r M
on

ey
 c

on
cl

us
io

n 
Ba
se
d 
on
 th
e 
w
or
k 
co
m
pl
et
ed
 to
 d
at
e 
to
 re
vi
ew
  t
he
 C
ou
nc
il'
s a
rr
an
ge
m
en
ts
 to
 

se
cu
re
 e
co
no
m
y,
 e
ff
ic
ie
nc
y 
an
d 
ef
fe
ct
iv
en
es
s i
n 
its
 u
se
 o
f r
es
ou
rc
es
, w
e 
w
ill
 b
e 

iss
ui
ng
 a
n 
un
m
od
ifi
ed
 V
fM
 c
on
cl
us
io
n.
 D
es
pi
te
 a
n 
ov
er
sp
en
d 
in
 A
du
lt 
So
ci
al
 

C
ar
e 
of
 £
3 
m
ill
io
n,
 th
e 
C
ou
nc
il 
co
nt
ai
ne
d 
ex
pe
nd
itu
re
 w
ith
in
 th
e 
ov
er
al
l b
ud
ge
t 

an
d 
at
 th
e 
sa
m
e 
tim
e 
in
cr
ea
se
d 
re
se
rv
es
 si
gn
ifi
ca
nt
ly
. T
he
re
 is
 n
ow
 g
re
at
er
 

as
su
ra
nc
e 
ar
ou
nd
 th
e 
M
ed
iu
m
 T
er
m
 F
in
an
ci
al
 P
la
n 
an
d 
de
liv
er
y 
of
 sa
vi
ng
s a
s 

th
e 
C
ou
nc
il 
ap
pr
oa
ch
es
 th
e 
ch
al
le
ng
in
g 
ye
ar
s a
he
ad
. 

 Th
e 
C
ou
nc
il 
re
ce
iv
ed
 a
n 
in
ad
eq
ua
te
 a
ss
es
sm
en
t f
ro
m
 O
fs
te
d 
in
 la
te
 2
01
2 
in
 

re
la
tio
n 
to
 it
s a
rr
an
ge
m
en
ts
 to
 sa
fe
gu
ar
d 
ch
ild
re
n.
 It
 h
as
 su
bs
eq
ue
nt
ly
 w
or
ke
d 

ha
rd
 th
ro
ug
h 
its
 Im
pr
ov
em
en
t B
oa
rd
 to
 a
dd
re
ss
 th
e 
iss
ue
s a
nd
 in
 Ju
ne
 th
is 
ye
ar
 

O
fs
te
d 
ra
te
d 
th
e 
C
ou
nc
il 
as
 "
in
 n
ee
d 
of
 im
pr
ov
em
en
t"
.  

 Th
e 
C
ou
nc
il'
s w
as
te
 so
lu
tio
n 
w
as
 id
en
tif
ie
d 
as
 a
 V
fM
 ri
sk
 a
s p
ar
t o
f o
ur
 a
ud
it 

pl
an
ni
ng
 a
nd
 w
e 
ha
ve
 re
ce
iv
ed
 a
 v
er
y 
hi
gh
 le
ve
l o
f c
or
re
sp
on
de
nc
e 
fr
om
 th
e 

pu
bl
ic
 ra
isi
ng
 sp
ec
ifi
c 
co
nc
er
ns
 w
ith
 u
s. 
In
 S
ec
tio
n 
3 
w
e 
hi
gh
lig
ht
 a
 si
gn
ifi
ca
nt
 

iss
ue
 in
 re
la
tio
n 
to
 th
e 
do
cu
m
en
ta
tio
n 
of
 re
po
rt
in
g 
to
 m
em
be
rs
 o
f o
ff
ic
er
s v
ie
w
s 

on
 th
e 
ch
oi
ce
 o
f t
ec
hn
ol
og
ic
al
 s
ol
ut
io
n 
in
 2
00
9.
 

 Fu
rt
he
r d
et
ai
l o
f o
ur
 w
or
k 
on
 V
al
ue
 fo
r M
on
ey
 is
 se
t o
ut
 in
 se
ct
io
n 
3 
of
 th
is 

re
po
rt
. 

 W
ho

le
 o

f G
ov

er
nm

en
t A

cc
ou

nt
s 

(W
G

A
) 

 W
e 
w
ill
 sh
or
tly
 c
om
pl
et
e 
ou
r w
or
k 
in
 re
sp
ec
t o
f t
he
 W
ho
le
 o
f G
ov
er
nm
en
t 

A
cc
ou
nt
s. 

 

32



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

7 

E
xe

cu
tiv

e 
su

m
m

ar
y 

C
o
n
tr

o
ls

 
Th

e 
C

ou
nc

il'
s m

an
ag

em
en

t i
s r

es
po

ns
ib

le
 fo

r t
he

 id
en

tif
ic

at
io

n,
 a

ss
es

sm
en

t, 
m

an
ag

em
en

t a
nd

 m
on

ito
rin

g 
of

 ri
sk

, a
nd

 fo
r d

ev
el

op
in

g,
 o

pe
ra

tin
g 

an
d 

m
on

ito
rin

g 
th

e 
sy

st
em

 o
f i

nt
er

na
l c

on
tr

ol
. 

 O
ur

 a
ud

it 
is 

no
t d

es
ig

ne
d 

to
 te

st
 a

ll 
in

te
rn

al
 c

on
tr

ol
s o

r i
de

nt
ify

 a
ll 

ar
ea

s o
f c

on
tr

ol
 

w
ea

kn
es

s. 
 H

ow
ev

er
, w

he
re

, a
s p

ar
t o

f o
ur

 te
st

in
g,

 w
e 

id
en

tif
y 

an
y 

co
nt

ro
l 

w
ea

kn
es

se
s, 

w
e 

 re
po

rt
 th

es
e 

to
 th

e 
C

ou
nc

il.
 T

he
re

 a
re

 n
o 

iss
ue

s t
o 

re
po

rt
 to

 y
ou

. 
.  T

h
e
 w

a
y
 f

o
rw

a
rd

 
M

at
te

rs
 a

ris
in

g 
fr

om
 th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 st

at
em

en
ts

 a
ud

it 
an

d 
re

vi
ew

 o
f t

he
 C

ou
nc

il'
s 

ar
ra

ng
em

en
ts

 fo
r s

ec
ur

in
g 

ec
on

om
y,

 e
ff

ic
ie

nc
y 

an
d 

ef
fe

ct
iv

en
es

s i
n 

its
 u

se
 o

f 
re

so
ur

ce
s h

av
e 

be
en

 d
isc

us
se

d 
w

ith
 th

e 
C

hi
ef

 F
in

an
ci

al
 O

ff
ic

er
 a

nd
 th

e 
fin

an
ce

 
te

am
. 

 W
e 

ha
ve

 m
ad

e 
so

m
e 

re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
ns

, w
hi

ch
 a

re
 se

t o
ut

 in
 th

e 
ac

tio
n 

pl
an

 in
 

A
pp

en
di

x 
A

. R
ec

om
m

en
da

tio
ns

 h
av

e 
be

en
 d

isc
us

se
d 

an
d 

ag
re

ed
 w

ith
 th

e 
C

hi
ef

 
Fi

na
nc

ia
l O

ff
ic

er
 a

nd
 th

e 
fin

an
ce

 te
am

. 
 A

c
k
n
o
w

le
d
g
m

e
n
t 

W
e 

w
ou

ld
 li

ke
 to

 ta
ke

 th
is 

op
po

rt
un

ity
 to

 re
co

rd
 o

ur
 a

pp
re

ci
at

io
n 

fo
r t

he
 

as
sis

ta
nc

e 
pr

ov
id

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
fin

an
ce

 te
am

 a
nd

 o
th

er
 st

af
f d

ur
in

g 
ou

r a
ud

it.
 

   
G

ra
nt

 T
ho

rn
to

n 
U

K
 L

L
P

 
Se

pt
em

be
r 2

01
4 

   

33



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

Se
ct

io
n 

2:
 

A
ud

it 
fin

di
ng

s 

01
. 

E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 s

u
m

m
ar

y 

02
. 

A
u

d
it

 f
in

d
in

g
s 

03
. 

V
al

u
e 

fo
r 

M
o

n
ey

 

04
. 

F
ee

s,
 n

o
n

 a
u

d
it

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
an

d
 in

d
ep

en
d

en
ce

 

05
. 

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
at

io
n

 o
f 

au
d

it
 m

at
te

rs
 

34



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

9 

A
ud

it 
fin

di
ng

s 

    

A
ud

it 
fin

di
ng

s 

In
 th

is 
se

ct
io

n 
w

e 
pr

es
en

t o
ur

 fi
nd

in
gs

 in
 re

sp
ec

t o
f m

at
te

rs
 a

nd
 ri

sk
s i

de
nt

ifi
ed

 a
t 

th
e 

pl
an

ni
ng

 st
ag

e 
of

 th
e 

au
di

t a
nd

 a
dd

iti
on

al
 m

at
te

rs
 th

at
 a

ro
se

 d
ur

in
g 

th
e 

co
ur

se
 

of
 o

ur
 w

or
k.

 W
e 

se
t o

ut
 o

n 
th

e 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

pa
ge

s t
he

 w
or

k 
w

e 
ha

ve
 p

er
fo

rm
ed

 a
nd

 
fin

di
ng

s a
ris

in
g 

fr
om

 o
ur

 w
or

k 
in

 re
sp

ec
t o

f t
he

 a
ud

it 
ris

ks
 w

e 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

in
 o

ur
 

au
di

t p
la

n,
 p

re
se

nt
ed

 to
 th

e 
A

ud
it 

an
d 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

C
om

m
itt

ee
 in

 F
eb

ru
ar

y 
20

14
.  

W
e 

al
so

 se
t o

ut
 th

e 
ad

ju
st

m
en

ts
 to

 th
e 

fin
an

ci
al

 st
at

em
en

ts
 a

ris
in

g 
fr

om
 o

ur
 a

ud
it 

w
or

k 
an

d 
ou

r f
in

di
ng

s i
n 

re
sp

ec
t o

f i
nt

er
na

l c
on

tr
ol

s. 
 C

h
a
n
g
e
s
 t

o
 A

u
d
it

 P
la

n
 

W
e 

ha
ve

 n
ot

 m
ad

e 
an

y 
ch

an
ge

s 
to

 o
ur

 A
ud

it 
Pl

an
 a

s p
re

vi
ou

sly
 c

om
m

un
ic

at
ed

 to
 

yo
u 

on
. 

 A
u
d
it

 o
p
in

io
n

 
W

e 
an

tic
ip

at
e 

th
at

 w
e 

w
ill

 p
ro

vi
de

 th
e 

C
ou

nc
il 

w
ith

 a
n 

un
m

od
ifi

ed
 o

pi
ni

on
.  

35



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

10
 

A
ud

it 
fin

di
ng

s a
ga

in
st

 si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 ri

sk
s 

  
R

is
ks

 id
en

ti
fi

ed
 in

 o
u

r 
au

d
it

 p
la

n
 

W
o

rk
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d

 
A

ss
u

ra
n

ce
 g

ai
n

ed
 a

n
d

 is
su

es
 a

ri
si

n
g

 

1.
  

Im
p

ro
p

er
 r

ev
en

u
e 

re
co

g
n

it
io

n
 

U
nd

er
 IS

A
 2

40
 th

er
e 

is
 a

 p
re

su
m

ed
 ri

sk
 th

at
 r

ev
en

ue
 

m
ay

 b
e 

m
is

st
at

ed
 d

ue
 to

 im
pr

op
er

 re
co

gn
iti

on
  

�
re

vi
ew

 a
nd

 te
st

in
g 

of
 r

ev
en

ue
 r

ec
og

ni
tio

n 
po

lic
ie

s 

�
te

st
in

g 
of

 m
at

er
ia

l r
ev

en
ue

 s
tr

ea
m

s 

O
ur

 a
ud

it 
w

or
k 

ha
s 

no
t i

de
nt

ifi
ed

 a
ny

 is
su

es
 in

 r
es

pe
ct

 
of

 r
ev

en
ue

 r
ec

og
ni

tio
n.

 

2.
  

M
an

ag
em

en
t o

ve
rr

id
e 

o
f 

co
n

tr
o

ls
 

U
nd

er
 IS

A
 2

40
 th

er
e 

is
 a

 p
re

su
m

ed
 ri

sk
 o

f 
m

an
ag

em
en

t o
ve

r -
rid

e 
of

 c
on

tr
ol

s 

�
re

vi
ew

 o
f a

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
es

tim
at

es
, j

ud
ge

m
en

ts
 a

nd
 

de
ci

si
on

s 
m

ad
e 

by
 m

an
ag

em
en

t 

�
te

st
in

g 
of

 jo
ur

na
l e

nt
rie

s 

�
re

vi
ew

 o
f u

nu
su

al
 s

ig
ni

fic
an

t t
ra

ns
ac

tio
ns

 

O
ur

 a
ud

it 
w

or
k 

ha
s 

no
t i

de
nt

ifi
ed

 a
ny

 e
vi

de
nc

e 
of

 
m

an
ag

em
en

t o
ve

rr
id

e 
of

 c
on

tr
ol

s.
 In

 p
ar

tic
ul

ar
 th

e 
fin

di
ng

s 
of

 o
ur

 r
ev

ie
w

 o
f j

ou
rn

al
 c

on
tr

ol
s 

an
d 

te
st

in
g 

of
 

jo
ur

na
l e

nt
rie

s 
ha

s 
no

t i
de

nt
ifi

ed
 a

ny
 s

ig
ni

fic
an

t 
is

su
es

.  

W
e 

se
t o

ut
 la

te
r 

in
 th

is
 s

ec
tio

n 
of

 th
e 

re
po

rt
 o

ur
 w

or
k 

an
d 

fin
di

ng
s 

on
 k

ey
 a

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
es

tim
at

es
 a

nd
 

ju
dg

m
en

ts
.  

 

A
ud

it 
fin

di
ng

s 

"S
ig

ni
fic

an
t r

isk
s o

fte
n 

re
la

te
 to

 si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 n

on
-r

ou
tin

e 
tr

an
sa

ct
io

ns
 a

nd
 ju

dg
m

en
ta

l m
at

te
rs

. N
on

-r
ou

tin
e 

tr
an

sa
ct

io
ns

 a
re

 tr
an

sa
ct

io
ns

 th
at

 a
re

 u
nu

su
al

, e
ith

er
 d

ue
 to

 si
ze

 
or

 n
at

ur
e,

 a
nd

 th
at

 th
er

ef
or

e 
oc

cu
r i

nf
re

qu
en

tly
. J

ud
gm

en
ta

l m
at

te
rs

 m
ay

 in
cl

ud
e 

th
e 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t o

f a
cc

ou
nt

in
g 

es
tim

at
es

 fo
r w

hi
ch

 th
er

e 
is 

sig
ni

fic
an

t m
ea

su
re

m
en

t 
un

ce
rt

ai
nt

y"
 (I

SA
 3

15
). 

 

In
 th

is 
se

ct
io

n 
w

e 
de

ta
il 

ou
r r

es
po

ns
e 

to
 th

e 
sig

ni
fic

an
t r

isk
s o

f m
at

er
ia

l m
iss

ta
te

m
en

t w
hi

ch
 w

e 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

in
 th

e 
A

ud
it 

Pl
an

.  
A

s w
e 

no
te

d 
in

 o
ur

 p
la

n,
 th

er
e 

ar
e 

tw
o 

pr
es

um
ed

 si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 ri

sk
s w

hi
ch

 a
re

 a
pp

lic
ab

le
 to

 a
ll 

au
di

ts
 u

nd
er

 a
ud

iti
ng

 st
an

da
rd

s. 

36



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

11
 

A
ud

it 
fin

di
ng

s a
ga

in
st

 o
th

er
 ri

sk
s 

T
ra

n
sa

ct
io

n
 c

yc
le

 
D

es
cr

ip
ti

o
n

 o
f 

ri
sk

 
W

o
rk

 c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 

A
ss

u
ra

n
ce

 g
ai

n
ed

 &
 is

su
es

 a
ri

si
n

g
 

O
p

er
at

in
g

 e
xp

en
se

s 
C

re
di

to
rs

 u
nd

er
st

at
ed

 o
r 

no
t 

re
co

rd
ed

 in
 th

e 
co

rr
ec

t p
er

io
d.

 
(C

om
pl

et
en

es
s)

 
 

W
e 

ha
ve

 u
nd

er
ta

ke
n 

th
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g 
w

or
k 

in
 r

el
at

io
n 

to
 

th
is

 ri
sk

:  

�
C

on
du

ct
ed

 a
 w

al
kt

hr
ou

gh
 o

f t
he

 k
ey

 c
on

tr
ol

s 
fo

r 
th

is
 s

ys
te

m
, 

�
R

ev
ie

w
ed

 th
e 

m
on

th
ly

 tr
en

d 
an

al
ys

is
 o

f p
ay

m
en

ts
, 

�
P

er
fo

rm
ed

 c
ut

 o
ff 

te
st

in
g 

of
 p

ur
ch

as
e 

or
de

rs
 a

nd
 

go
od

s 
re

ce
iv

ed
 n

ot
es

 (b
ot

h 
be

fo
re

 a
nd

 a
fte

r 
ye

ar
 

en
d)

, 

�
R

ev
ie

w
ed

 th
e 

co
m

pl
et

en
es

s 
of

 th
e 

su
bs

id
ia

ry
 

sy
st

em
 in

te
rf

ac
es

 a
nd

 c
on

tr
ol

 a
cc

ou
nt

  
re

co
nc

ili
at

io
ns

, a
nd

 

�
T

es
te

d 
a 

sa
m

pl
e 

of
 o

pe
ra

tin
g 

ex
pe

ns
es

 a
nd

 
cr

ed
ito

rs
. 

O
ur

 a
ud

it 
w

or
k 

ha
s 

no
t i

de
nt

ifi
ed

 a
ny

 s
ig

ni
fic

an
t i

ss
ue

s 
in

 
re

la
tio

n 
to

 th
e 

ris
k 

id
en

tif
ie

d.
 

  

E
m

p
lo

ye
e 

re
m

u
n

er
at

io
n

 
E

m
pl

oy
ee

 re
m

un
er

at
io

n 
ac

cr
ua

l u
nd

er
st

at
ed

. 
(C

om
pl

et
en

es
s)

 

W
e 

ha
ve

 u
nd

er
ta

ke
n 

th
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g 
w

or
k 

in
 r

el
at

io
n 

to
 

th
is

 ri
sk

: 

�
C

on
du

ct
ed

 a
 w

al
kt

hr
ou

gh
 o

f t
he

 k
ey

 c
on

tr
ol

s 
fo

r 
th

is
 s

ys
te

m
, 

�
R

ev
ie

w
ed

 th
e 

co
m

pl
et

en
es

s 
of

 th
e 

re
co

nc
ili

at
io

ns
 

of
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
fr

om
 th

e 
pa

yr
ol

l s
ys

te
m

 to
 th

e 
ge

ne
ra

l l
ed

ge
r a

nd
 fi

na
nc

ia
l s

ta
te

m
en

ts
, 

�
P

er
fo

rm
ed

 c
ut

 o
ff 

te
st

in
g 

of
 p

ay
m

en
ts

 m
ad

e 
in

 
A

pr
il 

an
d 

M
ay

 to
 e

ns
ur

e 
pa

yr
ol

l e
xp

en
di

tu
re

 is
 

re
co

rd
ed

 in
 th

e 
co

rr
ec

t y
ea

r,
 

�
R

ev
ie

w
ed

 th
e 

m
on

th
ly

 tr
en

d 
an

al
ys

is
 o

f t
ot

al
 

pa
yr

ol
l, 

an
d 

 

�
T

es
te

d 
a 

sa
m

pl
e 

of
 e

m
pl

oy
ee

 re
m

un
er

at
io

n 
pa

ym
en

ts
. 

O
ur

 a
ud

it 
w

or
k 

ha
s 

no
t i

de
nt

ifi
ed

 a
ny

 s
ig

ni
fic

an
t i

ss
ue

s 
in

 
re

la
tio

n 
to

 th
e 

ris
k 

id
en

tif
ie

d.
 

. 

A
ud

it 
fin

di
ng

s 

In
 th

is 
se

ct
io

n 
w

e 
de

ta
il 

ou
r r

es
po

ns
e 

to
 th

e 
ot

he
r r

isk
s o

f m
at

er
ia

l m
iss

ta
te

m
en

t w
hi

ch
 w

e 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

in
 th

e 
A

ud
it 

Pl
an

.  
R

ec
om

m
en

da
tio

ns
, t

og
et

he
r w

ith
 m

an
ag

em
en

t 
re

sp
on

se
s, 

ar
e 

at
ta

ch
ed

 a
t A

pp
en

di
x 

A
.  

 

37



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

12
 

T
ra

n
sa

ct
io

n
 c

yc
le

 
D

es
cr

ip
ti

o
n

 o
f 

ri
sk

 
W

o
rk

 c
o

m
p

le
te

d
 

A
ss

u
ra

n
ce

 g
ai

n
ed

 &
 is

su
es

 a
ri

si
n

g
 

P
ro

pe
rt

y,
 p

la
nt

 &
 e

qu
ip

m
en

t 
P

P
E

 a
ct

iv
ity

 n
ot

 v
al

id
 

W
e 

ha
ve

 u
nd

er
ta

ke
n 

th
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g 
w

or
k 

in
 r

el
at

io
n 

to
 

th
is

 ri
sk

: 

�
C

on
du

ct
ed

 a
 w

al
kt

hr
ou

gh
 o

f t
he

 k
ey

 c
on

tr
ol

s 
fo

r 
th

is
 

sy
st

em
, a

nd
 

�
T

es
te

d 
a 

sa
m

pl
e 

of
 P

P
E

 tr
an

sa
ct

io
ns

 c
ov

er
in

g 
th

e 
pe

rio
d 

1/
4/

13
 to

 3
1/

3/
14

 

O
ur

 a
ud

it 
w

or
k 

ha
s 

no
t i

de
nt

ifi
ed

 a
ny

 s
ig

ni
fic

an
t 

is
su

es
 in

 r
el

at
io

n 
to

 th
e 

ris
k 

id
en

tif
ie

d.
 

 

P
ro

pe
rt

y,
 p

la
nt

 &
 e

qu
ip

m
en

t 
R

ev
al

ua
tio

n 
m

ea
su

re
m

en
t 

no
t  c

or
re

ct
 

W
e 

ha
ve

 u
nd

er
ta

ke
n 

th
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g 
w

or
k 

in
 r

el
at

io
n 

to
 

th
is

 ri
sk

: 

�
C

on
du

ct
ed

 a
 w

al
kt

hr
ou

gh
 o

f t
he

 k
ey

 c
on

tr
ol

s 
fo

r 
th

is
 

sy
st

em
, a

nd
 

�
R

ev
ie

w
ed

 th
e 

qu
al

ifi
ca

tio
ns

, t
er

m
s 

of
 r

ef
er

en
ce

 a
nd

 
th

e 
as

su
m

pt
io

ns
 a

nd
 m

et
ho

ds
 u

se
d 

by
 th

e 
V

al
ue

r,
 

in
 th

ei
r 

w
or

k 
ca

rr
ie

d 
ou

t a
s 

an
 e

xp
er

t f
or

 th
e 

C
ou

nc
il,

 
an

d 

�
W

e 
ha

ve
 r

ev
ie

w
ed

 th
e 

va
lu

at
io

n 
re

po
rt

s 
pr

od
uc

ed
 to

 
su

pp
or

t t
he

 a
cc

ou
nt

in
g 

en
tr

ie
s.

 

O
ur

 a
ud

it 
w

or
k 

ha
s 

no
t i

de
nt

ifi
ed

 a
ny

 s
ig

ni
fic

an
t 

is
su

es
 in

 r
el

at
io

n 
to

 th
e 

ris
k 

id
en

tif
ie

d.
 

 O
ffi

ce
rs

 n
ee

d 
to

 c
on

si
de

r t
he

ir 
cu

rr
en

t v
al

ua
tio

n 
pr

og
ra

m
m

e 
to

 e
ns

ur
e 

th
at

 th
e 

re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

 o
f t

he
 c

od
e 

(n
ow

 c
la

rif
ie

d 
in

 r
el

at
io

n 
to

 c
la

ss
es

 o
f a

ss
et

) a
re

 m
et

. 

W
el

fa
re

 E
xp

en
di

tu
re

 
W

el
fa

re
 b

en
ef

it 
ex

pe
nd

itu
re

 
im

pr
op

er
ly

 c
om

pu
te

d  
W

e 
ha

ve
 u

nd
er

ta
ke

n 
th

e 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

w
or

k 
in

 r
el

at
io

n 
to

 
th

is
 ri

sk
: 

�
C

on
du

ct
ed

 a
 w

al
kt

hr
ou

gh
 o

f t
he

 k
ey

 c
on

tr
ol

s 
fo

r 
th

is
 

sy
st

em
, a

nd
 

�
T

es
te

d 
a 

sa
m

pl
e 

of
 w

el
fa

re
 b

en
ef

it 
tr

an
sa

ct
io

ns
 

co
ve

rin
g 

th
e 

pe
rio

d 
1/

4/
13

 to
 3

1/
3/

14
 

O
ur

 a
ud

it 
w

or
k 

ha
s 

no
t i

de
nt

ifi
ed

 a
ny

 s
ig

ni
fic

an
t 

is
su

es
 in

 r
el

at
io

n 
to

 th
e 

ris
k 

id
en

tif
ie

d.
 

A
ud

it 
fin

di
ng

s 

38



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

13
 

A
cc

ou
nt

in
g 

po
lic

ie
s, 

es
tim

at
es

 &
 ju

dg
em

en
ts

  

A
cc

o
u

n
ti

n
g

 a
re

a 
S

u
m

m
ar

y 
o

f 
p

o
lic

y 
C

o
m

m
en

ts
 

A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

R
ev

en
u

e 
re

co
g

n
it

io
n

 
T

he
 C

ou
nc

il'
s 

po
lic

y 
on

 r
ev

en
ue

 
re

co
gn

iti
on

 is
 in

cl
ud

ed
 in

 n
ot

e 
41

 o
f 

th
e 

S
ta

te
m

en
t o

f A
cc

ou
nt

s.
  

 
 

�
T

he
 C

ou
nc

il'
s 

po
lic

y 
is

 a
pp

ro
pr

ia
te

 a
nd

 c
on

si
st

en
t w

ith
 th

e 
re

le
va

nt
 a

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
fr

am
ew

or
k 
–

 th
e 

Lo
ca

l G
ov

er
nm

en
t C

od
e 

of
 A

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
P

ra
ct

ic
e 

 

�
M

in
im

al
 ju

dg
em

en
t i

s 
in

vo
lv

ed
  

�
T

he
 a

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
po

lic
y 

is
 p

ro
pe

rly
 d

is
cl

os
ed

  

 
 

 

�
  

Ju
d

g
em

en
ts

 a
n

d
 e

st
im

at
es

 
K

ey
 e

st
im

at
es

 a
nd

 ju
dg

em
en

ts
 

in
cl

ud
e:

  

�
U

se
fu

l l
ife

 o
f c

ap
ita

l e
qu

ip
m

en
t ,

 

�
P

en
si

on
 fu

nd
 v

al
ua

tio
ns

 a
nd

 
se

ttl
em

en
ts

, 

�
P

F
I 

�
R

ev
al

ua
tio

ns
,  

�
Im

pa
irm

en
ts

, a
nd

  

�
P

ro
vi

si
on

s.
  

 
 

 

�
T

he
 C

ou
nc

il'
s 

po
lic

y 
is

 a
pp

ro
pr

ia
te

 a
nd

 c
on

si
st

en
t w

ith
 th

e 
Lo

ca
l G

ov
er

nm
en

t 
C

od
e 

of
 A

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
P

ra
ct

ic
e 

�
R

el
ia

nc
e 

on
 e

xp
er

ts
 is

 ta
ke

n 
w

he
re

 a
pp

ro
pr

ia
te

 

�
A

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
P

ol
ic

ie
s 

ar
e 

pr
op

er
ly

 d
is

cl
os

ed
  

�
W

e 
ha

ve
 r

ev
ie

w
ed

 th
e 

ac
co

un
tin

g 
m

od
el

s 
th

e 
C

ou
nc

il 
ha

ve
 u

se
d 

to
 c

al
cu

la
te

 th
e 

en
tr

ie
s 

re
qu

ire
d 

in
 th

e 
ac

co
un

ts
 fo

r 
th

e 
th

re
e 

cu
rr

en
t P

F
I s

ch
em

es
 in

 o
pe

ra
tio

n.
  

W
e 

ha
ve

 c
om

pa
re

d 
th

es
e 

to
 o

ur
 s

ta
nd

ar
d 

ac
co

un
tin

g 
m

od
el

 to
 p

ro
vi

de
 s

om
e 

in
de

pe
nd

en
t e

vi
de

nc
e 

ov
er

 th
e 

ac
cu

ra
cy

 o
f t

he
 e

st
im

at
e 

us
ed

. W
e 

ar
e 

sa
tis

fie
d 

th
at

 th
es

e 
es

tim
at

es
 a

re
 m

at
er

ia
lly

 a
cc

ur
at

e.
 

�
   

A
ud

it 
fin

di
ng

s 

In
 th

is 
se

ct
io

n 
w

e 
re

po
rt 

on
 o

ur
 c

on
sid

er
at

io
n 

of
 a

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
po

lic
ie

s, 
in

 p
ar

tic
ul

ar
 re

ve
nu

e 
re

co
gn

iti
on

 p
ol

ic
ie

s, 
 a

nd
 k

ey
 e

st
im

at
es

 a
nd

 ju
dg

em
en

ts
 m

ad
e 

an
d 

in
cl

ud
ed

 w
ith

 th
e 

C
ou

nc
il'

s 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
.  

 

39



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

14
 

A
cc

o
u

n
ti

n
g

 a
re

a 
S

u
m

m
ar

y 
o

f 
p

o
lic

y 
C

o
m

m
en

ts
 

A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

O
th

er
 a

cc
o

u
n

ti
n

g
 p

o
lic

ie
s 

�
W

e 
ha

ve
 r

ev
ie

w
ed

 th
e 

C
ou

nc
il'

s 
po

lic
ie

s 
ag

ai
ns

t t
he

 r
eq

ui
re

m
en

ts
 

of
 th

e 
C

IP
F

A
 C

od
e 

an
d 

ac
co

un
tin

g 
st

an
da

rd
s.

 

�
O

ur
 r

ev
ie

w
 o

f t
he

 r
ev

is
ed

 a
cc

ou
nt

in
g 

po
lic

ie
s 

ha
s 

no
t h

ig
hl

ig
ht

ed
 a

ny
 is

su
es

 
w

hi
ch

 w
e 

w
is

h 
to

 b
rin

g 
to

 y
ou

r 
at

te
nt

io
n.

 
�

 

40



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

15
 

A
dj

us
te

d 
m

iss
ta

te
m

en
ts

 
A

ud
it 

fin
di

ng
s 

D
et

ai
l 

St
at

em
en

t/
N

ot
es

 e
ffe

ct
ed

 

1 
no

ne
 

A
 n

um
be

r o
f a

dj
us

tm
en

ts
 to

 th
e 

dr
af

t f
in

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
 h

av
e 

be
en

 id
en

tif
ie

d 
du

rin
g 

th
e 

au
di

t p
ro

ce
ss

. W
e 

ar
e 

re
qu

ire
d 

to
 re

po
rt

 a
ll 

m
iss

ta
te

m
en

ts
 to

 th
os

e 
ch

ar
ge

d 
w

ith
 g

ov
er

na
nc

e,
 

w
he

th
er

 o
r n

ot
 th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
 h

av
e 

be
en

 a
dj

us
te

d 
by

 m
an

ag
em

en
t. 

Th
e 

ta
bl

e 
be

lo
w

 su
m

m
ar

ise
s 

th
e 

ad
ju

st
m

en
ts

 a
ris

in
g 

fr
om

 th
e 

au
di

t w
hi

ch
 h

av
e 

be
en

 p
ro

ce
ss

ed
 b

y 
m

an
ag

em
en

t. 
 Im

p
a
c
t 

o
f 

a
d
ju

s
te

d
 m

is
s
ta

te
m

e
n
ts

 
A

ll 
ad

ju
st

ed
 m

iss
ta

te
m

en
ts

 a
re

 se
t o

ut
 b

el
ow

 a
lo

ng
 w

ith
 th

e 
im

pa
ct

 o
n 

th
e 

pr
im

ar
y 

st
at

em
en

ts
 a

nd
 th

e 
re

po
rt

ed
 fi

na
nc

ia
l p

os
iti

on
.  

41



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

16
 

M
isc
la
ss
ifi
ca
tio
ns
 &
 d
isc
lo
su
re
 c
ha
ng
es
 

A
ud

it 
fin

di
ng

s 

A
dj

us
tm

en
t 

ty
pe

 
A

cc
ou

nt
 b

al
an

ce
 

Im
pa

ct
 o

n 
th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
 

1 
D
isc
lo
su
re
 

PB
SE
 

A
n 
ad
di
tio
na
l s
ta
te
m
en
t t
o 
no
te
 th
e 
co
nt
ra
ct
 v
ar
ia
tio
ns
 si
gn
ed
 in
 M
ay
 2
01
4 
in
 re
la
tio
n 
to
 th
e 
W
as
te
 P
FI
 w
as
 

m
ad
e 
to
 th
e 
dr
af
t a
cc
ou
nt
s 
pr
es
en
te
d 
fo
r a
ud
it.
  T
hi
s w
as
 n
ec
es
sa
ry
 g
iv
en
 th
e 
tim
el
in
e 
fo
r t
he
 p
ro
du
ct
io
n 
of
 

th
e 
ac
co
un
ts
 a
nd
 th
e 
fin
an
ci
al
 c
lo
se
 o
n 
th
e 
co
nt
ra
ct
 v
ar
ia
tio
n.
 

2 . 
D
isc
lo
su
re
 

E
xp
la
na
to
ry
 F
or
ew
or
d 

Fi
gu
re
s w
er
e 
am
en
de
d 
in
 th
e 
E
xp
la
na
to
ry
 F
or
ew
or
d 
to
 e
ns
ur
e 
co
ns
ist
en
cy
 w
ith
 th
e 
no
te
s i
n 
th
e 
St
at
em
en
t o
f 

A
cc
ou
nt
s 

3 
D
isc
lo
su
re
 

N
ot
e 
8.
92
.2
 

Pr
io
r y
ea
r f
ig
ur
es
 in
 n
ot
e 
8.
92
.2
 fo
r i
nt
eg
ra
te
d 
co
m
m
un
ity
 e
qu
ip
m
en
t w
er
e 
am
en
de
d.
 

4 . 
D
isc
lo
su
re
 

N
ot
e 
8.
12
.6
 

A
 n
ot
e 
w
as
 a
dd
ed
 to
 in
fo
rm
 th
e 
re
ad
er
 o
f t
he
 s
ig
ni
fic
an
t c
ha
ng
e 
in
 a
cc
ou
nt
in
g 
po
lic
ie
s i
n 
re
la
tio
n 
to
 sc
ho
ol
s 

in
 2
01
4/
15
. 

5 . 
D
isc
lo
su
re
 

N
ot
e 
8.
42
 

Fu
rt
he
r d
isc
lo
su
re
s w
er
e 
ad
de
d 
to
 n
ot
e 
8.
42
- f
in
an
ci
al
 in
st
ru
m
en
ts
 in
 re
la
tio
n 
to
  d
ef
in
ed
 b
en
ef
it 
pe
ns
io
ns
. 

6 . 
D
isc
lo
su
re
 

N
ot
e 
33
 

N
ot
e 
33
 o
n 
D
ire
ct
 S
ch
oo
ls 
G
ra
nt
 w
as
 a
m
en
de
d 
to
 ta
ke
 a
cc
ou
nt
 o
f t
hr
ee
 s
ch
oo
ls 
w
hi
ch
 h
ad
 m
ov
ed
 to
 

ac
ad
em
y 
st
at
us
. T
he
 fi
gu
re
 in
 th
e 
C
om
pr
eh
en
siv
e 
In
co
m
e 
an
d 
E
xp
en
di
tu
re
 A
cc
ou
nt
 w
as
 c
or
re
ct
. 

7 
D
isc
lo
su
re
 

N
ot
e 
8.
1.
99
 

D
isc
lo
su
re
 w
as
 a
dd
ed
 re
ga
rd
in
g 
th
e 
tr
an
sf
er
 o
f p
ub
lic
 h
ea
lth
 fu
nc
tio
ns
 a
nd
 th
e 
ef
fe
ct
 o
n 
fin
an
ci
al
 st
at
em
en
ts
. 

8 
D
isc
lo
su
re
 

A
cc
ou
nt
in
g 
po
lic
ie
s 

A
cc
ou
nt
in
g 
po
lic
ie
s w
er
e 
ad
de
d 
in
 re
la
tio
n 
to
 th
e 
tim
in
g 
of
 d
e-
re
co
gn
iti
on
 o
f s
ch
oo
ls 
tr
an
sf
er
rin
g 
to
 a
ca
de
m
y 

st
at
us
, r
ev
en
ue
 re
co
gn
iti
on
 o
f c
ou
nc
il 
ta
x 
an
d 
bu
sin
es
s r
at
es
, t
he
 a
pp
ro
ac
h 
to
 d
ep
re
ci
at
in
g 
Pr
op
er
ty
 P
la
nt
 a
nd
 

E
qu
ip
m
en
t c
om
po
ne
nt
s, 
th
e 
ac
co
un
tin
g 
fo
r m
ai
nt
ai
ne
d 
sc
ho
ol
's 
in
co
m
e,
 e
xp
en
di
tu
re
. l
ia
bi
lit
ie
s a
nd
 re
se
rv
es
 

an
d 
th
e 
im
pa
ct
 o
n 
ch
an
ge
s i
n 
bu
sin
es
s r
at
es
. 

Th
e 
ta
bl
e 
be
lo
w
 p
ro
vi
de
s d
et
ai
ls 
of
 m
isc
la
ss
ifi
ca
tio
n 
an
d 
di
sc
lo
su
re
 c
ha
ng
es
 id
en
tif
ie
d 
du
rin
g 
th
e 
au
di
t w
hi
ch
 h
av
e 
be
en
 m
ad
e 
in
 th
e 
fin
al
 se
t o
f f
in
an
ci
al
 s
ta
te
m
en
ts
.  

 

42



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

17
 

U
na

dj
us

te
d 

m
iss

ta
te

m
en

ts
 

A
ud

it 
fin

di
ng

s 

D
et

ai
l 

R
ea

so
n 

fo
r n

ot
 a

dj
us

tin
g 

N
on

e 

Th
e 

ta
bl

e 
be

lo
w

 p
ro

vi
de

s d
et

ai
ls 

of
 a

dj
us

tm
en

ts
 id

en
tif

ie
d 

w
hi

ch
 w

e 
re

qu
es

t b
e 

pr
oc

es
se

d 
bu

t w
hi

ch
 h

av
e 

no
t b

ee
n 

m
ad

e 
w

ith
in

 th
e 

fin
al

 s
et

 o
f f

in
an

ci
al

 st
at

em
en

ts
.  

Th
e 

A
ud

it 
an

d 
G

ov
er

na
nc

e 
C

om
m

itt
ee

 is
 re

qu
ire

d 
to

 a
pp

ro
ve

 m
an

ag
em

en
t's

 p
ro

po
se

d 
tr

ea
tm

en
t o

f a
ll 

ite
m

s r
ec

or
de

d 
w

ith
in

 th
e 

ta
bl

e 
be

lo
w

: 

43



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

18
 

O
th
er
 c
om
m
un
ic
at
io
n 
re
qu
ire
m
en
ts
 

  
Is

su
e 

C
o

m
m

en
ta

ry
 

1.
 

M
at

te
rs

 in
 r

el
at

io
n

 t
o

 f
ra

u
d

 
�

W
e 

ha
ve

 n
ot

 b
ee

n 
m

ad
e 

aw
ar

e 
of

 a
ny

 in
ci

de
nt

s 
in

 th
e 

pe
rio

d 
an

d 
no

 o
th

er
 is

su
es

 h
av

e 
be

en
 id

en
tif

ie
d 

du
rin

g 
th

e 
co

ur
se

 o
f o

ur
 a

ud
it.

 

2.
 

M
at

te
rs

 in
 r

el
at

io
n

 t
o

 la
w

s 
an

d
 

re
g

u
la

ti
o

n
s  

�
W

e 
ar

e 
no

t a
w

ar
e 

of
 a

ny
 s

ig
ni

fic
an

t i
nc

id
en

ce
s 

of
 n

on
-c

om
pl

ia
nc

e 
w

ith
 r

el
ev

an
t l

aw
s 

an
d 

re
gu

la
tio

ns
. 

3.
 

W
ri

tt
en

 r
ep

re
se

n
ta

ti
o

n
s 

�
A

 le
tte

r o
f r

ep
re

se
nt

at
io

n 
ha

s 
be

en
 r

eq
ue

st
ed

 fr
om

 th
e 

C
ou

nc
il.

 

4.
 

D
is

cl
o

su
re

s 
�

O
ur

 r
ev

ie
w

 fo
un

d 
no

 m
at

er
ia

l o
m

is
si

on
s 

in
 th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
 

5.
 

M
at

te
rs

 in
 r

el
at

io
n

 t
o

 r
el

at
ed

 
p

ar
ti

es
 

�
W

e 
ar

e 
no

t a
w

ar
e 

of
 a

ny
 r

el
at

ed
 p

ar
ty

 tr
an

sa
ct

io
ns

 w
hi

ch
 h

av
e 

no
t b

ee
n 

di
sc

lo
se

d
 

6.
 

G
o

in
g

 c
o

n
ce

rn
 

�
O

ur
 w

or
k 

ha
s 

no
t i

de
nt

ifi
ed

 a
ny

 r
ea

so
n 

to
 c

ha
lle

ng
e 

th
e 

C
ou

nc
il'

s 
de

ci
si

on
 to

 p
re

pa
re

 th
e 

fin
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

 o
n 

a 
go

in
g 

co
nc

er
n 

ba
si

s.
 

A
ud

it 
fin

di
ng

s 

W
e 
se
t o
ut
 b
el
ow
 d
et
ai
ls 
of
 o
th
er
 m
at
te
rs
 w
hi
ch
 w
e 
ar
e 
re
qu
ire
d 
by
 a
ud
iti
ng
 st
an
da
rd
s 
to
 c
om
m
un
ic
at
e 
to
 th
os
e 
ch
ar
ge
d 
w
ith
 g
ov
er
na
nc
e.
 

44



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

Se
ct

io
n 

3:
 
Va
lu
e 
fo
r M

on
ey
 

01
. 

E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 s

u
m

m
ar

y 

02
. 

A
u

d
it

 f
in

d
in

g
s 

03
. 

V
al

u
e 

fo
r 

M
o

n
ey

 

04
. 

F
ee

s,
 n

o
n

 a
u

d
it

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
an

d
 in

d
ep

en
d

en
ce

 

05
. 

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
at

io
n

 o
f 

au
d

it
 m

at
te

rs
 

45



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

20
 

Va
lu
e 
fo
r M

on
ey
  

V
al

ue
 fo

r 
M

on
ey

 

V
a
lu

e
 f

o
r 

M
o
n
e
y
 c

o
n
c
lu

s
io

n
 

Th
e 
C
od
e 
of
 A
ud
it 
Pr
ac
tic
e 
20
10
 (t
he
 C
od
e)
 d
es
cr
ib
es
 th
e 
C
ou
nc
il'
s 

re
sp
on
sib
ili
tie
s t
o 
pu
t i
n 
pl
ac
e 
pr
op
er
 a
rr
an
ge
m
en
ts
 to
: 

•
se
cu
re
 e
co
no
m
y,
 e
ff
ic
ie
nc
y 
an
d 
ef
fe
ct
iv
en
es
s i
n 
its
 u
se
 o
f r
es
ou
rc
es
 

•
en
su
re
 p
ro
pe
r s
te
w
ar
ds
hi
p 
an
d 
go
ve
rn
an
ce
 

•
re
vi
ew
 re
gu
la
rly
 th
e 
ad
eq
ua
cy
 a
nd
 e
ff
ec
tiv
en
es
s o
f t
he
se
 a
rr
an
ge
m
en
ts
. 

  W
e 
ar
e 
re
qu
ire
d 
to
 g
iv
e 
ou
r V
fM
 c
on
cl
us
io
n 
ba
se
d 
on
 th
e 
fo
llo
w
in
g 
tw
o 
cr
ite
ria
 

sp
ec
ifi
ed
 b
y 
th
e 
A
ud
it 
C
om
m
iss
io
n 
w
hi
ch
 s
up
po
rt
 o
ur
 re
po
rt
in
g 
re
sp
on
sib
ili
tie
s 

un
de
r t
he
 C
od
e:
  

 •
T

he
 C

ou
nc

il 
ha

s 
pr

op
er

 a
rr

an
ge

m
en

ts
 in

 p
la

ce
 fo

r s
ec

ur
in

g 
fin

an
ci

al
 

re
si

lie
nc

e.
 T
he
 C
ou
nc
il 
ha
s r
ob
us
t s
ys
te
m
s a
nd
 p
ro
ce
ss
es
 to
 m
an
ag
e 
ef
fe
ct
iv
el
y 

fin
an
ci
al
 ri
sk
s a
nd
 o
pp
or
tu
ni
tie
s, 
an
d 
to
 se
cu
re
 a
 st
ab
le
 fi
na
nc
ia
l p
os
iti
on
 th
at
 

en
ab
le
s i
t t
o 
co
nt
in
ue
 to
 o
pe
ra
te
 fo
r t
he
 fo
re
se
ea
bl
e 
fu
tu
re
. 

•
T

he
 C

ou
nc

il 
ha

s 
pr

op
er

 a
rr

an
ge

m
en

ts
 fo

r c
ha

lle
ng

in
g 

ho
w

 it
 s

ec
ur

es
 

ec
on

om
y,

 e
ffi

ci
en

cy
 a

nd
 e

ffe
ct

iv
en

es
s 
Th
e 
C
ou
nc
il 
is 
pr
io
rit
isi
ng
 it
s 

re
so
ur
ce
s w
ith
in
 ti
gh
te
r b
ud
ge
ts
, f
or
 e
xa
m
pl
e 
by
 a
ch
ie
vi
ng
 c
os
t r
ed
uc
tio
ns
 a
nd
 

by
 im
pr
ov
in
g 
ef
fic
ie
nc
y 
an
d 
pr
od
uc
tiv
ity
. 

 K
e
y
 f

in
d
in

g
s
 

Se
cu

ri
ng

 fi
na

nc
ia

l r
es

ili
en

ce
  

W
e 
ha
ve
 u
nd
er
ta
ke
n 
a 
re
vi
ew
 w
hi
ch
 c
on
sid
er
ed
 th
e 
C
ou
nc
il'
s a
rr
an
ge
m
en
ts
 a
ga
in
st
 

th
e 
fo
llo
w
in
g 
th
re
e 
ex
pe
ct
ed
 c
ha
ra
ct
er
ist
ic
s o
f p
ro
pe
r a
rr
an
ge
m
en
ts
 a
s d
ef
in
ed
 b
y 

th
e 
A
ud
it 
C
om
m
iss
io
n:
 

 
•
Fi
na
nc
ia
l g
ov
er
na
nc
e;
 

•
Fi
na
nc
ia
l p
la
nn
in
g;
 a
nd
  

•
Fi
na
nc
ia
l c
on
tr
ol
 

  Th
e 
C
ou
nc
il,
 li
ke
 m
os
t o
th
er
s n
at
io
na
lly
, c
on
tin
ue
s t
o 
fa
ce
 c
ha
lle
ng
es
 in
 h
ow
 to
 

ba
la
nc
e 
its
 b
ud
ge
t. 
Th
e 
ou
ttu
rn
 p
os
iti
on
 fo
r 2
01
3/
14
 sh
ow
s t
ha
t t
he
 b
ud
ge
t  
ha
s 

be
en
 a
ch
ie
ve
d.
  T
hi
s w
as
 a
 p
os
iti
ve
 a
ch
ie
ve
m
en
t c
on
sid
er
in
g 
th
e 
 fo
re
ca
st
 in
 

O
ct
ob
er
 2
01
3 
of
 a
 £
2m
 d
ef
ic
it.
 In
 re
ac
hi
ng
 th
is 
po
sit
io
n,
 si
gn
ifi
ca
nt
 sa
vi
ng
s 

ha
ve
 b
ee
n 
m
ad
e,
 h
ow
ev
er
, s
om
e 
 w
er
e 
ac
hi
ev
ed
 th
ro
ug
h 
on
e-
of
f m
ea
su
re
s 

ra
th
er
 th
an
 th
e 
pl
an
ne
d 
re
cu
rr
en
t s
av
in
gs
. T
he
 C
ou
nc
il 
ob
ta
in
ed
 a
 d
ire
ct
io
n 

ap
pr
ov
al
 fr
om
 C
LG
 to
 a
llo
w
 it
 to
 c
ha
rg
e 
£1
.6
m
 o
f t
ra
ns
fo
rm
at
io
n 
re
ve
nu
e 
co
st
s 

to
 c
ap
ita
l. 
 P
la
ns
 a
re
 in
 p
la
ce
 to
 c
on
ve
rt
 th
is 
to
 re
cu
rr
en
t s
av
in
gs
 in
 2
01
4/
15
.  
 

W
hi
le
 si
m
ila
r p
re
ss
ur
e 
po
in
ts
 to
 p
re
vi
ou
s y
ea
rs
 re
m
ai
n,
 fo
r e
xa
m
pl
e 
A
du
lt 
So
ci
al
 

C
ar
e,
 a
rr
an
ge
m
en
ts
 to
 m
on
ito
r a
nd
 m
an
ag
e 
th
es
e 
fin
an
ci
al
 c
ha
lle
ng
es
 h
av
e 

im
pr
ov
ed
 a
nd
 a
pp
ea
r r
ob
us
t. 
 O
ve
ra
ll,
 w
e 
co
ns
id
er
 th
e 
C
ou
nc
il'
s m

ed
iu
m
 te
rm
 

fin
an
ci
al
 p
la
n 
(M
TF
P)
 to
 h
av
e 
be
en
 s
tr
en
gt
he
ne
d 
in
 th
e 
ye
ar
 a
nd
 th
at
 it
 h
as
 

ap
pr
op
ria
te
 b
ud
ge
t s
et
tin
g 
an
d 
m
on
ito
rin
g 
ar
ra
ng
em
en
ts
 in
 p
la
ce
. I
n 
A
pp
en
di
x 

D
 w
e 
in
cl
ud
e 
ou
r r
at
in
gs
 o
f f
ou
r k
ey
 a
re
as
 in
 o
ur
 fi
na
nc
ia
l r
es
ili
en
ce
 w
or
k.
 

C
ha

lle
ng

in
g 

ec
on

om
y,

 e
ffi

ci
en

cy
 a

nd
 e

ffe
ct

iv
en

es
s 

W
e 
ha
ve
 re
vi
ew
ed
 w
he
th
er
 th
e 
C
ou
nc
il 
ha
s p
rio
rit
ise
d 
its
 re
so
ur
ce
s t
o 
ta
ke
 

ac
co
un
t o
f t
he
 ti
gh
te
r c
on
st
ra
in
ts
 it
 is
 re
qu
ire
d 
to
 o
pe
ra
te
 w
ith
in
. O
ur
 w
or
k 
ha
s 

fo
cu
se
d 
on
 h
ow
 th
e 
C
ou
nc
il 
ha
s d
el
iv
er
ed
 it
s s
av
in
gs
 p
ro
gr
am
m
e 
in
 2
01
3/
14
 

an
d 
its
 p
la
ns
 fo
r d
el
iv
er
in
g 
sa
vi
ng
s i
n 
fu
tu
re
 y
ea
rs
. O
ur
 o
ve
ra
ll 
co
nc
lu
sio
n 
w
as
 

th
at
, a
lth
ou
gh
 th
er
e 
w
as
 si
gn
ifi
ca
nt
 n
on
 d
el
iv
er
y 
of
 sa
vi
ng
s  
in
 2
01
3/
14
, i
n 
th
e 

m
ai
n,
 th
is 
w
as
 th
e 
re
su
lt 
of
 o
ve
r-
op
tim
ism

 in
 th
e 
tim
in
g 
of
 d
el
iv
er
y.
 T
he
 

de
liv
er
y 
of
 sa
vi
ng
s w
as
 m
or
e 
ef
fe
ct
iv
e 
 in
 2
01
3/
14
 th
an
 in
 p
re
vi
ou
s y
ea
rs
 a
nd
 

th
er
e 
is 
no
w
 g
re
at
er
 a
ss
ur
an
ce
 o
n 
sa
vi
ng
s d
el
iv
er
y 
in
 2
01
4-
15
. T
he
re
 is
 sc
op
e 
to
 

im
pr
ov
e 
th
e 
w
ay
 th
at
 sa
vi
ng
s s
ch
em
es
 a
re
 p
ro
je
ct
 m
an
ag
ed
 a
nd
 m
on
ito
re
d 
an
d 

al
so
 th
e 
qu
al
ity
 o
f i
nf
or
m
at
io
n 
pr
ov
id
ed
 to
 M
em
be
rs
 o
n 
th
e 
pr
og
re
ss
 o
f 

sc
he
m
es
. I
n 
ad
di
tio
n 
th
e 
C
ou
nc
il 
re
ce
iv
ed
 a
n 
in
ad
eq
ua
te
 a
ss
es
sm
en
t f
ro
m
 

O
fs
te
d 
in
 la
te
 2
01
2 
in
 re
la
tio
n 
to
 it
s a
rr
an
ge
m
en
ts
 to
 sa
fe
gu
ar
d 
ch
ild
re
n.
 It
 h
as
 

su
bs
eq
ue
nt
ly
 w
or
ke
d 
ha
rd
 th
ro
ug
h 
its
 Im

pr
ov
em
en
t B
oa
rd
 to
 a
dd
re
ss
 th
e 
iss
ue
s 

an
d 
in
 Ju
ne
 th
is 
ye
ar
 O
fs
te
d 
ra
te
d 
th
e 
C
ou
nc
il 
as
 "
in
 n
ee
d 
of
 im
pr
ov
em
en
t"
.  

46



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

21
 

A
s p

ar
t o

f t
he

 a
ud

it 
pl

an
, w

e 
hi

gh
lig

ht
ed

 sp
ec

ifi
c 

ris
ks

 in
 re

la
tio

n 
to

 th
e 

V
FM

 
co

nc
lu

sio
n.

  T
he

se
 w

er
e;

 
 •

Th
e 

in
tr

od
uc

tio
n 

of
 th

e 
Be

tte
r C

ar
e 

Fu
nd

,  
•

Pl
an

s f
or

 th
e 

ne
w

 e
ne

rg
y 

to
 w

as
te

 p
la

nt
 a

t H
ar

tle
bu

ry
. 

•
A

rr
an

ge
m

en
ts

 to
 sa

fe
gu

ar
d 

ch
ild

re
n,

 a
nd

 
•

Fi
na

nc
ia

l r
es

ili
en

ce
 a

s r
ef

le
ct

ed
 b

y 
M

TF
S 

an
d 

in
 p

ar
tic

ul
ar

 th
e 

im
pa

ct
 o

f 
co

nt
in

ue
d 

ov
er

sp
en

di
ng

 in
 A

du
lt 

So
ci

al
 C

ar
e.

  
 

In
 a

dd
iti

on
 w

e 
re

ce
iv

ed
 a

 P
ub

lic
 In

te
re

st
 D

isc
lo

su
re

 A
ct

 (P
ID

A
) f

ro
m

 a
 m

em
be

r o
f 

st
af

f i
n 

re
la

tio
n 

to
 th

e 
pr

oc
ur

em
en

t a
nd

 im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
of

 a
 c

us
to

m
er

 in
te

rf
ac

e 
IT

 
sy

st
em

, C
R

M
, a

nd
 c

ar
rie

d 
ou

t f
ur

th
er

 w
or

k 
to

 lo
ok

 a
t t

he
 c

on
ce

rn
s r

ai
se

d.
 

 Pu
bl

ic
 In

te
re

st
 D

is
cl

os
ur

e 
A

ct
 

 O
ur

 in
ve

st
ig

at
io

n 
in

 re
sp

on
se

 to
 th

e 
 P

ID
A

 re
fe

rr
al

  s
ug

ge
st

ed
 th

at
 th

e 
Bu

sin
es

s 
C

as
e 

fo
r t

he
 p

ro
je

ct
 w

as
 v

er
y 

am
bi

tio
us

 a
nd

 n
ot

 fu
lly

 o
w

ne
d 

by
 a

ll 
pa

rt
s o

f t
he

 
C

ou
nc

il.
  T

he
 e

st
im

at
ed

 c
as

ha
bl

e 
sa

vi
ng

s o
f £

1.
6m

 id
en

tif
ie

d 
in

 th
e 

Bu
sin

es
s C

as
e 

w
er

e 
no

t s
up

po
rt

ed
 b

y 
ro

bu
st

 a
na

ly
sis

 a
nd

 w
er

e 
pr

em
ise

d 
on

 c
en

tr
al

isi
ng

 se
rv

ic
es

 
an

d 
th

er
ef

or
e 

re
du

ci
ng

 b
ac

k-
of

fic
e 

co
st

s i
n 

de
pa

rt
m

en
ts

. I
n 

re
al

ity
 th

e 
pr

oj
ec

t d
id

 
no

t s
ub

se
qu

en
tly

 e
xt

en
d 

to
 a

ll 
of

 th
e 

se
rv

ic
es

 e
nv

isa
ge

d 
w

ith
in

 th
e 

Bu
sin

es
s C

as
e,

 so
 

it 
is 

un
lik

el
y 

th
at

 k
ey

 e
le

m
en

ts
 o

f t
he

 c
as

ha
bl

e 
sa

vi
ng

s w
er

e 
re

al
ise

d.
  

O
ur

 re
vi

ew
 o

f t
he

 p
ro

cu
re

m
en

t o
f C

R
M

 su
gg

es
ts

 th
at

 th
e 

C
ou

nc
il 

ap
pe

ar
s t

o 
ha

ve
 

ca
rr

ie
d 

ou
t a

n 
ap

pr
op

ria
te

 te
nd

er
in

g 
pr

oc
es

s w
ith

 su
ff

ic
ie

nt
 sa

fe
gu

ar
ds

 b
ui

lt 
in

 to
 

en
su

re
 fa

irn
es

s a
nd

 tr
an

sp
ar

en
cy

. F
ol

lo
w

in
g 

th
is,

 th
e 

C
ou

nc
il 

im
pl

em
en

te
d 

a 
sh

ar
ed

 
fr

on
t o

ff
ic

e 
 a

nd
 th

is 
is 

st
ill

 in
 o

pe
ra

tio
n 

an
d 

w
or

ki
ng

 re
as

on
ab

ly
 e

ff
ec

tiv
el

y,
 b

ut
 th

e 
pr

oj
ec

t d
id

 n
ot

, a
s e

nv
isa

ge
d 

by
 th

e 
Bu

sin
es

s C
as

e:
 e

xt
en

d 
to

 a
ll 

co
un

ci
l s

er
vi

ce
s a

nd
 

pa
rt

ne
rs

; p
ro

vi
de

 c
om

pl
et

e 
vi

sib
ili

ty
 o

f a
ll 

 c
us

to
m

er
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
or

 a
llo

w
 p

ro
ac

tiv
e 

or
 'i

nt
el

lig
en

t' 
ac

tio
n 

in
 re

sp
on

se
 to

 c
us

to
m

er
 d

at
a 

w
hi

ch
 w

er
e 

al
l k

ey
 p

la
nk

s o
f t

he
 

or
ig

in
al

 p
la

n 
:      

Th
e 

pr
oj

ec
t h

as
 d

el
iv

er
ed

 b
en

ef
its

 b
ut

 th
e 

C
ou

nc
il'

s o
w

n 
po

st
-im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

re
vi

ew
 c

on
cl

ud
ed

 th
at

 it
 h

as
 o

nl
y 

be
en

 p
ar

tia
lly

 su
cc

es
sf

ul
 a

nd
 th

at
 m

om
en

tu
m

 h
as

 
st

al
le

d 
fo

r a
 n

um
be

r o
f r

ea
so

ns
 

 •
th

e 
w

or
ld

 c
ha

ng
ed

: t
he

 P
rim

ar
y 

C
ar

e 
Tr

us
t w

as
 a

bo
lis

he
d 

an
d 

ot
he

r s
er

vi
ce

s w
er

e 
di

ve
st

ed
 a

nd
 k

ey
 p

ro
vi

de
rs

 n
o 

lo
ng

er
 c

on
tr

ac
t w

ith
 th

e 
C

ou
nc

il 
•

th
e 

im
pa

ct
 o

f A
us

te
rit

y 
m

ea
nt

 th
at

 th
e 

C
ou

nc
il 

co
ul

d 
no

 lo
ng

er
 fu

nd
 th

e 
fu

ll 
im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

of
 th

e 
pr

oj
ec

t  
an

d 
th

e 
ba

ck
-o

ff
ic

e 
sa

vi
ng

s w
hi

ch
 w

er
e 

su
pp

os
ed

 
to

 b
e 

de
liv

er
ed

 b
y 

C
R

M
 w

er
e 

pr
ob

ab
ly

 d
el

iv
er

ed
 b

y 
ot

he
r m

ea
ns

 
•

th
e 

C
ou

nc
il'

s m
od

el
 o

f s
ee

ki
ng

 to
 p

ro
vi

de
 se

rv
ic

es
 to

  m
ee

t a
ll 

cu
st

om
er

 d
em

an
d 

ha
s c

ha
ng

ed
 to

 o
ne

 o
f s

ee
ki

ng
 to

 c
on

st
ra

in
 d

em
an

d 
 a

nd
  e

na
bl

e 
se

lf-
se

rv
ic

e 
w

he
re

 p
ra

ct
ic

ab
le

   
•

th
er

e 
w

as
 in

su
ff

ic
ie

nt
 c

or
po

ra
te

 a
nd

 d
ep

ar
tm

en
ta

l s
up

po
rt

 to
 e

xt
en

di
ng

 th
e 

pr
oj

ec
t f

ur
th

er
 

 It
 is

 d
iff

ic
ul

t t
o 

ga
ug

e 
w

he
th

er
 th

e 
£1

m
 sp

en
t o

n 
th

e 
pr

oj
ec

t p
ro

vi
de

d 
va

lu
e 

fo
r 

m
on

ey
. I

t i
s u

nl
ik

el
y 

th
at

 C
R

M
 d

el
iv

er
ed

 a
ll 

of
 th

e 
co

st
s s

av
in

gs
 o

n 
w

hi
ch

 th
e 

Bu
sin

es
s C

as
e 

w
as

 p
re

m
ise

d 
an

d 
th

e 
sy

st
em

  i
s p

os
sib

ly
 o

ve
r-

en
gi

ne
er

ed
 fo

r i
ts

 
cu

rr
en

t u
se

.  
G

oi
ng

 fo
rw

ar
d 

th
e 

C
ou

nc
il 

ne
ed

s t
o 

be
 c

le
ar

er
  a

bo
ut

 th
e 

sc
op

e 
 a

nd
 

am
bi

tio
n 

of
 it

s c
us

to
m

er
 v

isi
on

 a
nd

 w
ha

t t
hi

s m
ea

ns
 fo

r t
he

 w
ay

 it
 e

ng
ag

es
 w

ith
 a

ll 
cu

st
om

er
s i

n 
fu

tu
re

 a
nd

 th
e 

di
gi

ta
l a

nd
 o

th
er

 c
ha

nn
el

s 
it 

ne
ed

s t
o 

de
pl

oy
 to

 su
pp

or
t 

th
at

 v
isi

on
.  

 It
 is

 im
po

rt
an

t t
ha

t t
he

 C
ou

nc
il 

le
ar

ns
 le

ss
on

s  
fr

om
 th

is 
pr

oj
ec

t. 
O

ur
 

de
ta

ile
d 

re
po

rt
 in

cl
ud

es
 re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

ns
. T

he
 A

ud
it 

an
d 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

C
om

m
itt

ee
 

ha
s a

sk
ed

 fo
r a

 d
et

ai
le

d 
ac

tio
n 

pl
an

 to
 a

dd
re

ss
 th

es
e 

an
d 

al
so

 p
ic

k 
up

 a
ny

 w
id

er
 

le
ss

on
s. 

 B
et

te
r C

ar
e 

Fu
nd

 
W

e 
ha

ve
 a

lso
 c

on
sid

er
ed

 th
e 

w
or

k 
un

de
rt

ak
en

 b
y 

pa
rtn

er
s a

cr
os

s H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
 to

 
ag

re
e 

an
d 

de
ve

lo
p 

th
e 

Be
tte

r C
ar

e 
Fu

nd
 P

la
n.

 W
e 

ar
e 

ab
le

 to
 c

on
cl

ud
e 

th
at

 th
e 

pa
rt

ne
rs

hi
p 

to
 d

at
e 

ha
s a

ch
ie

ve
d 

th
e 

tim
es

ca
le

 a
nd

 a
ss

ur
an

ce
 re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
 se

t b
y 

N
H

S 
E

ng
la

nd
. 

.  

V
al

ue
 fo

r 
M

on
ey

 

47



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

22
 

H
er
ef
or
ds
hi
re
 su
bm
itt
ed
 it
s B
et
te
r C
ar
e 
Fu
nd
 p
la
ns
 in
 li
ne
 w
ith
 th
e 
na
tio
na
l 

tim
et
ab
le
. W
hi
lst
 re
so
ur
ce
s c
om
m
itt
ed
 in
 2
01
4/
15
 a
re
 li
m
ite
d,
 su
m
s t
o 
be
 p
oo
le
d 
ar
e 

lik
el
y 
to
 in
cr
ea
se
 c
on
sid
er
ab
ly
 b
ey
on
d 
th
en
.  
It
 w
ill
 b
e 
cr
iti
ca
l t
ha
t t
he
 B
et
te
r C
ar
e 

Fu
nd
 P
la
ns
 w
ill
 a
ch
ie
ve
 in
te
gr
at
ed
 se
rv
ic
es
 a
nd
 re
du
ct
io
ns
 in
 e
m
er
ge
nc
y 
ad
m
iss
io
ns
  

fo
r t
he
 fu
tu
re
 fi
na
nc
ia
l s
ta
bi
lit
y 
of
 h
ea
lth
 a
nd
 s
oc
ia
l c
ar
e 
se
rv
ic
es
 in
 H
er
ef
or
ds
hi
re
 

Th
e 
pl
an
s a
re
 st
ill
 in
 th
e 
ea
rly
 s
ta
ge
s o
f d
ev
el
op
m
en
t f
or
 th
e 
pe
rio
d 
be
yo
nd
 2
01
4/
15
 

an
d 
th
er
e 
ar
e 
so
m
e 
co
ns
id
er
ab
le
 fi
na
nc
ia
l c
ha
lle
ng
es
 w
ith
in
 th
e 
lo
ca
l g
ov
er
nm
en
t 

an
d 
he
al
th
 e
co
no
m
y.
 

 E
ne

rg
y 

to
 W

as
te

 p
ro

je
ct

 
G
iv
en
 th
e 
la
rg
e 
vo
lu
m
e 
of
 c
or
re
sp
on
de
nc
e 
fr
om
 m
em
be
rs
 o
f t
he
 p
ub
lic
 a
nd
 th
e 

un
iq
ue
 n
at
ur
e 
of
 th
e 
ar
ra
ng
em
en
t, 
w
e 
ha
ve
 u
nd
er
ta
ke
n 
a 
de
ta
ile
d 
re
vi
ew
 o
f t
he
 

ar
ra
ng
em
en
ts
 in
 re
la
tio
n 
to
 th
e 
en
er
gy
 to
 w
as
te
 p
la
nt
.  

R
es
id
ua
l R
isk
 id
en
tif
ie
d 

Th
e 
W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
 a
nd
 H
er
ef
or
ds
hi
re
 W
as
te
 P
riv
at
e 
Fi
na
nc
e 
In
iti
at
iv
e 
(P
FI
) 

co
nt
ra
ct
 w
ith
 M
er
ci
a 
W
as
te
 M
an
ag
em
en
t L
td
 w
as
 se
t u
p 
in
 D
ec
em
be
r 1
99
8 
w
ith
 th
e 

in
te
nt
io
n 
of
 d
ev
el
op
in
g 
a 
w
as
te
 d
isp
os
al
 fa
ci
lit
y 
th
at
 w
ou
ld
 c
om
e 
on
 st
re
am
 e
ar
ly
 in
 

th
e 
co
nt
ra
ct
. I
t w
as
 p
re
do
m
in
an
tly
 b
as
ed
 a
ro
un
d 
w
ha
t w
as
 th
en
 d
es
cr
ib
ed
 a
s a
 w
as
te
 

to
 e
ne
rg
y 
fa
ci
lit
y 
fo
r w
hi
ch
 p
la
nn
in
g 
pe
rm
iss
io
n 
w
as
 su
bs
eq
ue
nt
ly
 n
ot
 

ob
ta
in
ed
. S
in
ce
 p
la
nn
in
g 
pe
rm
iss
io
n 
w
as
 re
fu
se
d 
in
 A
pr
il 
20
01
, a
lte
rn
at
iv
e 

te
ch
no
lo
gi
es
 a
nd
 w
ay
s 
fo
rw
ar
d 
ha
ve
 b
ee
n 
ex
pl
or
ed
 to
 h
el
p 
al
lo
w
 b
ot
h 
pa
rt
ie
s t
o 

m
ee
t  
na
tio
na
l t
ar
ge
ts
 fo
r r
ec
yc
lin
g 
an
d 
re
du
ce
 th
e 
am
ou
nt
 o
f w
as
te
 w
hi
ch
 e
nd
s 
up
 in
 

la
nd
fil
l s
ite
s. 
In
 D
ec
em
be
r 2
01
3 
th
e 
C
ou
nc
il'
s C
ab
in
et
 a
gr
ee
d 
to
 e
nt
er
 a
 v
ar
ia
tio
n 
to
 

th
e 
ex
ist
in
g 
w
as
te
 c
on
tr
ac
t t
o 
pr
ov
id
e 
an
d 
E
ne
rg
y 
fr
om
 W
as
te
 (E
fW
) i
n 
H
ar
tle
bu
ry
 

(N
or
th
 W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
). 
Th
e 
re
sid
ua
l r
isk
 id
en
tif
ie
d 
w
as
 th
at
 a
rr
an
ge
m
en
ts
 a
re
 n
ot
 in
 

pl
ac
e 
to
 e
ns
ur
e 
th
at
 th
is 
va
ria
tio
n 
to
 th
e 
ex
ist
in
g 
w
as
te
 c
on
tr
ac
t p
ro
vi
de
s v
al
ue
 fo
r 

m
on
ey
. 

O
ve
rv
ie
w
 o
f w
or
k 
un
de
rt
ak
en
 

W
e 
ha
ve
 re
vi
ew
ed
 th
e 
ar
ra
ng
em
en
ts
 th
at
 th
e 
C
ou
nc
il 
ha
s p
ut
 in
 p
la
ce
 to
 e
ns
ur
e 

th
at
 a
 v
ar
ia
tio
n 
to
 th
e 
ex
ist
in
g 
w
as
te
 d
isp
os
al
 c
on
tr
ac
t t
o 
pr
ov
id
e 
fo
r a
n 
E
ne
rg
y 

fr
om
 W
as
te
 p
la
nt
 in
 H
ar
tle
bu
ry
 p
ro
vi
de
s v
al
ue
 fo
r m
on
ey
. T
hi
s i
nc
lu
de
d 
a 
re
vi
ew
 

of
 th
e 
as
se
ss
m
en
t c
ar
rie
d 
ou
t b
y 
th
e 
C
ou
nc
il 
in
 D
ec
em
be
r 2
01
3 
an
d 
al
so
 th
e 
ea
rli
er
 

as
se
ss
m
en
t o
f t
he
 c
ho
ic
e 
of
 te
ch
no
lo
gy
 in
 2
00
9.
 A
s p
ar
t o
f t
hi
s w
or
k,
 w
e 
as
se
ss
ed
 

w
he
th
er
 th
e 
C
ou
nc
il 
ha
s t
ak
en
 a
pp
ro
pr
ia
te
 a
nd
 ti
m
el
y 
ex
pe
rt
 a
dv
ic
e.
 

Su
m
m
ar
y 
of
 fi
nd
in
gs
 

In
 D
ec
em
be
r 2
01
3 
th
e 
C
ou
nc
il'
s C
ab
in
et
 a
gr
ee
d 
to
 e
nt
er
 a
 v
ar
ia
tio
n 
to
 th
e 
ex
ist
in
g 

w
as
te
 c
on
tr
ac
t t
o 
pr
ov
id
e 
an
 (E
fW
) p
la
nt
 in
 H
ar
tle
bu
ry
  a
nd
 th
e 
co
nt
ra
ct
 v
ar
ia
tio
n 

w
as
 su
bs
eq
ue
nt
ly
 c
om
pl
et
ed
 in
 M
ay
 2
01
4.
 T
he
 D
ec
em
be
r C
ab
in
et
 m
ee
tin
g 

co
ns
id
er
ed
 th
e 
op
tio
n 
of
 c
on
st
ru
ct
in
g 
an
 E
fW
 p
la
nt
 a
ga
in
st
 o
th
er
 o
pt
io
ns
 su
ch
 a
s 

"d
o 
no
th
in
g"
 a
nd
 te
rm
in
at
io
n 
of
 th
e 
ex
ist
in
g 
co
nt
ra
ct
. I
t a
lso
 c
on
sid
er
ed
 a
lte
rn
at
iv
e 

m
et
ho
ds
 o
f f
in
an
ci
ng
 th
e 
E
fW
 p
la
nt
 s
uc
h 
as
 p
riv
at
e 
fin
an
ce
, m
ix
ed
 p
riv
at
e 
fin
an
ce
 

an
d 
pr
ud
en
tia
l  
bo
rr
ow
in
g 
an
d 
 p
ru
de
nt
ia
l b
or
ro
w
in
g.
 T
he
 a
ss
es
sm
en
t i
nc
lu
de
d 

bo
th
 a
 q
ua
nt
ita
tiv
e 
ap
pr
ai
sa
l w
hi
ch
 h
ad
 b
ee
n 
 su
pp
or
te
d 
by
 th
e 
C
ou
nc
il'
s f
in
an
ci
al
 

ad
vi
se
rs
, D
el
oi
tte
, a
nd
 a
lso
 q
ua
lit
at
iv
e 
fa
ct
or
s. 

Th
e 
fin
an
ci
al
 a
pp
ra
isa
l a
lso
 q
ua
nt
ifi
ed
 ri
sk
s i
de
nt
ifi
ed
 in
 m
ee
tin
gs
 o
f c
ou
nc
il 

of
fic
er
s a
nd
 th
ei
r a
dv
ise
rs
. T
he
 a
ss
es
sm
en
t c
on
cl
ud
ed
 th
at
 p
ro
cu
rin
g 
an
 E
fW
 p
la
nt
 

th
ro
ug
h 
pr
ud
en
tia
l f
in
an
ce
 a
s a
 v
ar
ia
tio
n 
to
 th
e 
ex
ist
in
g 
co
nt
ra
ct
 w
as
 th
e 
be
st
 o
f 

th
e 
op
tio
ns
 o
ve
r t
he
 w
ho
le
 li
fe
 o
f t
he
 p
la
nt
. T
he
 C
ou
nc
il 
as
se
ss
ed
 th
e 
im
pa
ct
 o
f 

ch
an
ge
s t
o 
so
m
e 
of
 th
e 
ke
y 
as
su
m
pt
io
ns
 u
se
d 
to
 m
od
el
 th
e 
co
st
 o
f t
he
 o
pt
io
ns
 

su
ch
 a
s c
ha
ng
es
 in
 w
as
te
 v
ol
um
es
 a
nd
 in
cr
ea
se
s t
o 
la
nd
fil
l t
ax
. T
he
 C
ou
nc
il 
ha
s 

ta
ke
n 
ap
pr
op
ria
te
 e
xp
er
t a
dv
ic
e 
to
 in
fo
rm
 it
s d
ec
isi
on
s. 
Th
is 
ha
s i
nc
lu
de
d 
fin
an
ci
al
, 

le
ga
l a
nd
 te
ch
ni
ca
l a
dv
ic
e 

V
al

ue
 fo

r 
M

on
ey

 

48



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

It
 is

 c
le

ar
ly

 v
ita

l i
n 

a 
pr

oj
ec

t o
f t

hi
s s

iz
e 

w
hi

ch
 h

as
 a

 lo
ng

 te
rm

 im
pa

ct
 th

at
 

m
em

be
rs

 a
re

 p
ro

vi
de

d 
w

ith
 a

ll 
re

le
va

nt
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
to

 a
llo

w
 th

em
 to

 m
ak

e 
a 

co
ns

id
er

ed
 d

ec
isi

on
.  

W
e 

re
vi

ew
ed

 th
e 

ke
y 

de
ci

sio
ns

 in
 th

is 
pr

oj
ec

t a
nd

 o
ne

 o
f 

th
es

e 
w

as
 th

e 
ch

oi
ce

 o
f t

ec
hn

ol
og

y 
to

 d
ea

l w
ith

 re
sid

ua
l w

as
te

 w
hi

ch
 w

as
 

ef
fe

ct
iv

el
y 

m
ad

e 
in

 2
00

9.
  

W
e 

ha
ve

 id
en

tif
ie

d 
a 

sig
ni

fic
an

t i
ss

ue
 in

 re
la

tio
n 

to
 th

e 
do

cu
m

en
ta

tio
n 

su
pp

or
tin

g 
th

e 
re

po
rt

in
g 

to
 m

em
be

rs
 o

f o
ff

ic
er

s' 
vi

ew
s o

f t
he

 p
re

fe
rr

ed
 te

ch
no

lo
gi

ca
l s

ol
ut

io
n 

an
d 

th
e 

re
as

on
s f

or
 th

is 
to

 h
el

p 
m

ak
e 

an
 in

fo
rm

ed
 d

ec
isi

on
. T

he
re

 w
as

 n
o 

de
ta

ile
d 

ac
co

m
pa

ny
in

g 
re

po
rt

 to
 C

ab
in

et
 s

et
tin

g 
ou

t w
hy

 o
ff

ic
er

s (
ra

th
er

 th
an

 c
on

su
lta

nt
s)

 
co

ns
id

er
ed

 th
at

 th
is 

ch
oi

ce
 o

f t
ec

hn
ol

og
y 

pr
ov

id
ed

 b
et

te
r v

al
ue

 fo
r m

on
ey

 o
ve

r 
ot

he
r o

pt
io

ns
 a

va
ila

bl
e,

 ta
ki

ng
 a

cc
ou

nt
 o

f c
os

t a
nd

 o
th

er
 k

ey
 fa

ct
or

s. 
In

st
ea

d 
th

e 
ac

co
m

pa
ny

in
g 

of
fic

er
 re

po
rt

 to
 th

e 
D

ec
em

be
r 2

00
9 

C
ab

in
et

 m
ad

e 
re

fe
re

nc
e 

to
 th

e 
fa

ct
 th

at
 th

e 
te

ch
no

lo
gy

 p
ro

po
se

d 
by

 M
er

ci
a 

ha
d 

be
en

 ra
nk

ed
 h

ig
hl

y 
in

 th
e 

co
ns

ul
ta

nt
s E

R
M

 o
pt

io
ns

 a
pp

ra
isa

l (
w

hi
ch

  h
ad

 b
ee

n 
co

m
m

iss
io

ne
d 

to
 su

pp
or

t t
he

 
Jo

in
t M

un
ic

ip
al

 W
as

te
 M

an
ag

em
en

t S
tr

at
eg

y)
.  

 A
pp

en
di

x 
B 

co
nt

ai
ns

 m
or

e 
de

ta
il 

on
 o

ur
 w

or
k.

 
  A

du
lt 

So
ci

al
 C

ar
e 

Fo
r s

ev
er

al
 y

ea
rs

 th
e 

A
du

lt 
So

ci
al

 C
ar

e 
bu

dg
et

 in
 H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

 h
as

 o
ve

rs
pe

nt
 a

nd
 

in
 2

01
2/

13
 th

e 
bu

dg
et

 w
as

 o
ve

rs
pe

nt
 b

y 
£5

.9
m

 d
ue

 m
ai

nl
y 

to
 th

e 
fa

ilu
re

 to
 d

el
iv

er
 

ve
ry

 a
m

bi
tio

us
 a

nd
 u

nr
ea

lis
tic

 sa
vi

ng
s t

ar
ge

ts
. 

.    

V
er

y 
ea

rly
 in

  2
01

3/
14

, t
he

 C
ou

nc
il 

di
sc

ov
er

ed
 th

at
 it

 h
ad

 c
ou

nt
ed

 g
ra

nt
 in

co
m

e 
of

 
£3

.8
m

 tw
ic

e 
in

 it
s b

ud
ge

t. 
A

 S
pe

ci
al

 C
ou

nc
il 

M
ee

tin
g 

w
as

 c
al

le
d 

to
 st

ar
t t

o 
ad

dr
es

s 
th

e 
iss

ue
 

 Fo
llo

w
in

g 
pr

ev
io

us
 e

xt
er

na
l a

ud
it 

cr
iti

ci
sm

s, 
th

e 
C

ou
nc

il 
ha

s s
tr

en
gt

he
ne

d 
its

  b
ud

ge
t 

se
tti

ng
 p

ro
ce

ss
es

 fo
r 2

01
4/

15
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

th
e 

us
e 

of
 z

er
o-

ba
se

d 
 b

ud
ge

tin
g 

an
d 

gr
ea

te
r 

ch
al

le
ng

e 
fr

om
 F

in
an

ce
. I

n 
20

13
/1

4 
A

du
lt 

So
ci

al
 C

ar
e 

ov
er

sp
en

t b
y 

£3
m

, w
hi

ch
 w

as
 

no
t o

nl
y 

a 
sm

al
le

r d
ef

ic
it 

th
an

 p
re

vi
ou

s y
ea

rs
, b

ut
 a

lso
 a

n 
im

pr
ov

em
en

t f
ro

m
 th

e 
O

ct
ob

er
 fo

re
ca

st
 o

f £
4m

. T
he

re
 w

as
 sl

ip
pa

ge
 in

 th
e 

de
liv

er
y 

of
 sa

vi
ng

s f
or

 se
ve

ra
l 

re
as

on
s a

nd
 in

 p
ar

tic
ul

ar
 th

e 
la

ck
 o

f c
ha

lle
ng

e 
ov

er
 o

ve
r-

op
tim

ist
ic

 a
ss

um
pt

io
ns

 o
n 

th
e 

ra
te

 o
f d

el
iv

er
y.

 T
he

re
 w

as
 n

o 
co

nt
in

ge
nc

y 
to

 d
ea

l w
ith

 th
is 

in
 2

01
3/

14
. 

 In
 2

01
4/

15
 th

e 
A

du
lts

 a
nd

 W
el

lb
ei

ng
 d

ire
ct

or
at

e 
is 

br
oa

dl
y 

fo
re

ca
st

in
g 

a 
br

ea
k-

ev
en

 
po

sit
io

n 
an

d 
th

er
e 

is 
no

w
 g

re
at

er
 a

ss
ur

an
ce

 o
ve

r t
he

 d
el

iv
er

y 
of

 sa
vi

ng
s. 

Th
is 

is 
du

e 
to

 th
e 

fa
ct

 th
e 

C
ou

nc
il 

ha
s g

iv
en

 g
re

at
er

 p
rio

rit
y 

to
 c

ar
ry

in
g 

ou
t t

he
 re

fo
rm

s t
o 

A
du

lt 
So

ci
al

 C
ar

e 
de

liv
er

y 
ne

ed
ed

. T
he

 A
du

lt 
So

ci
al

 C
ar

e 
bu

dg
et

 w
ill

 c
on

tin
ue

 to
 c

ar
ry

 
sig

ni
fic

an
t r

isk
, b

ot
h 

in
 th

e 
sh

or
t a

nd
 m

ed
iu

m
 te

rm
. I

n 
pa

rt
ic

ul
ar

, t
he

 C
ou

nc
il,

 li
ke

 
ot

he
rs

, s
til

l c
ar

rie
s  

un
ce

rt
ai

nt
y 

ov
er

 th
e 

fu
ll 

fin
an

ci
al

 im
pa

ct
 o

f t
he

 C
ar

e 
Bi

ll.
 

 Th
e 

C
ou

nc
il 

re
co

gn
ise

s i
t s

til
l n

ee
ds

 to
 e

st
ab

lis
h 

a 
w

or
ki

ng
 c

om
m

itm
en

t a
cc

ou
nt

in
g 

sy
st

em
 in

 A
du

lt 
So

ci
al

 C
ar

e 
so

 th
at

 m
an

ag
er

s h
av

e 
a 

 b
et

te
r u

nd
er

st
an

di
ng

 o
f t

he
 

fin
an

ci
al

 c
on

se
qu

en
ce

 o
f d

ec
isi

on
s m

ad
e;

 a
 p

oi
nt

 fi
rs

t m
ad

e 
by

 e
xt

er
na

l a
ud

ito
rs

 fi
ve

 
ye

ar
s a

go
. W

or
k 

co
nt

in
ue

s o
n 

th
is 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t. 

  

49



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

Sa
fe

gu
ar

di
ng

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
A

n 
an

no
un

ce
d 

in
sp

ec
tio

n 
by

 O
fs

te
d 

of
 th

e 
C

ou
nc

il'
s a

rr
an

ge
m

en
ts

 to
 sa

fe
gu

ar
d 

ch
ild

re
n 

w
as

 c
ar

rie
d 

ou
t i

n 
Se

pt
em

be
r 2

01
2 

an
d 

th
es

e 
ar

ra
ng

em
en

ts
 w

er
e 

as
se

ss
ed

 
ov

er
al

l a
s "

in
ad

eq
ua

te
" 

ac
ro

ss
 a

ll 
th

re
e 

O
fs

te
d 

re
vi

ew
 c

at
eg

or
ie

s. 
A

n 
im

pr
ov

em
en

t 
no

tic
e 

w
as

 is
su

ed
 in

 F
eb

ru
ar

y 
20

13
. T

he
 C

ou
nc

il 
dr

ew
 u

p 
an

 im
pr

ov
em

en
t p

la
n 

in
 

O
ct

ob
er

 2
01

2 
an

d 
se

t u
p 

a 
m

ul
ti 

ag
en

cy
 I

m
pr

ov
em

en
t B

oa
rd

 w
ith

 a
n 

in
de

pe
nd

en
t 

C
ha

irm
an

. T
he

 C
ou

nc
il 

ha
s m

ad
e 

se
ve

ra
l s

ig
ni

fic
an

t c
ha

ng
es

 to
 a

dd
re

ss
 th

e 
iss

ue
s 

se
t o

ut
 in

 th
e 

O
fs

te
d 

re
po

rt
 a

nd
 th

er
e 

ha
s b

ee
n 

re
gu

la
r r

ep
or

tin
g 

on
 p

ro
gr

es
s 

ag
ai

ns
t t

he
 Im

pr
ov

em
en

t P
la

n,
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

re
po

rt
s t

o 
C

ab
in

et
. T

he
 C

ou
nc

il 
al

so
 

in
vi

te
d 

in
 a

 L
G

A
 p

ee
r r

ev
ie

w
 te

am
. O

fs
te

d 
iss

ue
d 

a 
re

po
rt

 in
 3

0 
Ju

ne
 2

01
4.

 T
hi

s 
re

m
ov

ed
 th

e 
"i

na
de

qu
at

e"
 ra

tin
g.

 O
ve

ra
ll 

 th
e 

C
ou

nc
il 

w
as

 a
ss

es
se

d 
as

 "
in

 n
ee

d 
of

 
im

pr
ov

em
en

t"
 a

nd
 in

 e
ac

h 
of

 th
e 

 th
re

e 
su

b-
ca

te
go

rie
s  

T
he

 C
ou

nc
il 

re
co

gn
ise

s 
th

at
 th

er
e 

is 
st

ill
 m

or
e 

to
 d

o,
 n

ot
 le

as
t i

n 
ad

dr
es

sin
g 

th
e 

la
rg

e 
nu

m
be

r o
f t

em
po

ra
ry

 
st

af
f e

m
pl

oy
ed

 in
 k

ey
 p

os
ts

. T
he

re
 a

re
 a

lso
 is

su
es

 a
ro

un
d 

th
e 

ac
cu

ra
cy

 a
nd

 
ac

ce
ss

ib
ili

ty
 o

f e
le

ct
ro

ni
c 

sy
st

em
s t

o 
re

co
rd

 d
et

ai
ls 

ab
ou

t c
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d 
fa

m
ili

es
 to

 
al

lo
w

 m
an

ag
er

s t
o 

un
de

rs
ta

nd
 w

ha
t s

er
vi

ce
s a

re
 n

ee
de

d 
an

d 
ho

w
 w

el
l t

he
y 

w
or

k.
 A

 
de

ta
ile

d 
ac

tio
n 

pl
an

 h
as

 b
ee

n 
dr

aw
n 

up
 to

 a
dd

re
ss

 th
e 

ou
ts

ta
nd

in
g 

iss
ue

s. 
   O

v
e

ra
ll

 V
F
M

 c
o

n
c

lu
s
io

n
 

W
e 

ar
e 

iss
ui

ng
 a

n 
un

qu
al

ifi
ed

 V
fM

 c
on

cl
us

io
n 

ba
se

d 
on

 th
e 

iss
ue

s e
xa

m
in

ed
. I

n 
pa

rt
ic

ul
ar

 o
ur

 c
on

sid
er

at
io

n 
ta

ke
s i

nt
o 

ac
co

un
t t

he
 si

ze
 o

f a
nn

ua
l w

as
te

 e
xp

en
di

tu
re

 
in

vo
lv

ed
 in

 re
la

tio
n 

to
 th

e 
C

ou
nc

il'
s t

ot
al

 g
ro

ss
 b

ud
ge

t a
nd

 a
lso

 th
at

 th
e 

sh
or

tc
om

in
gs

 w
e 

fo
un

d 
in

 th
e 

re
po

rt
in

g 
of

 th
e 

pr
ef

er
re

d 
w

as
te

 te
ch

no
lo

gi
ca

l 
so

lu
tio

n 
in

 2
00

9 
w

er
e 

no
t i

n 
ou

r v
ie

w
 ty

pi
ca

l o
f t

he
 d

ec
isi

on
 m

ak
in

g 
w

e 
no

rm
al

ly
 se

e 
at

 th
e 

C
ou

nc
il.

  

 

 A
s s

uc
h,

 o
n 

th
e 

ba
sis

 o
f o

ur
 w

or
k,

 a
nd

 h
av

in
g 

re
ga

rd
 to

 th
e 

gu
id

an
ce

 o
n 

th
e 

sp
ec

ifi
ed

 c
rit

er
ia

 p
ub

lis
he

d 
by

 th
e 

A
ud

it 
C

om
m

iss
io

n,
 w

e 
ar

e 
cu

rr
en

tly
 sa

tis
fie

d 
th

at
 

in
 a

ll 
sig

ni
fic

an
t r

es
pe

ct
s t

he
 C

ou
nc

il 
pu

t i
n 

pl
ac

e 
pr

op
er

 a
rr

an
ge

m
en

ts
 to

 s
ec

ur
e 

ec
on

om
y,

 e
ff

ic
ie

nc
y 

an
d 

ef
fe

ct
iv

en
es

s 
in

 it
s u

se
 o

f r
es

ou
rc

es
 fo

r t
he

 y
ea

r e
nd

in
g 

31
 

M
ar

ch
 2

01
4.

 

 

50



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

Se
ct

io
n 

4:
 

Fe
es

, n
on

 a
ud

it 
se

rv
ic

es
 a

nd
 in

de
pe

nd
en

ce
 

01
. 

E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 s

u
m

m
ar

y 

02
. 

A
u

d
it

 f
in

d
in

g
s 

03
. 

V
al

u
e 

fo
r 

M
o

n
ey

 

04
. 

F
ee

s,
 n

o
n

 a
u

d
it

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
an

d
 in

d
ep

en
d

en
ce

 

05
. 

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
at

io
n

 o
f 

au
d

it
 m

at
te

rs
 

51



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

26
 

F
e
e
s
 

P
er

 A
u

d
it

 p
la

n
 £ 

A
ct

u
al

 f
ee

s 
 

£ 

C
ou

nc
il 

au
di

t*
 

16
4,

80
3 

T
B

C
 

G
ra

nt
s 

8,
40

0 
5,

79
5 

P
ID

A
 (

pr
op

os
ed

) 
11

,1
40

 

T
o

ta
l f

ee
s 

17
3,

20
3 

T
B

C
 

Fe
es

, n
on

 a
ud

it 
se

rv
ic

es
 a

nd
 in

de
pe

nd
en

ce
 

W
e 

co
nf

irm
 b

el
ow

 o
ur

 fe
es

 c
ha

rg
ed

 fo
r t

he
 a

ud
it.

 

In
d

e
p

e
n

d
e

n
c

e
 a

n
d

 e
th

ic
s
 

W
e 

co
nf

irm
 th

at
 th

er
e 

ar
e 

no
 si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

 fa
ct

s o
r m

at
te

rs
 th

at
 im

pa
ct

 o
n 

ou
r i

nd
ep

en
de

nc
e 

as
 a

ud
ito

rs
 

th
at

 w
e 

ar
e 

re
qu

ire
d 

or
 w

ish
 to

 d
ra

w
 to

 y
ou

r a
tte

nt
io

n.
 W

e 
ha

ve
 c

om
pl

ie
d 

w
ith

 th
e 

A
ud

iti
ng

 P
ra

ct
ic

es
 

Bo
ar

d'
s E

th
ic

al
 S

ta
nd

ar
ds

 a
nd

 th
er

ef
or

e 
w

e 
co

nf
irm

 th
at

 w
e 

ar
e 

in
de

pe
nd

en
t a

nd
 a

re
 a

bl
e 

to
 e

xp
re

ss
 a

n 
ob

je
ct

iv
e 

op
in

io
n 

on
 th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 st

at
em

en
ts

. 

W
e 

co
nf

irm
 th

at
 w

e 
ha

ve
 im

pl
em

en
te

d 
po

lic
ie

s a
nd

 p
ro

ce
du

re
s t

o 
m

ee
t t

he
 re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
 o

f t
he

 
A

ud
iti

ng
 P

ra
ct

ic
es

 B
oa

rd
's 

E
th

ic
al

 S
ta

nd
ar

ds
.  

 F
e
e
s
 f

o
r 

o
th

e
r 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

S
er

vi
ce

 
F

ee
s 

£ 

N
on

e 
 

N
il 

*B
ot

h 
th

e 
sig

ni
fic

an
t l

ev
el

 o
f c

or
re

sp
on

de
nc

e 
fr

om
 th

e 
pu

bl
ic

 a
nd

 th
e 

un
iq

ue
 n

at
ur

e 
of

 th
e 

ar
ra

ng
em

en
ts

 
su

rr
ou

nd
in

g 
th

e 
w

as
te

 c
on

tr
ac

t m
ea

ns
 th

at
 th

e 
le

ve
l o

f 
ris

k 
at

ta
ch

ed
 to

 th
e 

au
di

t i
s s

ig
ni

fic
an

tly
 h

ig
he

r t
ha

n 
en

vi
sa

ge
d 

by
 th

e 
A

ud
it 

C
om

m
iss

io
n 

w
he

n 
se

tti
ng

 th
e 

sc
al

e 
fe

e 
w

hi
ch

 is
 q

uo
te

d 
ab

ov
e.

  W
or

k 
is 

on
-g

oi
ng

 to
 

de
te

rm
in

e 
th

e 
le

ve
l o

f f
ee

 v
ar

ia
tio

n 
re

qu
ire

d 
fo

r t
hi

s 
w

or
k,

 p
ar

tic
ul

ar
ly

 a
s w

e 
co

nt
in

ue
 to

 re
ce

iv
e 

co
rr

es
po

nd
en

ce
 in

 th
is 

ar
ea

 w
hi

ch
 w

e 
ha

ve
 a

 st
at

ut
or

y 
du

ty
 to

 c
on

sid
er

. W
e 

w
ill

 d
isc

us
s t

he
 le

ve
l o

f a
dd

iti
on

al
 

fe
e 

re
qu

ire
d 

w
ith

 o
ff

ic
er

s a
nd

 th
en

 su
bm

it 
th

is 
fo

r 
ap

pr
ov

al
 to

 th
e 

A
ud

it 
C

om
m

iss
io

n.
 T

he
re

 is
 a

n 
ad

di
tio

na
l f

ee
 o

f £
1,

05
0 

in
 re

sp
ec

t o
f w

or
k 

on
 m

at
er

ia
l 

bu
sin

es
s r

at
es

 b
al

an
ce

s. 
Th

is 
ad

di
tio

na
l w

or
k 

w
as

 
ne

ce
ss

ar
y 

as
 a

ud
ito

rs
 a

re
 n

o 
lo

ng
er

 re
qu

ire
d 

to
 c

ar
ry

 o
ut

 
w

or
k 

to
 c

er
tif

y 
N

D
R

3 
cl

ai
m

s. 
Th

e 
ad

di
tio

na
l f

ee
 is

 5
0%

 
of

 th
e 

av
er

ag
e 

fe
e 

pr
ev

io
us

ly
 c

ha
rg

ed
 fo

r N
D

R
3 

ce
rt

ifi
ca

tio
ns

 fo
r u

ni
ta

ry
 c

ou
nc

ils
 a

nd
 is

 su
bj

ec
t t

o 
ag

re
em

en
t b

y 
th

e 
A

ud
it 

C
om

m
iss

io
n.

 

F
ee

s,
 n

on
 a

ud
it 

se
rv

ic
es

 a
nd

 in
de

pe
nd

en
ce

 

52



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

Se
ct

io
n 

5:
 
C
om

m
un
ic
at
io
n 
of
 a
ud
it 
m
at
te
rs
 

01
. 

E
xe

cu
ti

ve
 s

u
m

m
ar

y 

02
. 

A
u

d
it

 f
in

d
in

g
s 

03
. 

V
al

u
e 

fo
r 

M
o

n
ey

 

04
. 

F
ee

s,
 n

o
n

 a
u

d
it

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
an

d
 in

d
ep

en
d

en
ce

 

05
. 

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
at

io
n

 o
f 

au
d

it
 m

at
te

rs
 

53



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

28
 

C
om

m
un
ic
at
io
n 
of
 a
ud
it 
m
at
te
rs
 to
 th
os
e 
ch
ar
ge
d 
w
ith
 g
ov
er
na
nc
e 

O
u

r 
co

m
m

u
n

ic
at

io
n

 p
la

n
 

A
u

d
it

 
P

la
n

 
A

u
d

it
 

F
in

d
in

g
s 

R
es

pe
ct

iv
e 

re
sp

on
si

bi
lit

ie
s 

of
 a

ud
ito

r 
an

d 
m

an
ag

em
en

t/t
ho

se
 

ch
ar

ge
d 

w
ith

 g
ov

er
na

nc
e 

ü
 

O
ve

rv
ie

w
 o

f t
he

 p
la

nn
ed

 s
co

pe
 a

nd
 ti

m
in

g 
of

 th
e 

au
di

t. 
F

or
m

, t
im

in
g 

an
d 

ex
pe

ct
ed

 g
en

er
al

 c
on

te
nt

 o
f c

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 

ü
 

V
ie

w
s 

ab
ou

t t
he

 q
ua

lit
at

iv
e 

as
pe

ct
s 

 o
f t

he
 e

nt
ity

's
 a

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
an

d 
fin

an
ci

al
 re

po
rt

in
g 

pr
ac

tic
es

, s
ig

ni
fic

an
t m

at
te

rs
 a

nd
 is

su
es

 a
ris

in
g 

du
rin

g 
th

e 
au

di
t a

nd
 w

rit
te

n 
re

pr
es

en
ta

tio
ns

 th
at

 h
av

e 
be

en
 s

ou
gh

t 

ü
 

C
on

fir
m

at
io

n 
of

 in
de

pe
nd

en
ce

 a
nd

 o
bj

ec
tiv

ity
 

ü
 

ü
 

A
 s

ta
te

m
en

t t
ha

t w
e 

ha
ve

 c
om

pl
ie

d 
w

ith
 r

el
ev

an
t e

th
ic

al
 

re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

 re
ga

rd
in

g 
in

de
pe

nd
en

ce
,  

re
la

tio
ns

hi
ps

 a
nd

 o
th

er
 

m
at

te
rs

 w
hi

ch
 m

ig
ht

  b
e 

th
ou

gh
t t

o 
be

ar
 o

n 
in

de
pe

nd
en

ce
.  

D
et

ai
ls

 o
f n

on
-a

ud
it 

w
or

k 
pe

rf
or

m
ed

 b
y 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

U
K

 L
LP

 a
nd

 
ne

tw
or

k 
fir

m
s,

 to
ge

th
er

 w
ith

  f
ee

s 
ch

ar
ge

d 
 

D
et

ai
ls

 o
f s

af
eg

ua
rd

s 
ap

pl
ie

d 
to

 th
re

at
s 

to
 in

de
pe

nd
en

ce
 

ü
  

ü
 

M
at

er
ia

l w
ea

kn
es

se
s 

in
 in

te
rn

al
 c

on
tr

ol
 id

en
tif

ie
d 

du
rin

g 
th

e 
au

di
t 

ü
 

Id
en

tif
ic

at
io

n 
or

 s
us

pi
ci

on
 o

f f
ra

ud
 in

vo
lv

in
g 

m
an

ag
em

en
t a

nd
/o

r 
ot

he
rs

 w
hi

ch
 r

es
ul

ts
 in

 m
at

er
ia

l m
is

st
at

em
en

t o
f t

he
 fi

na
nc

ia
l 

st
at

em
en

ts
 

ü
 

C
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

w
ith

 la
w

s 
an

d 
re

gu
la

tio
ns

 
ü

 

E
xp

ec
te

d 
au

di
to

r's
 re

po
rt

 
ü

 

U
nc

or
re

ct
ed

 m
is

st
at

em
en

ts
 

ü
 

S
ig

ni
fic

an
t m

at
te

rs
 a

ris
in

g 
in

 c
on

ne
ct

io
n 

w
ith

 r
el

at
ed

 p
ar

tie
s 

ü
 

S
ig

ni
fic

an
t m

at
te

rs
 in

 r
el

at
io

n 
to

 g
oi

ng
 c

on
ce

rn
 

ü
 

In
te

rn
at

io
na

l S
ta

nd
ar

d 
on

 A
ud

iti
ng

 (
IS

A
) 

26
0,

 a
s 

w
el

l a
s 

ot
he

r I
S

A
s,

 p
re

sc
rib

e 
m

at
te

rs
 

w
hi

ch
 w

e 
ar

e 
re

qu
ire

d 
to

 c
om

m
un

ic
at

e 
w

ith
 th

os
e 

ch
ar

ge
d 

w
ith

 g
ov

er
na

nc
e,

 a
nd

 w
hi

ch
 

w
e 

se
t o

ut
 in

 th
e 

ta
bl

e 
op

po
si

te
.  

 

T
he

 A
ud

it 
P

la
n 

ou
tli

ne
d 

ou
r 

au
di

t s
tr

at
eg

y 
an

d 
pl

an
 to

 d
el

iv
er

 th
e 

au
di

t, 
w

hi
le

 th
is

 A
ud

it 
F

in
di

ng
s 

re
po

rt
 p

re
se

nt
s 

th
e 

ke
y 

is
su

es
 a

nd
 o

th
er

 m
at

te
rs

 a
ris

in
g 

fr
om

 th
e 

au
di

t, 
to

ge
th

er
 

w
ith

 a
n 

ex
pl

an
at

io
n 

as
 to

 h
ow

 th
es

e 
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

re
so

lv
ed

. 

R
e

s
p

e
c

ti
v
e

 r
e

s
p

o
n

s
ib

il
it

ie
s
 

T
he

 A
ud

it 
F

in
di

ng
s 

R
ep

or
t h

as
 b

ee
n 

pr
ep

ar
ed

 in
 th

e 
co

nt
ex

t o
f t

he
 S

ta
te

m
en

t o
f 

R
es

po
ns

ib
ili

tie
s 

of
 A

ud
ito

rs
 a

nd
 A

ud
ite

d 
B

od
ie

s 
is

su
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

A
ud

it 
C

om
m

is
si

on
 

(w
w

w
.a

ud
it-

co
m

m
is

si
on

.g
ov

.u
k)

.  

W
e 

ha
ve

 b
ee

n 
ap

po
in

te
d 

as
 th

e 
C

ou
nc

il'
s 

in
de

pe
nd

en
t e

xt
er

na
l a

ud
ito

rs
 b

y 
th

e 
A

ud
it 

C
om

m
is

si
on

, t
he

 b
od

y 
re

sp
on

si
bl

e 
fo

r 
ap

po
in

tin
g 

ex
te

rn
al

 a
ud

ito
rs

 to
 lo

ca
l p

ub
lic

 b
od

ie
s 

in
 E

ng
la

nd
. A

s 
ex

te
rn

al
 a

ud
ito

rs
, w

e 
ha

ve
 a

 b
ro

ad
 re

m
it 

co
ve

rin
g 

fin
an

ce
 a

nd
 

go
ve

rn
an

ce
 m

at
te

rs
.  

O
ur

 a
nn

ua
l w

or
k 

pr
og

ra
m

m
e 

is
 s

et
 in

 a
cc

or
da

nc
e 

w
ith

 th
e 

C
od

e 
of

 A
ud

it 
P

ra
ct

ic
e 

('t
he

 
C

od
e'

) 
is

su
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

A
ud

it 
C

om
m

is
si

on
 a

nd
 in

cl
ud

es
 n

at
io

na
lly

 p
re

sc
rib

ed
 a

nd
 lo

ca
lly

 
de

te
rm

in
ed

 w
or

k.
 O

ur
 w

or
k 

co
ns

id
er

s 
th

e 
C

ou
nc

il'
s 

ke
y 

ris
ks

 w
he

n 
re

ac
hi

ng
 o

ur
 

co
nc

lu
si

on
s 

un
de

r 
th

e 
C

od
e.

  

It 
is

 th
e 

re
sp

on
si

bi
lit

y 
of

 th
e 

C
ou

nc
il 

to
 e

ns
ur

e 
th

at
 p

ro
pe

r 
ar

ra
ng

em
en

ts
 a

re
 in

 p
la

ce
 fo

r 
th

e 
co

nd
uc

t o
f i

ts
 b

us
in

es
s,

 a
nd

 th
at

 p
ub

lic
 m

on
ey

 is
 s

af
eg

ua
rd

ed
 a

nd
 p

ro
pe

rly
 

ac
co

un
te

d 
fo

r.
  W

e 
ha

ve
 c

on
si

de
re

d 
ho

w
 th

e 
C

ou
nc

il 
is

 fu
lfi

lli
ng

 th
es

e 
re

sp
on

si
bi

lit
ie

s.
 

C
om

m
un

ic
at

io
n 

of
 a

ud
it 

m
at

te
rs

 

54



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

29
 

A
pp

en
di

ce
s 

A
pp

en
di

ce
s 

55



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

30
 

A
pp

en
di

x 
A

: A
ct

io
n 

pl
an

 

R
ec

 
N

o
. 

R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n

 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
M

an
ag

em
en

t r
es

p
o

n
se

 
Im

p
le

m
en

ta
ti

o
n

 d
at

e 
&

 
re

sp
o

n
si

b
ili

ty
 

1 
Th

e 
C

ou
nc

il 
sh

ou
ld

 c
on

tin
ue

 to
 re

de
sig

n 
th

e 
pr

oc
es

s f
or

 c
lo

se
do

w
n 

an
d 

au
di

t o
f t

he
 a

cc
ou

nt
s 

to
 

en
su

re
 a

 m
or

e 
ef

fic
ie

nt
 p

ro
ce

ss
. 

H
ig

h 
T

he
 a

im
 is

 to
 c

lo
se

do
w

n 
th

e 
ac

co
un

ts
 a

nd
 a

ud
it 

on
e 

m
on

th
 e

ar
lie

r 
fo

r 
th

e 
20

14
/1

5 
ye

ar
 e

nd
 

A
ug

us
t 2

01
5 

H
ea

d 
of

 T
ec

hn
ic

al
 

F
in

an
ce

 

2 
O

ff
ic

er
s n

ee
d 

to
 c

on
sid

er
 th

ei
r c

ur
re

nt
 v

al
ua

tio
n 

pr
og

ra
m

m
e 

to
 e

ns
ur

e 
th

at
 th

e 
re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
 o

f t
he

 
co

de
 (n

ow
 c

la
rif

ie
d 

in
 re

la
tio

n 
to

 c
la

ss
es

 o
f a

ss
et

) 
ar

e 
m

et
. 

M
ed

iu
m

 

 

D
ra

ft 
po

lic
y 

is
 in

 c
irc

ul
at

io
n 

an
d 

va
lu

at
io

n 
w

or
k 

ha
s 

co
m

m
en

ce
d 

P
ol

ic
y 

to
 b

e 
ag

re
ed

 b
y 

1s
t  

N
ov

em
be

r 
20

14
 

H
ea

d 
of

 T
ec

hn
ic

al
 

F
in

an
ce

 

3 
Th

e 
C

ou
nc

il 
ne

ed
s t

o 
im

pr
ov

e 
th

e 
pr

oj
ec

t 
m

an
ag

em
en

t a
nd

 m
on

ito
rin

g 
of

 sa
vi

ng
s s

ch
em

es
, 

in
cl

ud
in

g 
th

e 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
pr

ov
id

ed
 to

 M
em

be
rs

 
on

 p
ro

gr
es

s. 

H
ig

h 
C

on
tin

uo
us

 Im
pr

ov
em

en
t P

ro
gr

am
m

e 
w

or
k 

is
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

m
on

ito
rin

g 
sa

vi
ng

s 
w

hi
ch

 w
ill

 in
cl

ud
e 

th
e 

re
po

rt
in

g 
to

 
m

em
be

rs
. C

ab
in

et
 r

ep
or

tin
g 

to
 b

e 
re

vi
ew

ed
 f

or
 fu

rt
he

r 
im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 g

oi
ng

 fo
rw

ar
d  

O
n-

go
in

g 
pr

oc
es

s 

C
hi

ef
 F

in
an

ce
 O

ffi
ce

r 

4 
Th

e 
C

ou
nc

il 
sh

ou
ld

 e
ns

ur
e 

th
at

 it
 h

as
 a

 w
or

ki
ng

 
co

m
m

itm
en

t a
cc

ou
nt

in
g 

sy
st

em
 in

 A
du

lt 
So

ci
al

 
C

ar
e.

 

H
ig

h 
T

ra
ns

fo
rm

at
io

na
l w

or
k 

is
 u

nd
er

w
ay

 w
ith

 d
el

iv
er

y 
of

 
ou

tc
om

es
 e

xp
ec

te
d 

in
 e

ar
ly

 2
01

5 
 

F
eb

ru
ar

y 
20

15
 

C
hi

ef
 F

in
an

ce
 O

ffi
ce

r 

A
pp

en
di

ce
s 

56



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

31
 

A
pp

en
di

x 
B:

 D
et

ai
le

d 
re

po
rt

in
g 

on
 E

ne
rg

y 
fr

om
 W

as
te

 P
la

nt
 

Th
e 

W
or

ce
st

er
sh

ire
 a

nd
 H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

 W
as

te
 P

riv
at

e 
Fi

na
nc

e 
In

iti
at

iv
e 

(P
FI

) 
co

nt
ra

ct
 w

ith
 M

er
ci

a 
W

as
te

 M
an

ag
em

en
t L

td
 w

as
 se

t u
p 

in
 D

ec
em

be
r 1

99
8 

w
ith

 
th

e 
in

te
nt

io
n 

of
 d

ev
el

op
in

g 
a 

w
as

te
 d

isp
os

al
 fa

ci
lit

y 
th

at
 w

ou
ld

 c
om

e 
on

 st
re

am
 

ea
rly

 in
 th

e 
co

nt
ra

ct
. I

t w
as

 p
re

do
m

in
an

tly
 b

as
ed

 a
ro

un
d 

w
ha

t w
as

 th
en

 d
es

cr
ib

ed
 

as
 a

 w
as

te
 to

 e
ne

rg
y 

fa
ci

lit
y 

fo
r w

hi
ch

 p
la

nn
in

g 
pe

rm
iss

io
n 

w
as

 su
bs

eq
ue

nt
ly

 n
ot

 
ob

ta
in

ed
. S

in
ce

 p
la

nn
in

g 
pe

rm
iss

io
n 

w
as

 re
fu

se
d 

in
 A

pr
il 

20
01

, a
lte

rn
at

iv
e 

te
ch

no
lo

gi
es

 a
nd

 w
ay

s 
fo

rw
ar

d 
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

ex
pl

or
ed

.  
 Th

er
e 

is 
a 

hi
gh

 le
ve

l o
f p

ub
lic

 in
te

re
st

 in
 fu

tu
re

 w
as

te
 d

isp
os

al
 a

rr
an

ge
m

en
ts

 a
nd

 w
e 

ha
ve

 re
ce

iv
ed

 a
n 

ex
ce

pt
io

na
lly

 h
ig

h 
nu

m
be

r o
f e

nq
ui

rie
s f

ro
m

 m
em

be
rs

 o
f t

he
 

pu
bl

ic
. A

s a
 re

su
lt 

of
 th

e 
le

ve
l o

f p
ub

lic
 in

te
re

st
 a

nd
 in

 re
sp

on
se

 to
 th

e 
le

ve
l o

f r
isk

 
in

vo
lv

ed
, w

e 
ha

ve
 re

vi
ew

ed
 th

e 
cu

rr
en

t s
itu

at
io

n 
as

 p
ar

t o
f o

ur
 a

ud
it.

 In
 p

ar
tic

ul
ar

 , 
w

e 
ha

ve
 fo

cu
ss

ed
 o

n 
th

e 
ar

ra
ng

em
en

ts
 th

e 
C

ou
nc

il 
ha

s i
n 

pl
ac

e 
to

 e
ns

ur
e 

th
at

 v
al

ue
 

fo
r m

on
ey

 w
as

 o
bt

ai
ne

d 
fr

om
 a

ny
 v

ar
ia

tio
n 

to
 th

e 
co

nt
ra

ct
. W

e 
pr

ov
id

e 
be

lo
w

 a
 

su
m

m
ar

y 
of

 o
ur

 c
on

cl
us

io
ns

 to
 d

at
e 

fr
om

 th
e 

w
or

k.
 

 Fo
r m

an
y 

ye
ar

s t
he

 C
ou

nc
il 

ha
s b

ee
n 

se
ek

in
g,

 w
ith

 it
s p

ar
tn

er
 W

or
ce

st
er

sh
ire

 
C

ou
nc

il,
 to

 v
ar

y 
its

 p
riv

at
el

y 
fu

nd
ed

 c
on

tr
ac

t f
or

 w
as

te
 m

an
ag

em
en

t w
hi

ch
 w

ill
 

al
lo

w
 b

ot
h 

pa
rt

ie
s t

o 
m

ee
t n

at
io

na
l t

ar
ge

ts
 fo

r r
ec

yc
lin

g 
an

d 
re

du
ce

 th
e 

am
ou

nt
 o

f 
w

as
te

 w
hi

ch
 e

nd
s u

p 
in

 la
nd

fil
l s

ite
. I

n 
D

ec
em

be
r 2

01
3 

th
e 

C
ou

nc
il'

s C
ab

in
et

 
ag

re
ed

 to
 e

nt
er

 a
 v

ar
ia

tio
n 

to
 th

e 
ex

ist
in

g 
w

as
te

 c
on

tr
ac

t t
o 

pr
ov

id
e 

an
 E

ne
rg

y 
fr

om
 

W
as

te
 (E

fW
) p

la
nt

 in
 H

ar
tle

bu
ry

 in
 N

or
th

 W
or

ce
st

er
sh

ire
 a

nd
 th

e 
co

nt
ra

ct
 

va
ria

tio
n 

w
as

 s
ub

se
qu

en
tly

 c
om

pl
et

ed
 in

 M
ay

 2
01

4.
  

Th
e 

D
ec

em
be

r 2
01

3 
C

ab
in

et
 m

ee
tin

g 
co

ns
id

er
ed

 th
e 

op
tio

n 
of

 c
on

st
ru

ct
in

g 
an

 
E

fW
 p

la
nt

 a
ga

in
st

 o
th

er
 o

pt
io

ns
 su

ch
 a

s "
do

 n
ot

hi
ng

" 
an

d 
te

rm
in

at
io

n.
 It

 a
lso

 
co

ns
id

er
ed

 a
lte

rn
at

iv
e 

m
et

ho
ds

 o
f f

in
an

ci
ng

 th
e 

E
fW

 p
la

nt
 s

uc
h 

as
 p

riv
at

e 
fin

an
ce

, 
m

ix
ed

 p
riv

at
e 

fin
an

ce
 a

nd
 p

ru
de

nt
ia

l  
bo

rr
ow

in
g 

an
d 

 p
ru

de
nt

ia
l b

or
ro

w
in

g.
 T

he
 

as
se

ss
m

en
t i

nc
lu

de
d 

bo
th

 a
 q

ua
nt

ita
tiv

e 
ap

pr
ai

sa
l w

hi
ch

 h
ad

 b
ee

n 
su

pp
or

te
d 

by
 

th
e 

C
ou

nc
il'

s f
in

an
ci

al
 a

dv
ise

rs
, D

el
oi

tte
, a

nd
 a

lso
 q

ua
lit

at
iv

e 
fa

ct
or

s. 
Th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 

ap
pr

ai
sa

l i
nc

lu
de

d 
a 

qu
an

tif
ic

at
io

n 
of

  r
isk

s i
de

nt
ifi

ed
 in

 m
ee

tin
gs

 o
f C

ou
nc

il 
of

fic
er

s a
nd

 th
ei

r a
dv

ise
rs

. T
he

 q
ua

nt
ita

tiv
e 

ap
pr

ai
sa

l u
se

d 
di

sc
ou

nt
in

g 
te

ch
ni

qu
es

 
to

 ta
ke

 a
cc

ou
nt

 o
f t

he
 p

ro
fil

es
 o

f e
xp

en
di

tu
re

 fo
r e

ac
h 

of
 th

e 
op

tio
ns

 a
s w

ou
ld

 b
e 

ex
pe

ct
ed

 in
 a

ny
 la

rg
e 

ca
pi

ta
l p

ro
je

ct
 d

ec
isi

on
.  

 Th
e 

C
ou

nc
il 

al
so

 a
ss

es
se

d 
th

e 
im

pa
ct

 o
f c

ha
ng

es
 to

 s
om

e 
of

 th
e 

ke
y 

as
su

m
pt

io
ns

 
us

ed
 to

 m
od

el
 th

e 
co

st
 o

f t
he

 o
pt

io
ns

 su
ch

 a
s c

ha
ng

es
 in

 w
as

te
 v

ol
um

es
 a

nd
 

in
cr

ea
se

s t
o 

la
nd

fil
l t

ax
. T

he
 p

re
fe

rr
ed

 o
pt

io
n 

fr
om

 a
 v

al
ue

 fo
r m

on
ey

 p
er

sp
ec

tiv
e 

re
m

ai
ne

d 
un

ch
an

ge
d 

ev
en

 w
he

re
 m

or
e 

pe
ss

im
ist

ic
 a

ss
um

pt
io

ns
 w

er
e 

em
pl

oy
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

C
ou

nc
il'

s a
dv

ise
rs

. T
he

 a
ss

es
sm

en
t c

on
cl

ud
ed

 th
at

 p
ro

cu
rin

g 
an

 E
fW

 p
la

nt
 

fu
lly

 fi
na

nc
ed

 th
ro

ug
h 

pr
ud

en
tia

l  
bo

rr
ow

in
g 

 a
s a

 v
ar

ia
tio

n 
to

 th
e 

ex
ist

in
g 

co
nt

ra
ct

 
w

as
 th

e 
be

st
 o

f t
he

 o
pt

io
ns

 o
ve

r t
he

 w
ho

le
 li

fe
 o

f t
he

 p
la

nt
.  

 Th
e 

D
ec

em
be

r C
ab

in
et

 re
po

rt
 c

on
cl

ud
ed

 th
at

, i
n 

ne
t p

re
se

nt
 c

os
t t

er
m

s, 
th

e 
ch

os
en

 o
pt

io
n 

w
ou

ld
  b

e 
£1

28
 m

ill
io

n 
ch

ea
pe

r t
ha

n 
th

e 
"c

on
tin

ue
 a

s i
s"

 o
pt

io
n.

 
ov

er
 th

e 
25

 y
ea

r p
er

io
d 

po
st

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n.
 T

he
 re

po
rt

 st
at

ed
 th

at
 it

 w
ou

ld
 a

dd
 

ar
ou

nd
 £

6.
6 

m
ill

io
n 

to
 th

e 
an

nu
al

 u
ni

ta
ry

 c
ha

rg
e 

to
 b

e 
pa

id
 to

 th
e 

co
nt

ra
ct

or
. 

Th
e 

ch
oi

ce
 o

f t
ec

hn
ol

og
y 

ha
s b

ee
n 

th
e 

su
bj

ec
t o

f p
ub

lic
 d

eb
at

e.
 In

 2
00

9 
th

er
e 

w
as

 
an

 e
va

lu
at

io
n 

of
 o

pt
io

ns
 a

s p
ar

t o
f t

he
 re

vi
ew

 o
f t

he
 Jo

in
t M

un
ic

ip
al

 W
as

te
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t S

tr
at

eg
y 

(J
M

W
M

S)
. M

em
be

rs
 w

er
e 

co
ns

ul
te

d 
w

ith
, f

oc
us

 g
ro

up
s 

w
er

e 
he

ld
 a

nd
 th

er
e 

w
as

 e
ng

ag
em

en
t w

ith
 b

us
in

es
se

s. 
A

 la
rg

e 
po

st
al

 su
rv

ey
 w

as
 

un
de

rt
ak

en
 fr

om
 w

hi
ch

 th
er

e 
w

as
 a

 re
as

on
ab

le
 re

sp
on

se
 ra

te
. T

he
 c

on
su

lta
tio

n 
w

as
 

m
ad

e 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

on
-li

ne
. T

he
 c

on
su

lta
tio

n 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

th
at

 a
 k

ey
 fo

cu
s f

or
 th

e 
pu

bl
ic

 

A
pp

en
di

ce
s 

57



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

32
 

w
as

 c
lim

at
e 

ch
an

ge
 a

nd
 th

at
 in

fo
rm

ed
 th

e 
st

ra
te

gy
 a

nd
 fi

na
l d

ec
isi

on
s. 

V
al

ue
 fo

r 
m

on
ey

 a
nd

 w
as

te
 p

re
ve

nt
io

n 
w

er
e 

al
so

 is
su

es
 ra

ise
d 

th
ro

ug
h 

th
e 

pu
bl

ic
 

co
ns

ul
ta

tio
n.

 T
he

 o
pt

io
ns

 a
pp

ra
isa

l w
as

 u
nd

er
ta

ke
n 

by
 c

on
su

lta
nt

s E
R

M
, e

xp
er

ts
 

in
 th

is 
ty

pe
 o

f w
or

k,
 u

sin
g 

a 
re

co
gn

ise
d 

an
d 

su
pp

or
te

d 
an

al
ys

is 
m

od
el

. A
 w

id
e 

ra
ng

e 
of

 o
pt

io
ns

 w
er

e 
in

iti
al

ly
 id

en
tif

ie
d 

an
d 

a 
se

t o
f c

rit
er

ia
 u

se
d 

to
 id

en
tif

y 
th

e 
pr

ef
er

re
d 

op
tio

n.
 

 Th
e 

op
tio

n 
ch

os
en

 w
as

 n
ot

 n
ec

es
sa

ril
y 

th
e 

ch
ea

pe
st

 b
ut

 th
e 

op
tio

n 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

as
 

sc
or

in
g 

m
os

t h
ig

hl
y 

ha
d 

be
ne

fit
s w

hi
ch

 o
th

er
s d

id
 n

ot
, i

nc
lu

di
ng

 th
at

 it
 w

as
 tr

ie
d 

an
d 

te
st

ed
 te

ch
no

lo
gy

, w
hi

ch
 h

ad
 b

ee
n 

id
en

tif
ie

d 
by

 th
e 

C
ou

nc
ils

 a
s b

ei
ng

 a
 c

rit
ic

al
 

fa
ct

or
.  

Th
e 

op
tio

ns
 a

pp
ra

isa
l w

as
 n

ot
 w

ei
gh

te
d,

 in
 li

ne
 w

ith
 D

E
FR

A
 a

dv
ic

e 
at

 th
e 

tim
e,

 b
ut

 d
re

w
 a

tte
nt

io
n 

to
 th

e 
th

re
e 

ke
y 

cr
ite

ria
 w

hi
ch

 th
e 

C
ou

nc
il 

co
ns

id
er

ed
 

m
os

t i
m

po
rt

an
t. 

Th
es

e 
cr

ite
ria

 w
er

e 
de

ve
lo

pe
d 

in
 a

 w
or

ks
ho

p 
at

te
nd

ed
 b

y 
of

fic
er

s 
an

d 
m

em
be

rs
. I

t t
oo

k 
no

 a
cc

ou
nt

 o
f t

ra
ns

po
rt

at
io

n 
co

st
s a

nd
 in

co
m

e 
fr

om
 h

ea
t 

en
er

gy
 a

nd
 o

th
er

 re
cy

cl
ab

le
s 

on
 th

e 
ad

vi
ce

 o
f c

on
su

lta
nt

s w
ho

 a
lso

 st
at

ed
 th

at
 th

is 
w

ou
ld

 n
ot

 h
av

e 
ch

an
ge

d 
th

e 
ou

tc
om

e 
of

 th
e 

pr
oc

es
s. 

Th
is 

op
tio

n 
ap

pr
ai

sa
l w

as
 

re
fr

es
he

d 
by

 th
e 

sa
m

e 
co

ns
ul

ta
nt

s i
n 

20
12

 a
nd

 th
e 

co
ns

ul
ta

nt
s c

on
cl

ud
ed

 th
at

 th
e 

in
iti

al
 a

pp
ra

isa
l w

as
 st

ill
 v

al
id

. 

  W
hi

lst
 th

e 
op

tio
ns

 a
pp

ra
isa

l s
up

po
rt

in
g 

th
e 

JM
W

M
S 

ca
rr

ie
d 

ou
t b

y 
E

R
M

 a
pp

ea
re

d 
th

or
ou

gh
, t

he
 re

po
rt

 to
 C

ab
in

et
 re

co
m

m
en

di
ng

 su
pp

or
t f

or
 th

e 
ch

oi
ce

 o
f 

te
ch

no
lo

gy
 la

ck
ed

 d
et

ai
l a

nd
 c

la
rit

y.
 T

he
  S

ep
te

m
be

r 2
00

9 
C

ab
in

et
 h

ad
 a

pp
ro

ve
d 

a 
JM

W
M

S 
w

hi
ch

 w
as

 n
ow

 n
eu

tr
al

 o
n 

th
e 

te
ch

no
lo

gy
 to

 d
ea

l w
ith

 re
sid

ua
l w

as
te

 a
s 

op
po

se
d 

to
 th

e 
pr

ev
io

us
 st

ra
te

gy
 w

hi
ch

 h
ad

 fa
vo

ur
ed

 a
ut

oc
la

ve
 te

ch
no

lo
gy

. 
H

ow
ev

er
 a

s p
re

vi
ou

sly
 m

en
tio

ne
d,

 th
e 

JM
W

M
S 

w
as

 su
pp

or
te

d 
by

 a
n 

op
tio

ns
 

ap
pr

ai
sa

l p
ro

du
ce

d 
by

 E
R

M
 w

hi
ch

 ra
nk

ed
 e

ne
rg

y 
fr

om
 w

as
te

 h
ig

hl
y 

an
d 

th
is 

w
as

 
in

cl
ud

ed
 a

s a
n 

ap
pe

nd
ix

 to
 th

e 
Se

pt
em

be
r C

ab
in

et
 re

po
rt

. T
he

 S
ep

te
m

be
r C

ab
in

et
 

re
po

rt
 st

at
ed

 th
at

 th
is 

op
tio

ns
 a

pp
ra

isa
l w

ou
ld

 in
fo

rm
 th

e 
ch

oi
ce

 o
f f

ut
ur

e 
tr

ea
tm

en
t o

f r
es

id
ua

l w
as

te
 a

nd
 th

at
 M

er
ci

a 
w

ou
ld

 b
e 

as
ke

d 
to

 c
om

e 
fo

rw
ar

d 
w

ith
 

a 
pr

op
os

al
. T

he
 C

ab
in

et
 m

in
ut

es
 o

f D
ec

em
be

r 2
00

9 
re

so
lv

ed
 to

 su
pp

or
t, 

in
 

pr
in

ci
pa

l, 
th

e 
co

nc
ep

t c
on

ta
in

ed
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

E
ne

rg
y 

fr
om

 W
as

te
 (E

fW
) p

ro
po

sa
l 

su
bs

eq
ue

nt
ly

 p
ut

 fo
rw

ar
d 

by
 M

er
ci

a.
 

 

W
hi

lst
 th

is 
w

as
 th

e 
po

in
t t

ha
t t

he
 c

ho
ic

e 
of

 te
ch

no
lo

gy
 w

as
 e

ff
ec

tiv
el

y 
m

ad
e,

 th
er

e 
w

as
 n

o 
de

ta
ile

d 
ac

co
m

pa
ny

in
g 

re
po

rt
 to

 C
ab

in
et

 s
et

tin
g 

ou
t w

hy
 o

ff
ic

er
s (

ra
th

er
 

th
an

 c
on

su
lta

nt
s)

 c
on

sid
er

ed
 th

at
 th

is 
ch

oi
ce

 o
f t

ec
hn

ol
og

y 
pr

ov
id

ed
 b

et
te

r v
al

ue
 

fo
r m

on
ey

 o
ve

r o
th

er
 o

pt
io

ns
 a

va
ila

bl
e,

 ta
ki

ng
 a

cc
ou

nt
 o

f c
os

t a
nd

 o
th

er
 k

ey
 

fa
ct

or
s. 

In
st

ea
d 

th
e 

ac
co

m
pa

ny
in

g 
of

fic
er

 re
po

rt
 m

ad
e 

a 
sh

or
t r

ef
er

en
ce

 to
 th

e 
fa

ct
 

th
at

 th
is 

te
ch

no
lo

gy
 p

ro
po

se
d 

by
 M

er
ci

a 
ha

d 
be

en
 ra

nk
ed

 h
ig

hl
y 

in
 th

e 
E

R
M

 
re

po
rt

. W
e 

w
ou

ld
 h

av
e 

ex
pe

ct
ed

 a
 d

et
ai

le
d 

of
fic

er
 re

po
rt

 c
on

sid
er

in
g 

th
e 

sc
al

e 
of

 
th

e 
de

ci
sio

n 
w

hi
ch

 re
fe

rr
ed

 to
 a

nd
 b

ui
lt 

on
 th

e 
E

R
M

 re
po

rt
. T

he
 so

lu
tio

n 
pr

op
os

ed
 in

 D
ec

em
be

r 2
00

9 
w

as
 a

n 
E

fW
 p

la
nt

 w
ith

  c
om

bi
ne

d 
he

at
 a

nd
 p

ow
er

. 
Su

bs
eq

ue
nt

ly
, d

ue
 to

 th
e 

ch
oi

ce
 o

f s
ite

, a
 d

ec
isi

on
 w

as
 m

ad
e 

to
 p

ro
vi

de
 a

n 
E

fW
 

pl
an

t w
hi

ch
 w

as
 "

C
H

P-
en

ab
le

d"
. W

hi
lst

 w
e 

ca
n 

un
de

rs
ta

nd
 th

is 
de

ci
sio

n,
 w

e 
ca

nn
ot

 s
ee

 w
he

re
 th

is 
ch

an
ge

 w
as

 re
po

rt
ed

 to
 C

ab
in

et
 u

nt
il 

D
ec

em
be

r 2
01

3.
 

  Pr
oj

ec
t m

an
ag

em
en

t a
rr

an
ge

m
en

ts
 h

av
e 

be
en

 in
 p

la
ce

 fo
r s

ev
er

al
 y

ea
rs

 a
nd

  a
 

de
ta

ile
d 

pr
oj

ec
t p

la
n 

w
as

 d
ev

el
op

ed
. T

he
 C

ou
nc

il 
un

de
rs

to
od

 a
nd

 m
an

ag
ed

 th
e 

ris
ks

 a
ss

oc
ia

te
d 

w
ith

 th
e 

pr
oj

ec
t w

hi
ch

 in
cl

ud
in

g 
la

nd
 u

se
, p

la
nn

in
g,

 p
ro

cu
re

m
en

t, 
an

d 
co

nt
ra

ct
ua

l r
isk

. E
xt

en
siv

e 
ex

te
rn

al
 a

dv
ic

e 
ha

s b
ee

n 
so

ug
ht

 to
 u

nd
er

st
an

d 
an

d 
m

iti
ga

te
 ri

sk
s. 

Th
is 

ha
s i

nc
lu

de
d 

fin
an

ci
al

, l
eg

al
 a

nd
 te

ch
ni

ca
l a

dv
ic

e.
 In

 a
dd

iti
on

 to
 

th
e 

ad
vi

se
rs

 a
lre

ad
y 

re
fe

rr
ed

 to
, t

he
 C

ou
nc

il 
em

pl
oy

ed
 c

on
su

lta
nt

s t
o 

en
su

re
 th

at
 

th
e 

co
st

s o
f r

un
ni

ng
 th

e 
E

fW
 p

la
nt

 c
om

pa
re

d 
w

el
l w

ith
 o

th
er

 re
ce

nt
ly

 p
ro

cu
re

d 
pl

an
ts

 a
nd

 th
at

 th
e 

pl
an

ne
d 

m
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 s
ch

ed
ul

e,
 if

 fo
llo

w
ed

, w
ou

ld
 e

ns
ur

e 
th

e 
pl

an
t i

s m
ai

nt
ai

ne
d 

to
 a

 st
an

da
rd

 w
hi

ch
 m

ea
ns

 th
at

 a
t c

on
tr

ac
t t

er
m

in
at

io
n 

th
e 

pl
an

t i
s i

n 
a 

co
nd

iti
on

 w
hi

ch
 w

ou
ld

 b
e 

ex
pe

ct
ed

 o
f i

ts
 a

ge
. W

e 
ar

e 
al

so
 a

w
ar

e 
th

at
 

th
e 

C
ou

nc
il 

so
ug

ht
 a

dv
ic

e 
in

 d
et

er
m

in
in

g 
fu

tu
re

 w
as

te
 v

ol
um

es
 a

nd
 re

cy
cl

in
g 

ra
te

s 
to

 h
el

p 
de

te
rm

in
e 

th
e 

ap
pr

op
ria

te
 si

ze
 o

f p
la

nt
. 

 

A
pp

en
di

ce
s 

58



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

33
 

C
le
ar
ly
 a
 c
om

pl
ex
 p
ro
je
ct
 o
f t
hi
s s
iz
e 
w
ill
 c
on
tin
ue
 to
 p
re
se
nt
 si
gn
ifi
ca
nt
 ri
sk
s a
nd
 

am
on
gs
t t
he
se
 is
 th
e 
ris
k 
of
 fu
tu
re
 le
gi
sla
tiv
e 
ch
an
ge
 w
hi
ch
 m
ay
 in
cr
ea
se
 c
os
ts
 o
f 

th
e 
E
fW
 p
la
nt
. I
n 
th
is 
re
sp
ec
t t
he
 C
ou
nc
il 
ob
ta
in
ed
 a
dv
ic
e 
fr
om

 it
s t
ec
hn
ic
al
 

ad
vi
se
r, 
A
M
E
C
, t
ha
t i
t w
as
 c
on
sid
er
ed
 u
nr
ea
lis
tic
 to
 re
qu
ire
 th
e 
po
te
nt
ia
l c
os
ts
 o
f 

th
es
e 
fo
re
se
ea
bl
e 
bu
t u
nq
ua
nt
ifi
ab
le
 le
gi
sla
tiv
e 
ch
an
ge
s t
o 
be
 in
cl
ud
ed
 w
ith
in
 th
e 

co
st
ed
 p
ro
po
sa
ls 
ex
ce
pt
 w
he
re
 fi
rm
 p
ro
po
sa
ls 
w
er
e 
av
ai
la
bl
e,
 fo
r e
xa
m
pl
e 

le
gi
sla
tio
n 
re
qu
iri
ng
 R
oy
al
 A
ss
en
t. 
Th
e 
ad
vi
se
rs
 re
po
rt
 th
at
 th
e 
co
nt
ra
ct
 d
oe
s 

in
cl
ud
e 
a 
m
ec
ha
ni
sm
 to
 d
ea
l e
ff
ec
tiv
el
y 
w
ith
 su
ch
 e
ve
nt
ua
lit
ie
s 
sh
ou
ld
 th
ey
 

tr
an
sp
ire
. 

M
em
be
rs
 w
ill
 b
e 
aw
ar
e 
th
at
 o
n 
17
 Ju
ne
 2
01
4,
 th
e 
N
at
io
na
l A
ud
it 
O
ff
ic
e 
(N
A
O
) 

iss
ue
d 
a 
re
po
rt
 o
n 
th
e 
ov
er
sig
ht
 o
f t
hr
ee
 P
FI
 w
as
te
 p
ro
je
ct
s, 
in
cl
ud
in
g 
th
at
 o
f t
he
 

H
er
ef
or
ds
hi
re
 a
nd
 W
or
ce
st
er
sh
ire
. T
he
ir 
re
vi
ew
 fo
cu
ss
ed
 o
n 
ho
w
 th
e 
D
ep
ar
tm
en
t 

fo
r E
nv
iro
nm

en
t, 
Fo
od
 a
nd
 R
ur
al
 A
ff
ai
rs
 (D

E
FR
A
) o
ve
rs
ee
s t
he
 th
re
e 
PF
I w
as
te
 

pr
oj
ec
ts
. W

e 
m
et
 w
ith
 th
e 
N
A
O
 re
ce
nt
ly
 to
 d
isc
us
s t
he
ir 
fin
di
ng
s. 
Th
e 
N
A
O
 

hi
gh
lig
ht
ed
 tw
o 
iss
ue
s w
hi
ch
 th
e 
Tr
ea
su
ry
 a
nd
 D
E
FR
A
 b
el
ie
ve
d 
w
er
e 
no
t y
et
 

sa
tis
fa
ct
or
ily
 re
so
lv
ed
. T
he
se
 w
er
e:
 

•
w
he
th
er
 th
e 
C
ou
nc
ils
 n
ee
de
d 
to
 a
ct
 a
s t
he
 so
le
 fi
na
nc
e 
pr
ov
id
er
 fo
r t
he
 p
ro
je
ct
, 

ra
th
er
 th
an
 ju
st
 o
ne
 le
nd
er
 a
lo
ng
sid
e 
a 
ba
nk
in
g 
gr
ou
p;
 a
nd
 

•
th
e 
va
lu
at
io
n 
of
 th
e 
E
fW
 fa
ci
lit
y 
w
he
n 
th
e 
co
nt
ra
ct
 e
nd
s, 
gi
ve
n 
th
at
 th
e 

co
nt
ra
ct
or
 w
ill
 o
pe
ra
te
 th
e 
fa
ci
lit
y 
fo
r a
 m
uc
h 
sh
or
te
r p
er
io
d 
th
an
 o
rig
in
al
ly
 

en
vi
sa
ge
d.
 

   A
pp

en
di

ce
s 

59



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

34
 

A
pp

en
di

x 
C

: A
ud

it 
O

pi
ni

on
 

IN
D

E
P

E
N

D
E

N
T

 A
U

D
IT

O
R

’S
 R

E
P

O
R

T
 T

O
 T

H
E

 M
E

M
B

E
R

S
 O

F
 

H
E

R
E

F
O

R
D

S
H

IR
E

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 

  O
p

in
io

n
 o

n
 t

h
e

 A
u

th
o

ri
ty

 f
in

a
n
c

ia
l 

s
ta

te
m

e
n

ts
 

  W
e 

ha
ve

 a
ud

ite
d 

th
e 

fin
an

ci
al

 st
at

em
en

ts
 o

f H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
 C

ou
nc

il 
fo

r t
he

 y
ea

r 
en

de
d 

31
 M

ar
ch

 2
01

4 
un

de
r t

he
 A

ud
it 

C
om

m
iss

io
n 

A
ct

 1
99

8.
 T

he
 fi

na
nc

ia
l 

st
at

em
en

ts
 c

om
pr

ise
 th

e 
M

ov
em

en
t i

n 
R

es
er

ve
s S

ta
te

m
en

t, 
th

e 
C

om
pr

eh
en

siv
e 

In
co

m
e 

an
d 

E
xp

en
di

tu
re

 S
ta

te
m

en
t, 

th
e 

Ba
la

nc
e 

Sh
ee

t, 
th

e 
C

as
h 

Fl
ow

 S
ta

te
m

en
t, 

th
e 

C
ol

le
ct

io
n 

Fu
nd

 a
nd

 th
e 

re
la

te
d 

no
te

s. 
Th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 re

po
rt

in
g 

fr
am

ew
or

k 
th

at
 

ha
s b

ee
n 

ap
pl

ie
d 

in
 th

ei
r p

re
pa

ra
tio

n 
is 

ap
pl

ic
ab

le
 la

w
 a

nd
 th

e 
C

IP
FA

/L
A

SA
A

C
 

C
od

e 
of

 P
ra

ct
ic

e 
on

 L
oc

al
 A

ut
ho

rit
y 

A
cc

ou
nt

in
g 

in
 th

e 
U

ni
te

d 
K

in
gd

om
 2

01
3/

14
. 

  T
hi

s r
ep

or
t i

s m
ad

e 
so

le
ly

 to
 th

e 
m

em
be

rs
 o

f H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
 C

ou
nc

il 
in

 a
cc

or
da

nc
e 

w
ith

 P
ar

t I
I o

f t
he

 A
ud

it 
C

om
m

iss
io

n 
A

ct
 1

99
8 

an
d 

fo
r n

o 
ot

he
r p

ur
po

se
, a

s s
et

 o
ut

 
in

 p
ar

ag
ra

ph
 4

8 
of

 th
e 

St
at

em
en

t o
f R

es
po

ns
ib

ili
tie

s o
f A

ud
ito

rs
 a

nd
 A

ud
ite

d 
Bo

di
es

 
pu

bl
ish

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
A

ud
it 

C
om

m
iss

io
n 

in
 M

ar
ch

 2
01

0.
 T

o 
th

e 
fu

lle
st

 e
xt

en
t p

er
m

itt
ed

 
by

 la
w

, w
e 

do
 n

ot
 a

cc
ep

t o
r a

ss
um

e 
re

sp
on

sib
ili

ty
 to

 a
ny

on
e 

ot
he

r t
ha

n 
th

e 
A

ut
ho

rit
y 

an
d 

th
e 

A
ut

ho
rit

y's
 M

em
be

rs
 a

s a
 b

od
y,

 fo
r o

ur
 a

ud
it 

w
or

k,
 fo

r t
hi

s r
ep

or
t, 

or
 fo

r t
he

 o
pi

ni
on

s w
e 

ha
ve

 fo
rm

ed
. 

  

R
e

s
p

e
c

ti
v
e

 r
e

s
p

o
n

s
ib

il
it

ie
s
 o

f 
th

e
 C

h
ie

f 
F

in
a

n
c

ia
l 
O

ff
ic

e
r 

a
n

d
 a

u
d

it
o

r 

  A
s e

xp
la

in
ed

 m
or

e 
fu

lly
 in

 th
e 

St
at

em
en

t o
f t

he
 C

hi
ef

 F
in

an
ci

al
 O

ff
ic

er
s' 

R
es

po
ns

ib
ili

tie
s, 

th
e 

C
hi

ef
 F

in
an

ci
al

 O
ff

ic
er

 is
 re

sp
on

sib
le

 fo
r t

he
 p

re
pa

ra
tio

n 
of

 th
e 

St
at

em
en

t o
f A

cc
ou

nt
s, 

w
hi

ch
 in

cl
ud

es
 th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 st

at
em

en
ts

, i
n 

ac
co

rd
an

ce
 w

ith
 

pr
op

er
 p

ra
ct

ic
es

 a
s s

et
 o

ut
 in

 th
e 

C
IP

FA
/L

A
SA

A
C

 C
od

e 
of

 P
ra

ct
ic

e 
on

 L
oc

al
 

A
ut

ho
rit

y 
A

cc
ou

nt
in

g 
in

 th
e 

U
ni

te
d 

K
in

gd
om

, a
nd

 fo
r b

ei
ng

 sa
tis

fie
d 

th
at

 th
ey

 g
iv

e 
a 

tr
ue

 a
nd

 fa
ir 

vi
ew

. O
ur

 re
sp

on
sib

ili
ty

 is
 to

 a
ud

it 
an

d 
ex

pr
es

s a
n 

op
in

io
n 

on
 th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 st

at
em

en
ts

 in
 a

cc
or

da
nc

e 
w

ith
 a

pp
lic

ab
le

 la
w

 a
nd

 In
te

rn
at

io
na

l S
ta

nd
ar

ds
 

on
 A

ud
iti

ng
 (U

K
 a

nd
 Ir

el
an

d)
. T

ho
se

 st
an

da
rd

s r
eq

ui
re

 u
s t

o 
co

m
pl

y 
w

ith
 th

e 
A

ud
iti

ng
 P

ra
ct

ic
es

 B
oa

rd
’s 

E
th

ic
al

 S
ta

nd
ar

ds
 fo

r A
ud

ito
rs

. 
 S

c
o

p
e

 o
f 

th
e

 a
u

d
it

 o
f 

th
e

 f
in

a
n
c

ia
l 

s
ta

te
m

e
n

ts
 

  A
n 

au
di

t i
nv

ol
ve

s o
bt

ai
ni

ng
 e

vi
de

nc
e 

ab
ou

t t
he

 a
m

ou
nt

s a
nd

 d
isc

lo
su

re
s i

n 
th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 st

at
em

en
ts

 su
ff

ic
ie

nt
 to

 g
iv

e 
re

as
on

ab
le

 a
ss

ur
an

ce
 th

at
 th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 

st
at

em
en

ts
 a

re
 fr

ee
 fr

om
 m

at
er

ia
l m

iss
ta

te
m

en
t, 

w
he

th
er

 c
au

se
d 

by
 fr

au
d 

or
 e

rr
or

. 
Th

is 
in

cl
ud

es
 a

n 
as

se
ss

m
en

t o
f: 

w
he

th
er

 th
e 

ac
co

un
tin

g 
po

lic
ie

s a
re

 a
pp

ro
pr

ia
te

 to
 

th
e 

A
ut

ho
rit

y’
s c

irc
um

st
an

ce
s a

nd
 h

av
e 

be
en

 c
on

sis
te

nt
ly

 a
pp

lie
d 

an
d 

ad
eq

ua
te

ly
 

di
sc

lo
se

d;
 th

e 
re

as
on

ab
le

ne
ss

 o
f s

ig
ni

fic
an

t a
cc

ou
nt

in
g 

es
tim

at
es

 m
ad

e 
by

 th
e 

C
hi

ef
 

Fi
na

nc
ia

l O
ff

ic
er

; a
nd

 th
e 

ov
er

al
l p

re
se

nt
at

io
n 

of
 th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 st

at
em

en
ts

. I
n 

ad
di

tio
n,

 w
e 

re
ad

 a
ll 

th
e 

fin
an

ci
al

 a
nd

 n
on

-f
in

an
ci

al
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
in

 th
e 

ex
pl

an
at

or
y 

fo
re

w
or

d 
 to

 id
en

tif
y 

m
at

er
ia

l i
nc

on
sis

te
nc

ie
s w

ith
 th

e 
au

di
te

d 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
 

an
d 

to
 id

en
tif

y 
an

y 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
w

hi
ch

 is
 a

pp
ar

en
tly

 m
at

er
ia

lly
 in

co
rr

ec
t b

as
ed

 o
n,

 o
r 

m
at

er
ia

lly
 in

co
ns

ist
en

t w
ith

, t
he

 k
no

w
le

dg
e 

ac
qu

ire
d 

by
 u

s i
n 

th
e 

co
ur

se
 o

f 
pe

rf
or

m
in

g 
th

e 
au

di
t. 

If
 w

e 
be

co
m

e 
aw

ar
e 

of
 a

ny
 a

pp
ar

en
t m

at
er

ia
l m

iss
ta

te
m

en
ts

 o
r 

in
co

ns
ist

en
ci

es
 w

e 
co

ns
id

er
 th

e 
im

pl
ic

at
io

ns
 fo

r o
ur

 re
po

rt
. 

 

W
e 

an
ti

ci
p

at
e 

w
e 

w
ill

 p
ro

vi
d

e 
th

e 
C

o
u

n
ci

l w
it

h
 a

n
 u

n
m

o
d

if
ie

d
 a

u
d

it
 r

ep
o

rt
 

60



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

35
 

O
p

in
io

n
 o

n
 f

in
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

 

  In
 o

ur
 o

pi
ni

on
 th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 st

at
em

en
ts

: 

·
gi

ve
 a

 tr
ue

 a
nd

 fa
ir 

vi
ew

 o
f t

he
 fi

na
nc

ia
l p

os
iti

on
 o

f H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
 C

ou
nc

il 
as

 
at

 3
1 

M
ar

ch
 2

01
4 

an
d 

of
 it

s e
xp

en
di

tu
re

 a
nd

 in
co

m
e 

fo
r t

he
 y

ea
r t

he
n 

en
de

d;
 

an
d 

·
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

pr
op

er
ly

 p
re

pa
re

d 
 in

 a
cc

or
da

nc
e 

w
ith

 th
e 

C
IP

FA
/L

A
SA

A
C

 C
od

e 
of

 P
ra

ct
ic

e 
on

 L
oc

al
 A

ut
ho

rit
y 

A
cc

ou
nt

in
g 

in
 th

e 
U

ni
te

d 
K

in
gd

om
 2

01
3/

14
 

an
d 

ap
pl

ic
ab

le
 la

w
. 

 O
p

in
io

n
 o

n
 o

th
er

 m
at

te
rs

 

In
 o

ur
 o

pi
ni

on
, t

he
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
gi

ve
n 

in
 th

e 
ex

pl
an

at
or

y 
fo

re
w

or
d 

 fo
r t

he
 fi

na
nc

ia
l 

ye
ar

 fo
r w

hi
ch

 th
e 

fin
an

ci
al

 st
at

em
en

ts
 a

re
 p

re
pa

re
d 

is 
co

ns
ist

en
t w

ith
 th

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 

st
at

em
en

ts
. 

  M
at

te
rs

 o
n

 w
h

ic
h

 w
e 

re
p

o
rt

 b
y 

ex
ce

p
ti

o
n

 

W
e 

re
po

rt
 to

 y
ou

 if
: 

•
in

 o
ur

 o
pi

ni
on

 th
e 

an
nu

al
 g

ov
er

na
nc

e 
st

at
em

en
t d

oe
s n

ot
 re

fle
ct

 c
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

w
ith

 
‘D

el
iv

er
in

g 
G

oo
d 

G
ov

er
na

nc
e 

in
 L

oc
al

 G
ov

er
nm

en
t: 

a 
Fr

am
ew

or
k’

 p
ub

lis
he

d 
by

 
C

IP
FA

/S
O

LA
C

E
 in

 Ju
ne

 2
00

7;
 

•
w

e 
iss

ue
 a

 re
po

rt
 in

 th
e 

pu
bl

ic
 in

te
re

st
 u

nd
er

 se
ct

io
n 

8 
of

 th
e 

A
ud

it 
C

om
m

iss
io

n 
A

ct
 1

99
8;

 

•
w

e 
de

sig
na

te
 u

nd
er

 se
ct

io
n 

11
 o

f t
he

 A
ud

it 
C

om
m

iss
io

n 
A

ct
 1

99
8 

an
y 

re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
n 

as
 o

ne
 th

at
 re

qu
ire

s t
he

 A
ut

ho
rit

y 
to

 c
on

sid
er

 it
 a

t a
 p

ub
lic

 
m

ee
tin

g 
an

d 
to

 d
ec

id
e 

w
ha

t a
ct

io
n 

to
 ta

ke
 in

 re
sp

on
se

; o
r 

•
w

e 
ex

er
ci

se
 a

ny
 o

th
er

 sp
ec

ia
l p

ow
er

s o
f t

he
 a

ud
ito

r u
nd

er
 th

e 
A

ud
it 

C
om

m
iss

io
n 

A
ct

 1
99

8.
 

W
e 

ha
ve

 n
ot

hi
ng

 to
 re

po
rt

 in
 th

es
e 

re
sp

ec
ts

. 
 

C
o
n
cl
u
si
o
n
 o
n
 t
h
e 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
’s
 a
rr
an
g
em

en
ts
 fo
r 
se
cu
ri
n
g
 e
co
n
o
m
y,
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
cy
 a
n
d
 

ef
fe

ct
iv

en
es

s 
in

 t
h

e 
u

se
 o

f 
re

so
u

rc
es

 

 R
es

p
ec

ti
ve

 r
es

p
o

n
si

b
ili

ti
es

 o
f 

th
e 

A
u

th
o

ri
ty

 a
n

d
 t

h
e 

au
d

it
o

r 

T
he

 A
ut

ho
rit

y 
is 

re
sp

on
sib

le
 fo

r p
ut

tin
g 

in
 p

la
ce

 p
ro

pe
r a

rr
an

ge
m

en
ts

 to
 s

ec
ur

e 
ec

on
om

y,
 e

ff
ic

ie
nc

y 
an

d 
ef

fe
ct

iv
en

es
s i

n 
its

 u
se

 o
f r

es
ou

rc
es

, t
o 

en
su

re
 p

ro
pe

r 
st

ew
ar

ds
hi

p 
an

d 
go

ve
rn

an
ce

, a
nd

 to
 re

vi
ew

 re
gu

la
rly

 th
e 

ad
eq

ua
cy

 a
nd

 e
ff

ec
tiv

en
es

s 
of

 th
es

e 
ar

ra
ng

em
en

ts
. 

W
e 

ar
e 

re
qu

ire
d 

un
de

r S
ec

tio
n 

5 
of

 th
e 

A
ud

it 
C

om
m

iss
io

n 
A

ct
 1

99
8 

to
 s

at
isf

y 
ou

rs
el

ve
s t

ha
t t

he
 A

ut
ho

rit
y 

ha
s m

ad
e 

pr
op

er
 a

rr
an

ge
m

en
ts

 fo
r s

ec
ur

in
g 

ec
on

om
y,

 
ef

fic
ie

nc
y 

an
d 

ef
fe

ct
iv

en
es

s i
n 

its
 u

se
 o

f r
es

ou
rc

es
. T

he
 C

od
e 

of
 A

ud
it 

Pr
ac

tic
e 

iss
ue

d 
by

 th
e 

A
ud

it 
C

om
m

iss
io

n 
re

qu
ire

s u
s t

o 
re

po
rt

 to
 y

ou
 o

ur
 c

on
cl

us
io

n 
re

la
tin

g 
to

 p
ro

pe
r a

rr
an

ge
m

en
ts

, h
av

in
g 

re
ga

rd
 to

 re
le

va
nt

 c
rit

er
ia

 sp
ec

ifi
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

A
ud

it 
C

om
m

iss
io

n.
 

W
e 

re
po

rt
 if

 si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 m

at
te

rs
 h

av
e 

co
m

e 
to

 o
ur

 a
tte

nt
io

n 
w

hi
ch

 p
re

ve
nt

 u
s f

ro
m

 
co

nc
lu

di
ng

 th
at

 th
e 

A
ut

ho
rit

y 
ha

s p
ut

 in
 p

la
ce

 p
ro

pe
r a

rr
an

ge
m

en
ts

 fo
r s

ec
ur

in
g 

ec
on

om
y,

 e
ff

ic
ie

nc
y 

an
d 

ef
fe

ct
iv

en
es

s i
n 

its
 u

se
 o

f r
es

ou
rc

es
. W

e 
ar

e 
no

t r
eq

ui
re

d 
to

 
co

ns
id

er
, n

or
 h

av
e 

w
e 

co
ns

id
er

ed
, w

he
th

er
 a

ll 
as

pe
ct

s o
f t

he
 A

ut
ho

rit
y’

s 
ar

ra
ng

em
en

ts
 fo

r s
ec

ur
in

g 
ec

on
om

y,
 e

ff
ic

ie
nc

y 
an

d 
ef

fe
ct

iv
en

es
s i

n 
its

 u
se

 o
f 

re
so

ur
ce

s a
re

 o
pe

ra
tin

g 
ef

fe
ct

iv
el

y.
 

   

61



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

36
 

S
co

p
e 

o
f 

th
e 

re
vi

ew
 o

f 
ar

ra
n

g
em

en
ts

 fo
r 

se
cu

ri
n

g
 e

co
n

o
m

y,
 e

ff
ic

ie
n

cy
 a

n
d

 
ef

fe
ct

iv
en

es
s 

in
 t

h
e 

u
se

 o
f 

re
so

u
rc

es
 

  W
e 
ha
ve
 u
nd
er
ta
ke
n 
ou
r a
ud
it 
in
 a
cc
or
da
nc
e 
w
ith
 th
e 
C
od
e 
of
 A
ud
it 
Pr
ac
tic
e,
 h
av
in
g 

re
ga
rd
 to
 th
e 
gu
id
an
ce
 o
n 
th
e 
sp
ec
ifi
ed
 c
rit
er
ia
, p
ub
lis
he
d 
by
 th
e 
A
ud
it 
C
om
m
iss
io
n 

in
 O
ct
ob
er
 2
01
3,
 a
s t
o 
w
he
th
er
 th
e 
A
ut
ho
rit
y 
ha
s p
ro
pe
r a
rr
an
ge
m
en
ts
 fo
r: 

•
se
cu
rin
g 
fin
an
ci
al
 re
sil
ie
nc
e;
 a
nd
 

•
ch
al
le
ng
in
g 
ho
w
 it
 se
cu
re
s e
co
no
m
y,
 e
ff
ic
ie
nc
y 
an
d 
ef
fe
ct
iv
en
es
s. 

  Th
e 
A
ud
it 
C
om
m
iss
io
n 
ha
s d
et
er
m
in
ed
 th
es
e 
tw
o 
cr
ite
ria
 a
s t
ho
se
 n
ec
es
sa
ry
 fo
r u
s 

to
 c
on
sid
er
 u
nd
er
 th
e 
C
od
e 
of
 A
ud
it 
Pr
ac
tic
e 
in
 sa
tis
fy
in
g 
ou
rs
el
ve
s w
he
th
er
 th
e 

A
ut
ho
rit
y 
pu
t i
n 
pl
ac
e 
pr
op
er
 a
rr
an
ge
m
en
ts
 fo
r s
ec
ur
in
g 
ec
on
om
y,
 e
ff
ic
ie
nc
y 
an
d 

ef
fe
ct
iv
en
es
s i
n 
its
 u
se
 o
f r
es
ou
rc
es
 fo
r t
he
 y
ea
r e
nd
ed
 3
1 
M
ar
ch
 2
01
4.
 

  W
e 
pl
an
ne
d 
ou
r w
or
k 
in
 a
cc
or
da
nc
e 
w
ith
 th
e 
C
od
e 
of
 A
ud
it 
Pr
ac
tic
e.
 B
as
ed
 o
n 
ou
r 

ris
k 
as
se
ss
m
en
t, 
w
e 
un
de
rt
oo
k 
su
ch
 w
or
k 
as
 w
e 
co
ns
id
er
ed
 n
ec
es
sa
ry
 to
 fo
rm
 a
 v
ie
w
 

on
 w
he
th
er
, i
n 
al
l s
ig
ni
fic
an
t r
es
pe
ct
s, 
th
e 
A
ut
ho
rit
y 
ha
d 
pu
t i
n 
pl
ac
e 
pr
op
er
 

ar
ra
ng
em
en
ts
 to
 s
ec
ur
e 
ec
on
om
y,
 e
ff
ic
ie
nc
y 
an
d 
ef
fe
ct
iv
en
es
s i
n 
its
 u
se
 o
f r
es
ou
rc
es
. 

 C
o

n
cl

u
si

o
n

 

O
n 
th
e 
ba
sis
 o
f o
ur
 w
or
k,
 h
av
in
g 
re
ga
rd
 to
 th
e 
gu
id
an
ce
 o
n 
th
e 
sp
ec
ifi
ed
 c
rit
er
ia
 

pu
bl
ish
ed
 b
y 
th
e 
A
ud
it 
C
om
m
iss
io
n 
in
 O
ct
ob
er
 2
01
3,
 w
e 
ar
e 
sa
tis
fie
d 
th
at
, i
n 
al
l 

sig
ni
fic
an
t r
es
pe
ct
s, 
H
er
ef
or
ds
hi
re
 C
ou
nc
il 
pu
t i
n 
pl
ac
e 
pr
op
er
 a
rr
an
ge
m
en
ts
 to
 

se
cu
re
 e
co
no
m
y,
 e
ff
ic
ie
nc
y 
an
d 
ef
fe
ct
iv
en
es
s i
n 
its
 u
se
 o
f r
es
ou
rc
es
 fo
r t
he
 y
ea
r 

en
de
d 
31
 M
ar
ch
 2
01
4.
 

  

D
el

ay
 in

 c
er

ti
fi

ca
ti

o
n

 o
f 

co
m

p
le

ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e 
au

d
it

 

 W
e 
ca
nn
ot
 fo
rm
al
ly
 c
on
cl
ud
e 
th
e 
au
di
t a
nd
 is
su
e 
an
 a
ud
it 
ce
rt
ifi
ca
te
 u
nt
il 
w
e 
ha
ve
 

co
m
pl
et
ed
 o
ur
 c
on
sid
er
at
io
n 
of
 m
at
te
rs
 b
ro
ug
ht
 to
 o
ur
 a
tte
nt
io
n 
by
 a
 lo
ca
l a
ut
ho
rit
y 

el
ec
to
r i
n 
re
la
tio
n 
to
 th
e 
E
ne
rg
y 
fr
om
 W
as
te
 s
ch
em
e.
 W
e 
ar
e 
sa
tis
fie
d 
th
at
 th
es
e 

m
at
te
rs
 d
o 
no
t h
av
e 
a 
m
at
er
ia
l e
ff
ec
t o
n 
th
e 
fin
an
ci
al
 st
at
em
en
ts
 o
r a
 s
ig
ni
fic
an
t 

im
pa
ct
 o
n 
ou
r v
al
ue
 fo
r m
on
ey
 c
on
cl
us
io
n.
 

 

62



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

R
is

k 
ar

ea
 

S
u

m
m

ar
y 

o
b

se
rv

at
io

n
s 

H
ig

h 
le

ve
l r

is
k 

as
se

ss
m

en
t 

K
ey

 I
n

d
ic

at
o

rs
 o

f 
F

in
an

ci
al

 
P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 

W
e 

as
se

ss
ed

 a
 n

um
be

r o
f y

ou
r 

20
13

/1
4 

ke
y 

fin
an

ci
al

 in
di

ca
to

rs
 a

nd
 th

er
e 

w
as

 a
 m

ix
ed

 p
os

iti
on

. S
ic

kn
es

s 
ab

se
nc

e 
an

d 
 s

ch
oo

ls
 b

al
an

ce
s 

w
er

e 
ra

te
d 

gr
ee

n.
 S

ic
kn

es
s 

ab
se

nc
e 

in
 2

01
3/

14
 a

ve
ra

ge
d 

4.
15

 d
ay

s 
pe

r 
st

af
f 

m
em

be
r a

nd
 w

as
 m

uc
h 

lo
w

er
 th

an
 th

e 
pu

bl
ic

 s
ec

to
r a

ve
ra

ge
 a

nd
 a

n 
im

pr
ov

em
en

t f
ro

m
 la

st
 y

ea
r.

 S
ch

oo
ls

 
ba

la
nc

es
 a

re
 h

ig
he

r t
ha

n 
 a

ve
ra

ge
 b

as
ed

 o
n 

20
12

/1
3 

fig
ur

es
 b

ut
 th

er
e 

ar
e 

so
m

e 
hi

gh
 s

ch
oo

ls
 b

al
an

ce
s 

w
hi

ch
 

w
ou

ld
 w

ar
ra

nt
 fu

rt
he

r 
in

ve
st

ig
at

io
n 

by
 th

e 
C

ou
nc

il.
 W

e 
as

se
ss

ed
 lo

ng
 te

rm
 b

or
ro

w
in

g 
as

 g
re

en
. L

on
g

- t
er

m
 

bo
rr

ow
in

g 
in

 3
1/

3/
20

13
, w

he
n 

co
m

pa
re

d 
to

 b
ot

h 
re

ve
nu

e 
an

d 
lo

ng
 te

rm
 a

ss
et

s,
 w

as
 c

lo
se

 to
 th

e 
av

er
ag

e 
of

 
ot

he
r 

si
m

ila
r c

ou
nc

ils
. T

he
se

 c
om

pa
ris

on
s 

do
 n

ot
 ta

ke
 a

cc
ou

nt
 o

f t
he

 r
el

at
iv

el
y 

hi
gh

 s
ho

rt
 te

rm
 b

or
ro

w
in

g 
an

d 
P

F
I. 

W
e 

as
se

ss
ed

 re
se

rv
es

 a
s 

gr
ee

n 
(a

s 
op

po
se

d 
to

 r
ed

 la
st

 y
ea

r)
. E

ve
n 

th
ou

gh
 th

e 
la

te
st

 2
01

2/
13

 
co

m
pa

ra
tiv

e 
fig

ur
es

 s
ho

w
 H

er
ef

or
ds

hi
re

 a
s 

ha
vi

ng
  t

he
 lo

w
es

t u
se

ab
le

 re
se

rv
es

 o
f s

im
ila

r c
ou

nc
ils

 in
 r

el
at

io
n 

to
 

an
nu

al
 e

xp
en

di
tu

re
, t

he
 2

01
3/

14
 p

os
iti

on
 in

 H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
 h

as
 c

on
si

de
ra

bl
y 

st
re

ng
th

en
ed

 (a
lth

ou
gh

 
co

m
pa

ra
tiv

e 
fig

ur
es

 fo
r 

ot
he

r 
si

m
ila

r c
ou

nc
ils

 a
re

 n
ot

 y
et

 a
va

ila
bl

e)
. T

he
 li

qu
id

ity
 ra

tio
 (c

ur
re

nt
 a

ss
et

s 
ov

er
 

cu
rr

en
t l

ia
bi

lit
ie

s)
 w

as
 a

ss
es

se
d 

as
 a

m
be

r.
 T

he
 C

ou
nc

il 
ha

s 
 th

e 
se

co
nd

 lo
w

es
t r

at
io

 u
si

ng
 2

01
2/

13
 c

om
pa

ra
tiv

e 
fig

ur
es

. T
he

 C
ou

nc
il 

at
tr

ib
ut

e 
th

is
 to

 a
cc

ou
nt

in
g 

te
ch

ni
ca

lit
ie

s 
w

hi
ch

 r
eq

ui
re

 th
e 

£1
2m

 o
f L

O
B

O
 lo

an
s 

to
 b

e 
tr

ea
te

d 
as

 c
ur

re
nt

 li
ab

ili
tie

s,
 a

lth
ou

gh
 it

 is
 c

on
si

de
re

d 
hi

gh
ly

 u
nl

ik
el

y 
th

at
 th

es
e 

w
ill

 b
e 

ca
lle

d 
in

 in
 th

e 
sh

or
t-

te
rm

. 
It 

is
 a

ls
o 

 th
e 

cu
rr

en
t t

re
as

ur
y 

m
an

ag
em

en
t p

ol
ic

y 
to

  b
or

ro
w

 in
 th

e 
sh

or
t t

er
m

 to
 ta

ke
 a

dv
an

ta
ge

 o
f l

ow
 in

te
re

st
 

ra
te

s.
 If

 b
or

ro
w

in
g 

is
 e

xc
lu

de
d 

th
e 

po
si

tio
n 

ex
ce

ed
s 

10
0%

. 

G
re

en
 

S
tr

at
eg

ic
 F

in
an

ci
al

 P
la

n
n

in
g

 

T
he

 C
ou

nc
il 

ag
re

ed
 a

 b
ud

ge
t  

fo
r 

20
13

/1
4 

in
 F

eb
ru

ar
y 

20
13

. D
ue

 to
 a

n 
er

ro
r 

id
en

tif
ie

d 
in

 th
e 

in
iti

al
 b

ud
ge

t b
y 

fin
an

ce
 s

ta
ff 

(a
 £

3.
8m

 D
ep

ar
tm

en
t o

f H
ea

lth
 g

ra
nt

 w
as

 d
ou

bl
e-

co
un

te
d)

 a
 r

ev
is

ed
 b

ud
ge

t w
as

 ta
ke

n 
to

 C
ou

nc
il 

 
in

 M
ay

 w
hi

ch
 in

cr
ea

se
d 

th
e 

sa
vi

ng
s 

re
qu

ire
d 

to
 b

e 
m

ad
e 

in
 2

01
3/

14
. T

he
 C

ou
nc

il 
ha

s 
si

nc
e 

tig
ht

en
ed

 th
e 

co
nt

ro
ls

 o
ve

r 
bu

dg
et

 s
et

tin
g 

to
 p

re
ve

nt
 a

 r
e-

oc
cu

rr
en

ce
. I

n 
de

ve
lo

pi
ng

 it
s 

20
14

/1
5 

bu
dg

et
 p

la
ns

 th
e 

C
ou

nc
il 

co
ns

id
er

ed
 a

nd
 e

m
pl

oy
ed

 a
 r

an
ge

 o
f  

in
iti

at
iv

es
, i

nc
lu

di
ng

 s
er

vi
ce

 re
de

si
gn

 a
nd

 a
lte

rn
at

iv
e 

m
et

ho
ds

 o
f 

pr
ov

is
io

n.
 T

he
re

 is
 a

s 
a 

re
su

lt 
gr

ea
te

r a
ss

ur
an

ce
 o

ve
r 

th
e 

20
14

-1
5 

po
si

tio
n.

 T
he

 2
01

4/
15

 b
ud

ge
t p

ap
er

s 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

to
 m

em
be

rs
 h

av
e 

be
en

 u
pd

at
ed

 a
nd

 im
pr

ov
ed

, s
ho

w
in

g 
a 

cl
ea

r l
in

k 
w

ith
 c

ou
nc

il 
ke

y 
pr

io
rit

ie
s.

 T
he

 
C

hi
ef

 F
in

an
ci

al
 O

ffi
ce

r h
el

d 
a 

cr
os

s 
pa

rt
y 

bu
dg

et
 c

on
su

lta
tio

n 
ev

en
t i

n 
D

ec
em

be
r 2

01
3 

w
hi

ch
 w

as
 th

e 
cu

lm
in

at
io

n 
of

 a
n 

en
ga

ge
m

en
t p

ro
ce

ss
 u

nd
er

ta
ke

n 
w

ith
 m

em
be

rs
 th

ro
ug

h 
th

e 
au

tu
m

n.
 T

he
 b

ud
ge

t p
ro

po
sa

ls
 

w
er

e 
co

ns
id

er
ed

 b
y 

G
en

er
al

 O
ve

rv
ie

w
 a

nd
 S

cr
ut

in
y 

C
om

m
itt

ee
. T

he
 C

ou
nc

il 
co

ns
ul

te
d 

w
ith

 th
e 

pu
bl

ic
 o

n 
th

e 
pr

op
os

ed
 b

ud
ge

t f
or

 2
01

4/
15

 a
nd

 th
e 

fin
an

ci
al

 p
la

n 
20

14
/1

5 
to

 2
01

6/
17

. 

G
re

en
 

A
pp

en
di

x 
D

-f
in

an
ci

al
 re

sil
ie

nc
e 

ra
tin

gs
 

37
 

A
d

eq
u

at
e 

ar
ra

n
g

em
en

ts
 a

p
p

ea
r 

to
 b

e 
in

 p
la

ce
 

G
re

en
 

W
e 

us
e 

a 
re

d/
am

be
r/

gr
ee

n 
(R

A
G

) 
ra

tin
g 

w
ith

 th
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g 
de

fin
iti

on
s.

 

A
d

eq
u

at
e 

ar
ra

n
g

em
en

ts
, w

it
h

 a
re

as
 f

o
r 

d
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

A
m

b
er

 

In
ad

eq
u

at
e 

ar
ra

n
g

em
en

ts
 

R
ed

 

63



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

A
re

a 
of

 fo
cu

s 
Su

m
m

ar
y 

ob
se

rv
at

io
ns

 
R

A
G

-R
at

in
g 

Fi
na

nc
ia

l 
go

ve
rn

an
ce

 
Th

e 
C

ou
nc

il 
ha

s 
im

pr
ov

ed
 th

e 
go

ve
rn

an
ce

 a
rr

an
ge

m
en

ts
 in

 p
la

ce
 in

 re
sp

on
se

 to
 th

e 
di

ff
ic

ul
t f

in
an

ci
al

 e
nv

iro
nm

en
t. 

Th
er

e 
is 

no
w

 th
e 

di
sc

ip
lin

e 
of

 re
gu

la
r f

in
an

ci
al

 re
po

rt
in

g 
an

d 
ch

al
le

ng
e 

m
ee

tin
gs

  c
ha

ire
d 

by
 th

e 
Se

ct
io

n 
15

1 
O

ff
ic

er
 w

ith
 s

ub
se

qu
en

t  
re

po
rt

in
g 

to
 C

ab
in

et
. 

A
s a

 re
su

lt 
th

e 
C

ou
nc

il'
s f

in
an

ci
al

 e
nv

iro
nm

en
t a

nd
 fi

na
nc

ia
l p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 is

 b
et

te
r u

nd
er

st
oo

d 
at

 a
ll 

le
ve

ls 
of

 th
e 

or
ga

ni
sa

tio
n.

 T
he

re
 is

  
sc

op
e 

to
 im

pr
ov

e 
th

e 
pr

oj
ec

t m
an

ag
em

en
t a

nd
 m

on
ito

rin
g 

of
 s

av
in

gs
 a

nd
 re

po
rt

in
g 

of
 d

el
iv

er
y 

of
 s

av
in

gs
 to

 m
em

be
rs

. 

 

G
re

en
 

F
in

an
ci

al
 c

on
tr

ol
 

Th
e 

ov
er

sp
en

d 
 in

 2
01

2/
13

 in
 A

du
lt 

So
ci

al
 c

ar
e 

w
as

 £
5.

9 
m

ill
io

n 
an

d 
th

is 
ca

us
ed

 th
e 

C
ou

nc
il 

to
 o

ve
rs

pe
nd

 o
ve

ra
ll 

by
 £

1.
4 

m
ill

io
n.

 
Fu

nd
am

en
ta

lly
 th

is 
w

as
 c

au
se

d 
by

 a
n 

un
re

al
ist

ic
 b

ud
ge

t b
ei

ng
 s

et
 fo

r t
hi

s s
er

vi
ce

 a
nd

 in
 p

ar
tic

ul
ar

 u
nr

ea
lis

tic
 a

ss
um

pt
io

ns
 o

n 
t h

e 
im

pa
ct

 o
f 

sa
vi

ng
s 

sc
he

m
es

. I
n 

20
13

/1
4 

th
e 

ov
er

sp
en

d 
in

 th
is 

ar
ea

 w
as

 re
du

ce
d 

to
 £

3 
m

ill
io

n 
an

d 
th

e 
C

ou
nc

il 
ov

er
al

l c
on

ta
in

ed
 e

xp
en

di
tu

re
 w

ith
in

 
bu

dg
et

. T
he

 C
ou

nc
il 

ob
ta

in
ed

 a
 d

ire
ct

io
n 

ap
pr

ov
al

 fr
om

 C
LG

 to
 a

llo
w

 it
 to

 c
ha

rg
e 

£1
.6

m
 o

f t
ra

ns
fo

rm
at

io
n 

re
ve

nu
e 

co
st

s 
to

 c
ap

ita
l. 

Th
is 

w
as

 s
til

l a
 re

al
 a

ch
ie

ve
m

en
t g

iv
en

 th
e 

re
po

rt
ed

 d
ef

ic
it 

po
sit

io
n 

in
 O

ct
ob

er
 2

01
3.

 T
he

 C
ou

nc
il 

ha
s 

ta
ke

n 
ac

tio
n 

to
 m

ak
e 

th
e 

bu
dg

et
 m

or
e 

re
al

ist
ic

. T
he

re
 is

 n
ow

 g
re

at
er

 a
ss

ur
an

ce
 o

n 
th

e 
20

14
-1

5 
po

sit
io

n 
an

d 
sa

vi
ng

s. 

Th
e 

C
ou

nc
il 

ha
s 

ad
eq

ua
te

 fi
na

nc
ia

l c
on

tr
ol

s 
ov

er
al

l. 
Th

e 
C

ou
nc

il 
ne

ed
s t

o 
co

nt
in

ue
 to

 im
pr

ov
e 

th
e 

qu
al

ity
 o

f f
in

an
ci

al
 fo

re
ca

st
i n

g 
in

 A
du

lt 
So

ci
al

 C
ar

e 
an

d 
al

so
 e

st
ab

lis
h 

a 
w

or
ki

ng
 c

om
m

itm
en

t a
cc

ou
nt

in
g 

sy
st

em
 in

 th
is 

ar
ea

. 

Fi
na

nc
e 

st
af

f b
ot

h 
in

 th
e 

C
ou

nc
il 

an
d 

in
 th

e 
C

ou
nc

il'
s j

oi
nt

ly
 o

w
ne

d 
sh

ar
ed

 s
er

vi
ce

s c
om

pa
ny

, H
oo

pl
e 

ar
e 

ex
pe

rie
nc

ed
 a

nd
 a

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
ly

 
qu

al
ifi

ed
.  

Th
er

e 
ha

s 
be

en
 a

 re
st

ru
ct

ur
e 

of
 th

e 
Fi

na
nc

e 
te

am
, b

rin
gi

ng
 H

oo
pl

e 
an

d 
C

ou
nc

il 
fin

an
ce

 st
af

f t
og

et
he

r. 
Th

e 
C

ou
nc

il 
ha

s 
re

pl
ac

ed
 it

s i
nt

er
na

l a
ud

it 
se

rv
ic

e 
to

 o
bt

ai
n 

be
tte

r v
al

ue
 fo

r m
on

ey
 . 

 

G
re

en
 

38
 

64



©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
  |

  A
ud

it 
Fi

nd
in

gs
 R

ep
or

t  
| 

©
 2

01
4 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

UK
 L

LP
. A

ll 
rig

ht
s 

re
se

rv
ed

.  

'G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n'

 m
ea

ns
 G

ra
nt

 T
ho

rn
to

n 
UK

 L
LP

, a
 li

m
ite

d 
lia

bi
lit

y 
pa

rtn
er

sh
ip

.  

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

is
 a

 m
em

be
r f

irm
 o

f G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

In
te

rn
at

io
na

l L
td

 
(G

ra
nt

 T
ho

rn
to

n 
In

te
rn

at
io

na
l).

 R
ef

er
en

ce
s 

to
 'G

ra
nt

 T
ho

rn
to

n'
 a

re
 

to
 th

e 
br

an
d 

un
de

r w
hi

ch
 th

e 
G

ra
nt

 T
ho

rn
to

n 
m

em
be

r f
irm

s 
op

er
at

e 
an

d 
re

fe
r t

o 
on

e 
or

 m
or

e 
m

em
be

r f
irm

s,
 a

s 
th

e 
co

nt
ex

t r
eq

ui
re

s.
 

G
ra

nt
 T

ho
rn

to
n 

In
te

rn
at

io
na

l a
nd

 th
e 

m
em

be
r f

irm
s 

ar
e 

no
t a

 
wo

rld
wi

de
 p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
. S

er
vi

ce
s 

ar
e 

de
liv

er
ed

 in
de

pe
nd

en
tly

 b
y 

m
em

be
r f

irm
s,

 w
hi

ch
 a

re
 n

ot
 re

sp
on

si
bl

e 
fo

r t
he

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
or

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
 

of
 o

ne
 a

no
th

er
. G

ra
nt

 T
ho

rn
to

n 
In

te
rn

at
io

na
l d

oe
s 

no
t p

ro
vi

de
 

se
rv

ic
es

 to
 c

lie
nt

s.
  

gr
an

t-t
ho

rn
to

n.
co

.u
k 

65



66



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Josie Rushgrove, Head of Technical Finance on Tel (01432) 261867 

 

MEETING: Audit and Governance Committee 

MEETING DATE: 29 September 2014 

TITLE OF REPORT: Statement of Accounts 

REPORT BY: Chief Finance Officer 
 

1. Classification 

Open 

2. Key Decision  

This is not a key decision. 

3. Wards Affected 

County-wide 

4. Purpose 

To seek the Audit and Governance Committee’s approval of the 2013/14 
Statement of Accounts and Annual Governance Statement. 

5. Recommendations 

THAT the Audit and Governance Committee 

(a) approve the 2013/14 Statement of Accounts;  

(b) agree the draft letter of representation is signed by the Chair and Chief 
Finance Officer; and 

(c) approve the Annual Governance Statement. 

6. Alternative Options 

6.1 There are no Alternative Options as all councils are required to produce a 
Statement of Accounts and Annual Governance Statement. 

7. Reasons for Recommendations 

7.1 The council is required to produce a statement of accounts and annual governance 
statement in accordance with legal and accounting requirements.  The process 
requires the accounts to be certified by the Chief Finance Officer by 30th June and 

AGENDA ITEM 7

67



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Josie Rushgrove, Head of Technical Finance on Tel (01432) 261867 

then approved by the Audit and Governance Committee by 30th September.  

7.2 The council has a responsibility for conducting at least annually a review of the 
effectiveness of the governance framework including the system of internal control.  
This is reported through the Annual Governance Statement which is reviewed and 
approved by the Audit and Governance.  The Annual Governance Statement also 
provides commentary on how the council’s governance framework including the 
system of internal control can be improved.  Whilst the Annual Statement by its 
nature is only signed off once a year, the process of review is continuous.  As a 
result the reports presented to each meeting of the Audit and Governance 
Committee are used to inform the Annual Governance Statement. 

8. Key Considerations 

8.1 The Statement of Accounts (attached as Appendix A) has been drawn up in 
accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2011, and the CIPFA Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code).  The 
Code consolidates the statutory requirements and accounting standards that the 
council is legally required to follow.  

8.2 The most significant matters in the accounts for 2013/14 and a summary of the 
council’s financial position are set out in the Explanatory Foreword.  Key points for 
2013/14 include the following; 

• The out-turn position delivered a break even position.  Adult social care did 
overspend however this was accommodated by additional savings realised 
elsewhere. 

• General fund reserves at £5.1m exceed the minimum policy requirement to 
hold a general fund reserve balance equivalent to 3% of our net budget 
requirement (being approximately £4.5m). 

• Specific reserves have been set aside totalling £23.9m.  This will be used to 
mitigate specific key corporate financial risks, including any settlements 
required in respect of ongoing litigation. 

2013/14 Statements 

8.3 Under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) the main financial 
statements comprise the Movement in Reserves Statement, Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Account, Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statement. 

Movement in Reserves Statement 

8.4 This statement, which is section 4 of the Statements, shows the movement in the 
year on the different reserves held by the authority, analysed into usable and non-
usable reserves.  These are also shown in the bottom half of the Balance Sheet. 

Usable Reserves 

8.5 Total usable reserves at 31st March 2014 were £41.3m compared with £34.8m at 
31st March 2013.  This is summarised in the table below.  

 

 

68



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Josie Rushgrove, Head of Technical Finance on Tel (01432) 261867 

8.6 The general fund increased by £0.4m, which reflects the small underspend on the 
revenue account in the year.  Details of the movement to and from earmarked 
reserves are shown in Note 8.8.  The capital receipts reserve increased by £3.3m as 
a result of disposing of surplus assets through auctions held in the year.  This reserve 
is earmarked to fund future year’s capital spend.  Further details are included in Note 
8.23 of the Statements. 

Unusable Reserves 

8.7 Unusable reserves are not available to be spent.  They include unrealised gains and 
losses, such as the revaluation reserve and timing differences for funding of spend on 
assets (through the Capital Adjustment Account).  There is also a negative reserve for 
future pension fund deficit obligations.  These unusable reserves moved from £44.8m 
at 31st March 2013 to £86.3m at 31st March 2014, the main movement being the 
pensions’ deficit reduction.  Further details can be found in Note 8.24. 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) 

8.8 This statement, which is Section 5 of the Statements, shows the accounting cost in 
the year of providing services, rather than the amount to be funded from council tax.  
Authorities raise taxation to cover expenditure in accordance with regulations; this 
may be different from the accounting cost.  The adjustments to reconcile this 
statement to the amount to be funded from council tax are included in the Movement 
in Reserves Statement and detailed in Note 8.7.  

8.9 The net cost of services in 2013/14 was £148.1m compared to £153.0m in 2012/13.  
The largest movement being the inclusion of Public Health in gross expenditure and 
income, reflecting the transfer of additional statutory services to local authorities in 
2013/14. 

8.10 ‘Other operating expenditure’ on the CIES was significantly higher in 2012/13 (£9m in 
2013/14 compared to £22.8m in 2012/13) due to £19.9m of asset write-offs in 
2012/13 as a result of a number of schools to transferring to Academies in 2012/13. 

Balance Sheet 

8.11 The Balance Sheet in Section 6 of the Statements summarises the council’s assets, 
liabilities and reserves at the end of the financial year. 

 

 

 General 
fund 
balance 

Earmarked 
reserves 

Capital 
receipts 
reserve 

Capital 
grants 
unapplied 

Total 
usable 
reserves 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Balance as at 31st 
March 2013 

4,656 13,968 2,693 13,515 34,832 

Balance as at 31st 
March 2014 

5,053 23,943 5,995 6,350 41,341 

 

 

69



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Josie Rushgrove, Head of Technical Finance on Tel (01432) 261867 

8.12 At 31st March 2014 long-term assets totalled £465.1m, compared to £447.1m at 31st 
March 2013.  The main element of this is property, plant and equipment which 
amounted to £426m at the year-end compared to £404m at 31st March 2013. 
Movements in the year include depreciation, revaluations, disposals and additions 
through the capital programme.  Details of the movements are set out in Note 8.12. 

8.13 Current assets amounted to £57.4m at 31st March 2013 (£47.5m at 31st March 
2013), including £26.0m in cash and investments and £28.5m short-term debtors.  
Cash and investment balances increased by £15.0m, mainly due to grant monies 
being received in March and not spent at the year-end so held in cash and specific 
reserves. 

8.14 Current liabilities were £83.0m at 31st March 2013, including £49.2m relating to short-
term borrowing and £26.4m of short-term creditors.  The increase in current liabilities 
from £70.0m in 2012/13 is due to council’s treasury management policy of using 
short-term borrowing (as opposed to long term borrowing) due to the low rate of 
interest charged. 

8.15 Long-term liabilities were £311.7m at the 31st March 2014 compared to £344.8m at 
31st March 2013.  These relate to borrowing and pensions liabilities, the pensions’ 
net liability as determined by the pension fund actuary decreased by £28.1m. 

Cash Flow Statement 

8.16 This statement represents a summary of all cash flowing in and out of the council 
arising from transactions with third parties.  All internal transactions between the 
various accounts maintained by the council are excluded.  The statement shows that 
during 2013/14 total cash outflows were £497.1m and inflows £501.6m, resulting in a 
net increase in cash and cash equivalents of £4.5m. 

The Collection Fund  

8.17 This statement shows all income collected from council taxpayers and business 
ratepayers (NNDR), which amounted to £143.8m in 2013/14 (£151.8m in 2012/13).  
Expenditure includes precept payments to the West Mercia Police Authority (£11.5m) 
and Hereford & Worcester Fire Authority (£5.2m), representing income collected from 
council taxpayers on their behalf.  The Herefordshire Council precept includes £2.5m 
for parishes, which are paid through the council’s general fund.  In 2013/14 NNDR 
contributions of £23.2m were payable to central government a decrease from 2012/13 
due to 49% of income collected now retained by us. 

9.1 The council is responsible for ensuring that appropriate safeguards are in place to 
ensure that it operates effective governance arrangements and internal controls.  The 
decisions the council makes have direct impact on the lives of residents of the county 
and therefore it is essential that the council have appropriate governance 
arrangements in place. 

10.1 The content of the report has no direct impact on equality and human rights. 

 

9. Community Impact 

10. Equality and Human Rights 

70



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Josie Rushgrove, Head of Technical Finance on Tel (01432) 261867 

11.1 As set out in the report. 

12.1 There is a legal requirement for council to approve the statement of accounts by the 
end of September.  The Accounts and Audit Regulations include requirements for all 
councils to produce an Annual Governance Statement. 

13.1 The risk is that the external auditors will not issue an unqualified opinion on the 
statement of accounts by the end of September.  The risk is mitigated by providing 
working papers and officer time to help external auditors form an appropriate 
judgement on the statement of accounts by 30th September. 

14.1 None 

 

11. Financial Implications 

12. Legal Implications 

13. Risk Management 

14. Consultees 

15. Appendices 

15.1 Appendix A - Statement of Accounts 2013/14 

Appendix B - Draft Letter of Representation 

Appendix C - Annual Governance Statement 

16. Background Papers 

16.1 None identified. 

71



72



STAT

H

TEME

ERE
C

ENT

201

EFO
COU

�

OF A

13-14

ORD
UNC

ACCO

DSH
CIL

OUNT

IRE

TS

E

Appendix A

73



CONTENTS        Page

1 Introduction             1

2 Explanatory Foreword           2

3 Statement of Responsibilities        15

4 Movement in Reserves Statement       16

5 Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement     18

6 Balance Sheet          20

7 Cash Flow Statement         22

8 Notes to the Financial Statements       24

9 Collection Fund                  101

10 Definitions         104

74



1

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1. The Statement of Accounts for 2013/14 presents the council’s overall revenue and 
capital position for the year. 

1.2. It was evident from the outset that 2013/14 was going to be a very challenging year and 
as the year progressed this proved to be the case.  In 2013/14 Herefordshire’s funding 
from central government saw a cash reduction of £5.5 million (6.9%).  At the same time, 
the council not only faced economic challenges but the demands of an ageing 
population causing pressures within Adult Care.  Herefordshire’s rural nature presents 
additional challenges and costs of providing services to a sparsely distributed 
population. 

1.3. The impact of reduced funding and increasing cost pressures required £12.9 million of 
cuts in Herefordshire Council’s 2013/14 budget, bringing total savings of £34 million in 
the three financial years ending in 2013/14.  

1.4. As the year progressed the financial position improved with the final out-turn on the 
council’s revenue account showing a £397,000 underspend, bringing general reserves 
to £5.1 million at 31st March 2014 compared to £4.7 million at 31st March 2013.  This 
means we exceed the policy requirement to hold a general fund reserve equivalent to a 
minimum of 3% of net budget (approximately £4.5 million).  Herefordshire’s financial 
management strategy is to maintain specific reserves to deal with the key corporate 
financial risks, which stood at £23.9 million at 31st March 2014. 

Cllr Tony Johnson 
Leader of the Council 

75



2

2. EXPLANATORY FOREWORD 

2.1 Introduction 

2.1.1 The following Statement of Accounts for Herefordshire Council presents the overall 
financial position for the Authority for the year ended 31st March 2014 and has been 
produced in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 
United Kingdom 2013/14, published by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA). The amounts presented in the financial statements and notes 
have been rounded to the nearest thousand. 

2.1.2 There were a number of changes to the Code for the 2013/14 accounts. The main 
ones are; 

i. Post employment benefits (pensions) – revisions to the classification, 
recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements 

ii. Business Rates retention – From April 2013 the system of funding local 
authorities changed allowing council to retain a percentage of business rates.
Prior to this the council would have acted as an agency and all the income 
collected would have been passed onto central government through the business 
rates pool.  The council would have received a central government grant based on 
its entitlement.  Through the rates retention scheme the council retains 49% (1% 
Fire authority) of the income collected and 50% is passed onto central government.  
This has the impact in the council’s accounts as that now the collection fund will 
also report a surplus/deficit relating to business rates.

2.2   Revenue Expenditure and Income 

2.2.1  The out-turn position on the council’s revenue account was £397,000 underspend after 
transfers from reserves. 

2.2.2  The following table summarises the overall position. 

Budget  Actual   Under/(Over)
Spends 

 £000 £000 £000
Directorate    

Adults Well-being 58,289 61,248 (2,959) 

Children’s Well-being 36,558 35,691     867 

Economy, Communities and Corporate 50,877 50,310    567 

Chief Executive and Organisational 
Development 

673 364    309 

Public Health (66) (84)      18 

Directorate total 146,331 147,529 (1,198)  

Treasury management 15,281 14,957    324 

Other corporate budgets and reserves (11,316) (12,587) 1,271 

Total 150,296 149,899    397 

76



3

2.2.3 The budget and actual figures above reflect the requirement to allocate internal 
recharges to comply with CIPFA’s Service Reporting Code of Practice (SERCOP). This 
makes the accounts comparable across all local authorities by ensuring services report 
their full costs including overheads and capital charges. It also includes technical 
accounting adjustments to comply with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS), including pensions, PFIs and holiday accruals, which have to be undertaken to 
complete the statutory accounts. These are different to the budgets monitored and 
reported through the year which reflect management responsibilities and 
accountabilities which is normal practice.  A reconciliation between the directorate 
totals and amounts included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Accounts 
is shown in note 8.26. 

2.2.4 The most significant overspend related to commissioning of adult social care, which 
had been anticipated and included in budget monitoring reports throughout the year. 

2.2.5 As part of the year end process the following new reserves were created;  

Reserve £000 Purpose  

Risk mitigation 3,500 Unbudgeted risks in delivering savings on 
2014/15 to 2016/17. 

Business Rate smoothing 1,000 To cover fluctuations to be used in 15/16 

Land charges    600 National dispute around land charges 

Safeguarding    417 To support safeguarding improvements 

ICT   387 Infrastructure and ICT development 

Library services    260 To support delivery of 2014/15 savings 

Herefordshire Local Plan   170 To deliver the Local Plan Core Strategy 

HR    146 For transformation support and development 

SEN     75 To support government programme 

Section 256     55 Joint health and social care funding  

Other small reserves     53 Unspent funds committed in 2014/15 

Total 6,663 

77



4

2.3 Analysis of Revenue Expenditure and Income 

2.3.1 The net cost of services within the Income and Expenditure Account is £148.1 million, 
made up of the following directorates.  

Analysis of Net Expenditure by Directorates 

Chief Executive 

Directorate
0.2%

Childrens Wellbeing
23.5%

Economy, 
Communities & 

Corporate
35.0%

Adults Wellbeing
41.3%

78



5

2.3.2   The gross cost of services was £344.3 million, spent on the following types of 
expenditure: 

Analysis of Gross Service  Expenditure 

Employees
29%

Premises
4%

Transport
2%

Supplies and 

Services
9%

Third Party 

Payments
32%

Transfer Payments
16%

Support Services
1%

Capital Charges
7%

79



6

2.3.3 The gross income for the year for services was £196.2 million and came from the 
following sources: 

Analysis of Income within Services 

2.3.4 The figure for government grants includes £75.5 million Dedicated Schools Grant, 
which is a grant towards schools expenditure. The grants figure also includes £50.2       
million in respect of the payment and administration of housing and council tax 
benefits. 

2.3.5  In addition to income generated by services and service specific grants, the council 
received £42.9 million Revenue Support Grant (RSG). This is the first year that 
councils have retained a percentage of non-domestic rates which amounted to £22.7 
million plus £6.6 million top up from central government. Council tax income totalled 
£81.4 million in 2013/14, including parish and town councils’ precepts of £2.5 million.   

2.3.6  The total sources of income, including service income and income received centrally, is 
shown in the pie chart below. This excludes capital grants and contributions of £17 
million, which are shown in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure account but 
are reversed out through the Movement in Reserves Statement to fund capital 
schemes. 

Government Grants
77%

Other Grants & 

Interest
8%

Receipts
13%

Recharges
2%

80



7

Total Revenue Income  

2.4   Capital Programme 
 2013/14 Out-turn 
2.4.1 £43.4 million was incurred on capital spending funded through the utilisation of grants 

of £26.2 million, prudential borrowing of £15 million, capital receipts reserve of £2    
million and revenue contribution of £0.2 million.   

 Summary of Capital Expenditure 
2.4.2 Capital expenditure for the year can be summarised as follows: 

£000
Leominster Primary School  4,562
The new Heritage Archive & Records Centre  3,400
Blackmarstons Special School improvements  2,981
The Connect 2 bridge crossing  1,984
Capitalised Change Management Costs  1,660
Hereford Enterprise Zone  1,353
Multi storey car park refurbishment  1,194
Road improvements  10,790
Other smaller schemes  15,479

43,403

Council Tax
23.0%

RSG
12.1%

NDR
7.8%

Government 
Grants
43.7%

Other Grants
4.5%

Receipts
7.3%

Interest
0.5%

Recharges
1.1%

81



8

Capital Outturn Variance to Forecast 
2.4.3 Outturn was £7.8m less than forecast, the majority of which will now be spent in 

2014/15. No funding resources have been lost as a result of the re-profiling of spend. A 
full breakdown of changes to forecast is set out below: 

  Fastershire Broadband £3.8m. BT re-profiled spending. Scheme delivery is still on 
track with deployment to complete by December 2016. 

• Masters House £1m. The programme of improvement works continue to timescale with 
works due to complete in October 2014. 

  New Link Road £0.8m. This scheme has been to public inquiry with agreements 
reached on all but one of the required property acquisitions. The outcome of the inquiry 
is expected to be published in Autumn 2014. 

• Redundant Building Grant £0.8m. This is a two year external grant funded programme 
with funds being released following completion of all grant conditions. 

  Car parking Strategy £0.8m. This budget was provided for the Rockfield site works 
which are now complete. 

• Local Transport Plan £0.6m, as a result of changing contract in the year and severe 
weather disruption. 

Prudential Borrowing 
2.4.4 When capital grants cannot fund a scheme in full then the use of unsupported 

prudential borrowing can be considered. In 2013/14 the council utilised £15 million of 
prudential borrowing to fund the capital programme. 

Future years’ capital programme 
2.4.5 The council maintains as a minimum a full three-year rolling capital programme 

reflecting commitments, links to strategic plans and estimated sources of capital 
funding. The forecast capital programme detailed by the sources of funding is set out 
below.

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
£000 £000 £000

Sources of Funding 

Grants and Contributions 24,905 634 666

Prudential Borrowing 57,237 37,371 20,770

Capital Receipts Reserves 3,209 1,904 0

Total Capital Expenditure 85,351 39,909 21,436

2.5 Balance Sheet 

2.5.1 The chart below shows how the balance sheet has changed over the last 5 years. 

Balance Sheet Analysis - Comparison between financial years (2010 -2014) 

82



9

2.5.2 The net assets on the balance sheet total £127.7 million (£79.7 million in 2012/13), an 
improvement of £48 million over the course of the year. This includes an increase in 
the value of long-term assets of £18 million and a reduction on the pensions liability of 
£28 million.  

2.5.2 Over the period there has been a trend of falling net asset values, with a high of £187.4 
million at 31st March 2011 to a low of £79.7 million at 31st March 2013, a fall of £107.7 
million (57%). This was mostly due to the transfer of a number of schools to academies 
and increasing pension liabilities. The current year shows a welcome shift in direction. 

2.5.3 In the last two years the increase in short term liabilities is the result of the treasury 
management strategy of using short-term borrowing to take advantage of low interest 
rates, reducing costs. 

2.5.4 The fluctuation in long-term liabilities has mainly been caused by the pensions liability, 
which is assessed each year by the actuary and can vary significantly year on year as 
assumptions and forecasts change; 

Pension
liability 

£m
31st March 2010 163.4 
31st March 2011 131.8 
31st March 2012 159.3 
31st March 2013 187.4 
31st March 2014 159.4 

2.6 The Council’s Borrowing 

2.6.1 The council’s borrowing strategy is determined each year within the Treasury 
Management Strategy, which is approved as part of the budget process. External 

 500

 300

 100

!100

!300

!500

!£(500)

!£(300)

!£(100)

!£100

!£300

!£500

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014A
m
ou

nt
 £
m

Financial Year Ending 31st March 

Long!Term!Assets Current!Assets Current!Liabilities Long!Term!Liabilities Net!Assets

83



10

borrowing is taken out to support the council’s capital programme and borrowing limits 
are set in accordance with the Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities. 

2.6.2 In 2013/14 the council did not take out any new long-term borrowing. 

2.6.3 Principal of £4 million was repaid to the Public Works Loan Board under existing 
annuity and EIP (equal instalments of principal) agreements. Interest of £5.7 million 
was paid on council borrowing during the year (including £5.1 million to the Public 
Works Loan Board), of which £0.3 million was capitalised and added to the cost of the 
associated fixed assets (see note 8.1.4). 

2.6.4 During the year the council continued using short-term borrowing from other local 
authorities to cover liquidity requirements and capital spend.  At 31st March 2014 £31.5 
million of short-term loans from other local authorities were outstanding.  

2.6.5 Total borrowing at the year end, including short-term loans, stood at £168 million 
(compared to £157 million as at 31st March 2013).  Of this amount £12 million, relating 
to two potentially long-term bank loans, is shown as being repayable within one year.  
Accounting convention dictates that these two loans are shown as current liabilities 
because every six months, when the interest payments become due, the lenders have 
the option to increase the interest rates being charged.  If a lender did increase the rate 
(from 4.5%) the council would then have the option to repay the loan.    

2.6.6 The amounts noted above relate to principal outstanding at the end of the year.  The 
borrowing figures in the Balance Sheet are higher as they include accrued interest and 
other accounting adjustments.  

2.6.7 Net borrowing (after offsetting investments) was £144.7 million as at 31st March 2014, 
compared to £147 million as at 31st March 2013. 

2.6.8 The council is only allowed to borrow to support capital projects.  The borrowing 
supports fixed assets valued at £465 million at the balance sheet date. 

2.7   The Council’s Reserves  

 General reserves 
2.7.1 In 2013/14 the council has a policy of maintaining a minimum of £4.5 million of general 

reserves as contingency against unforeseen emergencies and events. At the end of 
2013/14 the council held general reserves of £5.1 million compared with a position of 
£4.7 million in 2012/13. 

 Earmarked reserves 
2.7.2 Specific reserves totalled £23.9 million (£13.9 million in 2012/13), which are detailed in 

note 8.8 to the Statements. 

2.7.3 The table below shows the level of reserves over the last 5 years; 

Balance as at: General Fund 
£000

Specific Reserves Total 
£000Schools Other 

31st March 2010 5,349 5,497 13,745 24,591 
31st March 2011  6,349 6,002 11,570 23,921 
31st March 2012 6,113 5,789 7,669 19,571 
31st March 2013 4,656 5,535 8,433 18,624 
31st March 2014  5,053 6,345 17,598 28,996 

84



11

2.8 Significant provisions, contingencies and write-offs 

2.8.1 The council held provisions of £3.7 million at 31st March 2014, as detailed in note 8.22 
to the Statements. 

2.8.2 The most significant provision is the redundancy provision of £1.8 million, including 
schools and partner organisations, based on the number of planned redundancies at 
31st March 2014.  

2.8.3 At 31st March 2014 the council also held a provision of £1.3 million for insurance 
commitments. Herefordshire Council pays the first £5,000 to £50,000 of most 
insurance claims (depending on the type or class of the claim), known as the 
deductible. During 2011/12 the council commissioned a review of the insurance 
provision to include schools, which was also used as the basis of the provision for 
2012/13 and 2013/14. A further review is to be undertaken in 2014/15. 

2.8.4 The new business rates retention scheme was introduced in April 2013 and for the first 
time there is a requirement to make a provision for potential future appeals against 
rateable values, which could result in refunds against 2013/14 income and previous 
years. Legislation has been introduced that allows councils to spread the impact of 
appeals relating to periods before 2013/14 to be spread over 5 years. The rates 
appeals provision was £584,000 after taking account of spreading the liability over five 
years. 

2.8.5 A list of contingent liabilities are set out in note 8.44 to the Statements. Although 
contingent liabilities are not required to be accounted for there is a reserve of £300,000 
in the accounts as a general contingency against future spend. In addition specific 
reserves have been set up for the national land charges dispute (£600,000) and for risk 
mitigation (£3.5 million). 

2.8.6 There were no significant write-offs of income to the General Fund in the year. 

2.9 Pensions 

2.9.1 In accordance with International Accounting Standard 19 on Retirement Benefits (IAS 
19), Note 8.43 to the Statements sets out the council’s assets and liabilities in respect 
of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). Herefordshire Council’s non-
teaching staff are members of the Worcestershire County Council Pension Fund. 
However, public health staff who transferred to the council in 2013/14 retained their 
NHS pensions.

2.9.2 Herefordshire’s proportion of the net deficit on the Worcestershire County Council 
Pension Fund as at 31st March 2014 is £159.4 million, which is approximately 61% of 
the fair value of the assets (£187.4 million and 80% at 31st March 2013). Whilst this 
deficit does not have to be met immediately from the council’s reserves, action must be 
taken over a period of years to eliminate it. In addition the balance sheet deficit also 
includes £1 million relating to ex-Hereford and Worcester teachers’ unfunded benefits 
(£1.1 million at 31st March 2013). 

2.9.3  The pension fund position is reviewed every three years and was last revalued as at 
31st March 2013. The council has agreed with the Actuary that in order to recover the 
deficit over 21 years that the employer’s deficit contribution increases from £4.2 million 
in 2013/14 to £7.6m by 2016/17. The Actuary has also requested that the element of 
the employer’s contribution related to clearing the deficit is paid as an annual cash 
sum. The Actuary has confirmed that the future employers service contribution rate, 
which is paid as a percentage of current employees’ gross pay, is to increase from 
11.7% in 2013/14 to 14.6% by 2015/16. 

85



12

2.10   Impact of Economic Climate   

2.10.1 The economic climate has had an impact on the 2013/14 accounts in a number of 
areas: 

2.10.2  Children’s Wellbeing: The current economic climate continues to affect the lives of 
children and young people in Herefordshire. Financial pressures continue to affect all 
families and the changes to welfare benefits have yet to be fully assessed in terms of 
their impact on local authority services. Herefordshire has continued to see increased 
numbers of children needing to be looked after in 2013/14 creating cost pressures for 
the service. The transfer of responsibility for children in remand to the Local Authority 
has caused additional financial burdens. 

 In order to maintain provision for children’s social care, additional cuts were made 
across the full range of other children’s wellbeing in 2013/14 balancing the need to 
meet the increasing cost of providing children’s social care. As a result there is an 
increasing focus on maintaining statutory and essential services. Cuts in early years’ 
services will have an impact on children and young people in Herefordshire and may 
have an adverse longer term impact, resulting in higher costs at a later date.  This is 
being mitigated by focusing integrating services within the council to support children, 
young people and their families making the most of initiatives such as Troubled 
Families and improving health initiatives. 

 Fees for post 16 and denominational school transport were increased to reflect the 
decision to reduce the subsidy which has been staged over three years. However, 
there is no change to the support for those who are eligible for assistance.   In line with 
government policy Herefordshire has continued to see a movement of schools to 
Academy status and out of local authority control.  This results in cuts in funding to 
central and children’s services, whilst a number of statutory duties remain with the local 
authority. 

2.10.3 Adults Wellbeing: The growing needs of the local population and financial pressures 
facing the local NHS Trust remains a key factor in the pressure on finances, in 
particular the increased demand on the social care system to enable the early 
discharge and prevention of admission to hospital. This has continued to create 
pressures on the community equipment and domiciliary care support budgets. 

 The increased financial pressures on families has seen a continued request for carers 
to seek social care support.  

 Efficiencies in the reduction in the number of grants given to the voluntary sector is 
likely to have an impact on our communities as some services are greatly reduced or 
removed. 

2.10.4 Economy, Communities and Corporate: In the last six months of the year, planning 
fee income levels improved in line with national improved economic climate. Parking 
fee income also started to improve on the previous year levels towards the end of the 
financial year. Recent data also indicates that household and trade waste tonnage 
levels have stabilised in Herefordshire and the rest of the country following the 
reduction in the previous year which related to the economic downturn. 

2.10.5 Treasury Management activities: The Bank Base Rate has now been at 0.50% for 
more than five years and has significantly reduced the income that the council is able 
to earn on its investments.  During the year deposit interest rates fell further with the 
average rate earned on the council’s investments falling from 0.98% in 2012/13 to 
0.75% in 2013/14. 

86



13

 However, the continuing low interest rate regime also meant that the cost of short-term 
finance remained favourable with the average interest rate payable on short-term 
borrowing from other local authorities being 0.40%, including brokers commission.  It is 
currently council policy to utilise relatively cheap short-term finance rather than taking 
out new longer-term finance from the Public Works Loan Board.  This strategy reduces 
interest rate risk (with reduced income from investments being offset by savings on 
loan interest) and results in a significantly lower cost of borrowing when compared to 
longer-term loans. 

2.11 Academy schools 

2.11.1 Academies are publicly funded local schools that are independent of the council, 
responsible to, and funded directly by, government. They are freed from national 
restrictions such as the teachers’ pay and conditions documents, the national 
curriculum and Ofsted inspection requirements. Academies receive additional top-up 
funding to reflect their extra responsibilities which are no longer provided by the local 
authority. 

2.11.2 Many schools in Herefordshire have become Academies.  At 31st March 2014 there 
were 26 Academies with 8,612 pupils (39% of total pupils). 

2.11.3 With both Foundation Schools and Academies, the ownership of the school land and 
buildings is transferred from the council to the school by issuing a long-term lease at a 
peppercorn rent.  The assets are removed from the Balance Sheet when the legal 
agreement is completed. 

2.11.4 In 2013/14 the following five schools converted to Academies: 
 Barrs Court School 

Mordiford CofE Primary School 
Burghill Community Primary School 
Marden Primary School 
St Thomas Cantilupe CofE Primary School 

2.11.8 As a result of the last three schools converting to academies £2.65 million has been 
written out of the council’s Balance Sheet as fixed asset disposals.  Barrs Court School 
and Mordiford CofE Primary School had previously converted to Foundation status and 
so their assets had already been removed from the Balance Sheet in previous years.  

2.11.9 Fairfield High School converted to an academy after the year end and so its assets will 
be removed from the Balance Sheet in 2014/15.  The net book value of the school’s 
land and buildings as at 31st March 2014 is £2.58 million. 

2.12 The 2013/14 Financial Statements 
          The council’s accounts are detailed in the following pages and comprise: 

           Movement in Reserves Statement (page 15) 
2.12.1 This statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the 

authority.  

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (page 17) 
2.12.2 This statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services, rather than 

the amount to be funded from council tax. 

 Balance Sheet (page 19) 
2.12.3 The Balance Sheet summarises the council’s assets, liabilities and other balances at 

the end of the financial year. 

87



14

Cash Flow Statement (page 21) 
2.12.4 This statement represents a summary of all cash flowing in and out of the council 

arising from transactions with third parties. All internal transactions between the 
various accounts maintained by the council are excluded. 

 Notes to the Financial Statements (page 23) 
2.12.5 The notes to the core financial statements provide further information on the financial 

activities of the council.  

 The Collection Fund  (page 98) 
2.12.6 This statement shows all income collected from council taxpayers and business 

ratepayers (NNDR). Expenditure includes council tax precept payments to the West 
Mercia Police Authority and Hereford & Worcester Fire and Rescue Authority, 
representing income collected from council taxpayers on their behalf. Similarly the 
account distributes shares of the business rates collected between the council, central 
government and the Fire Authority. 

2.12.7 The Statement of Accounts, which takes into account events up to 27th June 2014, was 
authorised for issue on 27th June 2014 by the Chief Financial Officer.   

2.12.8 Further information about the council’s finances is available from the Chief Financial 
Officer, Herefordshire Council, Brockington, 35, Hafod Road, Hereford, HR1 1SH.  

Peter Robinson 

Chief Financial Officer  

(Section 151 Officer) 

88



15

3. STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES 

3.1 The Council’s Responsibilities 

3.1.1 The council is required to: 

a. Make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and 
to secure that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration 
of those affairs. In this authority, that officer is the Chief Financial Officer. 

b. Manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of 
resources and safeguard its assets; and 

c. Approve the statement of accounts. 

3.2 The Chief Financial Officer - Responsibilities 

3.2.1 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the preparation of the authority’s 
statement of accounts in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code).  

3.2.2 In preparing this statement of accounts, the Chief Financial Officer has: 

a. Selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently; 

b. Made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent; and 

c. Complied with the local authority Code. 

3.2.3 The Chief Financial Officer  has also: 

a. Kept proper accounting records which were up to date; and 

b. Taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities. 

Certificate of the Chief Financial Officer   
I certify that the Statement of Accounts gives a true and fair view of the financial position of 
Herefordshire Council at 31st March 2014 and its income and expenditure for the year ended 
31st March 2014. 

Peter Robinson 
Chief Financial Officer

89



16

4 MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT 
4.1 This statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the authority, analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those 

that can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other reserves. The (surplus) or deficit on the provision of services’ 
line shows the true economic cost of providing the authority’s services, more details of which are shown in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement. This is different from the statutory amounts required to be charged to the General Fund Balance for council 
tax setting. The net increase/decrease before Transfers to Earmarked Reserves line shows the statutory General Fund Balance before 
any discretionary transfers to or from earmarked reserves undertaken by the council. 

Restated
General

fund
balance

Earmarked
reserves 

Capital 
receipts
reserve 

Capital 
grants

unapplied

Total
usable

reserves 

Unusable
reserves 

Total
reserves 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Balance as at 31st March 2012 (6,113) (13,458) (2,769) (15,679) (38,019) (71,664) (109,683)
    

Movement in reserves during 2012/13     
    

Surplus or (deficit) on the provision of services 13,633 13,633 13,633
    

Other comprehensive income and expenditure 0 16,376 16,376
    

Total comprehensive income and expenditure 13,633 0 0 0 13,633 16,376 30,009
    

Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under 
regulations (note 8.7) 

(12,686) 76 2,164 (10,446) 10,446 0

    
Net increase or decrease before transfers to earmarked reserves 947 0 76 2,164 3,187 26,822 30,009

Transfers to or from earmarked reserves (note 8.8) 510 (510) 0 0

(Increase) or decrease in 2012/13 1,457 (510) 76 2,164 3,187 26,822 30,009

Balance as at 31st March 2013 (4,656) (13,968) (2,693) (13,515) (34,832) (44,842) (79,674)

9
0



17

General
fund

balance

Earmarked
reserves 

Capital 
receipts
reserve 

Capital 
grants

unapplied

Total
usable

reserves 

Unusable
reserves 

Total
reserves 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Balance as at 31st March 2013 (4,656) (13,968) (2,693) (13,515) (34,832) (44,842) (79,674)
    

Movement in reserves during 2013/14    
    

(Surplus) or deficit on the provision of services (3,806)    (3,806) (3,806)

Other comprehensive income and expenditure 0 (44,171) (44,171)

Total comprehensive income and expenditure (3,806) 0 0 0 (3,806) (44,171) (47,977)

Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under 
regulations (note 8.7) 

(6,566) (3,302) 7,165 (2,703) 2,703 0

Net increase or decrease before transfers to earmarked 
reserves 

(10,372) 0 (3,302) 7,165 (6,509) (41,468) (47,977)

Transfers to or from earmarked reserves (note 8.8) 9,975 (9,975) 0 0

(Increase) or decrease in 2013/14 (397) (9,975) (3,302) 7,165 (6,509) (41,468) (47,977)

(5,053) (23,943) (5,995) (6,350) (41,341) (86,310) (127,651) Balance as at 31st March 2014 

9
1



18

5. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 
STATEMENT
This Statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from 
taxation. Authorities raise taxation to cover expenditure in accordance with regulations; 
this may be different from the accounting cost. The taxation position is shown in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement. The 2012/13 comparative figures have been adjusted 
to take account of the changes in accounting for post-employment benefits. 

92



19

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT 

Restated 2012/13                        2013/14 

Expenditure Income Net Expenditure Income Net 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

74,246 (20,250) 53,996 Adult  Social Care 73,397 (16,918) 56,479

135,209 (99,245) 35,964 Educational  and Children Services 129,095 (94,250) 34,845

9,397 (1,431) 7,966 Cultural and Related Services  7,718 (1,163) 6,555

22,312 (5,248) 17,064 Environmental and Regulatory  22,319 (6,107) 16,212

14,424 (5,172) 9,252 Planning Services 10,883 (5,353) 5,530

24,146 (7,229) 16,917 Highways and Transport Services 25,261 (7,737) 17,524

58,087 (52,447) 5,640 Housing Services 47,806 (42,606) 5,200

11,118 (4,514) 6,604 Corporate and Democratic Core 6,638 (1,990) 4,648

(1,323) (2) (1,325) Non-distributed Costs (166) (2) (168)

15,518 (14,612) 906 Central Services to the Public 13,780 (12,350) 1,430

 Public Health 7,647 (7,753) (106)

363,134 (210,150) 152,984 Cost of Services 344,378 (196,229) 148,149

22,762  22,762 Other operating expenditure (note 8.9) 11,492 (2,470) 9,022

16,535 (10,634) 5,901 Financing and investment income & expenditure 
(note 8.10) 19,494 (6,239) 13,255

 (168,014) (168,014) Taxation and non-specific grant income (note 8.11) (174,232) (174,232)

  13,633 (Surplus)/Deficit on the provision of services (3,806)

  (8,035) Surplus on revaluation of Property, Plant and 
Equipment assets (9,314)

  24,411 Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability (note 8.43)  (34,857)

16,376 Other comprehensive income and expenditure (44,171)

30,009 Total comprehensive income and expenditure (47,977)

9
3



20

6 BALANCE SHEET 

6.1 The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of the assets 
and liabilities recognised by the authority. The net assets of the authority 
(assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by the authority. 
Reserves are reported in two categories. 

6.2 The first category of reserves are usable reserves i.e. those reserves that the 
authority may use to provide services, subject to the need to maintain a prudent 
level of reserves and any statutory limitations on their use (for example the 
Capital Receipts Reserve may only be used to fund capital expenditure or 
repay debt). 

6.3 The second category of reserves is those that the authority is not able to use to 
provide services. This category of reserves includes reserves that hold 
unrealised gains and losses (for example the Revaluation Reserve) where 
amounts would only become available to provide services if the assets are sold; 
and reserves that hold timing differences shown in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement line ‘Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under 
regulations’. 

94



21

BALANCE SHEET 

31.3.13 
Notes

31.3.14 31.3.14 
£000  £000 £000 

    404,064 Property, plant and equipment 8.12 426,274
       2,805     Heritage Assets 8.13 2,805
      32,966    Investment property 8.14 30,245
        4,733    Intangible assets 8.15 2,918
              4    Long-term investments 8.16 4
        2,506    Long-term debtors 8.16 2,807

    447,078    Long-term Assets  465,053

        8,541    Short-term Investments 8.16 17,564
        3,150     Assets held for sale 8.20 2,732
           287    Inventories 8.17 177
      32,845    Short-term Debtors 8.18 28,496
            228    Intangible current asset 8.15 0
        2,420   Cash and cash equivalents 8.19 8,412
       47,471    Current Assets  57,381

        (1,652)   Cash and cash equivalents 8.19 (3,174)
      (33,855)   Short term borrowing 8.16 (49,228)
      (32,433)   Short-term creditors 8.21 (26,417)
          (622)   Capital grants receipts in advance 8.25 (2,144)
       (1,474)   Provisions 8.22 (2,095)
      (70,036)   Current Liabilities (83,058)

      (1,124)   Provisions 8.22 (1,587)
   (124,857)   Long-term borrowing 8.16 (120,760)
   (216,740)    Other long-term liabilities 8.16/

43
(187,737)

          (2,118)     Capital grants receipts in advance 8.25 (1,641)
   (344,839)    Total Long-term liabilities (311,725)

     79,674     Net Assets 127,651

      (34,832)    Usable reserves 8.23 (41,341)
      (44,842)    Unusable reserves 8.24 (86,310)

      (79,674)    Total reserves (127,651)

95



22

7 CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

7.1 The Cash Flow statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of 
the authority during the year. The statement shows how the authority generates 
and uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows arising as 
operating, investing and financing activities.  

7.2 The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator 
of the extent to which the operations of the authority are funded by way of 
taxation and grant income or from the recipients of services provided by the 
authority. 

7.3 Investing activities represent the extent to which cash outflows have been made 
for resources which are intended to contribute to the authority’s future service 
delivery.  

7.4 Cash flows arising from financing activities are useful in predicting claims on 
future cash flows by providers of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the authority. 

96



23

CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

2012/13 2013/14 2013/14 
£000 £000 £000 

 Operating Activities 
Cash inflows

(78,981) Taxation (104,435) 
(213,719) Grants (204,638) 

(334) Interest received (304)
(91,812) Other receipts from operating activities (39,740) (349,117)

  (384,846) Cash inflows generated from operating activities

Cash outflows
   105,487 Cash paid to and on behalf of employees 98,219 
     47,955 Housing benefit paid out 49,068 

        2,697 Precepts paid 2,499 
             4 Payments to the Capital Receipts Pool 2
       7,876 Interest paid 7,546 
    211,379 Other payments and operating activities 169,330 
    375,398 Cash outflows generated from operating activities  326,664

      (9,448) Net cash flows from operating activities  (22,453)

Investing Activities 
       36,465 Purchase of PPE, investment property and intangible assets 41,152 
       39,500 Purchase of investments (not cash equivalents) 63,690 
            294 Other payments for investing activities 306

  (2,861) Proceeds from the sale of PPE, investment property and 
intangible assets 

(4,226)

(40,500) Proceeds from investments (not cash equivalents) (54,690)
(15,844) Other receipts from investing activities (17,979)

     17,054 Net cash flows from investing activities  28,253

Financing Activities 
(44,004) Cash receipts of short and long term borrowing (75,584)

           968
Cash payments for the reduction liabilities for finance leases 
 and PFI contracts 1,063 

      31,513 Repayments of short and long term borrowing 64,152 
        3,008 Other payments for financing activities 99
      (8,515) Net cash flows from financing activities  (10,270)

         (909) Net decrease/(increase) in cash and cash equivalents (4,470)

         (141) Cash and cash equivalents at 1st April 768
           768 Cash and cash equivalents at 31st March 5,238
         (909) Net decrease/(increase) in cash and cash equivalents (4,470)

97



24

8 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

8.1. Accounting Policies

General Principles 
8.1.1 The council is required to produce an annual Statement of Accounts by the 

Accounts and Audit Regulations 2011, which require the accounts to be 
prepared in accordance with proper accounting practices. These practices 
primarily comprise the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 
United Kingdom 2013/14 and the Service Reporting Code of Practice 
(SERCOP) 2013/14, supported by International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Accruals of Income and Expenditure 
8.1.2 Revenue and capital transactions are accounted for on an accruals basis. 

Customer and client receipts are accounted for in the period to which they 
relate. The cost of supplies and services are accrued and accounted for in the 
period during which they were consumed or received. Interest payable on 
external borrowings and interest income is accounted for on the basis of the 
effective interest rate for the relevant financial instrument rather than the cash 
flows fixed or determined by the contract. Debtors and creditors are included in 
the accounts on an actual basis where known, or on an estimated basis where 
precise amounts are not established at the year-end. 

Borrowing Costs 
8.1.3 Borrowing costs that can be directly attributable to acquisition, construction or 

production of qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the cost of those 
assets. Qualifying assets are assets that take a substantial period of time to get 
ready, which is sufficiently long enough for a material balance of borrowing to 
accrue. This will be applied to schemes lasting more than 12 months and with 
at least £10,000 of interest associated with the project. 

8.1.4 During 2013/14 £325,000 of borrowing costs have been capitalised relating to 
spend on the corporate accommodation programme, multi-storey car park 
improvements and link road enabling costs.

 Cash and cash equivalents 
8.1.5 Cash comprises cash in hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are 

short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 
value. Cash equivalents are deemed to be ‘on-call’ investments, where 
investments can be recalled immediately. 

 Contingent assets 
8.1.6 Contingent assets are not recognised in the financial statements but disclosed 

as a note to the accounts where an inflow of economic benefits or service 
potential is probable. If it becomes virtually certain that an inflow of economic 
benefits or service potential will arise and the asset’s value can be measured 
reliably, then the debtor and related revenue are recognised in the financial 
statements in the year the change occurs.  

 Contingent liabilities 
8.1.7 A contingent liability arises when an event has taken place that gives the 

authority a possible obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the 
occurrence of uncertain future events not wholly within control of the authority. 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial statements but 

98



25

disclosed as a note to the accounts.  If it becomes probable that an outflow of 
future economic benefits or service potential will be required then a provision is 
recognised in the year in which the probability occurs. 

 Employee benefits 

 Benefits payable during employment 
8.1.8 Employment benefits are accounted for according to the principles of accruals 

of expenditure. Short-term compensated absences, such as annual leave and 
flexi-time, are recognised when employees render services that increase their 
entitlement to future compensated absences. These are measured as the 
additional amount that the authority expects to pay as a result of unused 
entitlement at the balance sheet date, including employer’s national insurance 
and pension contributions. The accumulated benefits are included in the 
balance sheet as a provision for accumulated absences. The amounts charged 
to the General Fund are reversed out through the Movement of Reserves 
Statement to the accumulated absences account in the balance sheet. 

 Termination benefits 
8.1.9 Termination benefits are payable as a result of either: 

a) An employer’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment; or 

b) An employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy 

 Termination benefits are recognised immediately in the Surplus or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services 

 Post-employment benefits 
8.1.10 Employees of the council are members of three separate pension schemes; 

a) The Teachers’ Pension Scheme, administered by Capita Teachers’ 
Pensions on behalf of the Department for Education; 

b) The NHS pension scheme (for Public Health transferred staff); and 

c) The Local Government Pension Scheme administered by 
Worcestershire County Council. 

8.1.11 Pension schemes are classed as either defined contribution or defined benefit 
plans. The above schemes provide defined benefits to members, built up during 
the time employees work for the council.  

8.1.12 However, the arrangements for the Teachers’ scheme mean that the liabilities 
for these benefits cannot be identified to the council. The scheme is therefore 
accounted for as if it were a defined contributions scheme – no liability for future 
payments of benefits is recognised in the balance sheet and the education 
service revenue account is charged with the employer’s contributions payable 
to the Teachers’ Pensions Scheme in the year. The scheme is therefore 
accounted for as if it were a defined contributions scheme 

8.1.13 The NHS pension scheme, which transferred Public Health staff are members 
of, is an unfunded defined benefit scheme and is accounted for as a defined 
contribution plan by NHS bodies. Therefore, it would be extremely unlikely that 
local authorities would be able to identify the underlying scheme assets and 
liabilities for transferred staff.  

99



26

8.1.14 The adoption of the 2011 amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits in the 
2013 Code has resulted in a change in accounting policy from April 2013. There 
are new classes of components of defined benefit cost to be recognised in the 
financial statements (i.e.net interest on the net defined benefit liability and 
remeasurement of the net liability). The 2012/13 accounts have been restated 
to take account of these changes as follows: 

Original
2012/13

£000

Restated
2012/13

£000
Change 

£000
Net cost of services 
Current service 7,056 7,229 173 
Curtailment, settlement and past service (1,299) (1,299) 0 
Reverse actuals (9,717) (9,717) 0 
  (3,960) (3,787) 173 
Net operating expenditure 
Interest  17,819 17,646 (173) 
Admin costs 0 113 113 
Return on assets (12,875) (10,126) 2,749 
  4,944 7,633 2,689 
Movement in Reserves 
Reverse IAS 19 adjustments (10,701) (13,563) (2,862) 
Restate actuals 9,717 9,717 0 
  (984) (3,846) (2,862) 

Net change to General Fund balance 0 0 0 

8.1.15 The Local Government Pension Scheme is accounted for as a defined benefit 
scheme as follows: 

a) The liabilities are included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis 
using the projected unit method, that is, an assessment of the future 
payments that will be made in relation to retirement benefits earned to 
date by employees; 

b) Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices; 

c) Assets are included in the Balance Sheet at their fair value; 

d) The change in the net pension’s liability is analysed into seven 
components; 

i. Current service cost: The increase in liabilities as a result of 
service earned in the year is allocated to the revenue account 
of the services for which the employee worked, within the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

ii. Past service cost: The increase in liabilities arising from a 
scheme amendment or curtailment whose effect relates to 
service earned in earlier years is debited to the Net Cost of 
Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. 

100



27

iii. Net Interest on the defined benefit liability: The change 
during the period that arises from the passage of time charged 
to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line 
of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

iv. Return on plan assets: Charged to the Pensions Reserve as 
Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. 

v. Actuarial gains and losses: Changes in the net pensions 
liability that arise because events have not coincided with 
assumptions previously made by the actuaries is included in 
Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. 

vi. Contributions paid to the pension fund: Cash paid as 
employer’s contributions to the pension fund. 

8.1.16 Statutory provisions limit the council to raising council tax to cover amounts 
payable by the council to the pension fund in the year. In the Movement in 
Reserves Statement there is an appropriation to or from the Pensions Reserve 
to replace the notional costs of retirement benefits with the amounts payable to 
the pension fund in the year. 

8.1.17 Further information on accounting for the pension fund is set out in note 8.43 to 
the Statements. 

 Events after the balance sheet date 
8.1.18 Events after the Balance Sheet date are those that occur between the end of 

the reporting period and the date when the Statement of Accounts is authorised 
for issue.  

8.1.19 There are two types; 

a. Those that provide evidence of conditions at the end of the reporting 
period, which are adjusted in the accounts; and 

b. Those that relate to conditions after the reporting period, which are not 
adjusted in the accounts, rather disclosed in the notes to the 
statements. 

 Exceptional items 
8.1.20 Where items of income and expenditure are material, the nature and amount is 

disclosed separately in the Income and Expenditure Statement or in the notes 
to the accounts. 

Prior period adjustments, changes in accounting policies and estimates 
and errors 

8.1.21 Prior period adjustments may arise from a change in accounting policies or to 
correct a material error. Changes in estimates are accounted for prospectively, 
whereas changes in accounting policies are applied retrospectively. Material 
errors in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending opening 
balances and comparative amounts for the prior period. 

8.1.22 In 2013/14 there was a change in the accounting policies for employee benefits. 
The impact is set out in note 8.1.14. 

101



28

 Financial Instruments  
8.1.23 Financial instruments are contracts that give rise to a financial asset of one 

entity and a financial liability (or equity instrument, such as share capital) of 
another entity. 

 Financial liabilities  
8.1.24 A financial liability is an obligation to deliver cash (or another financial asset) to 

another entity. 

8.1.25 Financial liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the council 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are 
initially measured at fair value and are carried at their amortised cost.  Annual 
charges for interest payable are based on the carrying amount of the liability, 
multiplied by the effective interest rate for the instrument and are charged to the 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement.  The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments over the life of the instrument 
to the amount at which it was originally recognised.  For most of the borrowings 
that the council has, the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the 
outstanding principal repayable (plus accrued interest) and interest charged is 
the amount payable for the year in the loan agreement. However, the council 
has two stepped interest rate loans, where the effective interest rate differs from 
the loan agreement. 

8.1.26 Gains and losses on the repurchase or early settlement of borrowing are 
credited and debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 
line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year of 
repurchase/settlement.  However, where repurchase has taken place as part of 
a restructuring of the loan portfolio that involves the modification or exchange of 
existing instruments, the premium or discount is respectively deducted from or 
added to the amortised cost of the new or modified loan and the write-down is 
spread over the life of the loan by an adjustment to the effective interest rate.    

8.1.27 Where premiums and discounts have been charged to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement, regulations allow the impact on the 
General Fund Balance to be spread over future years.  The reconciliation of 
amounts charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to 
the net charge required against the General Fund Balance is managed by a 
transfer to or from the Financial Instruments Adjustment Account through the 
Movement on Reserves Statement. 

 Financial Assets  
8.1.28 A financial asset is a right to future economic benefits that is represented by 

cash, an equity instrument of another entity (e.g. shares held) or a contractual 
right to receive cash (or another financial asset) from another entity. 

8.1.29 Financial assets are classified into two types: 

a. Loans and receivables – assets that have fixed or determinable 
payments but are not quoted in an active market; or 

b. Available for sale assets – assets that have a quoted market price 
and/or do not have fixed or determinable payments. 

102



29

8.1.30 Loans and receivables are recognised in the Balance Sheet when the council 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are 
initially measured at fair value.  They are subsequently measured at their 
amortised cost. Annual credits to the Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for 
interest receivable are based on the carrying amount of the asset multiplied by 
the effective rate of interest for the instrument. For all of the loans the council 
has made the amount presented in the balance sheet as the outstanding 
principal receivable (plus accrued interest) and interest credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is the amount receivable 
for the year in the loan agreement.

8.1.31 The council has no available-for-sale assets. 

 Government grants and other contributions 
8.1.32 Grants and contributions are recognised in the accounts when there is 

reasonable assurance that; 

  The authority will comply with any conditions attached to them, and 

  The grants or contributions will be received. 

8.1.33 Grants and contributions relating to capital and revenue expenditure are 
accounted for on an accruals basis and recognised immediately in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as income, except to the 
extent that the grant or contribution has conditions that the authority has not 
satisfied.

8.1.34 General grants and contributions e.g. Revenue Support Grant, are disclosed on 
the face of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

8.1.35 Grants and contributions funding capital expenditure that have been credited to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement are not proper income 
to the General Fund according to the capital control regime. These amounts are 
accounted for as follows; 

  Where conditions of the grant are outstanding at the balance sheet 
date, they are recognised as Capital Grants Receipts in Advance. 
Once the conditions have been met the grant or contribution is 
transferred to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

  Where the capital grant or contribution has been recognised in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, no conditions 
remain outstanding and the expenditure has been incurred at the 
Balance Sheet date, the grant or contribution is transferred from the 
General Fund to the Capital Adjustment Account. This reflects the 
application of capital resources to finance expenditure and is reported 
in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

  Where the capital grant or contribution has been recognised in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, but the 
expenditure to be financed has not been incurred at the Balance Sheet 
date, the grant or contribution is transferred to the Capital Grants 
Unapplied Account. When the expenditure is incurred the grant or 
contribution is transferred from the Capital Grants Unapplied Account 

103



30

to the Capital Adjustment Account, reflecting the application of capital 
resources to finance expenditure. 

 Heritage assets 
8.1.36 Heritage assets are assets with historical, artistic, scientific, technological, 

geophysical or environmental qualities that are held principally for their 
contribution to knowledge and culture. 

8.1.37 Heritage assets continue to be recognised and measured (including the 
treatment of revaluation gains and losses) in accordance with the council’s 
accounting policies on property, plant and equipment (see note 8.1.69).   

8.1.38 The council has recognised as heritage assets the museum exhibits held by 
Heritage Services.  The collection is shown in the balance sheet at open market 
value with the collection having been professionally valued in May 2012. 

8.1.39 Additions to the collection are capitalised although, in line with the council’s 
general capitalisation policy, purchases less than £10,000 are not recognised in 
the Balance Sheet. 

8.1.40 As recommended in Financial Reporting Standard 30, operational assets 
continue to be recognised under Property, Plant and Equipment 
notwithstanding any historical or other heritage qualities. 

8.1.41 Heritage assets, assumed to have indefinite lives, will not be depreciated 
although the carrying amount will be reviewed at least every five years to 
ensure that the valuation remains current. 

8.1.42 In addition the carrying amount of an asset will be reviewed if there is evidence 
of impairment e.g. where an item has suffered physical deterioration or 
breakage or where doubts arise as to its authenticity.  

 Intangible assets 
8.1.43 Expenditure on non-monetary assets that do not have physical substance but 

are identifiable and controlled by the council (e.g. computer software licences) 
is capitalised when it will bring benefits to the council for more than one 
financial year. Intangible assets are normally carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment losses. Where an intangible asset is acquired by 
way of government grant, it is recognised initially at fair value.   

8.1.44 An intangible asset with a finite useful life is amortised to the relevant service 
revenue account over its economic life to reflect the pattern of consumption of 
benefits.  Gains or losses on derecognition of an intangible asset are 
recognised in the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement.   

8.1.45 Neither amortisation, gains nor losses are permitted to have an impact on the 
General Fund Balance and so all are reversed out of the General Fund Balance 
in the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the Capital Adjustment 
Account.

 Inventories 
8.1.46 Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value, except 

where they are held for distribution at no charge in which case they are 
measured at the lower of cost and net current replacement cost. 

104



31

 Investment property 
8.1.47 Investment properties are those that are used solely to earn rentals and/or for 

capital appreciation.  The definition is not met if the property is used in any way 
to facilitate the delivery of services or is held for sale. 

8.1.48 Investment property is measured initially at cost, and subsequently at market 
value.  Properties are not depreciated but are revalued annually reflecting 
market conditions at the year end.  

8.1.49 Gains and losses on revaluation are included in the Financing and Investment 
Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement.  Gains or losses on disposal of an investment property are treated 
in the same way. 

8.1.50  Gains or losses recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure     
Statement are not proper charges to the General Fund and are reversed out 
through the Movement in Reserves Statement as follows; 

a) On derecognition of an investment property the disposal proceeds are 
credited to the Capital Receipts Reserve and the carrying amount of 
the property is debited to the Capital Adjustment Account. 

b) Gains or losses are reversed out to the Capital Adjustment Account. 

 Leases 
8.1.51 Leases are classified as either finance leases or operating leases based on the 

extent to which risks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset lie with the 
lessor or the lessee.  

8.1.52 Finance leases 
a) Where the council is lessee - finance leases are recognised as assets 

and liabilities at the fair value of the property or, if lower, the present 
value of the minimum lease payments. Minimum lease payments are 
apportioned between the finance charge (interest) and the reduction of 
the outstanding liability. Assets recognised under a finance lease are 
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the asset’s useful 
economic life. Assets recognised under a finance lease are subject to 
revaluation in the same way as any other asset. 

b) Where the council is lessor - assets held under a finance lease are 
recognised as a debtor equal to the net investment in the lease. The 
lease payment receivable is treated as repayment of principal and 
interest.

Operating leases 
8.1.53 a) Where the council is lessee – an operating lease is recognised as an 

expense on a straight line basis over the lease term. 

b) Where the council is lessor – the asset is recognised under the 
relevant category of assets. Costs, including depreciation, are 
recognised as an expense and income is recognised on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. 

  Arrangements containing a lease 
8.1.54 Arrangements that do not take the legal form of a lease but convey the right to 

use an asset in return for payments, are assessed under IFRIC 4 to determine 

105



32

whether the arrangement contains a lease. This requires an assessment of 
whether; 

a) The arrangement depends on use of a specific asset 

b) The arrangement conveys the right to use the asset. 

 If the arrangement contains a lease, that lease shall be classified as a finance 
or operating lease. 

Non-current assets held for sale 
8.1.55 An asset is classified as held for sale if; 

a) The asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition 

b) The sale is highly probable. 

c) The asset is being actively marketed. 

d) The sale should be expected to be completed within one year  

8.1.56 Assets held for sale are measured at the lower of the carrying amount and fair 
value less costs to sell and are not depreciated.  

8.1.57 Assets held for sale are presented separately on the face of the Balance Sheet. 

Overheads and Support Services 
8.1.58 The costs of overheads and support services are charged to those that benefit 

from the supply or service in accordance with the costing principles of the 
CIPFA Service Reporting Code of Practice (SERCOP). The total absorption 
costing principle is used – the full cost of overheads and support services are 
shared between users in proportion to the benefits received, with the exception 
of:

a. Corporate and Democratic Core: The costs relating to the council’s 
status as a multi-functional, democratic organisation; and 

b. Non Distributed Costs: The cost of discretionary benefits awarded to 
employees retiring early and capital charges on non-operational 
assets.

 PFI schemes 
8.1.59 Private Finance Initiative (PFI) contracts are agreements to receive services 

where the responsibility for making available the fixed assets needed to provide 
the services passes to the PFI contractor.  As the council is deemed to control 
the services that are provided under its PFI schemes and as ownership of the 
fixed assets will pass to the council at the end of the contracts for no additional 
charge, the council carries the fixed assets used under the contracts on the 
Balance Sheet. 

8.1.60 The original recognition of these fixed assets is balanced by the recognition of a 
liability for amounts due to the scheme operator to pay for the assets. 

8.1.61 Fixed assets recognised on the Balance Sheet are revalued and depreciated in 
the same way as property, plant and equipment owned by the council. 

8.1.62 The amounts payable to the PFI contractors each year are analysed into five 
elements: 

106



33

a) Fair value of the services received during the year – debited to the 
relevant service in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. 

b) Finance cost – a percentage interest charge on the outstanding 
Balance Sheet liability, debited to interest payable and similar charges 
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

c) Contingent rent – differences in the amount to be paid for the property 
arising during the contract, debited or credited to interest payable and 
similar charges in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement.

d) Payment towards liability – applied to write down the Balance Sheet 
liability towards the PFI operator. 

e) Lifecycle replacement costs – the annual payment implicit in the 
contract is funded and treated as a prepayment on the Balance Sheet 
and recognised as fixed assets when the contractor incurs the 
expenditure 

8.1.63 Under the Shaw Healthcare contract the rent and service charges paid to Shaw 
by residents for the council’s extra care flats at Leadon Bank have been treated 
as a contribution to the revenue costs of the units. 

8.1.64 The council has two traditional PFI contracts, one in partnership with 
Worcestershire County Council for the provision of waste management services 
and the other for the provision of Whitecross secondary school. The council 
also has one contract that falls within the definition of a similar contract to a PFI, 
which is the Shaw Healthcare contract for the provision of residential care 
services 

 Property, plant and equipment   
8.1.65 Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use on the 

production or supply of goods and services, for rental to others, or for 
administration purposes, and are expected to be used for more than a year. 

 Recognition 
8.1.66 Property, plant and equipment is only recognised as an asset on the balance 

sheet if; 

a) it is probable that the future economic benefits or service potential will 
flow to the council, and 

b) the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 

8.1.67 Costs meeting the definition of recognition include initial costs of acquisition and 
construction and subsequent costs to enhance or replace part of the asset. The 
costs arising from day-to-day servicing of an asset are not capitalised as this 
does not add to the future economic benefits or service potential of the asset. 
The council does not capitalise fixed assets costing less than £10,000. 

8.1.68 Where a component is replaced or enhanced, the carrying amount of the old 
component is derecognised and the new component reflected in the carrying 
amount. 

107



34

 Measurement 
8.1.69 Assets are initially recognised at cost and accounted for on an accruals basis. 

The measurement of cost comprises: 

a) purchase price; 

b) any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in a manner intended by 
management; and 

c) the initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item 
and restoring the site on which it is located 

8.1.70 Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement 
bases:

a) Infrastructure, community assets and assets under construction – 
historical cost. 

b) Land and buildings – fair value. Where there is no market-based 
evidence of fair value because of the specialist nature of the asset fair 
value may need to be estimated using a depreciated replacement cost 
approach (DRC). 

c) Vehicles, plant and equipment – depreciated historical cost (as a 
proxy for fair value)

Revaluations 
8.1.71 Assets included in the Balance Sheet at fair value are revalued where there 

have been material changes in the value, but as a minimum every five years.  
Increases in valuations are matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to 
recognise unrealised gains. The Revaluation Reserve was created with a zero 
balance on 31 March 2007. Gains may be credited to the Provision of Services 
where they arise from the reversal of an impairment loss or revaluation 
decrease previously charged to a service revenue account. 

8.1.72 Where the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
decreased as a result of a revaluation that is not specific to the asset the 
decrease is recognised in the Revaluation Reserve up to the credit balance 
existing in respect of the asset and thereafter in the Surplus or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services. 

8.1.73 Revaluation gains and losses charged to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision 
of Services are not proper charges to the General Fund and are transferred to 
the Capital Adjustment Account and reported in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement. 

8.1.74 When an asset is revalued, any accumulated depreciation and impairment is 
eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount 
restated to the revalued amount of the asset. 

 Depreciation 
8.1.75 Depreciation is provided for on all assets classified as property, plant and 

equipment by the systematic allocation of their depreciable amounts over their 
useful lives.  An exception is made for assets without a determinable finite 

108



35

useful life (i.e. freehold land and certain Community Assets) and assets that are 
not yet available for use (i.e. assets under construction). 

8.1.76 The valuer makes a professional assessment of the economic life remaining 
based on the age, condition and suitability of the asset. For the purposes of 
depreciation a nil residual value is assumed for all building assets. New assets 
are not subject to a depreciation charge in the year of acquisition.  

8.1.77 Each part of an asset with a cost significant in relation to the total cost is 
depreciated separately where the useful lives or depreciation methods of the 
components are different. The council reviews assets of £3 million and over for 
componentisation and treats components worth at least 20% of the asset value 
as being significant. This applies to enhancement expenditure and revaluations 
carried out from 1 April 2010. Where a component is replaced or restored, the 
carrying amount of the old component is derecognised.  

8.1.78 Depreciation charged to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services is 
not a proper charge to the General Fund and is transferred to the Capital 
Adjustment Account. This is reported in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference 
between current value depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that 
would have been chargeable on their historical cost being transferred each year 
from the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account. 

 Impairments 
8.1.79 An impairment loss is the amount by which the carrying amount of an asset 

exceeds its recoverable amount. At the end of each financial year assets are 
assessed for any indications of impairment and if there are then the recoverable 
amount shall be estimated.  Circumstances that indicate an impairment may 
have occurred include; 

a) A significant decline in an asset’s value during the year, which is 
specific to the asset 

b) Evidence of obsolescence or physical damage of an asset 

c) A commitment by the council to undertake a significant re-organisation 

d) A significant adverse change in the statutory or other regulatory 
environment in which the council operates. 

8.1.80 General Fund service revenue accounts, central support services and trading 
accounts are charged with impairment losses (in excess of any balance on the 
revaluation reserve). An impairment on revalued assets is recognised in the 
Revaluation Reserve to the extent that the impairment does not exceed the 
amount in the Revaluation Reserve for the same asset and thereafter in the 
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services. An impairment loss on a non-
revalued asset shall be recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 
Services. 

8.1.81 At the end of each financial year an assessment shall take place as to whether 
there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in earlier periods for 
an asset may no longer exist or have decreased. The reversal of an impairment 
loss previously recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services 
shall not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no 
impairment loss been recognised. Any excess above the carrying amount is 
treated as a revaluation gain and credited to the Revaluation Reserve. 

109



36

8.1.82 Impairment losses and subsequent reversals are charged to the Surplus or 
Deficit on the Provision of Services, they are not proper charges to the General 
Fund. These amounts are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account and 
reported in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

 Disposals 
8.1.83 The carrying amount of an asset is derecognised on disposal and the gain or 

loss on disposal of the asset is included in the Surplus or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services. This is not a proper charge to the General Fund and is 
reversed out by; 

a) Crediting the Capital Receipts Reserve with the disposal proceeds; and 

b) Debiting the Capital Adjustment Account with the carrying amount of the 
asset on disposal. 

 Any balance on the Revaluation Reserve is written off to the Capital Adjustment 
Account on disposal of the asset.  

8.1.84 Where appropriate the costs of disposing of non-current assets are financed 
from the capital receipts generated up to a maximum of 4% of the capital 
receipt. 

Provisions 
8.1.85 A provision is recognised when: 

a) An authority has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event; 

b) It is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits or service potential will be required to settle the obligation; and 

c) A reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

8.1.86 Provisions are charged to the cost of services when the authority becomes 
aware of the obligation, based on the best estimate of the likely settlement. 
When payments are made they are charged to the provision set up in the 
balance sheet.  

Reserves
8.1.87 The council sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes 

or to cover contingencies. Reserves are created by appropriating amounts in 
the Movement in Reserves Statement. When expenditure to be financed from a 
reserve is incurred it is charged to the appropriate revenue account and 
included in the Cost of Services. The reserve is then appropriated back through 
the Movement in Reserves Statement so that there is no charge against council 
tax for the expenditure. 

 Revenue funded from capital under statute 
8.1.88 Where legislation allows expenditure to be classified as capital for funding 

purposes, which does not result in a fixed asset on the balance sheet (generally 
grants), it is charged to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in 
accordance with proper practice.  A transfer to the Capital Adjustment Account 
from the Statement of Movement in Reserves reverses this out so that there is 
no impact on council tax. 

110



37

 Value added tax 
8.1.89 Revenue included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is 

only the amount relating to the authority on its own behalf and therefore 
excludes VAT that must be passed on the HM Revenue and Customs. VAT is 
only included in the accounts to the extent that it is irrecoverable. The net 
amount due to or from HM Revenue and Customs in respect of VAT is included 
as part of creditors or debtors. 

 Revenue recognition 
8.1.90 Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or 

receivable.  

8.1.91 The sale of goods; revenue is recognised when all the following conditions 
have been satisfied: 

a) the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to 
the purchaser. 

b) the council retains neither continuing managerial involvement nor 
effective control over the goods sold 

c) the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. 

d) it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated 
with the transaction will flow to the entity, and 

e) the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be 
measured reliably. 

8.1.92 The rendering of services; when the outcome of a transaction can be 
estimated reliably, associated revenue is recognised according to the 
percentage completed at the reporting date. The following conditions need to 
be satisfied; 

a) the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; 

b) it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated 
with the transaction will flow to the entity; 

c) the stage of completion at the balance sheet date can be measured 
reliably; and 

d) the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the 
transaction can be measured reliably. 

8.1.93 Interest; revenue is recognised when; 

a) it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated 
with the transaction will flow to the authority; and  

b) the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably. 

8.1.94 Non-exchange transactions; revenue is recognised when; 

a) it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated 
with the transaction will flow to the authority; and 

b) the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably. 

111



38

 Interests in Companies and Other Entities 
8.1.95   The council has 33% voting rights with Herefordshire Housing. However, the 

council is not exposed to the direct risk of any loss though transactions or 
collapse, and therefore there is no requirement to complete group accounts. 

8.1.96  The council has an interest in a company called Hereford Futures, whose role is 
to facilitate development and regeneration within Hereford. This is a company 
limited by guarantee and the council is a member. However, this relationship 
does not require group accounts as the company provides an independent role 
in the redevelopment. Contracts with third parties are entered into by the 
council and the financial transactions relating to these are included in the 
council’s accounts. This company will be wound down in 2014/15. 

8.1.97 West Mercia Energy (WME) operates as a joint arrangement with 
Herefordshire, Shropshire, Worcestershire and Telford and Wrekin 
councils. The financial advantage of bulk purchasing arrangements is reflected 
in the Income and Expenditure Account. The council’s share is not considered 
material to the accounts. At 19.8%, based on the estimated proportion of the 
surplus attributable to the council, the council’s share of WME net liabilities of 
£1.4 million amounted to £276,000 at 31 March 2014. 

8.1.98 The council holds 74.7% shareholding in Hoople Ltd, which increased from 
62% in the previous year after the demise of the PCT.  This is a joint venture 
which the council entered into with Wye Valley NHS Trust and Herefordshire 
Primary Care Trust in 2011.  The purpose of the joint venture was to increase 
efficiency and reduce back office costs for all partners.  However, the balance 
sheet value of Hoople Ltd at 31 March 2014 was insignificant to justify the 
preparation of group accounts.  

8.1.99  On 1 April 2013 Public Health staff and services were transferred from Primary 
Care Trusts (PCTs) to local authorities. With the transfer brought a number of 
commissioning responsibilities for the Council, together with overall 
responsibility for improving health at local level. The national Public Health 
Outcomes Framework has been developed, which sets out key outcomes of 
interest for partners in improving health including some mandatory services 
including:- the National Child Measurement Programme; NHS health check 
assessments; comprehensive sexual health services (including testing and 
treatment for sexually transmitted infections, contraception outside of the GP 
contract and sexual health promotion and disease prevention) and drug and 
alcohol intervention. 

To discharge the new public health responsibilities, the Council was provided 
with a ring-fenced public health grant. A new ‘Public Health’ line has been 
included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and this 
has been credited with this income. Public Health expenditure has also been 
charged to this line.  

Under the new arrangements for Public Health, staff performing Public Health 
functions who were compulsorily transferred from the PCTs to local authorities 
and who had access to the NHS Pension Scheme on 31 March 2013 retained 
access to that scheme on transfer at 1 April 2013. Further details regarding this 
can be found in Note 8.42. 

No material assets or liabilities were transferred.

112



39

8.2.  Accounting standards that have been issued but have not 
yet been adopted  

8.2.1 Authorities are required to disclose the impact of an accounting change that will 
be required by a new standard that has been issued but not yet adopted in the 
CIPFA Accounting Code of Practice for the relevant financial year. 

8.2.2 For 2013/14 these are; 

  IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements (May 2011), 
  IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements (May 2011), 
  IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (May 2011), 
  IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement (May 2011) 
  IAS1 Presentation of Financial Statements (as amended in May 2011). This 

is a presentational issue only. 
  IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements (as amended May 2011). This outlines 

the accounting and disclosure requirements for 'separate financial 
statements', which are financial statements prepared by a parent, or an 
investor in a joint venture or associate. This is not applicable to Herefordshire 
Council’s accounts. 

  IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (as amended in May 
2011). This sets out how to account for investments in associates and joint 
ventures. This is not applicable to Herefordshire Council’s accounts. 

      IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation – Offsetting Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities (as amended in December 2011). This standard outlines 
the accounting requirements for the presentation of financial instruments, 
particularly as to the classification of such instruments into financial assets, 
financial liabilities and equity instruments. 

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 
8.2.3 This standard introduces a new control test for consolidating accounts. An 

investor is deemed to have control over an investee when it has; 
  Power over the investee 
  Exposure or rights to variable returns 
  Ability to use the power to affect the amounts of investor’s returns 

8.2.4     It is not anticipated that this will impact on Herefordshire Council’s accounts. 

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements    
8.2.5   Under this standard joint arrangements are now classified into 2 models, joint 

ventures and joint operations. The focus is no longer on the legal structure but 
on how rights and obligations are shared by parties to the arrangements.  

8.2.6     It is not anticipated that this will impact on Herefordshire Council’s accounts. 

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 
8.2.7 This is a new standard aimed at improving the disclosure of interests in other 

entities. The objective is to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate: 

  The nature of, and risks associated with, its interests in other entities; and 
  The effects of those interests on its financial position, financial performance 

and cash flows. 

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement 

113



40

8.2.8 Fair value is deemed to be the price that would be received to sell an asset or 
paid to transfer a liability between market participants. Property, plant and 
equipment (PPE) assets are to be measured at ‘highest and best use’. For 
operational assets needed to provide services directly to the public the 
measurement should be based on existing use value. Assets not subject to 
service or other constraints should be measured at fair values under IFRS 13. 

8.2.9 Under this standard some assets are likely to require re-measurement. 

8.3  Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies  

8.3.1 In applying the accounting policies set out in note 8.1, the Authority has had to 
make certain judgements about complex transactions or those involving 
uncertainty about future events.  

8.3.2 The critical judgements made in the Statement of Accounts are: 

  The council is deemed to control the services provided by Shaw 
Healthcare under the contract for the development and provision of 
residential homes and day care centres. The accounting policies for 
PFI schemes and similar contracts have been applied to the 
arrangement. 

  The council has relationships with a number of companies as detailed 
in note 8.1 but it has been determined that there is no requirement for 
group accounts. 

8.4  Assumptions Made About the Future and Other Major 
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 

8.4.1 The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on 
assumptions made by the Authority about the future or that are otherwise 
uncertain. Estimates are made taking into account historical experience, current 
trends and other relevant factors. However, because balances cannot be 
determined with certainty, actual results could be materially different from the 
assumptions and estimates. 

8.4.2 There is a significant risk of material adjustment in the forthcoming financial 
year for the following items in the council’s Balance Sheet at 31 March 2014: 

Item Uncertainties Effect if actual results differ from 
assumptions

Pensions liability Estimation of the net liability to pay 
pensions depends on a number of 
complex judgements relating to the 
discount rate used, the rate at which 
salaries are projected to increase, 
changes in retirement ages, mortality 
rates and expected returns on 
pension fund assets. The pension 
fund actuary Mercer Ltd is employed 
by the pension fund to provide expert 
advice about the assumptions to be 
applied. 

Changes in any of the assumptions 
can have a significant effect on the 
pensions liability shown in the 
accounts.

An increase in the discount rate of 
0.1% would decrease the liability 
by £7.6m, an increase of 0.1% 
inflation would be an additional 
£7.7m and 1 year increase in life 
expectancy would represent 
£8.2m.

114



41

Property, plant, 
equipment and 
investment 
properties

Full valuation involving an inspection 
is carried out every 5 years. An 
impairment and valuation review is 
carried out as a desk exercise for 
properties not valued in the year. 

There is a risk of an adjustment in 
the year when the property is 
revalued. 

An assessment of the risk was 
carried out in 2013/14 based on the 
movement in property indices over 
the last 5 years. This quantified the 
potential risk to be around £2.5m. 

8.5   Material Items of Income and Expense  

8.5.1 There were no material item of income and expense in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Account for 2013/14. 

8.6.  Events after the Balance Sheet Date 

8.6.1 The Statement of Accounts was authorised for issue on 27th June 2014 by the 
Chief Financial Officer. Events taking place after this date are not reflected in 
the financial statements or notes.  

8.6.2 Many schools in Herefordshire have become Academies.  It is council policy to 
remove the associated fixed assets from the Balance Sheet on the date that the 
assets are legally transferred. In 2013/14 £2.65 million was removed from the 
Balance Sheet due to schools converting to Academy status.  In 2014/15 fixed 
assets will fall by at least a further £2.58 million as Fairfield High School 
became an academy after the year end. 

8.6.3 In May 2014 the council entered a waste PFI contract variation for the building 
of an energy from waste plant. The future years unitary payments commitments 
have been updated to reflect the effect of this contract variation. 

8.7  Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding 
Basis under Regulations 

8.7.1 This note details the adjustments that are made to the total comprehensive 
income and expenditure recognised by the Authority in the year in accordance 
with proper accounting practice to the resources that are specified by statutory 
provisions as being available to the Authority to meet future capital and revenue 
expenditure. 

2013/14 
Usable Reserves 

General
Fund

Balance

Capital 
Receipts
Reserve 

Capital 
Grants

Unapplied 

Unusable
reserves 

£000 £000 £000 £000
Adjustments involving the Capital 
Adjustment Account: 
Reversal of items debited or credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement:
Charges for depreciation on non-current 
assets

(13,801)  13,801

115



42

Revaluation losses and impairment on 
Property, Plant and Equipment 

(4,486)  4,486

Movements in the market value of 
investment properties 

(388)  388

Amortisation of intangible assets (2,204)  2,204

Capital grants and contributions 16,445  (16,445)

Revenue expenditure funded from capital 
under statute 

(1,927)  1,927

Amounts of non current assets written off 
on disposal or sale as part of the gain/loss 
on disposal to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement 

(10,772)  10,772

Insertion of items not debited or credited to 
the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement: 

Statutory provision for the financing of 
capital investment 

10,748  (10,748)

Capital expenditure charged against the 
General Fund balance 

503  (503)

Adjustments primarily involving the 
Capital Grants Unapplied Account: 
Capital grants and contributions unapplied 
credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement 

476 (476) 

Application of grants to capital financing 
transferred to the Capital Adjustment 
Account

7,641 (7,641)

Adjustments involving the Capital 
Receipts Reserve: 

Transfer of sale proceeds credited as part 
of the gain/loss on disposal to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement

5,280 (5,280)   

Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to 
finance new capital expenditure 

1,979  (1,979)

Contribution from the Capital Receipts 
Reserve to finance the payments to the 
Government capital receipts pool. 

(1) 1  

Transfer from Deferred Capital Receipts 
Reserve upon receipt of cash 

 (2)  2

Adjustments involving the Financial 
Instruments Adjustment Account: 

Amount by which finance costs charged to 
the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement are different from 
finance costs chargeable in the year in 
accordance with statutory requirements 

(4)   4

Adjustments involving the Pensions 
Reserve: 

Reversal of items relating to retirement 
benefits debited or credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

(16,627)   16,627

116



43

Statement (see Note 8.43) 

Employer’s pensions contributions and 
direct payments to pensioners payable in 
the year 

9,841   (9,841)

Adjustments involving the Collection 
Fund Adjustment Account: 

Amount by which council tax and non-
domestic rates income credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement is different from income 
calculated for the year in accordance with 
statutory requirements 

(558)  558

Adjustment involving the Accumulated 
Absences Account 

Amount by which officer remuneration 
charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement on an accruals 
basis is different from remuneration 
chargeable in the year in accordance with 
statutory requirements 

909  (909)

Total Adjustments (6,566) (3,302) 7,165 2,703

117



44

2012/13 Comparative Figures (restated) 
 Usable Reserves  
 General 

Fund 
Balance

Capital
Receipts
Reserve

Capital
Grants

Unapplied

Unusable 
reserves

 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Adjustments involving the Capital 
Adjustment Account: 

    

Reversal of items debited or credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement:

    

Charges for depreciation on non-current 
assets

(12,981)   12,981

Revaluation losses and impairment on 
Property, Plant and Equipment 

(9,029)   9,029

Movements in the market value of 
investment properties 

6,479   (6,479)

Amortisation of intangible assets (1,695)   1,695
Capital grants and contributions        15,909   (15,909)
Revenue expenditure funded from capital 
under statute 

(236)   236

Amounts of non current assets written off 
on disposal or sale as part of the gain/loss 
on disposal to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement 

(22,651)   22,651

Insertion of items not debited or credited to 
the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement: 

   

Statutory provision for the financing of 
capital investment 

10,812   (10,812)

Capital expenditure charged against the 
General Fund balance 

   294    (294)

Adjustments primarily involving the 
Capital Grants Unapplied Account:
Capital grants and contributions unapplied 
credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement 

1,588  (1,588) 

Application of grants to capital financing 
transferred to the Capital Adjustment 
Account

  3,752 (3,752)

     
Adjustments involving the Capital 
Receipts Reserve:

    

Transfer of sale proceeds credited as part 
of the gain/loss on disposal to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement

2,820 (2,820)  

Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to 
finance new capital expenditure 

2,898  (2,898)

Contribution from the Capital Receipts 
Reserve towards administrative costs of 
non current asset disposals 
Contribution from the Capital Receipts 
Reserve to finance the payments to the 
Government capital receipts pool. 

(4) 4  

Recognition of new deferred capital   
receipts
Transfer from Deferred Capital Receipts 
Reserve upon receipt of cash 

(6)  6 

118



45

Adjustments involving the Financial 
Instruments Adjustment Account:
Amount by which finance costs charged to 
the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement are different from 
finance costs chargeable in the year in 
accordance with statutory requirements 

18  (18)

Adjustments involving the Pensions 
Reserve:
Reversal of items relating to retirement 
benefits debited or credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement (see Note 8.43) 

(13,563)  13,563

Employer’s pensions contributions and 
direct payments to pensioners payable in 
the year 

9,826  (9,826)

Adjustments involving the Collection 
Fund Adjustment Account:

Amount by which council tax income 
credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement is different from 
council tax income calculated for the year 
in accordance with statutory requirements 

(373) 373

Adjustment involving the Accumulated 
Absences Account 
Amount by which officer remuneration 
charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement on an accruals 
basis is different from remuneration 
chargeable in the year in accordance with 
statutory requirements 

100 (100)

Total Adjustments (12,686) 76 2,164 10,446

119



46

8.8 Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserves 

8.8.1 This note sets out the amounts set aside from the General Fund balances in 
earmarked reserves to provide financing for future expenditure plans and the 
amounts posted back from earmarked reserves to the General Fund in 2013/14 

31 Mar 
2013

Transfer
out

2013/14
Transfer

(in) 2013/14
31 Mar 
2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

School balances (5,535) 847 (1,657) (6,345)

Industrial Estates  (431) 81  (350)

Schools Insurance (497) 77  (420)

Schools sickness (141) (25) (166)

Waste Disposal (2,407)  (2,407)

Contingent liabilities (306)  (306)

Hereford Futures (213) (23) (236)

Whitecross school PFI (339) (35) (374)

Economic Development (127)  (127)

Three Elms Ind. Estate (241) (123) (364)

Community Equipment  (110)  (110)

Community Social Care (116)  (116)

Change management (142) 142  0

Insurance 0 (105) (105)

Risk mitigation 0 (3,500) (3,500)

Business Rate smoothing 0 (1,000) (1,000)

Land charges 0 (600) (600)

Safeguarding 0 (417) (417)

ICT 0 (387) (387)

Library services 0 (260) (260)

Herefordshire Local Plan 0 (170) (170)

HR 0 (146) (146)

Special Educational Needs 0 (75) (75)

Section 256 0 (55) (55)

Other small reserves (60) 10 (75) (125)

Unused grants carried forward (3,303) 1,883 (4,362) (5,782)

(13,968) 3,040 (13,015) (23,943)

120



47

8.9  Other Operating Expenditure 

2013/14 
£000

2012/13
£000

Parish council precepts 2,788 2,697
Levies 195    189
Payments to the Government Housing Capital Receipts Pool 1         4
(Gains)/losses on the disposal of non-current assets 6,038    19,872

Total 9,022 22,762

8.10  Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 

2013/14 
     £000 

Restated
2012/13
     £000

Interest payable and similar charges 7,844      7,768
Pensions net interest and admin charge 7,916      17,759
Pension Return on Assets 0 (10,126)
Interest receivable  (332) (283)
Income and expenditure in relation to trading 
accounts/investment properties and changes in their fair value (1,242)      (8,060)
(Gains)/losses on the disposal of investment properties (547) 0
Other investment income (384)    (1,157)

Total 13,255  5,901  

The 2012/13 figures have been adjusted for the change in accounting for pensions. 

8.11  Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income 

   2013/14 
        £000

2012/13
£000

Council tax income (81,825) (89,068)
Non domestic rates (27,639) (55,539)
Non-ringfenced government grants (47,847) (5,887)
Capital grants and contributions (16,921) (17,520)

Total (174,232) (168,014)

121



48

8.12  Property, Plant and Equipment  

8.12.1   Movements on Balances 

Movements in 2013/14: 
Land & 

buildings
Vehicles,

plant,
furniture

&equip

Infra
structure

assets

Commu
nity

assets

Surplus
assets

Assets 
under

construct
ion

Total PPE PFI 
assets
incl. in 

PPE
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or Valuation 
        

At 1 April 2013 244,530 20,841 182,541 1,600 3,998 14,785 468,295 10,527

Additions 13,986 611 11,580 232 0 12,703 39,112 160

Revaluation 
increases/(decreases)
recognised in the 
Revaluation Reserve 

9,314 0 0 0 0 0 9,314 0

Revaluation 
increases/(decreases)
recognised in the 
Surplus/Deficit on the 
Provision of Services 

(4,432) 0 0 0 0 (55) (4,487) 0

Adjustment to write 
back depreciation on 
revalued assets 

(3,711) 0 0 0 0 0 (3,711) 0

Disposals (3,864) (841) 0 0 (3,505) 0 (8,210) (61)

To held for sale (132) 0 0 0 0 0 (132) 0

Other reclassifications 4,228 - 4,193 69 3,719 (12,209) 0 0

At 31 March 2014 259,919 20,611 198,314 1,901 4,212 15,224 500,181 10,626

Accumulated 
Depreciation and 
Impairment

   

At 1 April 2013 (16,419) (13,636) (34,176) 0 0 0 (64,231) (2,600)

Depreciation on cost 
(net of any 
impairments)

(4,480) (2,609) (5,334) 0 0 0 (12,423) (338)

Depreciation on 
revalued amount in 
excess of cost 

(1,379) 0 0 0 0 0 (1,379) 0

Depreciation written 
back on revalued 
assets

3,711 0 0 0 0 0 3,711 0

Disposals 19 396 0 0 0 0 415 0

At 31 March 2014 (18,548) (15,849) (39,510) 0 0 0 (73,907) (2,938)

Net Book Value    

At 31 March 2014 241,371 4,762 158,804 1,901 4,212 15,224 426,274 7,688

At 31 March 2013 228,111 7,205 148,365 1,600 3,998 14,785 404,064 7,927

122



49

Comparative Movements in 2012/13: 
Land & 
buildings

Vehicles,
plant,
furniture
&equip

Infra
structure
assets

Commu
nity
assets

Surplus
assets

Assets 
under
construct
ion

Total PPE PFI 
assets
incl. in 
PPE

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or Valuation 
        

At 1 April 2012 260,351 21,288 170,582 901 2,989 2,953 459,064 28,663

Additions 8,000 2,179 11,944 699 1,343 11,879 36,044 13

Revaluation 
increases/(decreases)
recognised in the 
Revaluation Reserve 

8,366 0 0 0 (331) 0 8,035 0

Revaluation 
increases/(decreases)
recognised in the 
Surplus/Deficit on the 
Provision of Services 

(8,396) 0 0 0 (511) 0 (8,907) 0

Adjustment to write 
back depreciation on 
revalued assets 

(2,115) 0 0 0 (3) 0 (2,118) 0

Disposals (20,054) (2,626) 0 0 (135) 0 (22,815) (18,149)

Assets reclassified as 
Held for Sale 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Reclassifications
from/(to) Investment 
Properties

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other reclassifications (1,622) 0 15 0 646 (47) (1,008) 0

At 31 March 2013 244,530 20,841 182,541 1,600 3,998 14,785 468,295 10,527

Accumulated 
Depreciation and 
Impairment

   

At 1 April 2012 (14,353) (12,899) (28,851) 0 (3) 0 (56,106) (4,641)

Depreciation on cost 
(net of any 
impairments)

(4,648) (2,268) (5,325) 0 0 0 (12,241) (327)

Depreciation on 
revalued amount in 
excess of cost 

(740) 0 0 0 0 0 (740) (11)

Depreciation written 
back on revalued 
assets

2,115 0 0 0 3 0 2,118 0

Disposals 1,207 1,531 0 0 0 0 2,738 2,379

At 31 March 2013 (16,419) (13,636) (34,176) 0 0 0 (64,231) (2,600)

Net Book Value    

At 31 March 2013 228,111 7,205 148,365 1,600 3,998 14,785 404,064 7,927

At 31 March 2012 245,998 8,389 141,731 901 2,986 2,953 402,958 24,022

123



50

8.12.2 Depreciation 
Depreciation is provided on a straight line basis over an asset’s economic 
useful life.  Lives have been estimated as follows: 

  Buildings – estimated useful life up to 100 years 

  Vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment – 5 years 

  Infrastructure – 15 to 50 years 

8.12.3 Analysis of Capital Charges to Directorates 
 Capital charges included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement relating to tangible fixed assets are analysed by directorate below: 

Directorate Depreciation Impairments Total for 
2013/14

£000 £000 £000

Adults Well-being 591 55 646
Children’s Well-being 6,295 997 7,292
Economy, Communities and 
Corporate 6,690 3,434 10,124

Chief Executive and 
Organisational Development 225 0 225

Total 13,801 4,486 18,287

8.12.4  Capital Commitments 
At 31 March 2014 the council has entered into a number of contracts for the 
construction or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment in 2014/15 and 
future years budgets. Major commitments totalled £7.3 million in relation to the 
Leominster Primary School and Corporate Accommodation programme. 

8.12.5  Revaluations
 The council carries out a rolling programme that ensures all Property, Plant and 

Equipment required to be measured at fair value is revalued at least every five 
years.  More frequent valuations are carried out if the rolling programme is 
insufficient to keep pace with material changes in value.  This year an external 
company, Hub Professional Services Ltd, carried out the majority of the 
valuations with only the lower value assets (less than £5,000) being reviewed 
by the in-house valuation team.  Valuations of land and buildings were carried 
out in accordance with the methodologies and bases for estimation set out in 
the professional standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. 
Valuations of vehicle, plant and equipment is based on depreciated costs as a 
proxy for fair value. 

8.12.6 Schools 

Where a school is under the Council’s control (i.e. under the responsibility of 
the  Council’s Section 151 Officer) its income, expenditure, current assets, 
liabilities and reserves are consolidated into the Council’s accounts and  
included within the figures disclosed in the Statement of Accounts. Any 
reserves attributable to the school are earmarked and disclosed separately. As 
a result Community schools, Voluntary Aided schools, Voluntary Controlled 

124



51

schools and Foundation schools are all consolidated into the Council’s 
accounts. However, once a school transfers to Academy status it is no longer 
under the control of the Council and, therefore, its income, expenditure, assets, 
liabilities and reserves are no longer consolidated into the Council’s accounts.  

In respect of any Plant, Property and Equipment associated with schools the 
Council has determined that Community schools and Voluntary Controlled 
schools should be on balance sheet but that Voluntary Aided school buildings 
(excluding playing fields), Foundation schools and Academy schools should 
not. Voluntary Aided schools long term assets are not included as ownership 
and control of the assets lies with the school.  

The fair value of schools is estimated using a Depreciated Replacement Cost 
approach i.e. the valuation comprises the market value of the land in its existing 
use plus the current replacement cost of the buildings less an allowance for 
physical deterioration. 

 Whether or not the value of a school is included in the balance sheet depends 
upon the type of school.  The different types of school and their accounting 
treatment is summarised below. 

Type of School (excluding Pupil Referral Units) 

Number
of

Schools 

Net
Book
Value

31/3/14
£’000

Community  
Schools owned and controlled by the council. 
Land and buildings recognised in the Balance Sheet. 

34 105,102

Voluntary – Controlled 
Land and buildings owned by a foundation or trust 
(usually a Christian group) but all costs met by central 
government.  Similar to a community school in the 
degree of control exercised by the council. 
In order to accurately reflect the assets that the council 
controls and maintains (and which the council has a duty 
to provide) the land and buildings are included in the 
Balance Sheet.  This is interpreted as being in 
accordance with FRS5 (substance over legal form). 

12 11,501

Voluntary – Aided 
Ownership as above except with the difference that the 
schools are not fully funded by the government (with the 
school meeting part of the cost of capital works) and 
have more autonomy. 
Only the value of playing fields is included in the Balance 
Sheet, where these are required to be provided by the 
council.

22 1,114

Foundation Schools 
Land and buildings legally transferred to the school. 
Because a foundation school has more freedom than a 
community school in how it is managed the school 
assets are written out of the balance Sheet.

2 0

Academies 26 0

125



52

As foundation schools above. 

Total 96 117,717

 The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 
2014/15 includes an updated Appendix which outlines that all assets of local 
authority maintained schools (all schools excluding academies) are under the 
control of the local authority (unless it can specifically proved otherwise) and 
therefore all income, expenditure, assets, liabilities and reserves should be 
consolidated into the local authorities accounts.  It is expected that this will 
materially increase the value of the Plant, Property and Equipment in the 
2014/15 accounts.

8.13 Heritage Assets 

8.13.1 The carrying value of heritage assets shown in the Balance Sheet is calculated 
as follows: 

2013/14
£000

2012/13 
£000

Balance at start of the year 2,805 2,820 
Additions:
Reclassification  0 (15) 
Balance at end of the year 2,805 2,805 

126



53

8.13.2 The council’s heritage assets consist of the museum, archive and local studies 
holdings, together with some individual items held by other departments. 

8.13.3 Heritage assets that have not been included in the new category include items 
such as sculptures and war memorials in the county.  These items have been 
excluded on the basis that identification and valuation of these items is 
considered impractical and the additional work involved would not be 
commensurate with the benefit to the user of the accounts.  In addition, 
ownership of assets such as war memorials is often difficult to establish without 
detailed research. 

8.13.4 The heritage assets held by the council were professionally valued in May 2012 
by James Glennie of Art and Antiques Appraisals Ltd (James Glennie has 30 
years valuing and auctioneering experience and worked for the international 
auction house Bonhams for 14 years). 

 Summary of Collections 

 The valuation of the heritage assets can be analysed as follows:  

£000

Paintings and prints 1,383 

Ceramics and glass  170 

Furniture 144 

Costumes and textiles 65 

Arms, armour, firearms, weapons etc 42 

Archaeology 171 

Natural history and sciences 81 

Documents, photographs and archives 218 

Clocks, watches, scientific instruments and cameras 67 

Sculpture 38 

Silver, jewellery, coins, medals, tokens etc 61 

Transport and carriages 52 

Social history 36 

Hereford Public Library reference section 277 

Total 2,805 

8.13.5 Excluding archives and items held by local studies, the museum itself holds an 
estimated 120,000 objects. 

127



54

8.13.6 As can be seen from the above, nearly half of the valuation of the exhibits 
relates to paintings and prints which comprise more than 3,500 works of art.  
The Fine Art collection features a significant number of early English 
watercolours, mainly landscapes, dating from the 18th to mid 19th centuries.  It 
has a rich selection of work by artists with local connections, such as the work 
of First World War artist Brian Hatton. 

8.13.7 The Costume and Textile collection is of national importance with items from 
the 17th century to the present day. 

8.13.8 Amongst the Natural History collection the geology, herbarium and parts of the 
invertebrate collections are the most important.  There are good local 
entomological specimens and a local collection of vertebrates including a fine 
sturgeon caught in the River Wye in the mid 19th century (valued today at 
£20,000). 

8.13.9 The Archaeological collections are primarily of Herefordshire origin and are 
particularly strong in the Iron Age and Roman periods from the county. Stone 
Age material from King Arthur’s Cave is of national significance, and there are 
some fine groups of prehistoric flint and stone tools in the collections.   

8.13.10 The Social History collection is large and diverse, including local crafts, trades, 
agricultural implements, wheeled vehicles and numerous domestic artefacts.  
The collection is largely of 19th- 20th century date, but there is some 17th and 
18th century material including an important group of ironwork.  A collection of 
photographic equipment and items belonging to Alfred Watkins, a Victorian 
antiquarian, inventor and author of the Ley Line theory, is of local and national 
relevance. 

8.13.11 The collection of photographs is an important resource for local imagery and 
past trades and date from the mid-19th century to the present day.  

8.13.12 The collection of currency is greatest in the area of Roman coinage, with two 
large hoards and coins from the Roman town of Magna at Kenchester.  Arms 
and armour includes some fine Medieval and Civil War pieces including the 
famous Roaring Meg Mortar and its associated shell from the siege of Goodrich 
Castle.

Preservation and Management 

8.13.13 One of the main purposes of Herefordshire Museum Services is to collect and 
preserve in perpetuity, objects that celebrate and enhance the lives and 
environment of the people of Herefordshire and to provide access for everyone 
to this exciting resource. 

8.13.14 The museum service has been accredited by the Arts Council.  Registration 
under the Arts Council Museums Accreditation Scheme indicates that the 
museum has achieved a nationally approved standard in management, 
collection care and delivery of information and visitor services. 

8.13.15 The central storage facility for the county’s museum collections is the Museum 
Resource and Learning Centre.  This is a modern purpose-built state of the art 
facility where the climate controlled stores provide the optimum temperature 
and humidity to keep the objects in good condition. 

128



55

8.13.16 By definition the museum has a long-term purpose and there is a strong 
presumption against the disposal of items, except for sound curatorial reasons 
such as deterioration or damage. 

8.13.17 The collection is increased by both passive collection (through objects offered 
by members of the public and occasionally institutions, including via the 
Treasure Act 1996) and active collection.  Items will only be considered for 
collection if: 

o The object has been legally acquired and the donor has proper title;
o It fills a gap in the existing collection;
o It represents a category of artefact where it is important to have all 

surviving examples retained for posterity, or
o It is a complete, or more complete, example of an object already 

represented in the collection. 
All members of the Collections Team are consulted over potential acquisitions 
in all collecting areas and a consensus reached. 

Access to the Collection 

8.13.18 Herefordshire Museum Services operates five sites across the county together 
with an award winning mobile museum service, Museum on the Move.  Three 
sites are in Hereford – these are the Hereford Museum and Art Gallery, the Old 
House and the Museum Resource and Learning Centre.  The other two centres 
are the Market House Visitor Centre in Ross-on-Wye and Ledbury Heritage 
Centre.  Admission to museums, galleries and heritage centres is generally free 
of charge. 

8.13.19 Museum on the Move is a fully accessible bus run by Herefordshire Museum 
Services in partnership with Staffordshire Council’s Museum Service.  Museum 
on the Move exists to provide access to the collection for different communities 
in the county, such as day care centres, village fetes and after-school clubs. 

8.13.20 The centres in Ross-on-Wye and Ledbury provide insights into the past of these 
historic towns and also host a wide range of frequently changing community 
exhibitions, in addition to open days and other activities. 

8.13.21 The Old House is a well preserved 17th century timber-framed building situated 
in the commercial centre of Hereford.  It has been a museum since 1929 and is 
furnished in Jacobean style.  For those unable to climb the stairs a virtual tour is 
available on the fully accessible ground floor. 

8.13.22 Hereford Museum and Art Gallery has been exhibiting artefacts and works of 
art connected with the local area since 1874.  The Art Gallery is host to 
changing exhibitions and changeovers happen approximately every eight 
weeks.

8.13.23 As noted above, the Museum Resource and Learning Centre is the central 
storage facility for the county’s museum collections.  The Centre needs to 
balance preservation with public access.  Access to the collections is provided 
by:

o Rotating items on show at the Hereford Museum and Art Gallery; 
o Holding open days twice a month to enable the public to meet the 

curators and receive advice on their own items or to tour the facility; 
o Allowing access at other times, for longer periods of research or for 

group visits to see behind the scenes, by appointment; 
o Running regular family friendly events, workshops and lectures; 

129



56

o Exceptionally, by loaning items to other museums or groups. 

8.14 Investment Properties 

8.14.1 The following items of income and expense have been accounted for in the 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. It comprises the trading areas of markets, 
industrial estates and retail. The direct operating expenses exclude recharged 
support services, capital charges and changes in the fair value of the assets. 

2013/14
£000

2012/13
£000

Rental income from investment property (2,713) (2,107)
Direct operating expenses arising from investment property 673         647
Net gain (2,040) (1,460)

8.14.2 The following table summarises the movement in the fair value of investment 
properties over the year: 

2013/14 
£000

2012/13 
£000

Balance at start of the year 32,966 26,954

Additions:
Enhancement expenditure 93 223

Disposals (2,426) (1,713)

Net gains/(losses) from fair value adjustments (388) 6,479

Transfers to Property, Plant and Equipment 0 1,023

Balance at end of the year 30,245 32,966

8.15  Intangible Assets 

8.15.1  The council accounts for its software as intangible assets. Software is 
amortised over three to five years in equal annual instalments.  Most of the 
amortisation was charged to the IT administration centre and then absorbed as 
an overhead across all services in the Net Expenditure of Services.  It is not 
possible to quantify exactly how much of the amortisation is attributable to each 
service heading. 

130



57

8.15.2 The movement on Intangible Asset balances during the year is as follows: 

2013/14 2012/13
Software

£000
Software

£000
Balance at start of year: 
Gross carrying amounts 11,789 11,228 
Accumulated amortisation (7,056)       (5,361) 
Net carrying amount at start of year 4,733 5,867 

Additions: 389 563 

Amortisation for the period (2,204) (1,695) 

Disposals 0 (2) 

Net carrying amount at end of year 2,918 4,733 

Comprising:
Gross carrying amounts 12,178 11,789 
Accumulated amortisation (9,260) (7,056) 

2,918 4,733 

8.16  Financial Instruments 

8.16.1 Financial instruments are contracts that give rise to a financial asset of one entity 
and a financial liability (or equity instrument) of another entity.  Amounts relating 
to statutory debts, such as council tax, non-domestic rates, general rates etc, are 
not classed as financial instruments as they do not arise from contracts.  Also 
excluded from the above analysis are accounting adjustments relating to 
accruals and payments in advance. 

8.16.2  Categories of Financial Instruments 
The following categories of financial instrument are carried in the Balance 
Sheet.

8.16.3 Financial Assets 
All the financial assets in the balance sheet which are financial instruments are 
classed as loans and receivables.  

2013/14  2012/13 
Per

Balance
Sheet

Financial 
Instruments

Per
Balance

Sheet

Financial 
Instruments

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Long-term investments 
Treasury stock etc 4 4 4 4

Long-term debtors 
Loans 1,296 1,296 1,225 1,225
PFI lifecycle costs 1,511 - 1,281 -

2,807 1,296 2,506 1,225

131



58

Investments
Short-term investments 17,564 17,564 8,541 8,541
Cash and cash equivalents 8,412 8,412 2,420 2,420

25,976 25,976 10,961 10,961

Short-term debtors 
Sales invoices and contractual 
rights 18,829 18,829 20,636 20,636

Statutory debts (council tax, 
VAT etc) 8,983 - 7,837 -

Prepayments 2,417 - 6,061 -
Bad debt provisions (1,733) - (1,689) -

28,496 18,829 32,845 20,636

8.16.4 Financial Liabilities 
All the financial liabilities in the Balance Sheet which are financial instruments 
are classed as financial liabilities at amortised cost.  

2013/14  2012/13 
Per

Balance
Sheet

Financial 
Instruments

Per
Balance

Sheet

Financial 
Instruments

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Cash and cash equivalents
(unpresented items) 3,174 3,174 1,652 1,652

Short-term borrowing: 

Bank loans 12,611 12,611 12,615 12,615
Public Works Loan Board 4,927 4,927 5,099 5,099
Borrowing from other local 
authorities 31,541 31,541 16,011 16,011

Other loans (Salix loan) 149 149 130 130
49,228 49,228 33,855 33,855

Short-term creditors 
Invoiced amounts and other 
contractual liabilities 17,578 17,578 22,373 22,373

Obligations under finance 
leases - - 1 1

Statutory liabilities (PAYE etc) 3,598 - 3,893 -
Accruals and receipts in 
advance 5,077 - 5,939 -

Funds and deposits held 164 - 227 -
26,417 17,578 32,433 22,374

132



59

Long-term borrowing 
Public Works Loan Board 120,523 120,523 124,535 124,535
Other loans (Salix loan) 237 237 322 322

120,760 120,760 124,857 124,857

Other long-term liabilities 
PFI liabilities and finance 
leases 27,306 27,306 28,238 28,238

Pensions liability 160,431 - 188,502 -
187,737 27,306 216,740 28,238

18.16.5 Income, Expense, Gains and Losses 
The following amounts, relating to financial instruments, are included in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement: 

2013/14 2012/13 
Financial 

Liabilities 
at

amortised
cost

Financial 
assets:

Loans and 
receivables

Total Financial 
Liabilities 

at
amortised

cost

Financial 
assets:

Loans and 
receivables

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Interest payable and similar 
charges: 
Interest expense relating 
to:
 Loans 5,406 0 5,406 5,366 0 5,366
 PFI liabilities 2,125 0 2,125 2,185 0 2,185
 Finance leases 33 0 33 39 0 39
Brokers commission 11 0 11 5 0 5
Impairment losses (bad 
debts)

0 269 269 0 173 173

Total expense in Surplus 
or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services 

7,575 269 7,844 7,595 173 7,768

Interest receivable:  
On investments 0 (332) (332) 0 (283) (283)
Total income in Surplus 
or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services

0 (332) (332) 0 (283) (283)

Net loss/(gain) for the 
year 

7,575 (63) 7,512 7,595 (110) 7,485

8.16.6 Fair Values of Assets and Liabilities
 Financial liabilities and financial assets represented by loans and receivables 

and long-term debtors and creditors are carried in the Balance Sheet at 
amortised cost. Their fair value can be assessed by calculating the present 

133



60

value of the cash flows that will take place over the remaining term of the 
instruments, using the following assumptions:  

  The fair values of PWLB loans have been calculated based on 
premature repayment rates at the year end. 

  The fair values of the bank loans have been assessed using the 
market cost of equivalent loans with the same remaining periods to 
maturity. 

  No early repayment or impairment is recognised. 

  Where an instrument will mature in the next 12 months, the carrying 
amount is assumed to approximate to fair value. 

  The fair value of trade and other receivables is taken to be the invoiced 
or billed amount. 

 The fair value of the council’s borrowing (which is carried at amortised cost in 
the Balance Sheet) is as follows: 

31 March 2014 31 March 2013 
Carrying 
amount 

Fair value Carrying 
amount 

Fair value 

£000 £000 £000 £000
    Total borrowing 169,988 190,959 158,712    191,601 

 The fair value is higher than the carrying amount because the council’s portfolio 
of longer-term loans are all fixed rate and the interest rates payable on these 
loans are generally higher than the relatively low rates prevailing at the Balance 
Sheet date.  Therefore the fair value includes a premium that the council would 
have to pay if the lender agreed to early repayment of the loans.  None of the 
council’s investments are for a period exceeding 364 days and so the fair value 
of investments will not be significantly different to the carrying amount. 

 The carrying amounts of other long-term financial assets and liabilities in the 
balance sheet include commitments falling due under PFI schemes. The fair 
value of these commitments exceeds the carrying amount and represents the 
additional cost that could fall due if we were to terminated the PFI schemes as 
at the balance sheet date. The total PFI carrying amount is £27 million and the 
fair value as at 31.03.14 totals £42 million. The accounts have not been 
adjusted for this as the PFI schemes are set to continue until expiry. 

8.17  Inventories 
2013/14 

£000
2012/13 

£000
Balance outstanding at start of year 287 342 
Purchases 617 636 
Recognised as an expense in the year (414) (486) 
Written off balances                                                (313) (205) 

Balance outstanding at year-end 177 287 

134



61

8.18   Debtors 
31 March 

2014
£000

31 March 
2013
£000

Central government bodies 10,464 11,603 
Other local authorities 903 439 
NHS bodies 
Public corporations and trading funds 

4,990 
23

4,728 
0

Other entities and individuals 13,849 17,764 
30,229 34,534 

Provision for Bad Debts (1,733) (1,689) 

Total 28,496 32,845 

8.19  Cash and Cash Equivalents 

8.19.1  The balance of cash and cash equivalents is made up of the following 
elements: 

31 March 
2014
£000

31 March 
2013
£000

Cash held by the Authority 2,575 1,448 
Short-term deposits  5,837 972 
 8,412 2,420 
Bank current accounts (3,174) (1,652) 
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 5,238 768 

8.19.2 By transferring funds to and from its investment accounts the council maintains 
a nil cleared balance on its current accounts overnight.  The overdrawn amount 
shown above is wholly due to the inclusion of unpresented bank payments for 
accounting purposes. 

8.20   Assets Held for Sale 

2013/14
£000

2012/13 
£000

Balance outstanding at start of year 3,150 4,132 
Reclassified 0 0 
Assets newly classified as held for sale 132 0 
Revaluation losses 0 (122) 
Assets sold (550) (860) 
Balance outstanding at year-end 2,732 3,150 

All assets held for sale are categorised as current assets 

135



62

8.21  Creditors

31 March 
2014
£000

31 March 
2013
£000

Central government bodies (3,788) (4,022)
Other local authorities (4,152) (3,024)
NHS bodies (1,130) (511)
Other entities and individuals (17,347) (24,876)
Total (26,417) (32,433)

8.22  Provisions 
8.22.1 The movement on provisions from 1st April 2012 to 31st March 2014 is set out 
below;

Long-term Short-term Total
£000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 April 2012 (1,124) (424) (1,548)
Additional provisions made in 2012/13 (540) (1,474) (2,014)
Amounts used in 2012/13 540 224 764
Unused amounts reversed in 2012/13 0 200 200
Balance at 31 March 2013 (1,124) (1,474) (2,598)
Additional provisions made in 2013/14 (463) (1,526) (1,989)
Amounts used in 2013/14 0  905 905
Balance at 31 March 2014 (1,587) (2,095) (3,682)

8.22.2 The provisions held at 31st March 2014 are; 

Provision £000  
Redundancy 1,780 Based on the number of planned 

redundancies and staff identified at risk of 
redundancy at 31st March 2014 plus 
contractual commitments to cover 
redundancies for transferred staff in partner 
organisations 

Insurance 1,258 For potential future insurance claims based 
on external professional assessment 

Data breaches 60 Estimated costs relating to data breach fines 
and claims 

NNDR appeals 584 For future appeals against rating valuations 
which will affect rating income due for 
2013/14 and prior years. This figure is after 
spreading the impact of appeals affecting pre 
April 2013, as allowed by legislation. 

3,682

136



63

8.23 Usable Reserves 

 Movements in the Authority’s usable reserves are summarised in the Movement 
in Reserves Statement and set out in more detail below. 

8.23.1 Earmarked Reserves 
 The movement in earmarked reserves are detailed in Note 8.8.

8.23.2 Capital receipts reserve

31 March 
2014
£000

31 March 
2013
£000

Balance at 1 April (2,693) (2,769)
Received during the year (5,349) (2,872)
Applied during the year 1,979 2,898
Admin costs of sales 67 46
Set aside during the year 1 4
Balance at 31 March (5,995) (2,693)

8.23.3  Capital grants unapplied 

31 March 
2014
£000

31 March 
2013
£000

Balance at 1 April (13,515) (15,679)
Received during the year (476) (1,588)
Applied during the year 7,641 3,752
Balance at 31 March (6,350) (13,515)

8.24  Unusable Reserves 

Summary 

31 March 
2014
£000

31 March 
2013
£000

Revaluation reserve (55,339) (48,942) 
Capital Adjustment Account (194,938) (188,283) 
Financial Instruments Adjustment Account 402 398 
Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve (287) (289) 
Pensions Reserve 160,431 188,502 
Collection Fund Adjustment Account 1,692 1,134 
Accumulated Absences Account 1,729 2,638 
Total unusable reserves (86,310) (44,842) 

8.24.1 Revaluation Reserve 
 The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the Authority arising from 

increases in the value of its Property, Plant and Equipment (and Intangible 
Assets).  The balance is reduced when assets with accumulated gains are: 

  revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost 

   used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through 

137



64

depreciation, or 

  disposed of and the gains are realised. 

The Reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date 
that the Reserve was created.  Accumulated gains arising before that date are 
consolidated into the balance on the Capital Adjustment Account. 

2013/14 
£000

2012/13 
£000

Balance at 1 April (48,942) (42,782) 

(Surplus) or Deficit on revaluation of non-current assets not 
posted to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services 

(9,314) (8,035) 

Difference between fair value depreciation and historical cost 
depreciation 

1,380 718 

Accumulated gains on assets sold or scrapped 1,537 1,157 

Balance at 31 March (55,339) (48,942) 

8.24.2  Capital Adjustment Account 
 The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the 

different arrangements for accounting for the consumption of non-current 
assets and for financing the acquisition, construction or enhancement of those 
assets under statutory provisions.  The Account is debited with the cost of 
acquisition, construction or enhancement as depreciation, impairment losses 
and amortisations are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement (with reconciling postings from the Revaluation Reserve to convert 
fair value figures to a historical cost basis).  The Account is credited with the 
amounts set aside by the Authority as finance for the costs of acquisition, 
construction and enhancement. 

The Account contains accumulated gains and losses on Investment Properties 
and gains recognised on donated assets that have yet to be consumed by the 
Authority. 

The Account also contains revaluation gains accumulated on Property, Plant 
and Equipment before 1 April 2007, the date that the Revaluation Reserve was 
created to hold such gains. 

Note 8.7 provides details of the source of all the transactions posted to the 
Account, apart from those involving the Revaluation Reserve. 

138



65

2013/14 
£000

2013/14 
£000

2012/13 
£000

Balance at 1 April (188,283) (192,856)

Reversal of items relating to capital 
expenditure debited or credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement:
Charges for depreciation on non-current assets 13,801  12,981
Revaluation losses and impairment on Property, 
Plant and Equipment 

4,486  9,029

Amortisation of intangible assets 2,204  1,695
Revenue expenditure funded from capital under 
statute 

1,928  236

Amounts of non-current assets written off on 
disposal or sale as part of the gain/loss on 
disposal to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement 

10,772  21,494

 33,191 45,435
Adjusting amounts written out of the Revaluation 
Reserve 

 (2,917) (740)

Prior year adjustments to Revaluation Reserve   22
Net written out amount of the cost of non-
current assets consumed in the year 

 30,274 44,717

   
Capital financing applied in the year: 
Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance 
new capital expenditure 

(1,979)  (2,898)

Capital grants and contributions credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement that have been applied to capital 
financing

(16,445)  (15,909)

Application of grants to capital financing from the 
Capital Grants Unapplied Account 

(7,642)  (3,752)

Statutory provision for the financing of capital 
investment charged against the General Fund 
balance

(10,748)  (10,812)

Capital expenditure charged against the General 
Fund balance 

(503)  (294)

  (37,317) (33,665)
Movements in the market value of Investment 
Properties debited or credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement 

 388 (6,479)

Balance at 31 March (194,938) (188,283)

8.24.3  Financial Instruments Adjustment Account 
The Financial Instruments Adjustment Account (FIAA) records the timing 
differences between the rate at which gains and losses are recognised for 
accounting purposes and the rate at which debits and credits are required to be 
made against council tax. 

The opening balance mainly relates to the council’s two “stepped interest” bank 
loans where the interest paid in the first two years was much lower than the rate 
subsequently charged.  The charge in the Comprehensive Income & 

139



66

Expenditure Statement is based on the effective (or average) rate over the 
period of the loan and so in the first two years the charge was increased by 
debiting the differential in the Movement in Reserves Statement and crediting 
the FIAA.  This latter reserve is then reversed out over the remaining period of 
the loan to give a consistent effective rate of interest. 

Another adjustment is required for 2013/14 relating to the discount received on 
the early repayment of loans to the Public Works Loan Board in 2010/11.  
Discount of £83,000 was received and this amount included in the 
Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement. However, for accounting 
purposes this amount needs to be spread over ten years, so £78,000 was 
transferred to the FIAA and is credited to revenue over 10 years (i.e. £8,000 per 
annum). 

2013/14 
£000

2012/13 
£000

Balance at 1 April 398 416 

Amount by which finance costs charged to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement are different from finance 
costs chargeable in the year in accordance with statutory 
requirements

(4) (4) 

Discounts received in the year carried forward to future 
accounting periods 

8 8 

Reversal of interest adjustment for soft loans  (22) 

Balance at 31 March 402 398 

8.24.4  Pensions Reserve 
 The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different 

arrangements for accounting for post-employment benefits and for funding 
benefits in accordance with statutory provisions.  The Authority accounts for 
post-employment benefits in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement as the benefits are earned by employees accruing years of service, 
updating the liabilities recognised to reflect inflation, changing assumptions and 
investment returns on any resources set aside to meet the costs.  However, 
statutory arrangements require benefits earned to be financed as the Authority 
makes employer’s contributions to pension funds or eventually pays any 
pensions for which it is directly responsible.  The debit balance on the Pensions 
Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall in the benefits earned by past 
and current employees and the resources the Authority has set aside to meet 
them.  The statutory arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set 
aside by the time the benefits come to be paid. 

 There has been an adjustment to the liability resulting to a change in the liability 
in respect of staff who transferred to Hoople in 2011. 

140



67

2013/14
£000

Restated 
2012/13 

£000
Balance at 1 April 188,502 160,354 
Actuarial (gains) or losses on pensions assets and 
liabilities

(38,034) 24,411 

Business combination 3,177 0 
Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits 
debited or credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement  

16,627 13,563 

Employer’s pensions contributions and direct 
payments to pensioners payable in the year 

(9,841) (9,826) 

Balance at 31 March 160,431 188,502 

8.24.5  Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve 
 The Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve holds the gains recognised on the 

disposal of non-current assets but for which cash settlement has yet to take 
place. Under statutory arrangements the Authority does not treat these gains as 
usable for financing new capital expenditure until they are backed by cash 
receipts. When the deferred cash settlement eventually takes place, amounts 
are transferred to the Capital Receipts Reserve. 

2013/14 
£000

2012/13 
£000

Balance at 1 April (289) (295)
Transfer to the Capital Receipts Reserve upon receipt of 
cash

2 6 

Balance at 31 March (287) (289) 

8.24.6  Collection Fund Adjustment Account 
The Collection Fund Adjustment Account manages the differences arising from 
the recognition of council tax and non-domestic rates income in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement compared with the 
statutory arrangements for paying across amounts to the General Fund from 
the Collection Fund. 

2013/14 
£000

2012/13 
£000

Balance at 1 April 1,134 761 
Amount by which council tax income credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is 
different from council tax income calculated for the year in 
accordance with statutory requirements 

(1,176) 373

Amount by which non-domestic rates income credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is 
different from rates income calculated for the year in 
accordance with statutory requirements

1,734 0

Balance at 31 March 1,692 1,134 

141



68

8.24.7  Accumulated Absences Account 
 The Accumulated Absences Account absorbs the differences that would 

otherwise arise on the General Fund Balance from accruing for compensated 
absences earned but not taken in the year e.g. annual leave entitlement carried 
forward at 31 March.  Statutory arrangements require that the impact on the 
General Fund Balance is neutralised by transfers to or from the Account. 

2013/14 
£000

2012/13 
£000

Balance at 1 April 2,638 2,738 
Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on an 
accruals basis is different from remuneration chargeable in 
the year in accordance with statutory requirements (909) (100)
Balance at 31 March 1,729 2,638 

8.25  Capital Grants Receipts in Advance 

8.25.1 Under IFRS grants and contributions given towards an authority’s capital 
investment are retained in this account whilst conditions remain attached to the 
financial assistance.  

2013/14 
£000

2012/13 
£000

Balance at 1 April (2,740) (4,015)
Additional amounts received in the year (1,599) (534) 
Amounts transferred to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Account in the year

554 1,809

Balance at 31 March (3,785) (2,740)

The amounts are split between long-term and short-term liabilities at the 
balance sheet date. 

8.26  Amounts Reported for Resource Allocation Decisions 

8.26.1 The analysis of income and expenditure by service on the face of the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is that specified by the 
Service Reporting Code of Practice (SERCOP).  However, decisions about 
resource allocation are taken on the basis of budget reports analysed across 
directorates.  These reports are prepared on a different basis from the 
accounting policies used in the financial statements.  In particular the report 
includes:

  Transactions for Trading Accounts 

  Movements on Schools Balances 

  Expenditure on Levies 

142



69

8.26.2  Directorate Income and Expenditure 
 The income and expenditure of the council’s directorates and corporate spend as reported to Cabinet in the 2013/14 out-turn report is as 

follows;

Directorate Income and 
Expenditure  

Adults  
Wellbeing

Children’s  
Wellbeing

Economy, 
Communities & 

Corporate 

Chief Exec & 
Organisational 
Development 

Public Health Total 

2013/14  figures £'000 £'000 £'000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Fees, charges & other 
service income 17,624 12,081 18,496 470 51 48,722 

Government grants 1,571 82,393 58,503 0 7,753 150,220 

Total Income 19,195 94,474 76,999 470 7,804 198,942 

Employee expenses 7,292 71,795 18,846 1,273 1,243 100,449 

Other service expenses 69,118 49,159 109,151 8,255 6,443 242,126 

Support services 4,033 9,211 (688) (8,694) 34 3,896 

Total Expenditure 80,443 130,165 127,309 834 7,720 346,471 

    

Net Expenditure 61,248 35,691 50,310 364 (84) 147,529 

1
4
3



70

The following table shows the restated comparative figures for 2012/13: 

Directorate Income and 
Expenditure  

Adults  
Wellbeing

Children’s  
Wellbeing

Economy, 
Communities & 

Corporate 

Chief Exec & 
Organisational 
Development 

Public Health Total 

2012/13 Comparative
figures £'000 £'000 £'000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Fees, charges & other 
service income 17,297 11,428 9,039 12,310 481   50,555 

Government grants 5,228 88,277 68,631 0 0 162,136 

Total Income 22,525 99,705 77,670 12,310 481 212,691 

    

Employee expenses 3,512 75,944 20,308 2,236 206 102,206 

Other service expenses 74,081 50,864 123,898 9,142   46 258,031 

Support services 4,447 8,789 (11,273) 1,779 230     3,972 

Total Expenditure 82,040 135,597 132,933 13,157 482 364,209 

    

Net Expenditure 59,515 35,892 55,263 847 1 151,518 

         

1
4
4



71

8.26.3  Reconciliation of Directorate Income and Expenditure to Cost of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure  
Statement

  This reconciliation shows how the figures in the analysis of directorate income and expenditure relate to the amounts included in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

         
2013/14

            £000

Restated
2012/13

             £000
Net expenditure in the Directorate Analysis 147,529 151,518

Amounts included in the Analysis not included in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account 

620 1,466

Cost of services in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement 148,149 152,984

1
4
5



72

8.26.4 Reconciliation to Subjective Analysis 
 This reconciliation shows how the figures in the analysis of directorate income and expenditure relate to a subjective analysis of the 

Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

2013/14 
Directorate

Analysis 

£000

Amounts not 
Included in 

I & E 
£000

Cost
Of

Services
£000

Corporate 
Items

£000

Total 

£000
Fees, charges & other service income 48,722 (2,713) 46,009 0 46,009

Financing and investment income 0 0 0 1,958 1,958

Income from council tax 0 0 0 81,825 81,825

Government grants and contributions 150,220 0 150,220 92,407 242,627

Total Income 198,942 (2,713) 196,229 176,190 372,419

Employee expenses 100,449 (217) 100,232 0 100,232

Other service expenses 242,126 (738) 241,388 0 241,388

Support Service recharges 3,896 (938) 2,958 0 2,958

Financing and investment expenditure 0 0 0 15,760 15,760

Precepts & Levies 0 (200) (200) 2,983 2,783

Payments to Housing Capital Receipts 
Pool 0 0 0 1 1

Gain or Loss on Disposal of Fixed 
Assets 0 0 0 5,491 5,491

Total expenditure 346,471 (2,093) 344,378 24,235 368,613

(Surplus) or deficit on the provision 
of services 147,529 620 148,149 (151,955) (3,806)

1
4
6



73

The following table shows the comparative figures for 2012/13; 

2012/13 
Directorate

Analysis 

£000

Amounts not 
Included in 

I & E 
£000

Cost
Of

Services
£000

Corporate 
Items

£000

Total 

£000
Fees, charges & other service income 50,555 (2,542) 48,013 0 48,013

Financing and investment income 0 0 0 9,500 9,500

Income from council tax 0 0 0 89,068 89,068

Government grants and contributions 162,136 0 162,136 78,946 241,082

Total Income 212,691 (2,542) 210,149 177,514 387,663

Employee expenses 102,206 (220) 101,986 0 101,986

Other service expenses 258,031 (680) 257,351 0 257,351

Support Service recharges 3,972 19 3,991 0 3,991

Financing and investment expenditure 0 0 0 15,401 15,401

Precepts & Levies 0 (195) (195) 2,886 2,691

Payments to Housing Capital Receipts 
Pool 0 0 0 4 4

Gain or Loss on Disposal of Fixed 
Assets 0 0 0 19,872 19,872

Total expenditure 364,209 (1,076) 363,133 38,163 401,296

(Surplus) or deficit on the provision 
of services 151,518            1,466 152,984 (139,351) 13,633

1
4
7



74

8.27 Trading Operations 

8.27.1 The council has a number of trading units where the service manager is required 
to operate in a commercial environment and generate income from external 
customers. 

                            2013/14 2012/13 
£000 £000 

Markets    
The council owns and manages open and 
closed markets, generating income from letting 
of premises and market stalls. 

Turnover (805) (754)
Expenditure 521 533

(Surplus)/deficit (284) (221)
   

Industrial Estates    

The council owns and manages a number of 
industrial estates in the county. 

Turnover (1,382) (1,442)

Expenditure 520 581

(Surplus)/deficit  (862) (861)

   

Retail Properties    

The council owns retail premises in Hereford 
City centre from which it receives commercial 
rents.

Turnover (526) (520)

Expenditure 42 20

(Surplus)/deficit (484) (500)

8.27.2 The trading accounts are incorporated into the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as part of the line ‘Financing and investment income and 
expenditure’ (note 8.10).  

8.28  Agency Services 

8.28.1 During 2013/14 the council incurred spend in relation to the Golden Valley 
Fastershire capital project to provide improved broadband speeds throughout the 
rural areas of Herefordshire and Gloucestershire. In 2013/14 spend totalled 
£674,000 under the Fastershire project, of which £467,000 represents spend in 
the Gloucestershire area that is not shown in the council accounts as this spend 
is incurred under an agency arrangement.   

148



75

8.29 Pooled Budgets 

8.29.1 The council is party to 2 pooled budget arrangements; 

Integrated Community Equipment Store 
8.29.2 A joint equipment store service is provided as a partnership between 

Herefordshire Council, Herefordshire CCG (PCT in previous years) and Wye 
Valley Trust. Its aim is to promote independence and enable individuals to remain 
in their home. 

2013/14 2012/13 
£000’s £000’s 

Funding provided to the pooled budget: 
Herefordshire Council (474) (274) 
Wye Valley Trust (110)   
Herefordshire CCG (164)   
Herefordshire PCT (748) (274) (548)

Expenditure met from the pooled budget:  
Herefordshire Council 1,048 744

    

Net deficit arising on the pooled budget 
during the year 300 196

      

Council share of the net deficit 300   137

 CNS Complex Needs Solution 
8.29.3 Herefordshire Council have entered into a pooled fund agreement with the 

Clinical Commissioning Group to provide provision for children and young people 
with complex educational, social and medical needs. The agreement pools 
spending in agreed proportions and spending is not separately allocated, but 
each child with these complex needs is funded directly from the pool irrespective 
of specific needs. 

2013/14 2012/13 
£’000 £’000 

Funding provided to the pooled budget:     
Herefordshire Council (2,965) (2,719) 
Herefordshire CCG (494)  
Herefordshire PCT (3,459) (453) (3,172)

     

Expenditure met from the pooled budget:  
Herefordshire Council 3,019 2,578 
Herefordshire CCG 503  
Herefordshire PCT 3,522 429 3,007

      

Net surplus arising on the pooled budget 
during the year 63  (165)

       

Council share of the net surplus 54   (141)

149



76

8.30  Members’ Allowances 

 The council paid the following amounts to members of the council during the year. 

2013/14
            £000

2012/13
             £000

Basic allowances 421 418
Special allowances 186 195
Travel and subsistence 36 44
Total 643 657

8.31  Officers’ Remuneration 

8.31.1 The Accounts and Audit Regulations set out the requirements for publishing 
information about employee remuneration disclosures in the statement of 
accounts. Remuneration is defined as ‘all amounts paid to or receivable by a 
person, and includes sums due by way of expenses allowances (so far as those 
sums are chargeable to UK income tax), and the estimated money value of any 
other benefits received by an employee other than in cash’ (e.g. benefits in kind). 

8.31.2 The 2013/14 banding information is set out below. For the banding note 
remuneration excludes employer’s pension contributions. Where no employees 
fell within a particular band, this band is not shown in the table; 

No of employees 2013/14 2012/13

From To  2013/14 2012/13
Non

School School 
Non

School School 
£50,000 £55,000  47 51 11 36 15 36
£55,000 £60,000  16 21 6 10 9 12
£60,000 £65,000  10 10 2 8 3 7
£65,000 £70,000  10 9 3 7 1 8
£70,000 £75,000  3 3 1 2 2 1
£75,000 £80,000  5 9 4 1 8 1
£80,000 £85,000  3 3 1 2 0 3
£85,000 £90,000  2 3 1 1 2 1
£90,000 £95,000  2 2 1 1 2 0
£95,000 £100,000  1 0 1 0 0 0
£100,000 £105,000  1 0 1 0 0 0
£105,000 £110,000  0 1 0 0 1 0
£110,000 £115,000  1 0 1 0 0 0
£115,000 £120,000  1 0 1 0 0 0
£120,000 £125,000  0 2 0 0 2 0
£125,000 £130,000  0 1 0 0 1 0
£140,000 £145,000  1 0 1 0 0 0
£255,000 £260,000  0 1 0 0 1 0

103 116 35 68 47 69

8.31.3 The regulations require details to be disclosed for senior employees whose salary 
is £50,000 or more. For senior employees whose full-time equivalent salary is 
between £50,000 and £150,000 the disclosure is by way of job title and for those 
whose salary is £150,000 or more they are identified by name.  

150



77

8.31.4 For the purposes of the regulations a ‘senior employee’ is defined as an 
employee whose remuneration is at least £50,000 and who is: 

a) The designated head of paid service or chief officer; or 

b) Any person having responsibility for the management of the relevant 
body to the extent that the person has power to direct or control the 
major activities of the body, in particular activities involving the 
expenditure of money, whether solely or collectively with other persons. 

8.31.5 The disclosure for the council for 2013/14 is set out below. The employees 
included are Directors and staff who report to Directors who are employed on 
Head of Service pay grades. These staff are also included in the table above. For 
this note employer’s pension contributions are included. 

151



78

Post holder information Salary (inc. 
fees and 

allowances) 

Compensation
for loss of 

office

Benefits
in kind 

Total
remuneration

excluding
pension

contributions

Pension
contributions

Total
remuneration

including
pension

contributions
Notes Year £ £ £ £ £ £

Employees with salaries £150,000 or 
more 
Chief Executive - C Bull 45% recharge 

to the PCT 

Left 31/10/12 2012/13 107,173 150,629 0 257,802 23,364 281,166 

Employees with salaries between 
£50,000 and £150,000 
Chief Executive Started

01/03/2013 
2013/14 
2012/13

143,887 
  12,083

0 0
143,887 
  12,083

32,625
  2,634

176,512 
  14,717

Deputy Chief Executive 45% recharge 
to the PCT in 
2012/13. Left 
09/06/2013

2013/14 
2012/13

  24,916 
130,000 

0
0

0
0

  24,916 
130,000 

  5,606 
28,340

  30,522 
158,340 

Director for Children’s Welllbeing 2013/14
2012/13

111,904
120,000

0
0

0
0

111,904
120,000

25,200
26,160

137,104
146,160

Director for Economy, Communities and 
Corporate

2013/14 
201213 

119,284 
120,000 

0
0

181
  81 

119,465 
120,081 

27,000
26,160

146,465 
146,241 

Chief Officer – Finance and Commercial  
Left 30/09/2013 

2013/14 
2012/13 

  44,798 
  90,000 

0
0

0
0

  44,798 
  90,000 

10,125
19,620

  54,923 
109,620 

Chief Financial Officer - Section 151 Officer  0.2FTE1,
started 

13/09/2013 

2013/14   18,040 0 0   18,040   4,342   22,382 

Assistant Director, Law, Governance & 
Resilience 

Left 12/04/2013 
2013/14 
2012/13 

  3,000 
90,000

34,952
0

0
0

  37,952 
  90,000 

    675 
19,620

  38,627 
109,620 

Assistant Director – People, Policy & 
Partnerships

2013/14 
2012/13 

82,510
78,231

0
0

0
0

  82,510 
  78,231 

17,777
17,054

100,287 
  95,285 

Assistant Director, - Education and 
Commissioning  

2013/14 
2012/13 

78,406
78,231

0
0

0
0

  78,406 
  78,231 

17,777
17,054

  96,183 
  95,285 

Assistant  Director – Safeguarding and Early 
Years

Left 05/11/2013 
2013/14 
2012/13 

46,582
78,231

0
0

0
0

  46,582 
  78,231 

10,617
17,054

  57,199 
  95,285 

1
5
2



79

Post holder information
Salary (inc. 

fees and 
allowances)

Compensation
for loss of 

office

Benefits
in kind

Total
remuneration

excluding
pension

contributions

Pension
contributions

Total
remuneration

including
pension

contributions
Notes Year £ £ £ £ £ £

Head of Service - Adult Services Left 
14/04/2013

2013/14 
2012/13

     3,072 
  78,231

28,506
0

0
0

  31,578 
  78,231

    691 
17,054

  32,269 
  95,285

Head of Special Projects                            Left 31/12/2013 2013/14 
2012/13

  65,726 
  72,228

30,000
0

706
699

  96,432 
  72,927

12,309
15,745

108,741 
  88,672

Assistant Director Economic, Environment & 
Cultural Services

2013/14 
2012/13 

  78,406 
  76,176 

0
0

0
0

  78,406 
  76,176 

17,777
16,606

  96,183 
  92,782 

Assistant Director, Homes and Community 
Services

2013/14 
2012/13 

  78,311 
  76,176 

0
0

0
0

  78,311 
  76,176 

17,777
 16,606 

  96,088 
  92,782 

Assistant Director Place Based 
Commissioning 

2013/14 
2012/13 

  78,311 
  76,176 

0
0

0
0

  78,311 
  76,176 

17,777
16,606

  96,088 
  92,782 

Assistant Director, Customer Services and 
Communications

2013/14 

2012/13

0
  45,635 

0
42,116

0
0

0
  87,751 

0
  9,948 

0
  97,699 

Director of Public Health TUPE Transfer 
01/04/2013 

2013/14 100,879 0 200 101,079 14,136 115,215 

Solicitor to the Council Started
07/05/2013 

2013/14   69,547 0 0   69,547 15,804   85,351 

1 Additional Services for financial transformation are procured separately under a contract (further details are set out in the report to the 
employment panel 3rd June 2014)

1
5
3



80

8.32  External Audit Costs 

8.32.1 The council incurred the following fees relating to external audit and inspection: 

2013/14
£000

2012/13 
£000

Fees payable with regard to external audit services 
carried out by the appointed auditor 165 187
   
Fees payable for the certification of grants claims 
and returns

18 29

8.33  Dedicated Schools Grant 

8.33.1 The council’s expenditure on schools is funded by the Dedicated Schools Grant 
(DSG) provided by the Department for Education. DSG is a ring-fenced grant and 
can only be applied to meet expenditure properly included in the Schools Budget. 
The Schools Budget includes elements for a restricted range of services provided 
on a council-wide basis and for the Individual Schools Budget (ISB), which is 
divided into a budget share for each school. Over and under spends on the two 
elements are required to be accounted for separately.  

8.33.2  Details of the deployment of DSG receivable for 2013/14 are as follows: 

Central 
Expenditure

Individual 
Schools
Budget Total Total 

2013/14 2013/14 2013/14 2012/13
£000 £000 £000 £000 

Final DSG allocation before Academy Recoupment  109,869 107,378

Less Academy figure recouped for 2013/14  (34,410) (30,287)

Total DSG after Academy recoupment for 2013/14  75,459 77,091

Brought forward from previous year  459 840

2012/13 Sponsored Academy deficit reserve – 
unused amount reversed  485 0

Less Carry Forward to 2014/15 agreed in advance  (485) 0

Agreed budgeted distribution in year 10,374 65,544 75,918 77,931

Actual central expenditure 9,733  9,733 5,774

Actual Individual School Budget deployed to 
schools 65,631 65,631 71,698

 Carry forward  641 (87) 554 459

154



81

8.33.3  Due to national funding changes from 1st April 2013 regarding schools and high 
needs there has been a net transfer of £3.9 million from the Individual Schools 
Budget to central expenditure in order to fund individual pupil high needs. 
Previously such funding was delegated to schools at the beginning of each year.  
Place only funding of £3.2 million is recorded in the 2013/14 Individual Schools 
Budget compared to £7.1 million in 2012/13. The accounting treatment is set out 
in the School and Early Years Finance (England) Regulations 2013.  

8.34  Grant Income 

8.34.1 The council credited the following grants, contributions and donations to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement: 

2013/14 2012/13 
£'000 £'000 

Credited to Taxation and Non Specific Grant 
Income 
Revenue Support Grant 42,861 1,374 
Redistributed NNDR 0 55,539 
Other non-ringfenced Grants 4,986 4,514 
Capital Grants 16,921 17,519 

64,768 78,946 
   
Credited to Services 

Department for Education 83,481 92,259 
Department for Communities and Local 
Government 2,478 2,480 

Department for Work and Pensions 50,420 62,170 

Young People's Learning Agency 658 727 

Department for Transport 490 644 

Defra 1,889 815 

Department of Health 7,967 3,962 

English Heritage 16 0 

Home Office 15 58 

Arts Council 7 0 

147,421 163,115 
   
Total 212,189 242,061 

8.35  Related Parties 

8.35.1 The council is required to disclose material transactions with related parties – 
bodies or individuals that have the potential to control or influence the council or 
to be controlled or influenced by the council. Disclosure of these transactions 
allows readers to assess the extent to which the council might have been 
constrained in its ability to operate independently or might have secured the 
ability to limit another party’s ability to bargain freely with the authority. 

155



82

 Central Government 
8.35.2 Central government has effective control over the general operations of the 

council. It is responsible for providing the statutory framework within which the 
council operates and provides the majority of its funding in the form of grants. 
Details of income received from government departments are set out in note 8.34. 

 Members 
8.35.3  Members of the council have direct control over the council’s financial and 

operating policies. There are a number of Councillors who serve on outside 
bodies and school governing bodies either as a representative of the council or as 
a private individual. Details of these interests are recorded in the Register of 
Members’ interests, which are updated annually. An examination of the Register 
indicates that the council’s financial transactions with these bodies in 2013/14 are 
not material.  One member was the employee of a care home to which the council 
made payments in the year of £1.2 million. 

 Officers 
8.35.4   A number of senior officers are members of professional bodies, governors at 

local schools and colleges, and are involved in local organisations and 
partnerships, such as Hoople Ltd, Hereford Futures, and the Robert Owen 
Society.

   Other Public Bodies   
8.35.5  During the year the council made payments of £23.9 million to Worcestershire 

County Council (£26.4 million in 2012/13), including payments to the pension 
scheme and for the joint waste disposal contract. The council works in 
partnership with the CCG having taken on some of the responsibilities of the 
Primary Care Trust (PCT) upon their abolition in April 2013. Payments to the 
CCG in 2013/14 totalled £ 0.5 million.  A total of £6.7 million was also paid to Wye 
Valley NHS Trust (£11.8 million in 2012/13) and £3.6 million to 2Gether (£2.1 
million in 2012/13). 

   Significant long-term contracts 
8.35.6   The council awarded the public realm services contract to Balfour Beatty Living 

Places on 1st September 2013. 

8.35.7   The contracted services include highways maintenance and improvement, street 
lighting, traffic signals, street cleaning, parks and public rights of way, fleet 
maintenance and professional consultancy services.  The council paid £9.3 
million to Balfour Beatty in 2013/14. 

8.35.8  In total the council paid £12 million to Amey Wye Valley in 2013/14 (£38.5 million 
in 2012/13). The contract terminated at the end of September 2013. 

8.35.9   Fosca UK Limited 
 In 2009 the council entered into a 7 year contract with Fosca for the collection of 

household, recycling and commercial waste.  The value of the contract over 7 
years is around £30.5 million. Payments to Fosca totalled £4.3 million in 2013/14 
(£4.7 million in 2012/13). 

  Other organisations
8.35.10 The council pays a management fee to Halo Leisure Trust for the provision of 

leisure facilities, including swimming pools and leisure centres. In 2013/14 the 
council paid £1.1 million to Halo Leisure Trust (£2.5 million in 2012/13). In 
2013/14 the council paid £246,000 to the Courtyard Trust (£284,000 in 2012/13). 

156



83

The council has a commissioning agreement with the Trust based on agreed 
outcomes. 

8.35.11 During the year the council made payments totalling £297,000 to Herefordshire 
Housing Ltd (£296,000 in 2012/13) including £162,500 of Supporting People 
Funding (£229,000 in 2012/13) 

8.35.12 The council has an interest in company called Hereford Futures, whose role is to 
facilitate development and regeneration within Hereford. Payments were made to 
Hereford Futures amounting to £391,000 (£384,000 in 2012/13).  

8.35.13 West Mercia Energy (WME) operates as a joint arrangement between 
Herefordshire, Shropshire, Worcestershire and Telford and Wrekin Councils 
Payments of £619,000  were made in 2013/14 to WME (£544,000 in 2012/13). 

Jointly controlled organisation 
8.35.14 Hoople Ltd is a unique young company created in April 2011 to deliver business 

support services to clients across the public and private sector. During the review 
period Hoople Ltd was wholly owned by Herefordshire Council, and Wye Valley 
NHS Trust. Each authority has two directors on the Board of the company, as well 
as two independent board members. 

8.35.15 The inter-organisation transaction between the council and Hoople Ltd amounted 
to £7.398 million (£9.295 million in 2012/13). There were no contingent liabilities 
existing with Hoople Ltd that would affect the council.  There were no capital 
commitments outstanding at 31st March 2014 payable to Hoople Ltd. 

8.35.16 The draft year-end result of Hoople Ltd, prior to adjustments for pensions, was a 
profit before tax of £346,679 (£131,079 comprehensive profit in 2012/13).  The 
council share of 74.7% is equivalent to £258,969 (£97,914 in 2012/13).  In view of 
the immateriality of the share of balance sheet value, the council has opted not to 
prepare the Group Accounts. 
 

   More information on Hoople Ltd can be found on www.hoopleltd.co.uk 

8.35.17 All amounts shown in this section are net of value added tax.  

157



84

Outstanding balances with related parties 
8.35.18  As at 31st March 2014 significant amounts due to and from related parties were : 

2013/14 2012/13 

Related Party 
Due

to
Due

from
Due

to
Due

 from 
£000 £000 £000 £000 

Amey Wye Valley 383 0 6,069 2,374 
Academy Schools 11 48 0 0 
Balfour Beatty 3,090 176 0 0 
Birmingham CC 44 12 0 0 
Courtyard Trust 0 0 0 6 
Dept of Culture Media and 
Sport 0 557 0 0 
DCLG 204 2,897 0 0 
DEFRA 0 77 0 0 
Dept for Transport 21 380 0 0 
Dept for education 127 68 0 0 
Education Funding Agency 558 0 0 0 
DWP 0 854 0 0 
FOCSA 368 0 364 0 
Gloucestershire CC 19 20 0 164 
Halo 0 83 0 969 
Hereford and Worcs Fire 0 163 41 156 
Hereford CCG 742 955 0 0 
Herefordshire Housing 4 13 0 496 
Herefordshire PCT 0 70 501 2,568 
Hereford Futures 0 25 0 0 
Heritage Lottery Fund 217 752 0 0 
HM Courts Service 0 46 0 0 
HM Revenue & Customs 2,027 4,780 1,766 4,916 
Hoople Ltd 333 977 2,336 438 
Monmouth CC 33 27 0 0 
Ministry of Defence 34 0 0 0 
NHS England 0 3,163 0 0 
Powys 11 61 0 0 
Shaw Healthcare  22 293 0 0 
Shropshire CC 33 124 40 3 
Teachers Pensions` 566 0 0 0 
West Mercia Police 4 242 99 379 
West Mercia Energy 121 340 64 296 
Worcestershire County 
Council 3,828 108 3,813 25 
Wye Valley Trust  145 688 1,938 964 
YOS Worcestershire 0 93 0 0 
2gether 223 98 3 221 

158



85

8.35.19  These amounts are included in the council’s debtors and creditors figures. 

8.35.20 In addition, there were capital grants of £6.3 million from government departments 
held in the Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve not yet applied to capital spend. 

8.36  Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 

8.36.1  The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table 
below (including the value of assets acquired under finance and PFI contracts) 
together with the resources that have been used to finance it. Where capital 
expenditure is to be financed in future years by charges to revenue as assets are 
used by the council, the expenditure results in an increase in the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR), a measure of the capital expenditure incurred 
historically by the council that has yet to be financed. 

2013/14
£000

2012/13
£000

Opening capital financing requirement 212,212 208,730 

Capital investment
Property, Plant and Equipment  38,952 35,828 
Investment Properties 93 223 
Intangible Assets 389 563 
Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 3,970 1,949 
Assets acquired under PFI contracts 84 4 
Long term debtors (including PFI prepayments) 304 294 

Sources of Finance
Capital Receipts (1,979) (2,898) 
Government grants and other contributions (26,129) (21,375) 
Sums set aside from revenue:
Direct revenue contributions (503) (294) 
MRP (10,748) (10,812) 
Closing capital financing requirement 216,645 212,212 

Explanation of movements in year
Increase in underlying need to borrowing (unsupported by 
government financial assistance) 
Salix interest free loan

15,013 

84

13,757 

533
Assets acquired under PFI contracts 84 4 
MRP (10,748) (10,812) 
Increase/(decrease) in Capital Financing Requirement 4,433 3,482 

8.37  Leases 

Authority as Lessee 

Finance Leases 
8.37.1 The council holds one car park under a finance lease arrangement. 

159



86

8.37.2 The asset acquired under this lease is carried as Property, Plant and Equipment in 
the Balance Sheet at the following net amounts: 

31 March 
2014
£000

31 March 
2013
£000

            Other land and buildings 506 534 
            Vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment 0 13 

506 547 

8.37.3 The council is committed to making minimum payments under these leases 
comprising settlement of the long-term liability for the interest in the property and 
finance costs that will be payable by the council in future years while the liability 
remains outstanding.  The minimum lease payments are made up of the following 
amounts: 

31 March 2014 
£000

31 March 2013 
£000

Finance lease liabilities (net present value of 
minimum lease payments):

 current 0 2 
 non current 320 320 

Finance costs payable in future years 1,956 1,989 
Minimum lease payments 2,276 2,311 

8.37.4 The minimum lease payments will be payable over the following periods: 

Minimum lease 
payments 

Finance lease liabilities 

31 March 
2014
£000

31 March 
2013
£000

31 March 
2014
£000

31 March 
2013
£000

Not later than one year 0 2 31 33
Later than one year and not later 
than five years

0 0 126 126

Later than five years 320 320 1,799 1,830
320 322 1,956 1,989

8.37.5 The minimum lease payments do not include rents that are contingent on events 
taking place after the lease was entered into, such as adjustments following rent 
reviews. In 2013/14 £116,000 contingent rents were payable by the authority 
(2012/13 £116,000). 

Operating leases 
8.37.6 The future minimum lease payments due under non-cancellable leases in future 

years are: 

31 March 2014 
£000

31 March 2013 
£000

Not later than one year 399 867
Later than one year and not later than five years 1,462 1,671
Later than five years 55 870

1,916 3,408

160



87

8.37.7 The expenditure charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement during the year in relation to these leases was: 

2013/14
£000

2012/13
£000

Minimum lease payments 442 900 

Authority as Lessor 

Finance Leases 
8.37.8 When a school changes status to become a Foundation School or an Academy the 

land and buildings are transferred to the school by granting a lease for 125 years at 
a peppercorn rent.  Apart from these long leasehold transfers to schools, the 
council does not have any other finance leases where the council is lessor.   

Operating leases 
8.37.9 The Authority leases out property under operating leases for the following 

purposes: 

  Retail 
  Industrial Use 
  Farming 
  Other Commercial Use 

8.37.10 The future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable leases in 
future years are: 

31 March 2014 
£000

31 March 2013 
£000

Not later than one year 265 1,836
Later than one year and not later than five years 482 4,986
Later than five years 6,938 36,541

7,685 43,363

8.37.11 The minimum lease payments do not include rents that are contingent on events 
taking place after the lease was entered into, such as adjustments following rent 
reviews. 

8.38  Private Finance Initiatives and Similar Contracts 

8.38.1 The council has two formal PFIs, Whitecross School and Waste disposal (in 
partnership with Worcestershire County Council) and one other contract identified 
as falling under IFRIC 12, the Shaw Healthcare Contract. 

  Mercia Waste Management Ltd – waste management PFI contract 
8.38.2   In 1998 Herefordshire Council, in partnership with Worcestershire County Council, 

entered into a 25 year contract with Mercia Waste Management Ltd for the 
provision of an integrated waste management system using the Private Finance 
Initiative.  

8.38.3 Under the contract the authorities are required to ensure that all waste for 
disposal is delivered to the contractor, who will take responsibility for recycling or 
recovering energy from the waste stream. In total contract cost is approximately 
£500m of which approximately 25% relate to Herefordshire Council. The original 
life of the contract was 25 years with the option to extend this by 5 years. 

161



88

8.38.4 Subsequent to the Balance Sheet date, a variation to the contract was signed in 
May 2014 to design, build, finance and operate an Energy from Waste Plant. 
Construction completion is planned for 2017 with a funding requirement of £195m 
and an uplift to the annual unitary charge for both councils of £2.7m. 

8.38.5 Both councils will be providing circa 82% of the project finance requirement from 
their own planned borrowing from the Public Works and Loans Board witht eh 
remaining 18% being provided by the equity shareholders of Waste Mercia 
Management Services. 

   Stepnell Ltd – School PFI Contract 
8.38.6  The Whitecross High School PFI project has delivered a fully equipped 900-place 

secondary school with full facilities management services. The contract with 
Stepnell Ltd has an overall value of £74 million and lasts for 25 years. During the 
12/13 financial year the school transferred to Academy status but the obligations 
under the PFI contract remain with the council. 

   Shaw Homes 
8.38.7 The council has a contract with Shaw Healthcare for the development and 

provision of residential homes and day care centres previously operated directly 
by the council. The contract expires in 2033/34 for all homes. The level of 
payments are dependent on the volume and nature of service elements and 
Shaw Healthcare’s performance in providing services. The payments in respect of 
this contract was £3.6 million in 2013/14 (£3.5 million in 2012/13). 

 Assets 
8.38.8 The property, plant and equipment used to provide the PFI services are 

recognised on the council’s balance sheet, with the exception of Whitecross 
school, which was written out of the balance sheet when it became an Academy 
in 2012/13. Movements in asset values over the year are detailed in Note 8.12.1– 
Movement on Balances on Property, Plant and Equipment. 

 Liabilities 
8.38.9 The payments to the contractors compensate them for the fair value of the 

services they provide, capital expenditure incurred and interest payable. The 
liability outstanding to pay the liability to the contractor for capital expenditure 
incurred is as follows: 

2013/14
£000

2012/13
£000

Balance outstanding at start of year 27,918 28,870 
Payments during the year (1,016) (956) 
Capital expenditure in the year 84 4 
Balance outstanding at year-end 26,986 27,918 

162



89

 Payments 
8.38.10 The table below shows an estimate of the payments to be made under PFI and 

similar contracts. 

8.38.10 The PFI future year commitments total of £245m shown above includes inflation 
assumptions, without inflation the future year commitments would be £39m lower. 

8.39  Impairment Losses 

8.39.1 The following impairment losses and reversals were charged to the Surplus or 
Deficit on the Provision of Services and to Other Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure: 

2013/14 2012/13
Impairments Reversals Net 

Total
 Impairments Reversals Net 

Total
£000 £000 £000  £000 £000 £000
5,075 (643) 4,432 Land and buildings 9,859 (1,463) 8,396

0 0 0 Surplus assets 511 0 511
55 0 55 Assets under 

construction 
0 0 0

0 0 0 Assets held for sale 184 (62) 122
5,130 (643) 4,487 Total 10,554 (1,525) 9,029

8.39.2   In 2013/14 the largest impairment (£3.3 million) related to the change of use of 
assets expected to form part of the proposed link road. 

8.40  Capitalisation of Borrowing Costs 

8.40.1 The council has a policy of capitalising borrowing costs on relevant projects i.e. 
where schemes lasting more than 12 months and with at least £10,000 of interest 
associated with the project. In 2013/14 there were six capital schemes which fell 
into this category and therefore £0.3 million borrowing costs were capitalised. 

        Service
Charges

Lifecycle
Costs

Finance 
liability

Interest
& similar

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Within one year 12,301 363 1,104 2,062 15,830 

     
Within two to five years 52,566 1,534 5,074 7,836 67,010 

     
Within six to ten years 62,978 2,107 7,714 8,349 81,148 

     
Within eleven to fifteen years 25,093 2,338 7,592 6,502 41,525 

     
Within sixteen to twenty years 25,003 1,665 5,940 4,650 37,258 

     
Within twenty-one to twenty-five years 1,453 - 233 314 2,000 

163



90

8.41  Termination Benefits 

8.41.1 The following table summarises the redundancies which occurred in 2013/14, 
with comparative numbers for 2012/13; 

Compulsory 
redundancies

Other agreed 
departures

Total

2013/14
Number 102 121 223 
Total Cost £747,900 £1,183,368 £1,931,268 
Average £7,332 £9,780 £8,660 
2012/13
Number 60 20 80 
Total Cost £801,630 £310,291 £1,111,921 
Average £13,361 £15,515 £13,899 

8.41.2 In addition, the total cost of actuarial strain relating to 2013/14 terminations was 
£345,000 (£346,000 in 2012/13). This is paid to the pension fund over 3 years. 
The actual amount of actuarial strain paid to Worcestershire County Council in 
2013/14 was £818,000 (relating to retirements in 2011/12, 2012/13 and 2013/14).  

8.41.3   A redundancy provision of £1.8 million was also set up, including schools and 
partner organisations, based on the number of planned redundancies at 31st 
March 2014. 

8.41.4 The number and total cost per band of exit packages analyses between 
compulsory and other redundancies are set out in the table below. This includes 
exit packages agreed in the year although not yet actioned at the year end. The 
table does not include actuarial strain paid to the pension fund (see 8.41.2) 

 
Number of 

compulsory 
redundancies

Number of other 
agreed departures

Total number of 
exit packages by 

cost band 

Total cost of exit 
packages in each 

band 
Exit package cost 

band
(including special 

payments) 

2013
/14

2012
/13

2013
/14

2012
/13

2013
/14

2012
/13 2013/14 2012/13

£0 - £20,000 96 47 110 15 206 62 1,418,649 437,897

£20,001 - £40,000 5 12 11 4 16 16 457,619 476,673

£40,001 - £60,000 1 0 0 1 1 1 55,000 46,722

£150,001 - £200,000 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 150,629

Total 102 60 121 20 223 80 1,931,268 1,111,921

8.42  Pension Schemes accounted for as Defined Contribution 
 Schemes 

8.42.1 Teachers employed by the council are members of the Teachers’ Pension 
Scheme, which is a defined benefit scheme administered by the Teachers 
Pensions Agency. Although the scheme is unfunded, a notional fund is used as a 
basis for calculating the employers’ contribution rate. It is not possible for the 

164



91

council to identify its share of the underlying liabilities in the scheme attributable 
to its own employees, and therefore for the purposes of the statement of accounts 
it is accounted for on the same basis as a defined contribution scheme, that is, 
actual costs are included in the revenue accounts, with no assets and liabilities in 
the balance sheet. 

8.42.2 However, in addition to the current scheme the council is contributing to former 
Hereford and Worcester teachers’ unfunded added years’ benefits. The liability of 
£1 million is included in the pension fund liability in the balance sheet in 2013/14.  

8.42.3 In 2013/14 the council paid employer contributions of £4.39 million in respect of 
teachers’ pension costs, which represented 14.1% of teachers’ pensionable pay. 
In addition, the council is responsible for all pension payments relating to added 
years it, or its predecessor authority, has awarded, together with the related 
increases. In 2013/14 these amounted to £106,000 representing 0.34% of 
pensionable pay. At the year-end there were contributions of £569,000          
remaining payable, which related to the March 2014 contributions paid to the 
scheme in April 2014. 

8.42.4 Under the new arrangements for Public Health, a number of staff performing 
public health functions transferred from the former PCT to the council. Those who 
had access to the NHS pension scheme on 31 March 2013 retained access to the 
scheme on transfer at 1 April 2013. The NHS scheme is an unfunded, defined 
benefit scheme that covers NHS employers and is a multi-employer defined 
benefit scheme. However, in the NHS it is accounted for as if it were a defined 
contribution scheme. As the NHS bodies account for the scheme as a defined 
contribution plan it is being accounted for in the same way for transferred public 
health staff as local authorities are unable to identify the underlying scheme assets 
and liabilities for those employees. 

8.42.5 In 2013/14 the council paid employer contributions of £101,000 in respect of NHS 
pension costs for public heath staff, which represented 14% of their pensionable 
pay.

8.43  Defined Benefit Pension Schemes 

 Participation in Pension Schemes 
8.43.1 Employees are eligible to join the Local Government Pension Scheme 

administered by Worcestershire County Council. This is a funded scheme, which 
means that the council and employees pay contributions into a fund, calculated at 
a level intended to balance the pension’s liabilities with investment assets. 
Although the benefits will not actually be payable until employees retire, the 
council has a commitment to make the payments and this needs to be disclosed 
at the time the employees earn their future entitlement. 

 Transactions Relating to Post-employment Benefits 
8.43.2 Under IAS 19 the cost of retirement benefits is included in the Cost of Services 

when it is earned by employees, rather than when it is paid as pensions. 
However, the charge required to be made against council tax is based on the 
cash payable in the year, so the real cost of the retirement benefits is reversed 
out via the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

8.43.3 The following transactions have been made in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement and the General Fund Balance via the Movement in 
Reserves Statement during the year: 

165



92

Local Government 
pension scheme

2013/14
Restated 
2012/13

£000 £000
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

Cost of services:
 current service cost 8,904 7,229
 past service cost/(gain) 31 63
  (gain)/loss from settlements (224) (1,362)

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure:
 Net interest expense
 Admin expenses

7,767 
149

7,520
113

Total Post Employment Benefit Charged to the Surplus or 
Deficit on the Provision of Services

16,627 13,563

Other Post Employment Benefit Charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

  actuarial (gains) and losses arising on changes in 
demographic assumptions 

2,795 4,065

  actuarial (gains) and losses arising on changes in 
financial assumptions 

(40,835) 20,237

Total Post Employment Benefit Charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

(38,040) 37,865

Movement in Reserves Statement
Reversal of net charges made to the Surplus or Deficit for the 
Provision of Services for post employment benefits

(16,627) (13,563)

Amount charged to the General Fund Balance for pensions 
in the year
Employer’s contribution payable to the scheme 9,735 9,717

8.43.4 The cumulative amount of actuarial gains and losses recognised in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to 31 March 2014 (since the 
introduction of the statement in the 2009/10 restated accounts) is a loss of £36.3        
million.

 Pensions Assets and Liabilities Recognised in the Balance Sheet 
8.43.5 The amount included in the Balance Sheet arising from the authority’s obligation in 

respect of its defined benefits plans is as follows; 
Local Government 
pension scheme 

2013/14
£000

2012/13 
£000

Present value of the defined benefit obligation 419,603 422,823
Fair value of plan assets (260,172) (235,421)
Net liability arising from defined benefit 
obligation 159,431 187,402

166



93

Reconciliation of present value of the scheme liabilities (defined 
benefit obligation): 

8.43.6 The table below shows the movement on the pension liability; 

2013/14
£000

2012/13 
£000

Opening balance 1st April 422,823 367,577 
Current Service Cost 8,904 7,229 
Interest Cost 18,186 17,646 
Contributions by scheme participants 2,401 2,535 
Remeasurement (gains) and losses;  
 Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from 

changes in demographic assumptions
2,795 4,065 

  Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from 
changes in financial assumptions 

(36,964) 40,643 

Past service cost 31 63 
Losses/(gains) on curtailment 944 422 
Liabilities assumed on entity combinations 17,870  
Benefits paid (16,219) (15,387) 
Liabilities extinguished on settlements (1,168) (1,970) 
Closing balance 31st March 419,603 422,823 

Reconciliation of the Movements in the Fair value of the scheme 
assets 

8.43.7 The table below shows the movement on the pension assets; 

2013/14
£000

2012/13 
£000

Opening fair value of scheme assets 235,421 208,323 
Interest income   10,419   10,126 
Remeasurement gain: The return on plan 
assets, excluding amount included in the net 
interest expense 

    3,871   20,406 

Administration expenses       (149)      (113) 
Settlements           0      (186) 
Liabilities assumed on entity combinations 14,693          0 
Contribution from employer    9,735   9,717 
Contributions from employees into the 
scheme 

   2,401   2,535 

Benefits Paid (16,219) (15,387) 
Closing fair value of scheme assets 260,172 235,421 

The actual return on scheme assets in the year was £12.4 million (2012/13 £30.4 
million)

167



94

8.43.8 Local Government Pension Scheme assets comprised:

Quoted
Fair value of scheme 
assets 

(Y/N) 31 Mar 
2014

31 Mar 
2013

 £000 £000 
Cash  
Cash instruments Y 2,081 3,767
Cash accounts Y 1,561 942
Net current assets N 2,602 4,002
   
Equity instruments 
UK quoted Y 67,385 58,384
Overseas quoted Y 93,662 91,108
Pooled investment vehicle - UK managed funds N 30,440 26,367
Pooled investment vehicle - UK managed funds 
(overseas equities) 

N 44,489 32,253

Pooled investment vehicle -  overseas managed 
funds

N 1,561 3,767

   
Bonds 
UK Corporate Y 1,821 1,883
Overseas Corporate Y 14,570 12,948
   
Total assets 260,172 235,421

Basis for estimating Assets and Liabilities 

8.43.9 Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit 
credit method, an estimate of the pensions that will be payable in future years 
dependent on assumptions about mortality rates, salary levels etc. 

8.43.10 The liabilities have been estimated by Mercers, an independent firm of actuaries 
based on the latest full valuation of the scheme as at 1 April 2013. 

 The principal assumptions used by the actuary have been; 

Beginning of 
period
(p.a.) 

End of period 
(p.a.) 

Long-term expected rate of return on assets in the 
scheme:
Equity investments 7.0% 7.0% 
Government Bonds 2.8% 3.4% 
Other bonds 3.9% 4.3% 
Cash/liquidity 0.5% 0.5% 
Property 5.7% 6.2% 
Mortality assumptions
Longevity at 65 for current pensioners:

 Men 22.5 years 23.3 years
 Women 25.0 years 25.7 years

Longevity at 65 for future pensioners:
 Men 24.3 years 25.5 years
 Women 27.0 years 28.0 years

168



95

Rate of inflation 2.4% 2.4% 
Rate of increase in salaries 3.9% 3.9% 
Rate of increase in pensions 2.4% 2.4% 
Rate for discounting scheme liabilities 4.2% 4.5% 

8.43.11 The estimation of the defined benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial 
assumptions set out in the table above. The sensitivity analyses below have been 
determined based on reasonably possible changes of assumptions occurring at 
the end of the reporting period and assumes for each change that the assumption 
analysed changes while all other assumptions remain constant. In practice this is 
unlikely to occur and changes in some of the assumptions may be interrelated. 
The estimations in the sensitivity analysis have followed the accounting policies 
for the scheme i.e. on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method.  

Increase in 
assumption 

£000
Longevity (1 year increase in life expectancy) 8,182 
Rate of inflation (increase by 1%) 7,730 
Rate of increase in salaries (increase by 1%) 1,376 
Rate for discounting scheme liabilities (increase by 1%) (7,590) 

Impact on the Authorities Cash Flows 
8.43.12 The council has agreed a strategy with the actuary to recover the deficit over 21 

years, resulting in the employer’s deficit contribution increasing from £4.2 million 
in 2014/15 to £7.6 million by 2016/17. The actuary has also requested that the 
element of the employer’s contribution related to clearing the deficit is paid as an 
annual cash sum. The actuary has confirmed that the future employers service 
contribution rate, which is paid as a percentage of current employees’ gross pay, 
is to increase from 11.7% to 14.6%. 

8.43.13  Total employer contributions expected to be made to the Local Government 
Pension Scheme by the council in the year ended 31 March 2015 is £9.6 million. 

8.43.14 Scheme History  

2009/10
£m

2010/11
£m

2011/12
£m

2012/13
£m

2013/14
£m

Present value of liabilities (379.5) (361.0) (367.6) (422.8) (419.6) 
Value of Scheme assets 216.1 229.2 208.3 235.4 260.2 
Surplus/(Deficit) in scheme (163.4) (131.8) (159.3) (187.4) (159.4) 

 History of Experience Gains and Losses  
8.43.15  The actuarial gain or loss identified within the movements on the pensions reserve 

can be analysed into the following categories, measured as a percentage of assets 
or liabilities at 31st March: 

   Restated  
2009/10

%
2010/11

%
2011/12

%
2012/13

%
2013/14

%
Differences between the 
expected and actual return 
on assets – gains/(losses)

27.0 (2.4) (9.4) 8.7 1.5 

 Experience gains and 
(losses) on liabilities

0 4.7 0 0 (0.4) 

169



96

8.44 Contingent Liabilities 
8.44.1 Local authorities are required to maintain a register of land charges in so far as 

they affect properties within their county or district. The purchasers of land within 
the county or district must obtain a search of the local land charges register. 
Historically councils have charged varying rates for the provision of land charge 
searches. A national debate has arisen as to whether this information could or 
should be provided under the FOI Act or EIR at lesser or indeed no cost to the 
purchaser. Litigation has been threatened against the council in connection with 
this issue and may be in receipt of legal proceeding. If the claim succeeded it is 
estimated to cost the council around £600,000.    

8.44.2 The council has the obligation for the after care of a number of closed landfill sites. 
No reliable estimate can be made of the future costs involved. However, as capital 
works are identified they are included in the capital programme. 

8.44.3 There is a risk in relation to disputed items in the Amey contract. Work is ongoing 
to resolve these disputes and determine the appropriate outcome. 

8.44.4 No estimate for losses of business rates income can be made for future appeals 
that have not been lodged with the VOA as they have not yet occurred. 

8.44.5 There is outstanding litigation from a care home provider following an adverse 
external inspection. 

8.45  Contingent Assets  

8.45.1 Following a policy review Her Majesty’s Revenues and Customs (HMRC)  
consider the provision of trade waste collection services to be a non-business 
activity and excluded from VAT. The council has submitted a claim to HMRC to  
reclaim VAT previously paid over to HMRC on waste collection and bags, the 
outcome of the claim is outstanding. 

8.46  Nature and Extent of Risks Arising from Financial
Instruments

8.46.1 The council’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: 

a. Credit risk: The possibility that other parties may fail to pay amounts 
owing to the council. 

b. Liquidity risk: The possibility that the council may have insufficient 
funds available to meet its financial commitments. 

c. Market risk: The possibility that the council may suffer financial loss as a 
result of economic changes such as interest rate fluctuations. 

8.46.2 The council has adopted CIPFA’s Treasury Management in the Public Services 
Code of Practice in setting out a Treasury Management Policy and strategies to 
control risks to financial instruments.   

8.46.3 During the year the council’s exposure to liquidity risk and market risk was 
considered to be no greater than previous years.  However, the weak economy 
and the ongoing financial crisis in the Eurozone meant that exposure to credit risk 
increased.  Treasury management sought to control this risk by only investing in 
the strongest financial institutions and by reducing the length of any term deposits 
made. 

170



97

  Credit Risk 
8.46.4 Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and other financial institutions, as well 

as credit exposures to the council’s customers.  Investments are only made in 
institutions recommended by Arlingclose, the council’s treasury adviser.  For 
credit rated counterparties, the council looks at the lowest long-term rating 
assigned by the three main credit rating agencies and the minimum criteria for UK 
institutions during 2013/14 was as follows: 

 Long-term minimum:  A- (Fitch);  A3 (Moody’s);  A- (Standard & Poor’s) 

8.46.5 The minimum criteria for UK institutions was A+ for 2011/12 but this was reduced 
for 2012/13 due to the downgrade below A+ of many institutions considered to be 
systemically important to the financial system. 

8.46.6 During 2013/14 the council continued to restrict investments to only the largest 
and strongest of the UK banks, the Nationwide building society, other local 
authorities and instant access Money Market Funds.   

8.46.7  The following analysis summarises the council’s potential maximum exposure to 
credit risk, based on default and uncollectability over the last five financial years, 
adjusted to reflect current market conditions. 

Amount
at 31st

March
2014

£000

Historical
experience
of default 

%

Historical
experience
adjusted for 

market
conditions

at 31st March 
2014

%

Estimated
maximum

exposure to 
default and 

uncollectability 
31 Mar 2014 

£000

Estimated
maximum

exposure to 
default and 

uncollectability
31 Mar 2013 

£000
Deposits with 
banks and 
financial
institutions 23,401 0 0 0 0 
Customers 18,829 0.37% 0.45% 85 72 

8.46.7 The amount outstanding for council debtors as at 31st March can be analysed by 
age as follows: 

31March 2014 March 2013
£000 £000

Less than 3 months 14,334 16,995 
3 to 6 months 967 675 
6 months to 1 year 1,387 1,335 
More than 1 year 2,141 1,631 

18,829 20,636 

 Liquidity Risk 
8.46.8 The council has a comprehensive cash flow management system that seeks to 

ensure that cash is available as needed.  If unexpected movements happen, the 
council has ready access to borrowings from the money markets and the PWLB.  
There is no significant risk that it will be unable to raise finance to meet its 
commitments.  Instead the risk is that the council will need to replenish a 
significant proportion of its borrowings at a time of unfavourable interest rates.  
Therefore the strategy is to spread the maturity of the council’s loans so that a 

171



98

significant proportion does not require repayment or refinancing at the same time. 
The maturity analysis of the loan debt is as follows: 

31 March 
2014

31 March 
2013

£000 £000 £000 £000

Less than 1 year 49,228 33,855 

More than one year:
Between 1 and 2 years 8,385 4,139  
Between 2 and 5 years 15,266 19,533  
Between 5 and 10 years 15,316 18,015  
More than 10 years 81,793 120,760 83,170 124,857 
Total borrowing per 
Balance Sheet 169,988  158,712 

 All trade and other payables are due to be paid in less than 1 year. 

 Market Risk 
8.46.9 The council is exposed to significant risk in terms of its exposure to interest rate 

movements on its borrowings and investments.  Movements in interest rates 
could have a significant impact on the council.  For instance, a rise in interest 
rates would have the following effects: 

a. Borrowings at variable rates - the interest expense charged to the 
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services would increase 

b. Borrowings at fixed rates – the fair value of borrowings would fall 

c. Investments at variable rates - the interest received credited to the 
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services would rise 

d. Investments at fixed rates – the fair value of the assets would fall 

8.45.10 Borrowings and investments are not carried at fair value in the Balance Sheet and 
so nominal gains and losses on fixed rate financial instruments would have no 
impact on the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services or Other 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.  The impact is made by changes in 
interest payable and receivable. 

8.46.11 The council’s loans are all fixed rate which means that when the Bank Base Rate 
is low the interest rate paid on borrowing is relatively high compared to the rate 
received on investments.   

8.46.12 The treasury management team has an active strategy for assessing interest rate 
exposure that feeds into the setting of the annual budget and is considered at 
quarterly strategy meetings with the council’s treasury advisors.  The council sets 
an annual Treasury Management Strategy which includes analysing future 
economic interest rate forecasts.  This analysis will advise whether new 
borrowing taken out is fixed or variable and, where economic circumstances 
make it favourable, fixed rate loans will be repaid early to limit exposure to losses.   

8.46.13 If interest rates had been 1% higher, with all other variables held constant, the 
financial impact on the council’s borrowings and investments in 2013/14 would 
have been as follows: 

172



99

1% Increase in
Interest Rates

£000

Increase in interest payable on new 
borrowing 294

Increase in interest receivable on 
investment balances 433

As noted above, an increase in interest rates benefits the council in the short-
term because, for the majority of the year, the council’s investment balances 
exceed the level of variable rate short-term debt. 

8.47  Trust Funds 
8.47.1 The council acts as trustee for a number of Trust Funds, which have been 

established for the benefit of different sections of the community, including 
several schools. The following summarises the movement on Trust Funds during 
the year: 

    New funds, 

    Investment 

Balance at   Revenue Transactions Sales and Balance at 

31/03/13 Income Expenditure Revaluations 31/03/14 

£ £ £ £ £ 
Education (small funds) 4,503 129 (424) 69 4,277
Sylvia Short Trust 1,217,608 45,000 (50,000) 5,000 1,217,608
Buchanan Trust 1,801,929 73,275 (84,536)  1,790,668
Other Funds 47,634 1,486  49,120

3,071,674 119,890 (134,960) 5,069 3,061,673

8.47.2 The Sylvia Short Educational Charity was established to provide children with 
learning experience outside the curriculum. An independent investment manager 
administers the fund and the accounts are prepared by an external accountant 
appointed by the trustees.  The 2013/14 accounts are not yet available and so the 
above figures for income and expenditure are estimates based upon the previous 
year.

8.47.3 The Buchanan Trust is invested in agricultural land around Bosbury for the benefit 
of tenant farmers.  

8.47.4 Other funds include the Hatton Bequest, which is available for Hatton Gallery 
exhibits. 

173



100

8.47.5 Assets and liabilities on the funds at 31st March were: 
2013/14 2012/13

£000 £000
Fixed Assets 774 774
Investments 1,260 1,270
Creditors (36) (36)
Debtors 21 21
Bad debt provision (1) (1)
Cash temporarily invested with Herefordshire Council 1,044 1,043

3,062 3,072

Represented by Trust Funds 3,062 3,072

174



101

9. COLLECTION FUND 
9.1 The Collection Fund is an agent’s statement that reflects the statutory obligation 

for billing authorities to maintain a separate Collection Fund. The statement 
shows the transactions of the billing authority in relation to the collection of 
council tax and business rates. From April 2013 the system of funding local 
authorities changed allowing council to retain a percentage of business rates. 

                      
2012/13   2013/14

Council
Tax
£000

Business 
Rates
£000

Total

£000
 Amounts required to be credited to the 

Collection Fund
    

  94,191 Council Tax Income (Note 2) 98,176 0 98,176
  13,081 Council Tax benefits Income 0 0 0
  44,573 Business Rates Income (Note 1) 

Contribution towards previous year’s 
Deficit

0 44,740 44,740

0 Hereford Council 761 0 761
  0

0
Hereford & Worcester Fire Authority 
West Mercia Police Authority 

45
110

0
0

45
110

151,845 99,092 44,740 143,832
 Amounts required to be debited to the 

Collection Fund
Precepts, Demands and Shares 

  12,865 West Mercia Police Authority 11,485 0 11,485
    5,301 Hereford & Worcester Fire Authority 4,732 463 5,195
  89,441 
44,275 

Herefordshire Council (including parishes) 
Central Government 

81,410 
0

22,711 
23,175 

104,121
23,175

0 Transitional Protection Payments Payable 0 181 181

298
132

Charges to collection fund 
Cost of collection Allowance 
Write offs of uncollectable debt 

0
71

299
136

299
207

  (23) 
0

Increase/(Decrease) of Bad Debt Provision 
Appeals Provision 

(16)
0

80
524

64
524

       0 Backdated Appeals Provision 0 1,603 1,603
0 Spreading of Backdated Appeals 0 (935) (935)
0 Other Transfers to General 0 42 42

152,289 97,682 48,279 145,961

      444 (Surplus)/Deficit for the Year (Note 3) (1,410) 3,539 2,129
      915 Balance brought forward 1,359 0 (1,359)
   1,359 Balance carried forward (51) 3,539 3,488

175



102

9.2 Notes to the Collection Fund 

1. The total non-domestic rateable value at the year-end was £123,731,055                  
and the national non-domestic rate multiplier for 2013/14 was 47.1p 

Non-Domestic Rates Income 
£000 £000 

Annual Debit  58,051 

Add:
Re-debits   14,056  
Valuation Changes 752 14,808 
   
Less: 
Empty Allowances 1,969  
Valuation Changes – Reductions 16,003  
Transitional Relief 33  
Discretionary Relief 628  
Mandatory Relief 
Small Business Rate Relief 

4,167
5,254

Enterprise Zone 60  
Interest  5 28,119 
 44,740 

2. Council tax income is derived from charges raised according to the value of residential 
properties, which have been classified into eight valuation bands. Estimated values at 
1st April 1991 are used for this specific purpose. Individual charges are calculated by 
estimating the amount of income required to be taken from the collection fund by the 
council, West Mercia Police and Hereford & Worcester Fire & Rescue Authority, and 
dividing this by the council tax base (the total number of properties in each band 
adjusted by a proportion to convert the number to a Band D equivalent and adjusted 
for discounts etc.). The amount of council tax for a Band D property is multiplied by a 
specified proportion to give an amount due for other property valuation bands. The 
average council tax for a Band D property in 2013/14 was £1,519.24 including fire, 
police and parish precepts, with a range of between £1,480.35 and £1,591.55.                
The council tax base used for setting the council tax in 2013/14 was 64,260.20.                
.

 The Band D equivalents in each valuation band are shown in the table below: 

Band Valuation Range Charge Factor Band D 
Equivalent 

    
A Up to £40,000 6/9 4,668.80 
B £40,001 to £52,000 7/9 10,392.80 
C £52,001 to £68,000 8/9 11,412.80 
D £68,001 to £88,000 9/9 10,980.10 
E £88,001 to £120,000 11/9 12,199.80 
F £120,001 to £160,000 13/9 8,678.90 
G £160,001 to £320,000 15/9 5,328.00 
H Over £320,000 18/9 313.50 

Crown   285.50 
 Council Tax Base  64,260.20 

176



103

Council Taxpayer Income £000 £000 
Council Tax debit at 1st April  121,691 
   
Add:
Redebits   80,166  
Banding Change 207  
Additional – Second Properties 
Additional – Empty Properties 
Additional – Property Discounts 

595
491
601 82,060 

   
Less: 
Discounts 11,070  
Exemptions 2,227  
Council Tax Reduction 12,420  
Disablement Relief 116  
Transitional Relief (2)  
Void Assessments 1  
Empty Assessments 79,743 105,575 
 98,176 

3. The Collection Fund (surplus) or deficit as at 31st March 2014 is split as follows; 

Council Tax Business Rates
£000             £000 

Hereford Council 
West Mercia Police 

(42)
(6) 

1,734
0

Hereford & Worcester Fire Authority (3) 35 
Central government  0 1,770 

177



104

10. DEFINITIONS 

Accounting Policies 
Specific principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices applied by an entity in 
preparing and presenting financial statements. 

Assets 
A resource controlled by the authority as a result of past events and from which future 
economic or service potential is expected to flow to the authority. 

Borrowing costs 
Interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. 
This includes finance charges in respect of finance leases. 

Carrying amount 
The amount at which an asset is recognised after deducting any accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses. 

Contingent Liability 
A possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed 
only by the occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control 
of the authority, or

A present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because 

(a) it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits or 

(b) services potential will be required to settle the obligation, or 

(c) the amount of the obligation cannot be measures with sufficient 
reliability.

Creditors
Financial liabilities arising from the contractual obligation to pay cash in the future for 
goods or services or other benefits that have been received or supplied and have been 
invoiced or formally agreed with the supplier. 

Debtors 
Financial assets not traded in an active market with fixed or determinable payments that 
are contractual rights to receive cash or cash equivalents. 

Depreciation
The systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of the asset over its useful life. 

Exchange Transactions 
Transactions in which one entity receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, 
and gives approximately equal value (cash, goods, services, or use of assets) to another 
entity in exchange.  

Fair value 
The amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. 

178



105

Finance lease 
A lease that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an 
asset.

Financial Instrument 
Any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or 
equity instrument of another. 

Grants and contributions 
Transfers of resources to an authority in return for past or future compliance with certain 
conditions relating to the operation of activities. 

Historical cost 
The carrying amount of an asset as at 1 April 2007 or at the date of acquisition, whichever 
date is the later, and adjusted for any subsequent depreciation or impairment. 

IFRIC
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) prescribes accounting 
treatment within the IFRS standards. 

Impairment loss 
The amount by which the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 

Intangible Asset 
An identifiable asset without physical substance e.g. computer software. 

Inventories 
These are assets; 

a) In the form of materials or supplies to be consumed in the production 
process 

b) In the form of materials or supplies to be consumed or distributed in the 
rendering of services 

c) Held for sale or distribution in the ordinary course of operations, or 

d) In the process of production for sale or distribution 

Investment property 
Property held solely to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. 

Liabilities 
Present obligations arising from past events, the settlement of which is expected to result 
in an outflow from the entity of resources embodying economic benefits or service 
potential. 

Material 
Items are material if they could, individually or collectively, influence the decisions or 
assessments of users. Materiality depends on the nature or size of the item, or both. 

Non-Exchange Transactions 
Transactions in which an entity either receives value from another entity without giving 
approximately equal value in exchange, or gives value to another entity without directly 
receiving approximately equal value in exchange. 

179



106

Operating lease 
A lease other than a finance lease 

Property, plant and equipment 
Tangible assets held for use in the supply of goods and services, for rental to others, or for 
administrative purposes, and expected to be used during more than one year. 

Provision
A liability of uncertain timing or amount. 

Related Party 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or 
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating 
decisions.

Revenue 
The gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential during the reporting period when 
those inflows result in an increase in net worth. 

Soft loan 
A loan at less than the market interest rate. 

180



Appendix B 

  
 

 
 

Herefordshire Council Main Switchboard (01432) 260000, www.herefordshire.gov.uk 
FILENAME 

Economy, communities and corporate 
Geoff Hughes 

Grant Thornton UK LLP 
Colmore Plaza, 
20 Colmore Circus, 
Birmingham 
B4 6AT 

Your Ref: 

Our Ref: 

Please ask for: 

Direct Line / Extension: 

Fax: 

E-mail: 

 

 

Peter Robinson 

01432 383519 

 

Peter.Robinson@herefordshrie.gov.uk 

29th September, 2014 

 
Dear Sirs 

Herefordshire Council 

Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2014 

This representation letter is provided in connection with the audit of the financial statements of 
Herefordshire Council for the year ended 31 March 2014 for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards. 

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief having made such inquiries as we 
considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves: 

Financial Statements 

1. We have fulfilled our responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements in 
accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting in Great Britain ("the Code") as adapted for International 
Financial Reporting Standards; in particular the financial statements give a true and fair 
view in accordance therewith. 

2. We have complied with the requirements of all statutory directions and these matters 
have been appropriately reflected and disclosed in the financial statements. 

3. The Council has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that could have a 
material effect on the financial statements in the event of non-compliance. 

4. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of 
internal control to prevent and detect fraud. 

5. Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including those 
measured at fair value, are reasonable. 

181



6. We are satisfied that the material judgements used by us in the preparation of the 
financial statements are soundly based, in accordance with the Code, and adequately 
disclosed in the financial statements. There are no further material judgements that need 
to be disclosed. 

7. Except as stated in the financial statements:  

a there are no unrecorded liabilities, actual or contingent 

b none of the assets of the Council has been assigned, pledged or mortgaged 

c there are no material prior year charges or credits, nor exceptional or non-recurring 
items requiring separate disclosure. 

8. We confirm that we are satisfied that the actuarial assumptions underlying the valuation 
of pension scheme liabilities for IAS19 disclosures are consistent with our knowledge.  
We confirm that all settlements and curtailments have been identified and properly 
accounted for.  We also confirm that all significant retirement benefits have been 
identified and properly accounted for.  

9. Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for 
and disclosed in accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the Code. 

10 All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the Code require adjustment or disclosure have been 
adjusted or disclosed.   

11 Actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and disclosed in 
accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards. 

12 We have no plans or intentions that may materially alter the carrying value or 
classification of assets and liabilities reflected in the financial statements. 

13 We believe that the Council’s financial statements should be prepared on a going 
concern basis on the grounds that current and future sources of funding or support will 
be more than adequate for the Council’s needs. We believe that no further disclosures 
relating to the Council's ability to continue as a going concern need to be made in the 
financial statements. 

14 We can confirm that included in the Council's 2013/14 year end accounts were 
contingent liabilities that could fall due following the conclusion of three on-going 
litigation cases. A reliable estimate cannot be made of these liabilities as of today’s date. 
We are not aware of any other possible significant litigation claims and no equal pay 
claims have been raised.  

 
Information Provided 

15 We have provided you with: 

a access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation 
of the financial statements such as records, documentation and other matters; 

182



b additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of your 
audit; and 

c unrestricted access to persons within the Council from whom you determined it 
necessary to obtain audit evidence. 

16 We have communicated to you all deficiencies in internal control of which management 
is aware. 

17 All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the 
financial statements. 

18 We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial 
statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud. 

19 We have disclosed to you all information in relation to fraud or suspected fraud that we 
are aware of and that affects the Council and involves: 

a management; 

b employees who have significant roles in internal control; or 

c others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

20 We have disclosed to you all information in relation to allegations of fraud, or suspected 
fraud, affecting the Council’s financial statements communicated by employees, former 
employees, regulators or others. 

21 We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-
compliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when 
preparing financial statements. 

22 We have disclosed to you the entity of the Council's related parties and all the related 
party relationships and transactions of which we are aware. 

23 We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose 
effects should be considered when preparing the financial statements. 

Annual Governance Statement 

24 We are satisfied that the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) fairly reflects the 
Council's risk assurance and governance framework and we confirm that we are not 
aware of any significant risks that are not disclosed within the AGS. 

Approval 

The approval of this letter of representation was minuted by the Council's Audit and 
Governance Committee at its meeting on 29th September 2014. 

 

 

183



Signed on behalf of the Council 

Name  Peter Robinson 

Position Chief Finance Officer 

Date  29.09.14 

 

Name  Councillor John Jarvis 

Position Chairman: Audit and Governance Committee 

Date  29.09.14 

184



1

Appendix 1 

Annual Governance Statement 2013/14

Scope of responsibility

1. Herefordshire Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is 
conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards and that public 
money is safeguarded, properly accounted for and used economically, 
efficiently and effectively.  The council also has a duty under the Local 
Government Act 1999 to make arrangements to secure continuous 
improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having regard 
to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 

2. In discharging this duty, the council is responsible for putting in place 
proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs and facilitating the 
effective exercise of its functions.  These include arrangements for the 
management of risk. 

3. The council has adopted code of corporate governance that is consistent 
with the principles of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance & 
Accountancy (“CIPFA”)/Society of Local Authority Chief Executives 
(“SOLACE”) framework for delivering good governance in local 
government.  The council’s code is available on the website at the following 
link:
http://councillors.herefordshire.gov.uk/documents/s16041/3Standards%20C
ommittee%20-%20Report%20to%20Council%20on%2031Oct08%20-
%20App1%20CoCG.pdf

4. The annual governance statement for 2013/14 explains how the council has 
complied with its code of corporate governance.  It also explains how the 
requirements of Regulation 4(2) of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 
2003, as amended by the Accounts and Audit (Amendment) (England) 
regulations 2006 in relation to the publication of a statement of internal 
control have been met. 

The purpose of the governance framework

5. The governance framework comprises the systems, processes, culture and 
values by which the council is managed and controlled.  The framework 
also sets out how the council accounts to, engages with and leads the 
community.

6. The governance framework enables the council to monitor the achievement 
of its strategic objectives and to consider whether those objectives have led 
to the delivery of appropriate and cost-effective services. 

7. The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is 
designed to manage risk to a reasonable level.  It cannot eliminate all risk 
of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives as an individual’s failure 
to comply with policies and procedures, even when provided with 
comprehensive training on them, can never be entirely eliminated. 

Appendix C

185



2

8. The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to: 

 (a) identify the risks to the achievement of the council’s policies, aims 
and objectives; 

 (b) evaluate the likelihood and impact of the risks should they be 
realised; and  

(c) identify and implement measures to reduce the likelihood of the risks 
being realised and to negate, or at least mitigate, their potential 
impact.

The governance framework 

9. The council’s corporate governance framework was adopted by Council on 
31 October 2008 and has been reviewed annually by the section 151 officer 
to ensure it remains fit for purpose.  It seeks to ensure that the principles of 
good governance are embedded into all aspects of the council’s work.  The 
five principles agreed within the code link to the six principles of good 
governance outlined in the SOLACE/CIPFA publication “Delivering good 
Governance in Local Government”. 

10. For ease of reference, the following table matches the council’s five 
principles with those contained in the SOLACE/CIPFA guidance: 

SOLACE/CIPFA
Guidance - 
Principle 1 

Focusing on the purpose of the authority, on 
outcomes for the community and creating and 
implementing a vision for the local area. 

Council – Principle 1 Provide the best possible service to the people 
of Herefordshire. 

SOLACE/CIPFA
Guidance - 
Principle 2 

Members and officers working together to 
achieve a common purpose with clearly defined 
functions and roles. 

Council – principle 2 Define the roles of members and officers, 
ensure that they work together constructively 
and improve their effectiveness. 

SOLACE/CIPFA
Guidance -  
Principle 3 

Promoting values for the authority and 
demonstrating the values of good governance 
through upholding high standards of conduct 
and behaviour. 

Council – Principle 3 Require high standards of conduct. 

SOLACE/CIPFA
Guidance - 
Principle 4 

Taking informed and transparent decisions 
which are subject to effective scrutiny and 
managing risk. 

186



3

Council – Principle 4 Take sound decisions on the basis of good 
information. 

SOLACE/CIPFA
Guidance - 
Principle 5 

Developing the capacity and the capability of 
members and officers to be effective. 

Council – Principle 2 Define the roles of members and officers, 
ensure that they work together constructively 
and improve their effectiveness. 

SOLACE/CIPFA
Guidance - 
Principle 6 

Engaging with local people and other 
stakeholders to ensure robust public 
accountability.

Council – Principle 6 Be transparent and open: responsive to 
Herefordshire’s needs and accountable to its 
people. 

11. The framework we have in place to ensure adherence to the code is 
described in more detail below. 

Principle 1 – Provide the best possible service to the people of 
Herefordshire

12. Herefordshire Council’s strategic vision for the county is set out in the 
Herefordshire Council Corporate Plan 2013/15 approved by Council in 
November 2012. An annual delivery plan is approved by Cabinet and 
funding to carry out these activities is agreed through the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy 2014/17 (MTFS). The MTFS is a three year rolling plan, 
covering both revenue and capital investment, updated annually. 

13. During 2013/14 a significant number of savings proposals were proposed 
and developed through the transformation programme of root and branch 
reviews and the subsequent chief executive’s review of financial savings 
plans. A cross party review of corporate priorities was conducted through 
the summer and autumn of 2013 which confirmed the current priorities 
remained fit for purpose. 

14. Overall performance has been reported to Cabinet on a quarterly basis with 
monthly financial outturn reports. A review of the performance reporting 
arrangements has led to the development of a quarterly performance 
review process led by senior management and engaging members of the 
executive, overview and scrutiny chairs and group leaders; this process is 
being implemented from July 2014. In addition Cabinet receives in June an 
annual report on performance, financial outturn and summary of the 
evidence base captured in ‘Understanding Herefordshire’ which 
incorporates the joint strategic needs assessment for the county, and 
summarises the input received from residents through consultations 

187



4

completed during the year. All these documents are available on the council 
website. 

15. The council aims to have good governance arrangements in respect of 
partnerships, and has developed protocols for working with particular 
sectors such as local councils and the voluntary and community sector. 

Principle 2 – Define the roles of members and officers, ensure that 
they work together constructively and improve their effectiveness

16. The constitution sets out transparently and comprehensively the rules 
controlling our business including the council’s executive arrangements, 
committee structure, codes of conduct, contract standing orders, financial 
procedure rules and schemes of delegation. We continue to refine and 
monitor our decision-making processes and constitutional arrangements to 
ensure they are robust, consistent, transparent, and fit for purpose. 

17. The Audit and Governance Committee’s terms of reference encompass 
responsibility for review of the constitution and in 2014 a cross party 
working group has been established to inform this work reporting to the 
committee.

18. The council publishes an annual pay policy statement setting out 
arrangements for employee remuneration. In Independent Remuneration 
Panel is established which makes recommendations to Council regarding 
member allowances. 

19. There is a formal staff performance review requirement for all officers.  

Principle 3 – Require High Standards of Conduct

20. The council has agreed values, which act as a guide for decision-making 
and a basis for developing positive and trusting relationships both within the 
council and between the council and its partners. 

21. A regular programme of member training has been delivered and induction 
provided for new members. Refresher briefing sessions on the code of 
conduct are held annually both for Herefordshire Council members and for 
parish and town councillors.  During 2013/14 the standards process was 
reviewed and minor amendments approved by Council to ensure the 
process remains as efficient and proportionate as possible. 

22. Managers are responsible for making sure employees keep to policies, 
procedures, laws and regulations. There is an employee code of conduct 
setting out clear expectations and standards; this is supported by employee 
policies such as whistleblowing, grievances, bullying and harassment. 

Principle 4 – Take sound decisions on the basis of good information

23. The council ensures its constitutional arrangements provide for effective 
council and executive decision-making with clearly defined roles for 
members and officers.  Decision makers are provided with complete 
information necessary for them to take balanced and informed decisions. 

188



5

24. The council’s two overview and scrutiny committees are provided with the 
support necessary to enable them to perform all statutory duties required of 
them.

Principle 5 – Be transparent and open: responsive to Herefordshire’s 
needs and accountable to its people

25. All meetings are held in public unless there are clear legal reasons for 
confidentiality. All executive decisions, including those taken by officers 
under delegated authority, are available on the council’s website. 

26. Public participation through submission of questions is encouraged at 
Council; the overview and scrutiny committees also provide for public 
participation both through submission of questions and suggestions for 
inclusion in the work programme. 

27. The council has strategies which support engagement; promote the use of 
digital technology to increase engagement and self-service; and respond to 
customer concerns if expectations are not met. 

28. The communications team help the council to communicate with all 
sections of the community in Herefordshire via the media, marketing and 
through digital channels. Services are making increasing use of social 
media. 

29. The council meets its statutory responsibilities regarding data transparency. 

Review of effectiveness 

30. Herefordshire Council has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a 
review of the effectiveness of its governance framework, including the 
system of internal control.  The review of effectiveness, jointly led by the 
section 151 officer and the monitoring officer, is informed by reports from 
internal and external audit, risk and performance reports, analysis of 
complaints and standards issues through the year, and assurance reviews 
completed by managers. 

31. Internal audit reports include specific agreed action plans to implement 
improvements identified, these are reported annually to the audit and 
governance committee. Four areas reviewed by internal audit during 
2013/14 were given limited assurance. Three related to service specific 
issues and the action plans related to these are monitored by the relevant 
service director; the remaining are (data protection) was of corporate 
concern and has been reflected in the annual governance statement action 
plan attached. 

32. The results of the review were provided to senior management to consider, 
and as a result of this review of the effectiveness of the governance 
framework an action plan has been drawn up (at appendix A) to address 
the key issues identified and ensure continuous improvement.  

189



6

Cllr Tony Johnson Signed: 
Leader of the Council Date: 

Alistair Neill Signed: 
Chief Executive Date: 

190



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Josie Rushgrove, Head of Technical Finance on Tel (01432) 261867 

 

MEETING: Audit and Governance Committee 

MEETING DATE: 29 September 2014 

TITLE OF REPORT: Waste VFM 

REPORT BY: Chief Finance Officer 
 

1. Classification 

Open 

2. Key Decision  

This is not a key decision. 

3. Wards Affected 

County-wide 

4. Purpose 

To advise of the conclusion of the waste PFI contract variation value for money 
assessment. 

5. Recommendation 

THAT the Audit and Governance Committee note the value for money 
conclusion. 

6. Alternative Options 

6.1 There are no Alternative Options, the contract variation has been concluded. 

7. Reasons for Recommendations 

7.1 Cabinet approved the contract variation for the construction of an energy from waste 
plant on 12th December 2013.  This report provides an update on the final contract 
variation value for money assessment provided by Delloitte, independent financial 
advisors. 

8. Key Considerations 

8.1 Following Cabinet approval in December 2013 to go ahead with the energy from 
waste plant Herefordshire Council and Worcestershire County Council negotiated 
with their contractor, Mercia, to agree the revised PFI contract variation.  The decision 
approved allowed for an increase in costs of £1.5m pa which was the best value for 

AGENDA ITEM 8

191



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Josie Rushgrove, Head of Technical Finance on Tel (01432) 261867 

9.1 The council is responsible for ensuring the appropriate disposal of waste for the 
county. 

10.1 The content of the report has no direct impact on equality and human rights. 

11.1 As set out in the report. 

12.1 None. 

13.1 As set out in the appendix. 

14.1 None 

 

money option available for the treatment of residual waste.  Following agreement with 
Mercia an increase was agreed of £0.6m pa, a £0.8m pa saving on the approved 
figure.  The updated business case, with financial data prepared by Deloitte, shows 
how the actual contract, costing Herefordshire £10.2m pa when the plant opens in 
Spring 2017, re-enforces that executing the contract variation provides the best value 
for money solution for Herefordshire residents. 

8.2 The new plant will receive up to 200,000 tonnes of residual waste from Herefordshire 
and Worcestershire per annum and generate 16.5 megawatts of electrical power per 
hour, enough to power the City of Hereford. 

9. Community Impact 

10. Equality and Human Rights 

11. Financial Implications 

12. Legal Implications 

13. Risk Management 

14. Consultees 

15. Appendices 

15.1 Appendix One - Final Variation Business Case 

16. Background Papers 

16.1 None identified. 

192



 

 

 
 
 

 

 

Herefordshire & Worcestershire 
Variation Business Case 

Version 4.0 
 

Update of Financial Information presented to Cabinet in December 2013, 
to reflect financial close reached in May 2014 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 
(DEFRA) 

 

 

Waste Infrastructure Delivery Programme 

(WIDP) 

 

 
 

Appendix One

193



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 2                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

Glossary 
 

AD Anaerobic Digestion 

AWC Alternate Weekly Collections 

BMW Biodegradable Municipal Waste 

CHP Combined Heat and Power 

DEFRA Department for the Environment and Rural Affairs 

DCLG Department for Communities and Local Government 

DSO Direct Service Organisation 

EfW Energy from Waste 

EPC Engineering, Procurement and Construction 

FOI Freedom of Information Act 2000 

HMT Her Majesty's Treasury 

HRC Household Recycling Centre 

IBA Incinerator Bottom Ash 

JMWMS Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy 

LACW Local Authority Collected Waste 

LATS Landfill Allowance Trading Scheme 

MBT Mechanical Biological Treatment 

MWM Mercia Waste Management ("Mercia") 

NAO National Audit Office 

NPC Net Present Cost 

NPV Net Present Value 

NTP Notice to Proceed 

VBC Variation Business Case 

Optimism Bias A systematic tendency to under-estimate project costs. 

Output Specification Definition of Service Requirements included in PFI Contract 

PFI Private Finance Initiatives 

RSS Regional Spatial Strategy 

SoPC4 HM Treasury: Standardisation of PFI Contracts, Version 4 

TPA Tonnes per annum 

UA Unitary Authority 

VFM Value for Money 

WCA Waste Collection Authority 

WDA Waste Disposal Authority 

WIDP Waste Infrastructure Delivery Programme 

WMSC Waste Management Service Contract 

WRATE Waste and Resources Assessment Tool for the Environment 

  

194



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 3                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

Contents 
 
# Section Page No. 

 Glossary .........................................2 

1. Executive Summary .........................................7 

2. Background .........................................9 

3. Strategic Waste Management Objectives .......................................19 

4. Variation Strategy .......................................25 

5. Risk Management, Risk Allocation and 
Contractual Structures 
 

.......................................30 

6. Project Team and Governance .......................................31 

7. Sites, Planning and Design 
 

.......................................34 

8. Costs, Budgets & Finance .......................................36 

9. Stakeholder Communications .......................................56 

10. Timescales .......................................58 

11. Appendices  

A:   Contract Variations .......................................60 

B:   Programme Risk Register .......................................64 

C:   Governance .......................................68 

   

   

   

   

   

 

 

195



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 4                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

Version Control 
 

Version Date Status Notes 

V0.8 29 July 2013 Working 
Draft 

The Financial Section (Section 8) is still in draft 
form.  Additional information will be added and 
Version 1.0 of the VBC will be issued over the 
next few days. 

V1.0 31 July 2013 Draft –
Issued to 
DEFRA 

Finance section (8) data now included 

V1.1 6 Aug 2013 Draft – 
Issued to 
DEFRA 

Contents – Page numbers and Appendix 
details updated 

V2.0 10 Sept 2013 Draft – 
Issued to 
DEFRA 

Finance Section (Section 8) updated 
(SP) 

 

Other updates to reflect clarification 
points.  Covering email to DEFRA 
outlines sections changed. 

V3.1 June 2014 Working 
draft 

Updates following conclusion of the 
contract variation 

V3.2 June 2014 Working 
draft 

Further updates 

V3.3 June 2014 Final 
working 
draft 

Incorporating comments from final 
review 

V4.0 June 2014 Published Version published  

 

 

 

 

  

196



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 5                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

References 
The following documents or reports are referenced within this Variation Business 
Case.  Where appropriate, a link has been provided to documents or content on 
web pages rather than including within appendices. 

 

Section  Document / Subject Link to Online Version or Content 
Provided 

2.3.2 Joint Municipal Waste 
Management Strategy 

http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/cms/re
cycling-and-waste/waste-strategy.aspx 

 

3.2.5 Waste Prevention http://www.letswasteless.com/cms/defaul
t.aspx 

 

3.5.6 JMWMS, Annex D http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/cms/re
cycling-and-waste/waste-strategy.aspx 

 

3.6.2 Environmental Statement http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/PublicA
ccess/tdc/DcApplication/application_detai
lview.aspx?caseno=L1WFA1RY00800#d
ate-details 

 

4.4.1 EnviRecover www.EnviRecover.co.uk 

 

7.1.7 Planning Documents http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/PublicA
ccess/tdc/DcApplication/application_detai
lview.aspx?caseno=L1WFA1RY00800#a
ssociated-documents 

7.3.1 Secretary of State Letter http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/cms/pd
f/Secretary%20of%20State%20Decision
%20Letter%20and%20Inspectors%20Re
port%20v1.pdf 

 

9.4.2 Community Liaison 
Group 

http://www.envirecover.co.uk/clg.htm 

 

 Worcestershire County 
Council Cabinet Report – 
December 2013 

Worcestershire County Council 
December 2013 Cabinet Report – 
Item 4 

 

 Herefordshire Council 
Cabinet Report – 
December 2013 

Herefordshire Council December 2013 
Cabinet Report – Item 4 

 
 

197



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 6                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

 DEFRA Letter confirming 
reassessment of PFI 
Credits 

 Worcestershire County Council Report 
Jan 2014 – Item 7 – Appendix D 

 

 Worcestershire County 
Council – Loan decision 

Worcestershire County Council Report 
Jan 2014 – Item 7 

 

 Herefordshire Council – 
Loan Decision 

 Herefordshire Council – Feb 2014 

  

198



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 7                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

1 Executive Summary 
1.1 Introduction 

1.1.1 Worcestershire County Council and Herefordshire Council ('the 
Councils') consider the proposal from its contractor, Mercia Waste 
Management (MWM), to develop an Energy from Waste (EfW) facility 
to be a contract variation. The original PFI contract signed in 1998 
included provision for an EfW plant.  This document focuses on the 
details regarding the variation. 

1.1.2 In December 2013 Cabinets (Herefordshire Council and 
Worcestershire County Council) agreed to vary the Waste 
Management Service Contract (WMSC) to have an EfW Plant at 
Hartlebury Trading Estate. 

1.1.3 Since December 2013 and following negotiations with MWM, the 
Councils concluded the variation in May 2014. 

1.1.4 Much of the Variation Business Case information is detailed within 
the December 2013 Cabinet Reports.  The financial section of this 
document – Section 8 - provides an update further to the December 
2013 Cabinet position, based on the position reached at financial 
close, as part of concluding the variation. 

1.1.5 This document, in particular the financial analysis, should be read 
in conjunction with the December 2013 Cabinet Reports and links to 
these are provided within the document. 

1.2 Background 

1.2.1 In order to meet the targets set out in the Joint Municipal Waste 
Management Strategy, councils must be working towards achieving 45% 
recycling by 31st March 2015 and 50% by 31st March 2020.  

1.2.2 Recognising that a new EfW plant will have a useful life which will extend 
beyond the end of the contract, the Councils have considered the impact 
of waste growth over the next 25 years. The resulting analysis indicated 
that a major treatment facility capable of processing up to 200,000 
tonnes per year is required. 

1.2.3 A contract variation was proposed; building upon the existing output 
specification with a view to incorporating the Councils currently assessed 
requirements and is the subject of this business case. 

1.2.4 Failure to obtain planning consent for the EfW Plant in 2002 permitted a 
no fault termination of the contract but the Councils and the contractor 
agreed to defer the operation of this clause within the contract to allow an 
opportunity for an alternative solution to be developed.  The contractor 
offered the possibility of a waste treatment plant or the transport of waste 
to another Waste to Energy Plant.  However the Contractor was also 
willing to work with a sub-contractor to deliver autoclave technology and 
the Councils chose to pursue this option. 

1.2.5 Autoclaving was however a novel technology.  Sites and two planning 
consents were obtained, however the contractor was unable to meet the 
Council's requirement to find a long term off take contract for the use of 
the fibre and a licence to develop the technology.   

199



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 8                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

1.2.6 Following the adoption of the Joint Municipal Waste Management 
Strategy, the Councils’ contractor started to pursue the development of 
an EfW Plant in accordance with that Strategy.  The site at Hartlebury 
was identified as being the best site available in the two counties for an 
EfW plant.  Worcestershire County Council’s Planning Committee 
considered the application in March 2011 and decided that they were 
“minded to grant planning permission”.  The site at Hartlebury is on a 
trading estate but is within the “Green Belt” and because of this the 
application had to be passed to the Secretary of State (SoS) for 
Communities and Local Government to consider whether he wanted to 
“Call In” the application.  The SoS did “Call In” the application and in 
2011 a Planning Inquiry took place to consider the application.  The SoS 
made his decision in July 2012 granting planning permission to the 
applicant, MWM.   

1.2.7 In order to maintain a consistent approach to the management and 
closure of issues and risks, a set of parameters were agreed.  These 
being; planning, financial, contractual and technical parameters within 
which an agreement with MWM could be reached. 

1.2.8 Previous Cabinet Reports (Herefordshire Council and Worcestershire 
County Council) have demonstrated a progressive satisfaction of the 
parameters and therefore closing of risks, e.g. Planning Parameters were 
satisfied / closed when the Secretary of State granted panning consent in 
July 2012. 

1.2.9 In December 2013 the Cabinets of the two councils decided to vary the 
WMSC to construct and operate an EfW plant at the Hartlebury Trading 
Estate.  This followed consideration of; affordability and a value for 
money assessment of a number of options including; variation of the 
contract, continue as is and terminate the contract.  In addition a number 
of financing options were considered.  Links to the December 2013 
Cabinet Reports is provided below: 

Herefordshire Council December 2013 Cabinet Report – Item 4 
 
Worcestershire County Council December 2013 Cabinet Report – Item 4 

1.2.10 Following dialogue with DEFRA and Her Majesty's Treasury (HMT), 
DEFRA confirmed the reassessment of the related PFI credits in 
December 2013.  This recognised the councils' decision based on their 
preferred option – as per the December 2013 Cabinet Reports – was to 
vary the existing contract to design, build, finance and operate the EfW 
plant at Hartlebury, MWM would source financing from the Councils who 
in turn would use their prudential borrowing to provide a loan MWM.   

1.2.11 In early 2014 both councils agreed the financing arrangements to provide 
a loan totalling £165 million to MWM. 

1.2.12 The pre-commencement planning conditions were satisfied in April / May 
2014. 

1.2.13 In May 2014 the Councils agreed a revised Joint Working Agreement 
between them. 

1.2.14 Following negotiations, the councils with MWM concluded the variation to 
the existing WMSC in May 2014.  

200



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 9                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

2 Background 
2.1 Responsibilities 

2.1.1 Herefordshire Council, as a Unitary Council, has two roles in Waste 
Management; as a Waste Disposal Authority and a Waste Collection 
Authority.   

2.1.2 Worcestershire County Council is an upper tier council, acting as a 
Waste Disposal Authority.  There are six Waste Collection Authorities 
within Worcestershire: 

· Bromsgrove District Council; 

· Malvern Hills District Council; 

· Redditch Borough Council; 

· Worcester City Council; 

· Wychavon District Council; 

· Wyre Forest District Council. 

Waste Disposal 

2.1.3 The Waste Management Service Contract (WMSC) is a PFI contract 
which has a 25 year term.  It is a partnership contract between 
Herefordshire and Worcestershire and was signed in December 1998 
and is due to finish in December 2023.  The contract is between the two 
Councils and Mercia Waste Management (MWM).  MWM is a company 
who solely operate this contract.  There are two equal shareholders in 
this company FCC Environment and Urbaser Ltd.  The contract is 
operated by an operating company called Severn Waste Services (SWS) 
who are owned by MWM. 

2.1.4 The contract signed in 1998 was one of the very early PFI contracts for 
waste management.  MWM are required, by the contract, to design, 
build, finance and operate a number of facilities across the 2 Counties.  
Under the original contract these facilities included; a Landfill Site at Hill 
and Moor (between Pershore and Evesham), an EfW Plant (EfW) at 
Kidderminster, Material Recycling Facilities in Worcestershire and 
Herefordshire, Composting Sites, Transfer Stations and Household 
Recycling Centres (which include the 5 operating sites in Herefordshire 
at Bromyard, Ledbury, Ross-on-Wye, Rotherwas, Leominster and a 
proposed site at Kington).  Most of the sites for these facilities are leased 
from the Councils by MWM and the sites and facilities will revert to the 
respective councils at the termination of the Contract.  SWS also manage 
all the logistics associated with the Waste Disposal role. 

2.2 History 

2.2.1 The Waste Management Service PFI Contract (WMSC) was signed 
between Herefordshire and Worcestershire Councils and Mercia Waste 
Management Ltd (Mercia) in December 1998 for 25 years.  Various 
reports to Cabinet have set out the detailed history of subsequent 
developments under the WMSC, this is summarised for convenience 
here.  It is important to recognise that the WMSC was for an integrated 
solution to be delivered by MWM for the disposal of all Local Authority 
Collected Waste (LACW) arising within the 2 counties.  The Councils' 

201



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 10                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

local authority waste disposal company (Beacon Waste) was transferred 
at the same time to MWM which took on responsibility for disposing of all 
'Contract Waste'.  

2.2.2 It is important to remember that the contract duly procured in 1998 
included a waste to energy solution for dealing with residual waste. 
MWM started the process to deliver such a solution at the anticipated 
British Sugar site in Kidderminster.  However, their planning application 
failed at appeal in 2002 and it was therefore acknowledged that the 
proposed EfW plant was undeliverable at that particular site.   

2.2.3 Accordingly, the Councils and Contractor agreed a "standstill" position 
whereby the respective rights of the parties to terminate the WMSC as a 
result of the failure to obtain planning permission for the Kidderminster 
EfW plant by the anticipated 'longstop' date were 'frozen' to allow the 
parties to continue to discuss alternative solutions for the treatment of 
residual waste.  The WMSC continued subject to its potential termination 
should the standstill agreement be brought to an end.   This standstill 
position "dropped away" when the variation to the contract to deliver the 
EfW Plant at Hartlebury was entered into in May 2014.  

2.2.4 The loss of the anticipated EfW facility to divert residual waste from 
landfill as per the contract meant the landfill site at Hill and Moor was 
filling considerably more quickly than had been anticipated under the 
WMSC and therefore some means of diverting waste from landfill 
needed to be developed.  Interim arrangements were made by MWM to 
dispose of some of the residual waste at EfW plants outside the counties 
to ease the situation. 

2.2.5 Various solutions for the residual waste were investigated including out 
of county disposal/ treatment and autoclaves.  Planning permission was 
obtained in 2005 for an autoclave solution at Hartlebury Trading Estate 
(Worcestershire) and Madley (Herefordshire). 

2.2.6 In 2006 Worcestershire County Council acquired the land at Hartlebury 
Trading Estate for the purposes of residual waste disposal, with the 
intention of developing an autoclave facility there.  However, autoclave 
negotiations with MWM broke down in 2007 due to the uncertainty about 
the end market for the process by-product.  A satisfactory end market 
was a planning requirement but it became clear that this could not be 
met with any certainty and so the autoclave option was not deliverable. 

2.2.7 The Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS) sets out the 
policy approach to waste management in accordance with the Waste 
Hierarchy.  In line with national guidance Waste Prevention is prioritised 
in order to reduce the amount of waste produced by the two councils.  
We then, in order of priority, encourage Reuse, Recycling and 
Composting of waste.   Any waste remaining is 'residual waste' which the 
strategy identified should be treated to recover energy.  Only after all 
these things have been done can we consider landfill as a means of 
disposing of any waste that remains.  Both councils have been very 
successful at reducing waste with some of the lowest waste per head of 
population in the West Midlands region.  It should also be noted that 
Central Government has imposed increasing financial penalties through 
Landfill Tax to promote the diversion of waste from landfill, and landfill is 

202



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 11                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

not a medium or long-term solution.  Since 1996 landfill tax has risen 
from £8/tonne to £72/tonne and from April 2014 it is £80/tonne. 

2.2.8 The JMWMS was originally adopted in 2004 and the 2009 JMWMS 
Review included a list of possible options for the treatment of residual 
waste and an appraisal of these was carried out by Environmental 
Resources Management Limited (ERM).  This included; a financial 
assessment of Capital and Operational expenditure (CAPEX and OPEX) 
costs of the various options for comparative purposes and an 
assessment of the different options against environmental criteria 
undertaken using the Environment Agency’s life cycle assessment tool – 
Waste and Resources Assessment Tool for the Environment (WRATE). 

Ø  Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy 

2.2.9 DEFRA guidance required the appraisal not to be weighted.  However in 
a workshop with the councils' consultants ERM (who were used by 
DEFRA to prepare the guidance for the preparation of the JMWMS), the 
councils highlighted that the most important elements to them which 
were; cost, reliability of deliverability and resource depletion.  The 
outcome of the workshop is reflected in the Residual Waste Options 
Analysis.  Both of the EfW solutions (with and without Combined Heat 
and Power – CHP) perform well against these criteria when compared to 
MBT or autoclaving.   

2.2.10 The financial assessment was for comparison purposes.  The potential 
incomes from heat supply, electricity export and the sale of recyclate to 
the market were omitted from the financial assessment.  This recognised 
the figures were subject to considerable uncertainty and was based on 
the industry expertise of ERM. 

2.2.11 The Residual Waste Options Appraisal shortlisted the following potential 
technologies for the treatment of residual waste in Worcestershire and 
Herefordshire: Energy from Waste (EfW) with and without Combined 
Heat and Power, Mechanical and Biological Treatment (MBT) with 
gasification or Refuse Derived Fuel Autoclave. 

2.2.12 The top two treatment solutions as assessed against the fourteen chosen 
un-weighted criteria were EfW and autoclaving. The Residual Waste 
Options Appraisal ranked EfW high, particularly with combined heat and 
power (CHP).   

2.2.13 In 2009 the Councils moved to the commingled collection of recyclables 
using the new facility created under the WMSC by Severn Waste 
Services at Norton in Worcester.  This facility means that the Councils’ of 
Worcestershire and Herefordshire are able to maximise the amount of 
recycling (excluding garden waste for composting).  The success of this 
approach is borne out by analysing Herefordshire and Worcestershire’s 
performance when compared against the other local authorities in the 
West Midlands.  The performance of Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
in dry recycling (that is recycling not including green waste) is amongst 
the best in the West Midlands.   

2.2.14 On 17 September 2009, Cabinet adopted the revised JMWMS.  This 
included a new policy to increase diversion away from landfill.  The 
Residual Waste Options Appraisal (Annex D to the JMWMS) informed 
the method for treatment of residual waste, and MWM was expected to 

203



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 12                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

bring forward proposals for disposing of residual waste in response to the 
JMWMS review. 

2.2.15 In line with the JMWMS, MWM proposed an EfW facility to deal with 
residual waste and commenced a site search.  This recognised the 
previous challenges associated with delivery of an autoclaving solution 
for Herefordshire and Worcestershire, reference point 2.2.7 above.  This 
resulted in the site at Hartlebury Trading Estate being selected as the 
best site available in the two counties for an EfW plant.   

2.2.16 Entec, now AMEC as specialist technical advisors to the Councils on 
waste, examined the EfW proposal both in relation to their own 
assessment of the Councils' requirements and the JMWMS.  The 
Executive Summary concluded that the EfW Proposal was likely to 
provide the flexibility required for the Counties' ongoing waste 
management needs over a number of differing waste growth scenarios.   
This is provided at Appendix 2 to the December 2009 Cabinet Report. 

2.2.17 In December 2009 Cabinet noted that MWM's proposals for an EfW 
facility with CHP on the Hartlebury Trading Estate appeared a good 
match with the JMWMS and were worth progressing through a planning 
application with a view to considering a variation to the PFI contract 
(WMSC) should planning permission be secured. 

2.2.18 The report to Cabinet in December 2009 noted that the financial 
assessments that need to be made are whether the proposal is: (i) 
affordable and (ii) represents Value for Money.  The report outlined how 
affordability and value for money could be assessed.  It was noted that 
other than giving an indication that, on balance, the EfW Proposal should 
pass the assessments, it was not possible – at the time – to present a 
detailed and robust financial assessment.  This was due to a number of 
factors including; time to secure planning permission, volatility in 
commodity pricing affecting construction costs and market conditions in 
the banking sector.  It was agreed that the Cabinets of the 2 Councils 
received a further report providing detailed analysis of the financial and 
waste disposal issues should planning permission be obtained by MWM 
in respect of the EfW proposal. 

2.2.19 The Councils did not consider it necessary in 2009 to undertake detailed 
value for money assessments based on the absolute costs of other 
technologies because the relative costs were understood within Annex D 
of the JMWMS.  The market variability's described in paragraph 2.2.18 
above would only have distorted those costs, had the caveats not been 
stated.  The fact that EfW with and without CHP were respectively at the 
top and near the bottom of the relative cost range made any further 
commitment of resource to value for money studies potentially wasteful 
and not very informative.  

2.2.20 The Director of Environmental Services (now, Director of Business, 
Environment and Communities) was tasked to negotiate with MWM a 
variation to the WMSC to give effect to the EfW proposal within certain 
parameters, and report back to Cabinet should planning permission be 
obtained.  The proposed site at Hartlebury Trading Estate (which had 
previously been acquired by the Council for the autoclave facility) was 
appropriated by the Council for planning purposes relating to the EfW 
proposal. 

204



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 13                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

2.2.21 MWM then sought planning permission for their proposal for an EfW 
plant at the identified Hartlebury site.  Worcestershire County Council's 
Planning and Regulatory Committee considered MWM's application for 
planning permission in March 2011 and decided they were "minded to 
grant planning permission".  As the site is situated in the Green Belt, this 
provisional decision was referred to the Secretary of State for 
Communities and Local Government who subsequently made the 
decision to "Call in" the planning application and determine it himself. 

2.2.22 The Secretary of State granted planning consent for the EfW Plant at 
Hartlebury in July 2012 following a comprehensive call-in Planning 
Inquiry.  The consent requires any development on site to commence 
within three years, i.e. July 2015.  All relevant issues associated with site 
selection, objections and process were dealt with at length in the inquiry 
and in the decision report.  

2.2.23 In granting the MWM planning permission the Secretary of State wrote 
that: 

“there is a compelling and urgent need for the facility as proposed and 
that there is no other suitable alternative site within Herefordshire and 
Worcestershire.” 

2.2.24 The issue of the health effects of EFWs was considered at the Planning 
Inquiry and by the Councils in developing the JMWMS.  The Councils 
have followed the authoritative advice on the health effects of EfW plants 
from the Health Protection Agency, their view is: 

“After reviewing the latest literature the Agency's general position 
remains unchanged: Modern, well managed incinerators make only a 
small contribution to local concentrations of air pollutants. It is possible 
that such small additions could have an impact on health but such 
effects, if they exist, are likely to be very small and not detectable.” 

2.2.25 The Councils, have endeavoured to secure capacity at other EfW plants 
throughout the West Midlands to ensure compliance with the then 
requirement to divert biodegradable waste from landfill.  A purchase of a 
very small amount of capacity has been achieved at Coventry’s plant; 
however the only other capacity that was capable of being secured was 
either near London or in Kent which clearly involved very substantial 
costs for transport. 

2.2.26 In February 2012, the Cabinet had authorised the Director of Business, 
Environment and Communities (BEC) to negotiate and conclude with 
MWM a variation to the WMSC to provide the EfW Plant at Hartlebury 
subject to certain Planning, Financial, Contractual and Technical 
Parameters. 

2.2.27 In December 2012, the Director of BEC reported to Cabinet on progress 
of the variation negotiations and satisfaction of the Parameters.  This 
report included a refresh by external experts of the JMWMS Residual 
Waste Options Appraisal which continued to rank EfW highly (with or 
without CHP). 

2.2.28 In December 2012, Cabinet authorised the Director of BEC, in 
consultation with the Director of Resources (and in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member with Responsibility for Environment and Waste 
Management), to pursue proposals for alternative methods of finance for 

205



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 14                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

the EfW plant given the relatively expensive bank debt financing which 
was being proposed. 

2.2.29 The Director of BEC Communities in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member with Responsibility for the Environment and Waste Management 
was also authorised to procure and commence enabling works at 
Hartlebury for the proposed EfW up to a maximum capital cost of £1.8M, 
without prejudice to the final decision on residual waste. 

2.2.30 The Director of BEC was asked to report back in 2013 regarding 
proposals for financing and procuring the proposed EfW plant (either by 
variation of the existing WMSC or fresh procurement), to enable Cabinet 
to take a final decision by weighing up the options available.  

2.2.31 In December 2013 Cabinets in Herefordshire Council and Worcestershire 
County Council agreed that the Councils should enter a variation of the 
exiting WMSC with MWM to give effect to Option 2 (variation to the 
existing WMSC to design, build and operate an EfW at Hartlebury funded 
through prudential borrowing) to enable the construction and operation of 
a new EfW Plant at Hartlebury. 

2.2.32 The Director of BEC (in conjunction with the Director of Resources and 
Herefordshire Council) was authorised to conclude a variation to the 
WMSC with MWM enabling the construction of the EfW Plant at 
Hartlebury and to take all necessary steps to put Option 2 (variation to 
the existing WMSC to build and operate an EfW at Hartlebury, financed 
through prudential borrowing) into effect. 

2.2.33 In most instances similar / equivalent reports were taken to Cabinet in 
Herefordshire Council. 

2.3 Key characteristics of Waste Disposal Authority (WDA) Area and 
Authorities 

2.3.1 Worcestershire and Herefordshire are predominantly rural 'shires' with 
some urban centres of population mainly to the north of the 
Worcestershire bordering Birmingham. 

2.3.2 Two of the collection authorities, Herefordshire and Wychavon operate 
under collection contracts and the other five have their own DSO's. 

2.4 Analysis of Waste Arisings 

2.4.1 The table below provides a summary of Waste Arisings.  

Table 1:  Waste Arisings 

Year 

Household 

Waste from 

WCA's 

Waste from 

Commercial 

Collections 

Household 

Waste from 

HRC's 

Other LACW 

(C&I at HRCs, 

Bring sites & 

Fly tipping) 

Total 

LACW  

Percentage 

change on 

previous 

year 

2006/7 257,234 16,293 108,248 38,837 420,613 n/a 

2007/8 253,701 16,481 93,273 32,445 395,902 -5.9% 

2008/9 246,559 16,115 92,321 32,633 387,626 -2.1% 

2009/10 243,045 15,773 90,357 27,142 376,317 -2.9% 

206



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 15                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

Year 

Household 

Waste from 

WCA's 

Waste from 

Commercial 

Collections 

Household 

Waste from 

HRC's 

Other LACW 

(C&I at HRCs, 

Bring sites & 

Fly tipping) 

Total 

LACW  

Percentage 

change on 

previous 

year 

2010/11 249,671 11,855 85,623 24,801 371,951 -1.2% 

2011/12 244,206 7,686 81,999 33,293 367,184 -1.3% 

2012/13 243,987 11,489 81,009 25,788 362,273 -1.3% 

       

2.5 Details of current arrangements for collection and disposal  

Current collection arrangements 

2.5.1 Current waste collection arrangements within the two Counties are 
summarised below: 

Bromsgrove District Council 

· Commingled recyclables collected on alternate weeks in 240 litre 
wheeled bins. 

· Residual waste collected on alternate weeks in 240 litre wheeled bins 

· Subscribed garden waste service. 

· Commercial collection service operated by DSO. 

Malvern Hills District Council 

· Commingled recyclables collected on alternate weeks in 240 litre 
wheeled bins. 

· Residual waste collected weekly in sacks. 

· Subscribed garden waste service. 

· Commercial collection service operated by DSO. 

Redditch Borough Council 

· Commingled recyclables collected on alternate weeks in 240 litre 
wheeled bins. 

· Residual waste collected on alternate weeks in 240 litre wheeled bins. 

· Commercial collection service contracted out. 

Worcester City Council 

· Commingled recyclables collected on alternate weeks in 240 litre 
wheeled bins. 

· Residual waste collected on alternate weeks in 190 litre wheeled bins. 

· Subscribed garden waste service. 

· Commercial collection service operated by DSO. 

Wychavon District Council 

207



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 16                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

· Commingled recyclables collected on alternate weeks in 240 litre 
wheeled bins. 

· Residual waste collected on alternate weeks in 180 litre wheeled bins. 

· Food waste collected weekly (although on the residual collection week 
the food waste is landfilled and not sent to IVC as it is on the recycling 
week) – this was terminated in January 2014 

· Subscribed garden waste service. 

· Commercial collection service operated by collection contractor. 

Wyre Forest District Council 

· Commingled recyclables collected on alternate weeks in 240 litre 
wheeled bins. 

· Residual waste collected on alternate weeks in 240 litre wheeled bins. 

· Subscribed garden waste service. 

· Commercial collection service operated by DSO. 

Herefordshire Council 

· Commingled recyclables collected on alternate weeks in 240 litre 
wheeled bins. 

· Residual waste collected weekly in sacks. 

· Commercial collection service operated by collection contractor. 

Current disposal arrangements 

2.5.2 Current disposal arrangements across both Worcestershire and 
Herefordshire are summarised below; 

· Recyclable waste is either; (i) sorted at the Material Reclamation 
Facility near Worcester, before going on to re-processors for recycling 
or (ii) directly delivered to re-processors having been separated at one 
of the Household Recycling Centres (HRC). 

· Garden waste is processed at composting facilities near 
Abergavenny, Pershore, Ledbury, and Leominster. 

· Residual waste is either sent for treatment at the EfW facility in 
Coventry or landfilled at sites near Kidderminster and Pershore. 

· Commercial residual waste collections are either sent for treatment at 
the EfW facility in Coventry or landfilled at a site near Pershore. 

· Commercial recycling collections are being trialled by some WCA's 
and the waste collected is disposed of through the standard 
contractual routes. 

2.6 Performance of existing recycling and composting services 

2.6.1 The table below shows a summary of both recycling and composting 
performance for Worcestershire County Council.   

208



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 17                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

Table 2:   Summary of Recycling and Composting Performance for 
Worcestershire County Council 

Year Tonnage 
Recycled 

Tonnage 
Composted 

Percentage of household 
waste recycled and composted 

2006/7 64,825 28,155 32.3 

2007/8 75,822 28,702 38.3 

2008/9 77,848 33,503 41.6 

2009/10 75,421 32,796 41.7 

2010/11 75,815 34,107 42.8 

2011/12 76,407 32,896 43.3 

2012/13 75,390 34,747 43.6 

    

2.6.2 The table below shows a summary of both recycling and composting 
performance for Herefordshire Council.   

Table 3:   Summary of Recycling and Composting Performance for 
Herefordshire Council 

Year 
Tonnage 
Recycling 

Tonnage 
Composted 

Percentage of household 
waste recycled and composted 

2006/7 16,877 6,657 25.9 

2007/8 19,710 6,594 30.2 

2008/9 20,057 7,359 33.2 

2009/10 21,249 7,250 35.6 

2010/11 23,717 7,400 39.8 

2011/12 23,659 7,251 40.1 

2012/13 22,579 7,653 39.7 

    

2.7 Residual Waste Treatment – recent performance trends 

2.7.1 The tables below provide a summary of Residual Waste Treatment for 
both Worcestershire County Council and Herefordshire Council.   

Table 4:   Summary of Residual Waste Treatment for Worcestershire 
County Council 

Year 
Tonnage 
Thermally 
Treated 

Tonnage of 
LACMW 

Landfilled 

Percentage 
Diversion Rate 

Tonnage of 
BMW Landfilled 

Landfill 
Allowances 

2006/7 25,857 181,100 43.1 133,044 164,466 

2007/8 25,513 155,859 48.0 112,113 152,250 

2008/9 31,317 137,200 53.5 96,701 136,980 

2009/10 31,895 130,670 54.3 91,975 118,656 

2010/11 18,617 137,695 51.5 99,083 105,448 

2011/12 17,268 134,891 52.0 99,083 92,241 

2012/13 13,588 136,678 50.7 87,616 79,033 

      

 

209



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 18                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

Table 5:   Summary of Residual Waste Treatment for Herefordshire 
Council 

Year 
Tonnage 
Thermally 
Treated 

Tonnage of 
LACMW 

Landfilled 

Percentage 
Diversion Rate 

Tonnage of 
BMW Landfilled 

Landfill 
Allowances 

2006/7 1,189 70,142 31.3 53,549 50,681 

2007/8 85 64,340 33.0 48,000 46,635 

2008/9 83 59,664 35.4 44,146 41,577 

2009/10 82 56,198 37.7 41,911 35,508 

2010/11 83 50,664 42.4 38,647 31,555 

2011/12 84 49,076 43.2 37,903 27,603 

2012/13 84 49,099 42.1 33,474 23,651 

      

 

LACMW:  Local Authority Collected Municipal Waste 

BMW:  Biodegradable Municipal Waste  

210



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 19                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

3 Strategic Waste Management Objectives 
3.1 Reviews / amendments to Joint Municipal Waste Management 

Strategy (JMWMS) since Financial Close 

3.1.1 The first Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS) for 
Herefordshire and Worcestershire was developed in 2004.  It was drafted 
to form the framework for the management of municipal waste in the 
counties of Herefordshire and Worcestershire for the next thirty years 
until 2034.  It was prepared jointly by all Local Authorities responsible for 
managing municipal waste across the two counties.  

3.1.2 In 2009, the Strategy was reviewed and it is the aspiration of the 
authorities to continue to review this every five years.  This will ensure 
the Strategy is adapted to reflect changes and remains relevant as waste 
management in the United Kingdom continues to evolve.  During the 
most recent review the Local Authority partners and stakeholders were 
invited to give their opinions on the direction that the revised Strategy 
should take with the adopted version being published in August 2011. 

http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/cms/recycling-and-waste/waste-
strategy.aspx 

Strategy Development 

3.1.3 The Strategy review first assessed Herefordshire and Worcestershire’s 
current position and any changes in drivers from the original 2004 
strategy document.  In response to this, a number of principles which 
govern the way municipal waste should be managed in Herefordshire 
and Worcestershire were identified.  

Summary of Principles 

Table 6:  10 Principles 

Principle 1  Meeting the challenge of climate change by viewing 
waste as a resource 

Principle 2 Commitment to the waste hierarchy of which waste 
prevention is the top 

Principle 3 Influencing Government, waste producers and the 
wider community 

Principle 4  Continued Commitment to Re-Use, Recycling and 
Composting 

Principle 5 Minimising the Use of Landfill 

Principle 6 Partnership 

Principle 7 Monitoring and Review 

Principle 8 Customer Focus 

Principle 9 Value for Money 

211



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 20                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

Principle 10 Consideration of Social, Environmental and 
Economic Impacts 

3.1.4 The above principles were used as a framework to guide the creation of 
24 policies and 6 targets by which the strategic principles will be 
delivered.  The full range of policies can be found in the web based 
documentation and a brief summary of targets are presented below. 

Target Summary 

Table 7:  Targets 

Target 1 Climate change target measured against NI185, 186 and 188) 

Target 2 To achieve the national reduction in kg/head of household waste (not 
re-used, recycled or composted) of 35% by 2015 and 45% by 2020 
based on 2000 levels 

Target 3 To achieve national recycling / composting levels of household waste 
of 45% by 31 March 2015 and 50% by 31 March 2020. 

Target 4 To achieve the requirements of the Household Waste Recycling Act 
2003 to provide a kerbside collection of at least 2 recyclable materials 
from all households by 31 December 2010. 

Target 5 By 2015, or earlier if practicable, recover value from a minimum of 
78% of municipal waste.  The aim of this is to achieve the Best 
Practicable Environmental Option (BPEO) that was identified in July 
2003 through a portfolio of treatment options, i.e. a minimum of 33% 
of waste to be recycled and / or composted, an additional 45% of 
waste to be recovered with a maximum of 22% landfilled.  BPEO 
continues to be a policy of the Councils 

Target 6 To reduce the amount of biodegradable municipal waste landfilled in 
order to meet the yearly allowances set by the Government under the 
Landfill Allowance Trading Scheme.  In particular target years as 
below: 

102,684 tonnes during April 2012 – Mrch2013 

71,851 tonnes during April 2019 to March 2020 

3.1.5 The range of options available to enable Herefordshire and 
Worcestershire to meet their targets was studied as part of the review.  
Options appraisals were conducted covering: waste prevention, 
recycling, composting and residual waste treatment. 

3.2 Waste minimisation schemes  

3.2.1 Over the next 20–25 years it is aimed to change the way that municipal 
waste is managed in Herefordshire and Worcestershire and this is 
encompassed within the refresh of the JMWMS.  The principle upon 
which the Strategy is built is waste prevention, the top of the Waste 
Hierarchy 

3.2.2 Through making opportunities available, designing appropriate collection 
systems and raising awareness, the Partnership will endeavour to ensure 
that everyone in communities can play an active role in ensuring that the 
amount of waste is reduced before it enters the waste stream. The 
Partnership will continue to promote waste prevention through a variety 
of campaigns and initiatives that will be reviewed to ensure that the most 
effective targeting of key waste streams are implemented. 

212



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 21                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

3.2.3 As a result of the waste prevention measures introduced in the JMWMS 
in 2004, the growth in municipal waste arisings in the two counties had 
stopped and waste was starting to decline. More recently this has started 
to grow.  In future years to 2034, it is estimated that municipal waste will 
only grow in line with the increase in the number of households across 
the counties identified in the Regional Spatial Strategy. 

3.2.4 An important way of minimising residual waste is through a combination 
of alternate weekly collections and/or decreasing container capacity over 
time. A "core" level of service has therefore been developed and 
introduced by all WCA’s. This ensures continuity and consistency of 
service across the Counties 

3.2.5 The assessment of options carried out when refreshing the Strategy 
indicated that; home composting, food waste prevention, ‘smart 
shopping’, and both re-use and junk mail initiatives could have the 
biggest impact in terms of reducing both waste collection and disposal 
costs. Consequently a website has been developed that promotes these 
and other initiatives and a link is as follows: 

http://www.letswasteless.com/cms/default.aspx 

3.2.6 Home composting continues to provide potentially the single most 
effective prevention measure. Our approach is to promote home 
composting in order to reduce the environmental impact of disposing of 
compostable waste. Promotion of home composting through the sale of 
subsidised compost bins and provision of advice to residents through the 
‘Master Composter’ scheme will continue. Home composting also 
reduces collection and disposal costs and ensures that value is 
recovered from the waste material. 

3.2.7 The authorities are working with agencies on national waste prevention 
campaigns. The Waste Resource Action Programme food waste 
reduction and ‘Shop Smart’ campaigns are examples. Work is also 
underway at a local level to develop initiatives to recruit and train 
volunteers to advise and promote waste prevention. 

3.2.8 One measure of success in this area can be found on WRAP's website in 
their case study entitled 'Love Food Hate Waste’ campaign 
(Herefordshire & Worcestershire). 

3.2.9 Herefordshire and Worcestershire have been and will endeavour to 
continue to be innovative in developing and promoting campaigns such 
as the ‘Sink your Waste’ campaign which offered a cash back incentive 
for residents who fitted a food waste disposer in their home and reduced 
the volume of food waste entering the municipal waste stream. 

3.2.10 The authorities will continue to build upon the success of current waste 
prevention initiatives where practicable and financially viable, ensuring 
that they continue to deliver effective results. The approach will be to 
encourage and achieve waste prevention.  

3.3 Recycling and composting performance figures 

3.3.1 The table below shows the recycling and composting figures for 
Herefordshire and Worcestershire combined. 

213



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 22                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

Table 8:  Recycling and Composting Figures 

Year Recycling Actual Figures Year Composting Actual Figures 

 Tonnes % HHW  Tonnes % HHW 

 

2001/02 

2002/03 

 

30,750 

26,673 

 

8.2 

7.1 

 

2001/02 

2002/03 

 

19,075 

20,487 

 

5.1 

5.5 

2003/04 

2004/05 

2005/06 

2006/07 

2007/08 

2008/09 

2009/10 

2010/11 

2011/12 

52,549 

65,255 

70,058 

81,702 

95,531 

97,905 

96,670 

99,532 

100,066 

13.7 

16.4 

18.6 

21.5 

26.6 

27.9 

28.5 

29.7 

30.4 

2003/04 

2004/05 

2005/06 

2006/07 

2007/08 

2008/09 

2009/10 

2010/11 

2011/12 

20,451 

28,552 

33,909 

34,812 

35,296 

40,862 

40,045 

41,507 

40,148 

5.3 

7.2 

8.9 

9.2 

9.8 

11.7 

11.8 

12.4 

12.2 

2012/13 97,969 29.8 2012/13 42,400 12.9 

3.3.2 The original contracted recycling and composting performance is 26.5%, 
this has increased to 37.5% through the recently concluded contract 
variation.  This is not directly comparable with the national statistics 
shown above.  This is because the composting performance is based on 
the product produced and not the quantity of waste input into the 
processing facility.  To clarify, the rates shown in Table 8, are calculated 
based on the old Best Value Indicators 82a and 82b, which in essence 
are similar to National Indicator 192.  In terms of composting they are 
based on inputs to the compost facility and not outputs.  Whereas 
contractually, the performance is measured against outputs from the 
composting facility and therefore the contractual recycling performance is 
recorded as being lower for essentially the same level of performance. 

3.4 Landfill objectives  

3.4.1 The original contract had a recovery rate of 52.5%, this has increased to 
65.63% in the recently concluded contract variation.. The end of the 
Landfill Allowance Trading Scheme in September 2013 means that there 
are no devolved targets for landfill diversion; however there is a target 
within the JMWMS (Target 5) to recover value from 78% or more of 
municipal waste.   

3.5 Appraisal of technology options for residual waste treatment 

3.5.1 It has long been recognised within the two counties, that reliance on 
landfill is not a sustainable option and the principle of reducing the use of 
landfill for disposal of residual waste has been followed.  Whatever 
alternative treatment methods are used, the aim is to recycle and recover 
value from the maximum amount of waste possible and reduce reliance 
upon landfill. 

3.5.2 During the JMWMS review, an appraisal of residual waste treatment 
options was conducted by ERM – Technical Advisors to the Councils - on 
the following residual waste treatment options: 

214



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 23                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

 

Option A a single Energy from Waste (EfW) facility 

Option B a single EfW facility with combined heat and power (CHP) 

Option C two Mechanical Biological Treatment (MBT) facilities, 
located on two separate sites, one with onsite combustion 

Option D two MBT facilities each with offsite combustion 

Option E a single autoclave 

Option F two autoclaves, located on separate sites 

Option G EfW located out of county 

3.5.3 The options listed above were assessed against a range of 
environmental, social and economic criteria.  Assessment of the different 
options against the environmental criterion was undertaken using the 
Environment Agency’s life cycle assessment tool; Waste and Resources 
Assessment Tool for the Environment, (WRATE).  The assessments 
against the remaining criteria were undertaken using both quantitative 
and qualitative appraisal methods in accordance with best practice 
DEFRA requirements. 

3.5.4 Option B (EfW with CHP) was identified as the highest ranking 
technology, scoring the highest marks in; global warming, transport, 
reliability, compliance with policy, flexibility and end product liability. 
Whilst all the criteria assessed were seen as important; cost, reliability 
and resource depletion were seen as key criteria.  Option B scored well 
against these key criteria with the exception of cost, where it was ranked 
fifth, although income from the heat generated had not been taken into 
consideration.   

3.5.5 It was therefore concluded that the two counties would, with the adoption 
of the JMWMS, seek to pursue a strategy including the provision of EfW 
with CHP. 

3.5.6 The full appraisal can be found in Annex D to the JMWMS: 

http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/cms/recycling-and-waste/waste-
strategy.aspx 

3.6 Assessment of environmental impact of the proposed solution 

3.6.1 During the public inquiry following the 'call in' of the Worcestershire 
County Council Planning Committee decision, who were 'minded to 
approve' the facility, the environmental impact of the facility was subject 
to further scrutiny.  The Secretary of State decision notice states in 
paragraph 7.13 (iv): 

'………..EnviRecover has been the subject of a full environmental impact 
assessment which concludes that there are no significant or 
unacceptable impacts remaining following the adoption of appropriate 
mitigation measures.  No party has challenged the adequacy of the ES.'  

215



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 24                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

3.6.2 The full environmental statement can be found as part of MWM's 
planning application in Documents 51 to 126 inclusive:  Link to the 
documents below. 

http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/PublicAccess/tdc/DcApplication/applica
tion_detailview.aspx?caseno=L1WFA1RY00800#date-details 

  

216



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 25                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

4 Variation Strategy for the EfW Contract Variation 
4.1 Value for Money is covered in Section 8 

 
4.2 Introduction 

4.2.1 The 1998 contract requires the contractor to dispose of the municipal 
waste arising within Herefordshire and Worcestershire.  From this waste 
the contractor must recycle a minimum of 26.5% and recover value from 
a minimum of 52.5%.  

4.2.2 In order to meet the targets set out in the JMWMS, household 
recycling/composting must be working towards achieving 45% by 31 
March 2015 and 50% by 31 March 2020.  Since commencement of the 
contract, discussions with the contractor have resulted in a number of 
variations to the contract to drive up the level of recycling.  A summary of 
the contract variations is detailed in Appendix A.  The JMWMS also 
requires the recovery of value from a minimum of 78% of municipal 
waste by 2015 or earlier and also seeks to reduce the amount of 
biodegradable municipal waste (BMW) landfilled in order to meet the 
yearly allowances under the Landfill Allowance Trading Scheme.    

4.2.3 With a requirement to achieve a 78% recovery of value and increased 
BMW diversion from landfill to ensure that the Councils are not penalised 
for landfilling more than their allocated LATS allowance,  the contractor – 
Mercia Waste Management (MWM) - was asked to develop proposals to 
meet the Councils' revised strategic objectives.   

4.2.4 The contractor proposed the development of an EfW facility with a 
capacity of 200,000 tonnes per annum.  Their proposals have been 
tested against a number of differing waste arising growth scenarios and 
other criteria, and it has been concluded that they are in accordance with 
the JMWMS, are robust and offer the councils the flexibility to deliver 
sustainable waste management services going forwards. 

4.3  Overall Strategy for executing the Variation 

4.3.1 The strategy for executing the variation focuses on delivery of the original 
intent of the contract and the final main component of the required Waste 
Management Infrastructure required to deliver the JMWMS – the EfW 
facility, ensuring it is affordable and demonstrates value for money.   

4.3.2 Under the terms of the existing PFI Contract between MWMMWM and 
the councils, MWM are procuring an EfW facility in order to fulfil their 
contractual obligations for the management of waste arising within the 
two counties.  The inclusion of the EfW facility will be the subject of a 
variation to the existing contract.   

4.3.3 A number of options for the financing of the EfW have been considered.  
The appraisal of these options and an explanation regarding funding 
proposals are detailed in Section 8.  

4.3.4 Under the terms of the existing contract, MWM are procuring the EfW 
facility directly via an engineering, procurement and construction (EPC) 
contractor.  The councils have used their advisors (as detailed in Section 
6) to confirm that the procurement is evaluated on an appropriate value 
for money basis.  MWM engaged Fichtner to run the procurement 

217



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 26                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

process as a fair and transparent competitive process.  The following 
stages of procurement have been followed: 

# Stage 

1 Pre-selection and identification of potential bidders 

2 Prequalification 

3 Preparation of the tender specification and contract conditions 

4 Issue of the tender enquiries 

5 Tender clarifications 

6 Tender assessment 

7 Tender submission clarifications 

8 Short listing of preferred bidders 

9 Call for best and final offers (BAFO) 

10 Tender assessment of BAFO 

11 Clarifications 

12 Short listing of final preferred bidders – Revised and Confirmed 
Bid (RACB) 

13 Final Contract Negotiation 

14 EPC Contract Award 

4.3.5 A Project Team was in place to deliver the planned variation.  Details of 
the governance, project team, advisors and the approval steps are 
detailed in Section 6. 

4.4 Changes to the Output Specification 

4.4.1 The output specification originally sought in 1996 was the subject of the 
WMSC signed in December 1998.  It included: 

• Taking ownership of the Councils' wholly owned waste disposal 
company; 

• Becoming responsible for the treatment and disposal of all the 
domestic waste arising within Herefordshire and Worcestershire; 

• Recycling at least 26.5 % of waste arising; 

• Recovering value from at least 52.5% of waste arising; 

• Refurbishing and managing all of the Household Waste Sites; and 

• Assets are to revert to the Councils upon termination of the contract. 

4.4.2 Since the contract was signed, national targets for recycling have 
increased and it is necessary to increase the level of the diversion of 

218



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 27                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

waste from landfill.  Recognising that the new EfW plant will have a 
useful life which will extend beyond the end of the contract, the Councils 
have considered the impact of waste growth over the next 25 years.  The 
resulting analysis indicates that a major treatment facility capable of 
processing up to 200,000 tonnes per year is required.   

4.4.3 The contractor has produced a specification for the EfW facility based on 
the initial contract requirements and incorporating more recent waste 
growth information from the review of the JMWMS.  This specification 
was evaluated by the Council’s Technical Advisors Entec, now AMEC,  
and following clarification of specific areas accepted as a suitable design 
specification in terms of life span and deliverability of the Councils 
requirements.   

4.4.4 The existing contract pre-dates SOPC4 therefore the drafting of the 
variation, where appropriate, draws on WIDP standard guidance.  

4.5 Technical solution proposed by the Contractor 

4.5.1 MWM propose a single 200,000 tonne per annum EfW facility with an 
operational commencement date in 2017, CHP enabled, with electricity 
generation linked to the National Grid. Further details of the proposal can 
be found on MWM website here: 

www.EnviRecover.co.uk 

4.6 Waste Flow Model 

4.6.1 The key annual waste-flow related performance measures included in 
the original contract are to:  

· Recycle at least 26.5% of Local Authority Collected Waste (LACW); 
and 

· Recovering value from at least 52.5% of LACW. 

4.6.2 The contract variation concluded in May 2014 revised these performance 
measures; 

· Recycle at least 35.78% of LACW; and 
· Recovering value from at least 65.63% of LACW. 

  

219



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 28                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

Table 9:  Summary of Forecast Waste Flows 

  
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 

Inputs 
       

WCA Residual 173,111 174,843 176,591 178,357 180,141 181,942 

 
Recycling 71,906 72,626 73,352 74,085 74,826 75,574 

 
Green 14,582 14,727 14,875 15,023 15,174 15,325 

HRC Residual 31,861 32,180 32,502 32,827 33,155 33,486 

 
Recycling 51,508 52,022 52,543 53,068 53,599 54,135 

 
Green 28,564 28,850 29,138 29,430 29,724 30,021 

BRING Recycling 5,373 5,373 5,373 5,373 5,373 5,373 

TOTAL 
 

376,905 380,620 384,373 388,163 391,991 395,857 

        
Outputs 

       
Landfill EfW 46,923 47,279 47,639 46,872 48,368 48,739 

 
TS 4,018 4,467 4,920 9,447 5,840 6,307 

 
MRF 7,190 7,989 8,802 9,631 10,476 11,336 

 
HRC 31,861 32,180 32,502 32,827 33,155 33,486 

Energy EfW 121,832 122,756 123,689 121,699 125,584 126,545 

Recycling Bring 5,373 5,373 5,373 5,373 5,373 5,373 

 
HRC 51,508 52,022 52,543 53,068 53,599 54,135 

 
MRF 64,716 64,637 64,550 64,454 64,350 64,238 

 
EfW 338 341 343 339 349 351 

Compost Compost 43,146 43,577 44,013 44,453 44,898 45,346 

TOTAL 
 

376,905 380,620 384,373 388,163 391,991 395,857 

4.7 Approval process to execute the variation 

4.7.1 Councils have progressively built on Cabinet decisions, actively 
addressing areas of risk as detailed in the Parameters document 
(referred to in Section 5).  The summary of the key steps are shown 
below: 

· The Environment Agency granted the proposed EfW Plant 
(EnviRecover)an Environmental Permit and issued notification of that 
fact on the 18th April 2011. 

· Feb 2012 Cabinet  Decision 

· July 2012:  Following the Planning Inquiry, the Secretary of State for 
Communities and Local Government issued planning permission for 
the EfW facility in Hartlebury. 

· The contractor – MWM – carried out a procurement for the EPC 
Contractor. 

· Options Appraisal – Value for Money Assessment (progressively 
updated) 

220



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 29                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

· July 2013:  Submission of draft Variation Business Case to DEFRA 

· December 2013: Feedback from DEFRA and Treasury  

· December 2013:  Close / address outstanding "Parameters" 

· December 2013:  Cabinet decisions for both Herefordshire Council 
and Worcestershire County Council.  The reports focused on; 
satisfaction of the parameters, affordability, value for money and 
funding. 

· December 2013:  DEFRA reassessment of PFI Credits 

· Jan / Feb 2014:  Councils agree to provide funding via a loan 

· May 2014:  Negotiations with MWM 

· May 2014:  Discharge of the pre-commencement planning conditions 

· Conclude legal drafting. 

· May 2014:  Conclude variation to the contract with MWM 

· May 2014:  Loan Agreement in Place 

· May 2014:  Joint Working Agreement between the two councils 
revised and agreed 

 

  

221



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 30                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

5 Risk Management, Risk Allocation and Contractual 
Structures 

5.1 Councils overall approach to risk management  

5.1.1 The Councils' overall approach to risk management has been via a 
defined list of Parameters.  Progressively addressing ("closing") each of 
the parameters is required to enable decision making and financial close 
for the EfW Variation.  The parameters are categorised as follows: 

· Planning; 

· Financial; 

· Contractual; and 

· Technical. 

5.1.2 Previous Cabinet Reports (Herefordshire Council and Worcestershire 
County Council) have demonstrated a progressive satisfaction of the 
parameters and therefore closing of risks, e.g. Planning Parameters were 
satisfied so closed when the Secretary of State granted panning consent 
in July 2012. 

5.1.3 The latest published parameters report is detailed in the December 2013 
Cabinet Reports. 

5.1.4 Day to day issues and risks are managed by the Programme Team.  A 
summary of the overall "Programme" Risks associated with completion of 
the Variation are shown in Appendix B. 

5.2 Proposed changes to the Waste Management Service Contract 
(WMSC) 

5.2.1 Since Financial Close of the existing WMSC, a number of contract 
Variations have been progressed.  A summary of these is shown at 
Appendix A. 

5.2.2 A number of outstanding variations were encompassed into the single 
variation concluded in May 2014, the primary purpose of which relates to 
the design, construction and operation of an EfW Plant at Hartlebury 
Trading Estate.  

5.3 Markets for new process outputs 

5.3.1 The EfW facility will have a number of process outputs for which markets 
will be required e.g. 

a) Electricity:  The facility should provide 15.5MW of electricity, which is 
sufficient to power in the region of 20,000 homes. 

b) Heat/steam:   The facility will be CHP enabled and MWM continue to 
investigate a local use from the heat/steam on the trading estate.  As 
part of the permit conditions MWM will have to re-evaluate potential 
uses for the heat/steam every two years. 

c) Recovered metal:  Work will continue to encourage residents to 
recycle their scrap metal; however a proportion will remain in the 
residual waste stream. The EfW facility will be configured to recover 
this material from the IBA before it is sent for reprocessing or disposal. 

  

222



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 31                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

6 Project Team and Governance 
6.1 Legal Context 

6.1.1 The involvement of both Councils in the contract is as a WDA.  The vires 
context for this variation is as follows: 

· As WDA's they have a duty under the Environmental Protection Act 
1990 (Section 30) and have a duty to make arrangements for such in 
accordance with the provisions of that act and in particular section 51 
(disposal) 

· The Councils have a duty under section 3 of the Local Government 
Act 1999 to make arrangements to secure Best Value in the manner 
in which its functions are exercised 

· Under section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 the Councils have the power 
to do anything that individuals generally may do,  

· The Councils have the power to enter into contracts for the purposes 
of or in connection with the discharge of its functions under section 1 
of the Local Government (Contracts) Act 1997 

· The Councils have the power to certify the contract pursuant to 
section 3 of the Local Government (Contracts) Act 1997 

6.2 Project Governance  

6.2.1 The two councils have an established working arrangement that is 
governed under the Joint Working Agreement between Herefordshire 
Council and Worcestershire County Council. This agreement set out the 
governance arrangements used for the management of the existing 
contract with MWMMWM. Specific governance arrangements are in 
place for the project, including reporting updates via the normal 
operational routes.  This agreement was revised in May 2014. 

6.2.2 The project was overseen by the Waste Advisory Steering Group 
(WASG) which includes Cabinet Members with Responsibility for Waste, 
Directors responsible for Waste, Chief Executives, Chief Finance 
Officers, Council Solicitors, Project Director and other members of the 
Project Team as required. This met 3 or 4 times per year or as necessary 
around strategic points within the project.  Some revisions to the 
Governance arrangements are detailed in the revised Joint Working 
Agreement. 

6.2.3 Regular updates were provided to the Directors responsible for Waste 
and also Chief Finance Officers as well as Cabinet Members. 

6.2.4 The project was structured via a series of workstreams including: 

· Financial:  Financial Model and Value for Money; 

· Funding; 

· Legal and commercial; 

· Technical, including EPC contract; 

· Joint Agreement – changes to the existing agreement between 
Herefordshire Council and Worcestershire County Council; 

223



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 32                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

· Programme, including communications and stakeholder management; 
and 

· Reporting, including formal reporting to Cabinet etc. 

6.2.5 Each workstream had a lead officer, officers from the councils and  
where appropriate, was supported by advisors.  The workstream leads, 
other officers and advisors made up the Project Team lead by the Project 
Director. 

6.2.6 The Project Team held weekly conference calls to provide workstream 
updates and to progress key matters. 

6.2.7 Regular sessions were held between the client and contractor on key 
aspects of the project as required, e.g. EPC, Commercial Issues, 
Technical. 

6.2.8 In addition to this, specific workstream meetings / sessions were held 
as required in order to progress the variation. 

6.3 External Advisors 

The Councils appointed advisors in key areas to assist them with the 
Variation.  The advising organisations are as follows.  There was a lead 
advisor from each of the organisations with other colleagues supporting 
workstream work as required. 

Advice Organisation 

Finance - Purchaser Deloitte 

Legal - Purchaser Eversheds 

Technical – Purchaser AMEC 

Insurance - Purchaser Marsh 

Finance - Funder Deloitte 

Legal - Funder Ashurst 

Technical – Funder Fichtner 

Insurance - Funder Aon 

6.4 Outline of partnership arrangements with other WDAs 

6.4.1 There is an existing partnership agreement – Joint Agreement - between 
Worcestershire County Council and Herefordshire Council for the 
management of the WMSC that was signed at contract close in 1998.  
This agreement has been revised to deal with arrangements following 
the end of the current contract term to recognise the useful life of the 
EfW Facility.  The main areas of change within the agreement are:  
Governance, Payment Mechanism, Funding, Property / Assets, 
Extension.  

6.5 District Council involvement in their capacity as WCAs 

6.5.1 The two WDA's and the six WCA's within Worcestershire meet under the 
auspices of the Strategic Waste Management Board.  This is a group of 
Councillors and senior officers who monitor and review the strategic 
development of waste management within the two Counties.  This group 
were actively involved in the development of the JMWMS and are kept 

224



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 33                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

informed of progress against strategic targets and the delivery of 
infrastructure.  

225



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 34                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

7 Sites, Planning and Design 
7.1 Identification of site(s) for new facilities/activities  

7.1.1 In 2007 MWM commissioned a specialist waste planning consultancy to 
identify possible sites for a residual waste treatment facility or facilities 
within the Counties of Herefordshire and Worcestershire.   

7.1.2 This process is referred to as the Site Search Exercise (SSE) and was 
carried out in five stages resulting in a number of reports and executive 
summary.  The Stage 3 assessment identified only two sites which were 
likely to be suitable for an EfW facility: 

· Ravensbank Business Park, Bromsgrove; and 

· Hartlebury Trading Estate, between Kidderminster and 
Worcestershire County Council. 

7.1.3 At this stage the Ravensbank Site was judged to be marginally 
preferable.  During the course of investigations and negotiations that 
MWM undertook, to secure a freehold interest in the site, it became 
apparent that the Ravensbank site was subject of a number of restrictive 
covenants preventing the site being used for the intended purpose.  As a 
consequence, it was dismissed.   

7.1.4 It then followed that the Hartlebury site should be pursued.  A Stage 4 
study was undertaken to; (1) ascertain whether any new sites had 
become available or could be identified and (2) review sites previously 
commercially not available in order to establish if now potentially 
available. 

7.1.5 This identified seven sites plus Hartlebury for detailed assessment, 
however Stage 4 concluded none of these other seven locations were 
suitable. 

7.1.6 Following third party scrutiny of the whole SSE and a Stage 5 update 
study, it confirmed that the land at Hartlebury Trading Estate was the 
only suitable and available site for the EfW proposal. 

7.1.7 An executive summary and the full report (in documents 10 – 27 
inclusive) can be found using the link below as part of MWM's planning 
application: 

http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/PublicAccess/tdc/DcApplication/applica
tion_detailview.aspx?caseno=L1WFA1RY00800#associated-documents 

7.2 Legal Titles to the Sites   

7.2.1 The identified site for the EfW Plant had previously been secured by 
Worcestershire County Council under a 999 year lease from March 2006 
and has been made available to MWM for the development of the EfW 
facility under a licence. This licence has been converted into a lease.  
Herefordshire Council holds a deed of trust interest in the same site. 

7.3 Points arsing under the Planning Health Framework 

7.3.1 The Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government issued 
planning permission for the EfW facility on 19 July 2012, his decision 
letter can be found here: 

http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/cms/pdf/Secretary%20of%20State%20

226



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 35                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

Decision%20Letter%20and%20Inspectors%20Report%20v1.pdf 

7.3.2 The Environment Agency issued an Environmental Permit for the EfW 
facility on 18 April 2011.  

7.4 Design Issues 

7.4.1 MWM have retained responsibility for the design of the EfW facility, 
commissioning both experienced engineering and architectural support. 
This process has been monitored throughout by the Councils technical 
team including advisors.  

7.4.2 Detailed designs were included with the planning application submitted in 
May 2010, which can be found via the link below: 

http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/PublicAccess/tdc/DcApplication/applica
tion_detailview.aspx?caseno=L1WFA1RY00800#date-details 

7.4.3 The pre-commencement planning conditions were discharged on 29 April 
2014. 

7.5 Realising environmental benefits deriving from the project 

7.5.1 The major environmental benefit from the project will be realised when 
the EfW facility becomes operational as it will be capable of diverting up 
to 200,000 tonnes of residual waste away from landfill giving rise to the 
associated environmental benefits identified in both the residual waste 
options appraisal and the planning process. 

 

 

 

  

227



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 36                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

8 Costs, Budgets & Finance 
8.1 Introduction 

8.1.1 This section provides an update of the cost analysis detailed in the 
December 2013 Cabinet Reports (links below).  This is based on the 
Cabinet decisions and the position reached at Financial Close (May 
2014) in terms of the EfW Variation solution submitted by the Sponsors 
of MWM (the Solution) and compares this against both the budget 
available and the cost of a range of alternatives ('options') open to the 
Councils to assess the affordability of the Solution. 

Herefordshire Council December 2013 Cabinet Report – Item 4 

Worcestershire County Council December 2013 Cabinet Report – Item 4 

8.1.2 The analysis within this Variation Business Case does not seek to 
duplicate that detailed within the December 2013 Cabinet reports.  It is 
aimed at providing an update following Financial Close.  The analysis 
has been carried out on a consistent basis as that used for the 
December 2013 Cabinet decisions and leads to a consistent conclusion.   

8.1.3 Between the December 2013 Cabinet decisions and Financial Close in 
May 2014, the Councils monitored how modelled project costs changed 
from those previously considered and continued to proceed to Financial 
Close on that basis. 

8.1.4 The EfW Solution has a forecast Useful Asset Life of approximately 25 
years. However, given the issues obtaining planning consent, the EfW 
Variation, is to cover the period 2014 to the end of 2023, a period of ten 
years to the end of the contract period. This section summarises the cost 
of the proposed Solution over the remaining PFI Project Period with the 
Value for Money analysis later considering the EfW Variation not only 
within the remaining PFI Project Period but also across the Useful Life of 
the EfW Plant to ensure Value for Money is considered on a whole life 
cost basis. 

8.1.5 It is usual to compare the EfW Variation cost to the cost of the reference 
case at the OBC stage. However, there have been a number of changes 
in the fifteen years since Financial Close was reached on this Project in 
1998. These include changes to: 

a) Waste tonnage and growth rate assumptions made by the Councils in 
respect of the average annual tonnage of residual waste requiring 
treatment in the EfW Facility; 

b) Technical Specifications required of a modern EfW Facility are 
different to those in 1998; 

c) EfW Plant inflation has increased well above the index used in this 
contract, the GDP deflator; and 

d) Alternative waste sorting facilities have been introduced alongside 
other Contract Variations to cater for changes to legislation or 
operational requirements of the Contract. 

8.1.6 Therefore, the cost of the EfW Variation is primarily compared to the 
range of alternative decisions that could be made by the Councils at this 
point. These options are summarised in the following table and are 
expanded further later in this section. 

228



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 37                 Vn. 4.0                                                                                             
 

8.1.7 The options considered: 

Option Detail 

1 Execution of the Energy from Waste Facility Variation to the Contract 
with the Senior Term Loan Facility financed by a Commercial Bank  

1a Execution of the Energy from Waste Facility Variation to the Contract 
with co-financing (Senior Term Loan Facility financed by the Private 
Finance AND the Councils through a drawdown from the Public Works 
Loans Board ) 

2 Execution of the Energy from Waste Facility Variation to the Contract 
with the Senior Term Loan Facility financed by the Councils through a 
drawdown from the Public Works Loans Board 

3 Continue 'As is' with the existing Contract and do not execute the 
Energy from Waste Variation 

4 Terminate the existing Contract with Mercia Waste Management, 
procure an Energy from Waste plant as a separate Design, Build, and 
Operate procurement and procure all other services  

5 Terminate the existing Contract with Mercia Waste Management, do 
not procure Energy from Waste plant and procure all other services.  

8.1.8 The EfW Variation Financial Model has been updated to reflect all 
changes agreed since Financial Close in 1998 as well as this proposed 
Variation for the EfW Facility.  The execution of this EfW variation also 
allows the formalisation of changes made over the life of the contract as 
the contract moves out of "Standstill".  The structure of the 1998 Project 
was for the Councils to pay MWM a Baseline fee for each tonne of 
contract waste they handle and then supplements for the diversion from 
landfill.  Examples of supplements include: 

· Recycling;   

· Composting; 

· Energy from 
Waste. 

8.1.9 The payment for this EfW Variation will therefore be through an EfW 
Supplement rather than a Gate Fee.  This will result in a step up of the 
Unitary Charge once the EfW Plant is operational. 

8.1.10 From the Quantitative Analysis (updated to reflect the position at 
Financial Close) carried out by the Councils, supported by the council's 
financial advisors Deloitte, the options that include a variation to the 
WMSC to construct and operate an EfW Plant at Hartlebury Trading 
Estate (Options 1, 1a and 2) are between £152 million and £163 million 
lower in Net Present Cost (NPC) terms than the option to continue as is 
(Option 3).  This shows an improved position since Cabinet in December 
2013 when the Options 1, 1a and 2 were between £106 million and £128 
million lower in NPC terms than Option 3. 

8.1.11 From the Quantitative Analysis (updated to reflect the position at 
Financial Close), referenced above, the options that include a variation 
to the WMSC to construct and operate an EfW Plant at Hartlebury 
Trading Estate (Options 1, 1a and 2) are between £564 million and £577 
million lower in Nominal Cost terms than the option to continue as is 

229



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 38                                                                                              Draft 
 

(Option 3), over the useful life of the EfW.  This shows an improved 
position since Cabinet in December 2013 when the Options 1, 1a and 2 
were between £458 million and £517 million lower in Nominal Cost terms 
than Option 3. 

8.1.12 Based on the similar Net Present Costs of the differing financing routes 
(Options 1, 1a and 2), the Cabinets also considered a number of 
qualitative matters. 

8.1.13 Based on the analysis, the preferred option as per the December 
2013 Cabinet Report was Option 2, i.e. Execution of the EfW Facility 
Variation to the contract with the Senior Term Loan Facility financed by 
the Councils through a drawdown from the Public Works Loans Board.  
This is the Option progressed to reach financial close and the variation 
agreed with MWM in May 2014. 

8.1.14 Following work with DEFRA it was confirmed, in December 2013, that 
the level of Waste Infrastructure Grant (WIG) credits received by the 
Councils reduce by £30million from 1 April 2014 to the end of the WMSC 
in December 2023.  This reduction does not affect the Value for Money 
assessment as, per the Her Majesty's Treasury Green Book does not 
consider WIG credits.  However this was a consideration in relation to 
affordability.   

8.1.15 To mitigate the impact of the reduction in WIG Credits, as required the 
councils intend to use a portion of their accumulated Reserves that have 
been established, to smooth the uplift in costs for the EfW Plant together 
with the anticipated surplus from the Councils' provision of debt finance 
for this variation. 

8.1.16 At the point of the Cabinet decision in December 2013, the uplift in 
Unitary Charge was £6.55million.  This was £0.55 million greater than the 
affordability envelope of £6.0 million.  Following negotiations with MWM 
the position at financial close in May 2014, shows a much improved 
position in terms of affordability with the contract uplift in Unitary 
Charge being £2.7million. 

8.1.17 The remainder of this section sets out key financial information, updated 
to reflect the position reached at Financial Close in May 2014.  It does 
not attempt to repeat the full set of financial details as per the 
December 2013 Cabinet Reports. 

8.2 The Cost of the Mercia Waste Management Solution 

8.2.1 The proposal incorporates: 

a) The design, construction and operation of the EfW Plant (as 
envisaged by the WMSC albeit on a different site and with a 
different start date) until the contract comes to an end in 2023; 
followed by 

b) The Councils taking on or re-procuring lifecycle replacement 
and operational and maintenance services for the remaining 
useful life of the EfW Plant until 2042. 

8.2.2 The Value for Money assessment focused on the 6 options as detailed 
below. 

8.2.3 Option 1:  EfW Variation procured through PFI with commercial 
finance 

230



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 39                                                                                              Draft 
 

As envisaged in the WMSC this includes the requirement for MWM to 
construct, finance and be responsible for the operations and 
maintenance of an EfW Plant albeit on a different site – Hartlebury 
Trading Estate, and at a different time.  

This would be until the end of the WMSC at December 2023 and then 
the Councils would take on these responsibilities after 2023 to 2042. 

This option has been modelled on a delay in reaching Financial Close of 
9 months recognising the due diligence required for this option. 

In addition, the Councils would need to manage the risk that it is exposed 
to, where interest rates may increase by 2023.  

The payment for the EfW Variation would be through an "EfW 
Supplement" as envisaged in 1998 rather than a Gate Fee.  This is 
payable based on the £/tonne incinerated and is in addition to the 
Baseline Fee of £25 payable on all tonnes of waste passed to MWM to 
recognise the cost of discharging the Councils overall waste disposal 
responsibilities. 

8.2.4 Option 1a – EfW Variation financed by Council's Prudential 
Borrowing and Private Finance (co-financing) 

This Option includes an EfW variation that would be made to the existing 
WMSC, including the requirement for MWM to construct and be 
responsible for the operations and maintenance of an EfW Plant until the 
end of the WMSC and then for the Councils taking on these 
responsibilities after 2023 to 2042. 

The payment for the EfW Variation would be through an EfW 
Supplement rather than a Gate Fee, as envisaged in the 1998 Contract.  
This is payable based on the £/tonne incinerated and is in addition to the 
Baseline Fee payable on all waste tonnes.  

This would be included within the Unitary Charge paid by the Councils 
and would be used by MWM to service the debt. This element of the 
Unitary Charge would be passed through MWM and repaid to the 
Council and a Commercial Bank in its role as the lender to the scheme. 
This is required to ensure the contractual mechanisms agreed in 1998 
are not changed materially in relation to debt finance, with particular 
reference to the Council's reliance on WIG credits and Central 
Governments Balance Sheet Accounting rules around risk recognition. 

Similar to Option 1, the project would suffer a delay, and therefore attract 
additional costs due to delay.  In addition, and again similar to Option 1, 
the Councils would need to consider how to manage the risk that it is 
exposed to, where interest rates may increase by 2023. 

The Councils do generate cash sums and have cash shortfalls prior to 
2023 due to MWM paying interest and capital repayments per the 
financial model to the Councils that is based on a different profile to that 
which Councils will use to repay PWLB debt until later years. The impact 
of this in terms of interest gained on cash balances or interest paid on in 
effect overdrawn balances has been included in the financial model. 

8.2.5 Option 2 – EfW Variation financed by Council's Prudential 
Borrowing 

231



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 40                                                                                              Draft 
 

This Option includes an EfW variation that would be made to the existing 
WMSC, including the requirement for MWM to construct and be 
responsible for the operations and maintenance of an EfW Plant until the 
end of the WMSC and then for the Councils taking on these 
responsibilities after 2023 to 2042. 

The payment for the EfW Variation would be through an EfW 
Supplement rather than a Gate Fee as envisaged in the 1998 Contract.  
This is payable based on the £/tonne incinerated and is in addition to the 
Baseline Fee payable on all waste tonnes.  

This would be included within the Unitary Charge paid by the Councils 
and would be used by MWM to service the debt. This element of the 
Unitary Charge would be passed through MWM and repaid to the 
Council in its role as the sole lender to the variation. This is required to 
ensure the contractual mechanisms agreed in 1998 are not changed 
materially in relation to PFI debt finance. 

The Councils can move more quickly to financial close when compared 
to Options 1 and 1a as all required due diligence has been undertaken 
by the Councils as the sole provider of funding for the project. 

In this scenario, there is no requirement to purchase any financial 
products to manage interest rate risks in 2023 as the Councils will 
purchase debt at the end of construction. The Councils borrowings are 
repaid in a similar way to a repayment mortgage until 2042. As such 
there is no need to purchase new debt in 2023. In this option, the 
Councils do generate cash sums and have cash shortfalls prior to 2023 
due to MWM paying interest and capital repayments per the financial 
model to the Councils that is based on a different profile that the Councils 
will use to repay PWLB debt until later years. The impact of this in terms 
of interest gained on cash balances or interest paid on in effect 
overdrawn balances has been included in the financial model. 

8.2.6 Option 4 -   Termination of the Waste Management Services 
Contract (WMSC) and for the Councils to procure an EfW Plant and 
other services through a new Design, Build, and Operate contract. 

The Councils would terminate the existing WMSC and  procure 
separately the construction and operation of an EfW Plant, financed by 
Councils' prudential borrowing together with associated operational and 
maintenance services.   

8.2.7 Option 5 -   Terminate the Waste Management Services Contract 
(WMSC) and re-procure existing services without the construction 
of an EfW Plant. 

The Councils would terminate the existing WMSC and procure all 
existing waste disposal services but not including procurement of an 
EfW Plant. 

8.2.8 These options have been considered against one key comparator as 
would normally be expected within a value for money assessment, that 
is: 

Option 3 – Continue As Is 

Continuing within the current WMSC without executing the proposed EfW 
variation. 

232



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 41                                                                                              Draft 
 

Following the expiry of the WMSC in 2023 the current forecasts are for 
the Councils only landfill site to be full or nearly full.  The Councils would 
procure new waste disposal services that may include the procurement 
of a new EfW Plant or purchasing spare capacity from the merchant 
market. Whilst, this option is agnostic to the choice of how the Councils 
residual waste is disposed of, these services post 2023 have been 
modelled at a capped price of £125 per tonne based on appropriate 
technical advice and therefore the choice of waste disposal route would 
be made within a capped budget.  

The £125 per tonne price cap is calculated by taking the current baseline 
gate fee paid for the disposal of all waste plus a forecast of landfill tax 
costs in 2023 in accordance with most recent Central Government 
guidance. 

8.2.9 DEFRA and HMT undertook a review of the models, since July 2013. 
Their scrutiny process has added significant value to the Councils in 
terms of support and challenge and has resulted in some improvements 
to the analysis undertaken.  

8.2.10 Given the degree of difference in the Quantitative Analysis between 
'Continuing As Is' and procuring an EfW Plant variation the Councils 
were clearly able to arrive at a judgement around Value for Money. 
However, at the point of the Cabinet decision in December 2013, from a 
commercial perspective the requirement remained for further 
negotiations with Mercia to obtain a better price than currently contained 
in the financial models as the year 1 step up in Unitary Charge was £0.55 
million above the Councils indicative affordability envelope.  

8.2.11 The information used to support the quantitative value for money 
analysis was sufficient to be considered as a ceiling price in order to 
demonstrate the preferred option. 

Value for Money – Methods of Financial Evaluation 

8.2.12 Even though only 10 years of the WMSC remain, it was important to 
undertake the Value for Money assessment over the estimated useful life 
of the EfW Plant to ensure there is comparability across each option. 
Whilst this is the focus for the Quantitative Analysis, a comparison was 
made of costs incurred to the end of the WMSC to understand the impact 
of the preferred option in the short term.  

8.2.13 Reliance is placed on the comparison over the useful life of the EfW plant 
together with all other waste disposal / management services, as this 
sets out the whole life cost of the different options. This allowed for a full 
analysis of the costs and benefits of each option to be undertaken on a 
comparable basis. The accepted basis by HMT of undertaking this 
quantitative analysis is on a Net Present Cost Term to ensure the 
different timing of cash flows in each option are set out in an equivalent 
present cost today.  

8.2.14 To arrive at Net Present Costs, Nominal costs are established that 
describe the actual forecast cash flows of each option after taking 
account of inflation forecasts. This is to ensure the time value of money 
and the opportunity cost of spending that money is taken into account, 
e.g. you can buy more for £1 today than £1 in ten years' time. 

233



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 42                                                                                              Draft 
 

8.2.15 The HMT's Green Book sets out how these nominal costs are then 
adjusted to consider risks relevant to each Option to arrive at the nominal 
costs included below.  Each relevant risk has been considered by the 
Councils' Advisor Team alongside Council Officers to ensure there has 
been independent rigour to the development of each Options Nominal 
costs.  

8.2.16 Within the Options considered, the Councils will spend cash at different 
times and be exposed to different risks at different points.  In order for 
these different cash flows to be comparable the Councils have reviewed 
the Options over the forecast asset life of the EfW Plant and rebased 
those costs to determine their present day equivalent value in Net 
Present Cost terms.  

8.2.17 The Councils' Net Present Cost analysis has been undertaken in 
accordance with HMT Green Book to ensure that the Councils make a 
decision based on a comparable methodology to similar projects across 
the UK. 

8.2.18 The Councils' Financial Advisor, Deloitte, is one of only a few accredited 
Green Book practitioners and so the Councils can take comfort that the 
methodology used is consistent with HMT and DEFRA requirements.  

Value for Money – Outcome of Financial (Quantitative) Analysis 

8.2.19 Set out below is the outcome of the Councils' quantitative assessment of 
Value for Money in respect of its role as the Waste Disposal Authority. 
The provision of funding for Options 1a, 2 and 4 is intended to come from 
the Councils and should the Councils become the funder of any variation 
it would be taking on some new risk, as a lender rather than as Waste 
Disposal Authority.  This was covered within the December 2013 Cabinet 
Report. 

8.2.20 The table below summarises the outcome of this Quantitative Analysis, 
updated to reflect the position at Financial Close (May 2014).  This has 
been developed with the support of the Councils Financial Advisors, 
Deloitte and describes: 

a) Net Present Cost calculated over the estimated useful life of the 
EfW Plant (until 2042) on a whole life cost basis to be used as 
the basis for decision making; 

b) Nominal Cost calculated in accordance with the HMT Green 
Book: appraisal and evaluation in Central Government over the  
estimated life of the EfW Plant (until 2042) on a whole cost 
basis for information; and 

c) Nominal Cost calculated in accordance with HMT Green Book: 
appraisal and evaluation in Central Government' over the 
remaining life of the WMSC (2023) to provide a sense of the 
short to medium term impact for information. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

234



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 43                                                                                              Draft 
 

Table 10: Financial Analysis summary (risk adjusted) – The December 2013 
figures are shown in brackets 
 
Option Net Present 

Cost   
Nominal Cost  

£ million Whole Life 
Cost to 2042 

Whole Life Cost 
to 2042 

WMSC – to 
2023 

1 691  (722) 1,637  (1,689) 502  (543) 

1a 688  (720) 1,632  (1,685) 497  (539) 

2 680  (700) 1,624  (1,656) 485  (512) 

3 843  (828) 2,201  (2,173) 491  (475) 

4 755  (752) 1,645  (1,649) 610  (599) 

5 826  (851) 1,949  (2,043) 602  (604) 

8.2.21 The conclusion of the updated analysis remains as per the 
December 2013 Cabinet Reports, albeit the absolute numbers are 
slightly different.  A significant change is that the final negotiated 
position now shows that as well as over the whole life, executing 
the variation is cheaper within the remaining PFI term than continue 
as is. 

8.2.22 The key headlines from the table above are:  

· In terms of Net Present Cost over the useful life of the EfW Plant, the 
Option with the lowest Net Present Cost is Option 2, execution of an EfW 
Variation supported by Councils' provision of debt finance.  In 
accordance with acknowledged best practice in the financial assessment 
of projects, this represents the best value for money option for the 
Councils from a quantitative perspective. 

· The Net Present Cost of Option 2 is £680 million over the full asset life of 
the EfW Plant. This was £700 million in December 2013.  The options 
analysis demonstrates that Options 1, 1a and 2 all have a significantly 
lower net present cost than Option 3, 'continuing as is'. This illustrates 
the delivery of a residual waste solution demonstrates clear value for 
money when considered against not doing anything.  

· Option 3, Continue as is, is now ranked the lowest of the options in Net 
Present Cost terms over the forecast asset life of the EfW Plant. 

· Option 2 now has the lowest Net Present Cost and Nominal Cost 
over the forecast life of the plant AND within the remaining contract 
term / PFI concession period 

8.2.23 The above analysis does not incorporate the effect on each Option of 
any changes to the current Waste Infrastructure Grant (WIG) credits 
which were formerly known as PFI Credits that the Councils have 
received since 1998. This is due to the HMT Green Book not permitting 
these to be included to arrive at a Value for Money conclusion as this 
conclusion is reached on a pan-public sector basis with WIG credits at 
this level cancelling out. The Councils have therefore not included WIG 
credits to ensure Green Book Compliance with DEFRA and HMT.  

 

235



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 44                                                                                              Draft 
 

Value for Money - Sensitivity Analysis 

8.2.24 As part of the value for money analysis carried out in 2013, the Councils 
assessed the impact of changes in some key assumptions used to model 
the costs of each Option.  A series of sensitivities have been included 
within the financial analysis that include: 

a) Changes to waste volumes; 

b) Increases to Landfill Tax; 

c) Increase to Landfill Gate fee; and  

d) Increases to termination costs.   

8.2.25 In all cases where more pessimistic assumptions were modelled, Option 
2 remained the preferred option from a financial value for money 
perspective. 

Qualitative Analysis 

8.2.26 This remains unchanged since the December 2013 Cabinet Reports.   

Councils Affordability and Deliverability of Option 2 

8.2.27 The forecast completion of construction of the EfW Plant is Spring 2017.  
The Councils will need to pay an increased Unitary Charge form that 
point, incurring full year uplift costs from the 2017/18 financial year. 

8.2.28 In the absence of formally setting their budgets, each Council indicated a 
potential affordability envelope of £6.0 million uplift in the first full year 
post construction. 

8.2.29 In December 2013, at point of the Cabinet decisions, the uplift position 
was £6.55 million and therefore above the Councils affordability 
envelope.  Following the cabinet decision and further negotiation 
with MWM the position at financial close is an uplift of £2.7 million, 
well within the affordability envelope. 

8.2.30 As part of the negotiations with MWM there are two elements that the 
Councils need to account for outside of the Unitary Charge.  As part of 
the negotiations, the Councils have chosen to account for the final build-
up of the maintenance reserve separately to improve VfM.  However to 
ensure that the VfM analysis is comparable this has been added back in 
to the "uplift" taking the uplift from £2.7 million to £2.9 million.  In addition, 
the Councils removed a 'loan buffer' from their lending as would normally 
happen on any bank financed deal.  This too has been added back to the 
uplift to ensure it is comparable with the December 2013 Cabinet 
Reports.  This means a total equivalent uplift of £3.8 million.  This is £2.2 
million lower than the affordability envelope set resulting in a good 
outcome for the Councils. 

8.2.31 The value for money analysis presented to Cabinet in December 2013 
demonstrates that Option 2 is the best value for money.  The position 
reached at Financial close confirms this and also delivers a more 
affordable solution.  In addition there are a number of other benefits over 
the other options in terms of deliverability and mitigating risk.  These are: 

a) Enabled the Councils to conclude the variation in the first half of 
2014. 

b) Enables planning permission to be secured. 

236



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 45                                                                                              Draft 
 

c) Construction can start in 2014 to deliver a plant that is 
operational thereby diverting waste from landfill in 2017. 

d) Provides certainty of future costs. 

e) Allows for letting of an Operate and Maintain contract in 2023 
when the WMSC expires. 

f) Certainty over the cost of the Engineering, Procurement and 
Construction (EPC) contract let by MWM. 

g) Makes use of proven technology. 

h) Removes uncertainty regarding future landfill and waste 
treatment capacity and costs. 

8.3 Waste Flow Forecast 

8.3.1 All EfW Variation costs are based on an EfW Facility capable of dealing 
with circa 200,000 tonnes per annum – dependent on the calorific value 
of the waste inflow.  

8.3.2 In 2012/13 the total Local Authority Collected Waste (LACW) in 
Herefordshire and Worcestershire was:  362,273 tonnes of which: 

· 120, 425 tonnes were Recycled; 

· 42,400 tonnes were composted; 

· 199, 448 tonnes was Residual Waste. 

8.3.3 Taking account of planned housing growth in the two counties, by 2023/4 
it is forecast that the Local Authority Collected Waste in the two counties 
will be:  404,177 tonnes / year of which it is forecast: 

· 134,555 tonnes would be Recycled; 

· 47,304 tonnes would be composted; 

· 222,518 tonnes would be for Residual Waste treatment / disposal. 

Third Party Income 

8.3.4 The EfW Variation Solution proposes the generation of Third Party 
Income from (i) gate fees relating to the acceptance of Third Party 
Waste, and (ii) revenue from the sale of electricity generated by the 
Facility through the treatment of both contract and Third Party Waste. 

8.3.5 Third Party Income included in the base case EfW Variation Financial 
Model is guaranteed by MWMMWM. and any shortfall will not impact on 
the cost to the Councils.  

 
8.4 Affordability and Value for Money Analysis 

Financial Analysis 

8.4.1 The following table provides an update of the position following Financial 
Close.  

8.4.2 These figures cover only the costs associated with the proposed EfW 
Variation and include the impact on the Unitary Charge across the other 
Waste Disposal Services provided by MWM. It is important to consider 
each decision point across each option as the timings and nature of 
decisions differ dependent on the Option chosen, for example, when 

237



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 46                                                                                              Draft 
 

contracts are re-procured and any time related risks in that decision 
point. This is necessary as the analysis has to be undertaken across the 
Useful Life period of the EfW Plant (25 years post construction) which 
runs significantly beyond the remaining period of the contract – seven 
years post construction.  

8.4.3 The analysis has been undertaken in accordance with the H.M 
Treasury's Green Book with the support of the Councils' financial 
advisors Deloitte. An optimism bias risk workshop attended by AMEC, 
Deloitte and the Councils enabled Deloitte to apply risk evaluations to 
each option.  Optimism Bias is the judgement of the risk associated with 
each option converted to a cash amount. 

8.4.4 Risk Adjustments were considered under each of the following areas: 

a) Risk Area 1:  price risk relating to the Engineering, Procurement 
and Construction 9EPC) contract for the EfW Facility; 

b) Risk Area 2:  the future cost of landfill and the availability of 
landfill void space; 

c) Risk Area 3:  the future merchant facility rate; 

d) Risk Area 4:  termination costs; 

e) Risk Area 5:  operation risk of future waste service contracts 
following the completion / termination of the existing WMSC; 

f) Risk Area 6:  EPC fall away risk. 

Table 11:  Comparison of Nominal Charges for each Option across 
different time horizons excluding Optimism Bias 

£ million Pre –
commissioning 

Year 1 Post 
Construction 

Year 2 Post 
Construction to 
end of Contract 

Post 
Contract 
Period 

TOTAL 

 1 Jan 2013 – 31 
Dec 2016 

1 Jan 2017 – 
31 Dec 2017 

1 Jan 2018 – 31 
Dec 2023 

1 Jan 2024 – 
31 Dec 2042 

 

Option 1 162 43 291 1,040 1,536 

Option 1a 167 39 280 1,040 1,526 

Option 2 161 41 266 1,045 1,513 

Option 3 155 42 268 1,558 2,023 

Option 4 198 42 270 950 1,460 

Option 5 196 52 349 1,252 1,849 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

238



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 47                                                                                              Draft 
 

 
Table 12:  Comparison of Nominal Charges for each Option across 
different time horizons inclusive of Optimism Bias 
 

£ million Pre –
commissioning 

Year 1 Post 
Construction 

Year 2 Post 
Construction to 
end of Contract 

Post 
Contract 
Period 

TOTAL 

 1 Jan 2013–     
31 Dec 2016 

1 Jan 2017 – 
31 Dec 2017 

1 Jan 2018 –      
31 Dec 2023 

1 Jan 2024 – 
31 Dec 2042 

 

Option 1 163 44 295 1,135 1,637 

Option 1a 169 40 288 1,135 1,632 

Option 2 163 43 279 1,139 1,624 

Option 3 155 43 293 1,710 2,201 

Option 4 273 51 286 1,035 1,645 

Option 5 196 53 353 1,347 1,949 

8.4.5 The following table compares the Net Present Value of each Option over 
the construction period and 25 year life of the proposed EfW Facility 
Variation. 

Table 13:  Comparison of Net Present Value of each Option excluding 
Optimism Bias 

Option £ million 

Option 1 661 

Option 1a 654 

Option 2 642 

Option 3 780 

Option 4 650 

Option 5 796 

 

  

239



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 48                                                                                              Draft 
 

Table 14:  Comparison of Net Present Value of each Option inclusive of 
Optimism Bias 

Option  £ million 

Option 1 691 

Option 1a 688 

Option 2 680 

Option 3 843 

Option 4 755 

Option 5 826 

8.4.6 As per the December 2013 Cabinet Reports, the table above shows that 
Option 2, to deliver the EfW Facility financed by a Prudentially Financed 
Senior Term Loan Facility, offers a lower cost alternative for the Councils 
relative to the "continue as is" case scenario and other options open to 
the Councils at this time. 

8.4.7 The Councils have estimated termination costs on a no-fault termination 
basis based on advice from its legal advisors and through without 
prejudice support from MWM in accordance with Schedule 13 
(Compensation on Termination) of the WMSC.  

8.4.8 For the purpose of the Treasury Green Book exercise PFI credits (now 
Waste Infrastructure Grant Credits) have been disregarded in the 
analysis above.  However, from a Councils perspective it is important 
that we do consider how PFI credits in each of the options affect the Net 
Present Value Analysis as detailed in the December 2013 Cabinet 
Report. 

8.4.9 The table below provides updated information following financial close to 
illustrate the impact on the Treasury Green Book Analysis of the 
inclusion of assumptions on PFI Credits. Whilst this does not formally 
feed into the Economic Case it was relevant for the Councils' affordability 
analysis. 

  

240



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 49                                                                                              Draft 
 

Table 15: Impact on Net Present Value Analysis of PFI Credit 
assumptions excluding optimism bias 

£ 
millions 

Future Availability of WIG 
(formerly PFI) Credits  

Green 
Book  

Adjustment for 
Credit Assumptions 

NPC Impact  NPC 

Option 1 No change to Credits 661 (41) 620 

Option 1a No change to Credits 654 (41) 613 

Option 2 Partial allocation of PFI Credits 
due to absence of privately 
financed EfW facility 

642 (22) 620 

Option 3 Partial allocation of PFI Credits 
due to absence of EfW facility 

780 (22) 758 

Option 4 No PFI Credits following 
contract termination 

 

650 (5) 645 

Option 5 796 (5) 791 

Table 16:  Impact on Net Present Value Analysis of PFI Credit 
assumptions including Optimism Bias 

£ 
millions 

Future Availability of WIG 
(formerly PFI) Credits  

Green 
Book  

Adjustment for 
Credit Assumptions 

NPC Impact  NPC 

Option 1 No change to Credits 691 (41) 650 

Option 1a No change to Credits 688 (41) 647 

Option 2 Partial allocation of PFI Credits 
due to absence of privately 
financed EfW facility 

680 (22) 658 

Option 3 Partial allocation of PFI Credits 
due to absence of EfW facility 

843 (22) 821 

Option 4 No PFI Credits following 
contract termination 

 

755 (5) 749 

Option 5 826 (5) 821 

 

8.4.10 The Councils reached agreement with DEFRA in December 2013 
regarding the reassessment of WIG Credits.  From 1 April 2014 the 
Councils WIG Credits will be reduced by £30 million to the end of the PFI 
Concession period (end of 2023).  This was part of the consideration as 
detailed in the December Cabinet Reports.  Whilst the reduction in WIG 
Credits was a major factor for the Councils to consider, it was viewed 
that a reduction would make the preferred option deliverable and 
acceptable for Central Government whilst remaining (1) Value for Money 

241



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 50                                                                                              Draft 
 

for local tax payers when considered against the alternative options and 
(2) affordable. 

Risk Analysis 

8.4.11 Each Option in the Affordability and Value for Money analysis presents 
different risks to the Councils. The Councils' advisors have supported a 
risk analysis to enable the Councils to consider the risk inherent in each 
of the Options described in this section.  

8.4.12 The outcome of this analysis is set out in the following table.   

Table 17: Summary risk analysis for each VFM Option 

Option Risk Assessment 

Option 
1 

Standard Risk Transfer as envisaged in the 1998 deal 

This option is in line with the risk allocation as set out in the 1998 deal. 
The 1998 deal represented the first Waste PFI in England and 
therefore was more Contractor friendly than more recent waste PFI 
deals. For instance, in cases of no fault or Councils' default the senior 
term loan facility would have to be repaid by the Councils. Construction 
risk is retained by MWM subject to the adequacy of the Security 
Package in place. 

Option 
2 

Construction Period EPC Default 

An analysis has been undertaken by Legal and Technical Advisors to 
inform the Councils of the additional risks that the Councils can either 
decide to mitigate or absorb. In the majority of cases mitigation 
strategies have been put into place. The main change, given the 
Contractor Friendly position of the 1998 Deal in the operating period is 
the need to consider risk of EPC Contractor Default in the Construction 
Period. This would be deemed Contractor Default and would therefore 
not attract the protections from the Councils under the No Fault and 
Councils Default regime. The Councils as lenders have agreed to 
absorb and mitigate this risk in the following ways: 

· Engage appropriate Financial, Legal, Technical and Insurance 
Advice where all advisors are engaged on terms that would be 
expected by a Commercial Bank in a similar position pre EfW 
Variation Financial Close. 

· Undertake appropriate Due Diligence on the EfW Variation and 
EPC provider including ensuring that a commercial position is 
achieved that would at least be expected by a Commercial Bank 
pre EfW Variation Financial Close. 

· Agree a Security Package with MWM to be provided by the EPC 
Contractor and MWM that is at least what was envisaged within the 
1998 deal and is at least what Commercial Banks demand in 
similar deals at this time. This includes the agreement of further 
protections to be provided by MWM. where the EPC Contractor risk 
position leaves the lenders at risk, e.g. initial period of time before 
any Delay and Start Up Insurance is activated. 

· Demand a commensurate rate of interest on the Senior Term Loan 
and Equity Bridge Facility that creates a 'risk reserve' from which 
any unmitigated risks can be met in a financial sense. 

· Engage Technical and Financial advice post EfW Variation 
Financial Close to oversee the operation of the EPC (Construction 
and Operation) as well as existing Operations in line with how a 

242



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 51                                                                                              Draft 
 

Option Risk Assessment 

Commercial Bank would exercise this duty. 

 

Option 
3 

Overall Risk Position 

Potential Default costs  

Planning Permission has now been achieved and whilst the Councils 
may choose not to agree the EfW Variation, MWM may argue that any 
refusal on the part of the Councils to execute the EfW Variation having 
presented a 'suitable' proposal. In these cases, the Councils run the 
risk of either having to pay reasonable breakage costs and payout 
against the indemnities issued separately from the formal standstill 
arrangement against all unamortised Capital Expenditure and maybe 
liable for loss of profits under a Council Default scenario.  

Capacity of Waste Disposal Streams 

An assessment of the Councils existing landfill capacity has confirmed 
that all landfill capacity within the Councils area is likely to be used by 
2023/24. Therefore under this option the Councils are likely to be 
exposed to both the cost and availability of alternative out of Counties 
waste disposal options post 2023/24. Assessments have been made 
on the likely availability and costs of disposal from the out of County 
market post 2023 but with recent failures by neighbouring local 
authorities and the potential for the landfill market to be both high cost 
(given Landfill Tax) and a Supplier biased market as demand outstrips 
supply in post 2023 it is likely that the Councils would be exposed to 
increased costs. In addition, the environmental impact of hauling waste 
to out of County disposal sites would have a detrimental impact on the 
Counties of Worcestershire and Herefordshire as well as surrounding 
Counties. 

Option 
4 

Potential Default costs  

In this option, the Councils choose to terminate the whole contract. The 
Councils would seek a no fault termination and therefore would have to 
meet reasonable breakage costs and any unamortised capital 
expenditure within MWM.  MWM may argue that the termination is in 
fact a Council Fault Termination as the terms of the existing operations 
have been met and both planning permission and a 'suitable' scheme 
has been presented to the Council. In this case there is a possibility 
that the Councils are required to pay MWM for loss of profits.  

Re-procurement costs 

The re-procurement of all services including a Design, Build, Finance 
and Operate for EfW Facility will incur significant additional costs. The 
price certainty, currently achieved under Option 1 and 2 would now not 
be achieved. Therefore an appropriate level of risk is reflected in the 
Optimism Bias adjustments to the VFM options.  

Expiry of Planning Permission conditions 

The Planning Permission for the EfW Facility at Hartlebury comes with 
a number of planning conditions. One places a time limit on the 
construction requiring the construction to have begun by July 2015. In 
the case where the Councils look to procure a new EPC through a 
Design, Build, Finance and Operate Contract there is a high risk that 
the EPC contractor would not meet the requirements of the Planning 
Permission in terms of time period and therefore planning permission 
may need to be obtained again. In this scenario it would be appropriate 

243



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 52                                                                                              Draft 
 

Option Risk Assessment 

to reflect that it has taken around 15 years to obtain current planning 
permission and there may be a significant risk to the Councils 
achieving their required waste disposal within the Counties by the end 
of the current PFI Contract (2023). 

Option 
5  

Potential Default costs  

In this option, the Councils choose to terminate the whole contract. The 
Councils would at least be in the position of executing a no fault 
termination and therefore would have to meet reasonable breakage 
costs and any unamortised capital expenditure within MWM.   MWM  
may also argue that the termination is in fact a Council Fault 
Termination as the terms of the existing operations have been met and 
both planning permission and a 'suitable' scheme has been presented 
to the Council. In this case there is a possibility that the Councils are 
required to pay MWM for loss of profits.  

Re-procurement costs 

The re-procurement of all services will incur significant additional costs 
and price certainty, currently achieved under Option 1 and 2 would now 
not be achieved. Therefore an appropriate level of risk is reflected in 
the Optimism Bias adjustments to the VFM options.  

Expiry of Planning Permission conditions 

The Planning Permission for the EfW Facility at Hartlebury comes with 
a number of planning conditions. One places a time limit on the 
construction requiring the construction to have begun by July 2015. In 
the case where the Councils look to procure a new EPC through a 
Design, Build, Finance and Operate Contract there is a high risk that 
the EPC contractor would not meet the requirements of the Planning 
Permission in terms of time period and therefore planning permission 
may need to be obtained again. In this scenario it would be appropriate 
to reflect that it has taken around 15 years to obtain current planning 
permission and there may be a significant risk to the Councils 
achieving their required waste disposal within the Counties by the end 
of the current PFI Contract (2023). 

Capacity of Waste Disposal Streams 

An assessment of the Councils existing landfill capacity has confirmed 
that all landfill capacity within the Councils area is likely to be used by 
2023. Therefore under this option the Councils are likely to be exposed 
to both the cost and availability of alternative out of Counties waste 
disposal options post 2023. Assessments have been made on the 
likely availability and costs of disposal from the out of County market 
post 2023 but with recent failures by neighbouring local authorities and 
the potential for the landfill market to be both high cost (given Landfill 
Tax) and a Supplier biased market as demand outstrips supply in post 
2023 it is likely that the Councils would be exposed to increased costs. 
In addition, the environmental impact of hauling waste to out of County 
disposal sites would have a detrimental impact on the Counties of 
Worcestershire and Herefordshire as well as surrounding Counties. 

 
8.5 Funding Approach for the EfW Facility Variation 

Summary Strategic Case 

8.5.1 The preferred option, Option 2, in December 2013 required that the 
Councils act in the Capacity of Funders.  This required that the Councils: 

244



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 53                                                                                              Draft 
 

a) Make changes to their Treasury Policy Strategy and associated 
Treasury Management Statements to permit the provision of 
funding to MWM including the increase in Authorised Borrowing 
Limits and council credit ceilings; 

b) Make changes to their Statement of Prudential Indicators 
Minimum Revenue Provision Plans and Capital Programmes in 
advance of the years where funding will be advanced to MWM 
to support the construction payments profile. 

8.5.2 The Strategic Case for the Councils becoming lender is clear and 
summarised below: 

· Market Failure in the provision of a Commercial Bank Senior Term 
Loan Facility within the time needed to execute the Contract Variation; 

· The market for the provision of Commercial Bank Finance has been 
tested on two occasions by the Financial Advisor to MWM Credit 
Agricole (CACIB).  

8.5.3 Further information regarding the Councils as Lender is detailed in the 
December 2013 Cabinet Reports and also a report to Worcestershire 
County Council in January 2014, link below. 

Worcestershire County Council Report Jan 2014 – Item 7 

8.5.4 In December 2013, Cabinets recommended that Full Council approve the 
provision for Lending for the variation (Option 2), including consideration 
that the risks to the Councils do not outweigh the financial benefits to the 
Councils of becoming the Lenders.  Worcestershire County Council 
approved this at full Council in January 2014 and Herefordshire Council 
approved this at Council in February 2014. 

8.5.5 The Councils established a separate advisor team to support 
negotiations with MWM on the EfW Variation from a Funding perspective 
as set out below: 

· Lenders Technical Advisor Fichtner 

· Lenders Insurance Advisor Aon  

· Lenders Financial Advisor Deloitte  

· Lenders Legal Advisor  Ashurst 

Post Financial Close - Deliverability of Solution 

8.5.6 The Councils as lender have made arrangements post Financial Close to 
ensure appropriate technical and financial advice is available to fulfil its 
oversight role of MWM.  

8.5.7 Ultimately this service will be responsible to the Chief Finance Officer in 
Worcestershire and the Chief Officer (Finance and Commercial Services) 
in Herefordshire who will in turn be responsible to the arrangements 
established in each authority to ensure there is sufficient separation of 
roles between the Councils as Funder and the Councils as a Waste 
Disposal Authority. 

8.5.8 The Cabinets will continue to be responsible for exercising the role of the 
Councils' executive, acting as a waste disposal authorities within the 

245



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 54                                                                                              Draft 
 

overall budget and policy framework set by the Council.  It will have no 
supervisory or other responsibility for the WMSC Lending arrangements. 

8.5.9 The Councils recognise that ultimately all decisions either flow up to (if 
required) or are delegated from Full Council. However, knowing that this 
scenario is fixed then effort has been made to ensure that delegated 
separation of duties for Members is as clear as possible. 

8.6 Councils' Budgets 

Revenue Budgets 

8.6.1 The Councils budgets are set out in their Medium Term Financial Plans 
(MTFP) which covers the current year plus a three year period for both 
Worcestershire County Council and Herefordshire Council.  

8.6.2 The level of any borrowing by each Council is controlled by its borrowing 
limits set as part of its prudential indicators. These indicators incorporate 
the plans set out in the MTFP and require each Council to undertake an 
affordability assessment to ensure that the Councils are not able to over 
borrow. Prudential Indicators are incorporated into each MTFP and 
approved by each Full Council in February each year at the same time 
as the budget is approved. Any subsequent changes to the prudential 
indicators in year will be by the approval of Full Council. 

8.6.3 The commitment to the EfW Variation and the impact will be incorporated 
into the Councils MTFP process and will therefore be taken into account 
when determining what each Council can do with regards to other 
projects.  

8.6.4 The expected additional budget for the disposal of waste covered by this 
solution was set at £6 million in 2016/17 (the "affordability envelope"). 
This was the level currently modelled in the MTFP.  The position at 
Financial Close shows a total requirement (including uplift in unitary 
charge) of £3.8 million. 

Landfill Tax 

8.6.5 Over the period of the procurement, the cost of landfill has escalated in 
accordance with Central Government published guidance. At the start of 
the project, in 1998, the Landfill Tax rate was set at £7 per tonne. At the 
time of considering the EfW Variation in the 2013/14 financial year, 
Landfill Tax is currently set at £72 per tonne. Central Government has 
issued guidance to confirm that this will escalate to £80 in 2014/15 but 
has not confirmed future rises beyond 2014/15. For the purpose of 
financial modelling, Landfill Tax increase at the rate of inflation from 
2015/16 onwards and sensitivity analysis has been undertaken to 
confirm the impact on the Options Appraisal of any further changes. 
These assumptions have been applied in the EfW Variation Financial 
Model (Options 1, 1a &2) in respect of unrecyclable residues and the 
portion of waste which cannot be treated and across all applicable waste 
streams in Options 3-5. 

8.6.6 Rising Landfill Tax costs have been the key driver in encouraging the 
Councils to seek alternative waste treatment and disposal options 
through executing this EfW Variation – originally envisaged in 1998. 
While rates beyond 2014/15 have not yet been announced, it is 
considered unlikely that rates would decrease sufficiently to alter the 
affordability position of the Solution relative to the "as is" scenario, with 

246



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 55                                                                                              Draft 
 

rate increases being more likely. However, the Councils are mindful of 
potential socio-economic and political changes which may occur in the 
short to medium term which may affect the affordability position or the 
"continue as is" scenario. 

8.7 Cost Impact of Carbon 

8.7.1 MWM is responsible for compliance with the Carbon Reduction 
Commitment (CRC) Energy Efficiency scheme as the holder of the 
supply contract for energy consumed in operations of the facility. Severn 
Waste (MWM O&M Subcontractor) has indicated that they do not qualify 
for the scheme and therefore no costs will apply. 

8.8 Position at Financial close 

8.8.1 Following the Cabinet decisions in December 2013 and the approval for 
the councils as Lenders (Jan / Feb 2014), the Councils progressed the 
conclusion of the Contract Variation with MWM in line with Option 2 as 
approved.  Financial Close was reached on 21 May 2014 and the final 
position is reflected in this document.  This shows: 

· The EfW Variation Options Analysis shows that the MWM Solution 
(Option 2) represents a cost to the Councils of: 

· c£680 million in Net Present Cost terms across the Useful Life of 
the EfW Plant; 

· an uplift of circa £2.7 million in Unitary Payment in Year 1 
following construction (with an additional £1.1 million 
commitment from the councils, totalling £3.8m); and 

· a saving in nominal terms of £577 million across the Useful Life 
of the EfW Plant when compared with the “continue as is” option 
(Option 3).  

8.8.2 The Net Present Cost of £680 million therefore includes the repayment of 
the PWLB debt principle, the financing costs, contract management 
costs, business rates and the monthly gate fee payable during the 
operational phase of the project. 

8.8.3 The base case "continue as is" scenario, which assumes the Councils' 
residual waste flow is sent directly to landfill during the same period, 
represents a Net Present Cost to the Councils of £843 million over the 
assumed Useful Life of the EfW Plant. This indicates that the MWM. 
Solution is £163 million cheaper than the "continue as is" alternative for 
the disposal of Councils' residual waste over a 25 year period post 
construction in Net Present Cost terms. 

  

247



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 56                                                                                              Draft 
 

9 Stakeholder Communications 
9.1 Changes to the communications strategy since Financial Close 

9.1.1 All the major operational facilities provided under the Joint Municipal 
Waste Management Strategy (JWMSC) have an established Community 
Liaison Group (CLG) chaired by the Local County Councillor.  These 
groups consist of: 

· The local County Councillor 
· Representatives of MWM 
· Representatives of the client team 
· Representatives from the local Parish Councils 
· Representatives from local interest groups 
· Representatives from the Environment Agency 

9.1.2 From time to time other parties will be invited to attend these meetings to 
discuss specific concerns or developments e.g. planning, permitting and 
nuisance. 

9.2 Staff Transfers 

9.2.1 As this is a variation to the original contract that was signed in 1998 there 
are no staff transfers required. 

9.3 Engagement with other relevant authorities  

9.3.1 Engagement with the statutory consultees started prior to the planning 
application being submitted, continued through discharging the pre-
commencement conditions and into the operational phase of the EfW 
facility.  This engagement has proven to be successful on other waste 
projects helping all parties to obtain the best results for those involved in 
operating, policing and living with the facility. 

9.4 Engagement with local population since Financial Close 

9.4.1 Through the period before the planning application was submitted and 
during the planning process MWM undertook a series of consultation 
events in the vicinity of the proposed plant and established a Community 
Liaison Group. 

9.4.2 A link to the Contractors Community Liaison Group webpage is available 
below. 

 http://www.envirecover.co.uk/clg.htm 

9.5 Engagement with any community groups or NGOs involved or 
interested in waste management in the area 

9.5.1 A local opposition group was established in the early stages of the 
process to co-ordinate opposition of local people.  W.A.I.L - 
Worcestershire Against Incineration and Landfill - have been the focal 
point of local objection.  Members of this group have attended the CLG 
previously mentioned. 

9.5.2 In addition there have been a number of FOI and EIR requests all dealt 
with by various teams within the Councils.  Both Herefordshire and 
Worcestershire have ensured a consistent approach to communications 
and responses to information requests where appropriate. 

 

248



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 57                                                                                              Draft 
 

9.6 Details of any public consultations  

9.6.1 The review of the JMWMS was widely consulted on and the details of 
that consultation can be found here in Annex H: 

http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/cms/recycling-and-waste/waste-
strategy.aspx 

 

 

  

249



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 58                                                                                              Draft 
 

10 Timeline 
10.1 Timetable 

Activity Date 

Submit Draft Variation Business Case to 
DEFRA 

July 2013 

VBC Clarification August 2013 

VBC Feedback from DEFRA and Treasury Sept 2013 

Ongoing dialogue with DEFRA and HMT December 2013 

Cabinets – Herefordshire and Worcestershire December 2013  

DEFRA confirmed reassessment of WIG 
Credits 

December 2013 

Councils (Funding) – Herefordshire and 
Worcestershire 

Jan / Feb 2014 

Discharge of pre-commencement Planning 
Conditions 

May 2014 

Negotiations with MWM concluded May 2014 

Financial Close May 2014 

Agree Variation to WMSC May 2014 

MWM agree EPC Contract May 2014 

Site Mobilisation May 2014 

EfW Operational 2017 

Handback to Councils (end of Contract) 2023 

 

 

  

250



Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
    

P a g e  | 59                                                                                              Draft 
 

11 APPENDICES 
 

APPENDIX A:  Contract Variations 

 

APPENDIX B:  Programme Risk Register 

 

APPENDIX C:  Organisation 

 
 
 
 
 
 

251



 

 

 
 
APPENDIX A:  Summary of Contract Variations 

Variation 
Number Subject of Variation Date of expiry 

1 Alternative arrangements for the collection, storage and treatment/disposal of fridges/freezers. 01-Jan-08 

2 Delay of refurbishment of Malvern Household Waste Disposal Site.  13-Jan-03 

3 Confirmation of date to complete Hill & Moor Landfill Site and Rotherwas MRFs. 31-Mar-03 

4 Dealing with the cost consequences of sending waste to landfill rather than to an EFW plant.   

5 The Source Separation Service no longer been required under the Contract.  30-Sep-03 

6 Extending the opening hours at Upton Household Waste Site.   

7 Variation to excess rejects drafting in Variation 5. 28-Feb-03 

8 Trial use of the Coventry EFW and the cost of transporting waste to the same. 30-Sep-03 

9 Approval to apply for planning permission at the Worcester East Household Waste Site.  

10 Provision of Recyclate Bulking Facilities in Bromsgrove, Redditch and Wyre Forest.  

11 Extended opening hours for Tenbury Household Waste Site and licence fee for the same. 21-Nov-03 

12 Extended opening hours of Upton on Severn Household Waste Site.  

13 Extended opening hours for Tenbury Household Waste Site. 21-Feb-04 

14 Store and load kerbside recycling bags at Leominster Transfer Station and Rotherwas Materials 
Reclamation Facility.  

15 Extended opening hours for Tenbury Household Waste Site.  

16 Trial of additional staff, improved signage and wood recycling on the household waste site recycling 
rate. 01-May-05 

17 Separate collection system at Household Waste Sites and an alternative disposal route for all tyres 
received in the contract waste stream.  

2
5
2



   
 Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
 

P a g e  | 61 
 
 

Variation 
Number Subject of Variation Date of expiry 

18 Extra transport and tipping cost through the use of licensed third party sites for the disposal of 
asbestos. 31-Mar-06 

19 Introduction of new demountable waste collection system at Bromsgrove District Council. 01-Apr-08 

20 Extra transport and processing cost through the use of third party sites for composting green waste. 31-Mar-05 

21 Extra transport and processing cost through the use of third party sites for composting green waste. 31-Mar-06 

22 Provision of additional staff, improved signage, site modifications and wood recycling. 31-Mar-06 

23 Extra collection, transport and tipping costs through the use of third party sites for the disposal of 
cathode ray tubes. 01-Jan-08 

24 Use of third party contractors for the collection and disposal of fluorescent tubes. 01-Jan-08 

25 Not used  

26 Use of the Coventry EFW and the cost of transporting waste to the same.  

27 Use of bulking bays as a bulking facility for commingled recyclables delivered by Redditch Borough 
Council, Worcester City Council and Wyre Forest Borough Council.  

28 Allocation of cost for administration and consignment fee for collection of hazardous waste.  

29 Allocation of costs arising under the Aggregates Levy.  

30 Allocation of costs arising from the requirement to have a PPC permit.  

31 Initiation of negotiations with a developer to agree the purchase of land and the development of a 
Commingled Materials Reclamation Facility.  

32 Additional staff, signage and site modifications. 31-Mar-07 

33 Acquisition of land and progression of planning application for commingled MRF.  

34 Initiation of negotiations with a developer to agree the purchase of land and the development of a 
Commingled Materials Reclamation Facility.  

2
5
3



   
 Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
 

P a g e  | 62 
 
 

Variation 
Number Subject of Variation Date of expiry 

35 Extra transport and processing costs for the composting of green waste. 31-Mar-07 

36 Allocation of costs for modifications to the site licences and working plans to enable the handling of 
CRTs, fluorescent tubes and equipment containing ozone depleting substances.  

37 Input Restrictions on Household Waste Sites.  

38 Extra transport and processing costs for the composting of green waste. 31-Mar-08 

39 Provision of additional staff, improved signage, site modifications and wood recycling. 31-Mar-08 

40 Not used  

41 Not used  

42 Extra transport and processing costs for the composting of green waste. 31-Mar-09 

43 Adjustment in respect to WEEE. 31-Dec-09 

44 Food Waste 10-Jan-14 

45 Introduction of new collection vehicles. 26-Aug-09 

46 Introduction of new collection vehicles.  31-Mar-12 

47 Extra transport and processing costs for the composting of green waste. 31-Mar-10 

48 Mercia to enter into a lease for use of Kington Household Waste Site. 04-Dec-09 

49 MWM to enter into a lease for use of Rotherwas Composting Plant. 02-Dec-13 

50 Plasterboard 31-Mar-12 

51 EnviroSort  

52 WEEE 31-Mar-12 

53 Additional staff, signage and site modifications. 31-Mar-12 

54 Landfill permit 31-Mar-12 

2
5
4



   
 Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
 

P a g e  | 63 
 
 

Variation 
Number Subject of Variation Date of expiry 

55 Extra transport and processing costs for the composting of green waste. 31-Mar-11 

56 Battery Directive 31-Dec-09 

57 Extra transport and processing costs for the composting of green waste. 31-Mar-12 

58 Timber  

59 Asbestos 31-Mar-12 

60 Additional staff, signage and site modifications.  

61 Allocation of cost for administration and consignment fee for collection of hazardous waste.  

62 Introduction of new collection vehicles.  

63 Kington Household Waste Site lease  

64 Plasterboard  

65 Green Waste (Wyre Forest)  

66 Landfill permit  

67 WEEE  

68 Tyres  

69 Third party landfill  

70 Extra transport and processing costs for the composting of green waste.  

71 Asbestos  

72 Rotherwas Composting Plant lease termination. 30-Apr-14 

 

  

2
5
5



   
 Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
 

P a g e  | 64 
 
 

APPENDIX B:   

Herefordshire & Worcestershire Waste Management Contract Variation:  Risk Register (Summary) 
Programme: EfW Contract Variation 
 
# Subject / 

Workstream Risk Description Mitigation 

1 Planning Parameter - Planning: No planning conditions that 
degrade the performance of the plant to such an extent 
it is not suitable to meet the output specification. 

Planning Conditions will have no impact on the performance of the Plant. 

2 Planning Parameter - Planning:  No planning conditions that 
render the Variation not value for money for the 
Authorities 

Conditions will have no impact on the Value for Money of the Plant 

3 Finance Parameter - Financial:  Not affordable for HC Financial plans incorporate likely increase in costs.  Improved position at Financial 
Close more favourable.  

4 Finance Parameter - Financial:  Not affordable for WCC Financial plans incorporate likely increases in costs.  Improved position at 
Financial Close. 

5 Finance Parameter - Financial:  Total cost of Waste contract 
and Variation (for life of waste contract) is within overall 
affordability envelope 

Negotiations with Mercia.  Well within affordability envelope at Financial Close. 

6 Finance Parameter - Financial:  Affordable in relation to likely 
costs of ownership and operation beyond the life of the 
Waste Contract 

Included in financial plans (WCC and HC).  Improved position at Financial Close/ 

7 Finance Parameter - Financial:  Additional cost of the Variation 
represents value for money  

Mercia's competitive procurement process for EPC Contract – reviewed by 
advisors 

8 Finance Parameter - Financial:  Satisfactory EPC contractor 
procurement (managed by Mercia) 

Competitive process operated by Mercia.  Oversight by authority and input from 
advisors to authority. 
 
EPC Contract now in place (May 2014) 

9 Finance Parameter - Financial:  IRR over the whole life of the 
contract shall not exceed the IRR used in the financial 
model in the original procurement 

IRR is lower than the original WMSC 

10 Finance Parameter - Financial:  DEFRA (WIDP) approval of 
the Variation Business Case 

Draft VBC submitted end of July 2013.  Progressed points of clarification with 
DEFRA.  Value for Money assessment included within December 2013 Cabinet 
Report.  DEFRA reassessment of WIG credits in December 2013.   

2
5
6



   
 Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
 

P a g e  | 65 
 
 

# Subject / 
Workstream Risk Description Mitigation 

11 Finance Parameter - Contractual:  DEFRA / HMT – approval 
of the variation on grounds of VFM 

VBC included VFM assessment.  Progressed points of clarification with DEFRA 
and HMT.  Value for Money assessment included within December 2013 Cabinet 
Report.  DEFRA reassessment of WIG credits in December 2013.   

12 Legal Parameter - Contractual:  No alterations to Waste 
Contract (structure or financial basis) resulting from 
incorporation of the variation other than changes 
necessary to (a) give effect to the variation, (b) bring 
Waste Contract into compliance with current and 
foreseeable legislation and (c) net effect of which is to 
deliver commercial benefit to the Councils 

Variation drafted on basis of minimal change other than where necessary.  All 
parties agreed. 
 
Updated to reflect current legislation and good practice provisions.  

13 Legal Parameter - Contractual: Execution of the variation by 
the authorities seen as ultra vires the power of the 
Councils 

Legal opinion from Leading Counsel 

14 Legal Parameter - Contractual:  Procurement challenge 
resulting in delay 

Legal opinion from Leading Counsel 

15 Legal Parameter - Contractual: Extension of the period of 
the Waste Contract 

Authorities have confirmed that the Waste Contract will not be extended beyond 
2023 

16 Legal Parameter - Contractual:  WCC and HC Agreement to 
extend the Joint Agreement 

Revised Joint Working Agreement in place (May 2014) between Herefordshire 
Council and Worcestershire County Council. 

17 Technical Parameter - Technical:  Reliability, Availability, 
Maintainability and Safety and Life Cycle Costs are 
such that the costs of running the facility no worse than 
the market 

Evaluation by Authorities Technical Advisors.  Part of competitive procurement 
process. 

18 Technical Parameter - Technical:  Reliability, Availability, 
Maintainability and Safety and Life Cycle Costs are 
such that the costs of running the facility are not 
deflated during the period in the run up to the end of 
the Waste Contract 

Evaluation by Authorities Technical Advisors.  Part of competitive procurement 
process. 

19 Technical Parameter - Technical:  Handback condition of the 
facility at the end of the Waste Contract to be: 

· In accordance with specifications pursuant to 
which procured 

· In a condition consistent with proper use to that 
time 

Evaluation by Authorities Technical Advisors. 
 
Full details of Handback finalised as part of the contract variation agreed with 
Mercia (May 2014) 

2
5
7



   
 Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
 

P a g e  | 66 
 
 

# Subject / 
Workstream Risk Description Mitigation 

· Capable of being operated for the remainder of 
their design life 

· Capable of being refinanced at commercial 
rates 

· In a condition having regard to the 
maintenance reserve 

20 Technical Parameter - Technical:  Incorporation of any 
prescriptive specification items 

No prescriptive restrictions currently required.  

21 Technical Parameter - Technical:  Incorporation of an operating 
restrictions required by the authorities 

No operating restrictions currently required 

22 Technical Parameter - Technical:  component warranties 
requested in Mercia' contract documents 

Evaluated by Councils' Technical and Legal Advisors. 

23 Technical Financing arrangements " Legal opinion from Leading Counsel 
24 Programme / 

Planning 
Impact on planning permission should construction be 
delayed 

Mandate to carry out pre-engineering / advanced works secured (WCC Cabinet 
Dec 2012). 
 
Advanced works contact scoped (not entered into) and some enabling work 
authorised 
 
Pre-commencement planning conditions discharged May 2014. 
 
Contract Variation agreed May 2014  
 
Site Mobilisation started May 2014 

25 Operation Trespassers on site Covered under conditions of licence.  Fencing in place.  Lease in place. 
26 Finance Contractors become insolvent Sponsors and EPC Security Package in place and financial due diligence 

completed. 
27 Programme Delay in Cabinet Decision  - WCC Cabinet date – 12 December 2013 
28 Programme Delay in Cabinet Decision - HC Cabinet date – 12 December 2013 
29 Lending Prudential Borrowing cannot be secured - HC Full Council – February 2014 

30 Lending Prudential Borrowing cannot be secured - WCC Full Council – January 2014 

31 Finance 
Foreign exchange rate movements 

Once Financial Model finalised assessed the risk to financial close. Monitor Forex 
Rates.   

2
5
8



   
 Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
 

P a g e  | 67 
 
 

# Subject / 
Workstream Risk Description Mitigation 

32 Finance Inflation changes - increases further Inflation is fixed at agreed indexation from 1998. 

33 Finance Escalation of EPC contractor costs Fixed Price with defined escalations 

34 Programme Cabinet decide not to progress with the contract 
variation 

Consider alternative options 
Cabinet decisions reached – December 2014 

35 Operational Changes in Waste tonnages Financial Model and plans built on forecast waste tonnages – reviewed by 
authorities 

36 Finance Third party income levels are below levels assumed in 
the model 

Various sensitivities considered. The C&I waste represents a fairly small element 
of the total waste processing plant capacity. 

37 Operational Waste is not accepted  As per the Waste Management Services Contract, the EfW is only one element of 
an integrated waste service management contract.  Mercia has overall 
responsibility for the waste to be disposed of including the Mixed MRF, EfW and 
Landfill. 

38 Operational Changes in the composition of waste Details covered within the contract 

39 Legal Changes in law in relation to waste Details covered within the contract 
40 Legal Land appropriation WCC has 'appropriated' the site for planning purposes.  Mercia will benefit from 

WCC appropriation.  Lease agreed as part of concluding the contract variation  
41 Legal / Finance Damage to facility Insurances in place.  Insurance advise to authorities as WDAs and as Lenders 
42 Programme Under Performance  Covered by the contract 

43 Operational Landfill options beyond 2023 Consideration of various options 

44 Programme Delay in concluding the contract variation · Cabinet and Council decisions in each authorities 
· DEFRA reassessment of WIG Credits 
· Communications – Members, Mercia, WCC / HC, DEFRA, HMT 
· Mercia progressed EPC contract 
· Keep Programme Team engaged, including advisors 

 

 

  

2
5
9



   
 Herefordshire and Worcestershire 
 

P a g e  | 68 
 
 

APPENDIX C:  GOVERNANCE 

 

 

 

2
6
0


	Agenda
	Public Information and fire info
	4 Minutes
	5 Progress Report on 2014/15 Internal Audit Plan
	Appendix A - SWAP Plan Progress Report 2014-15
	Appendix B - 2014-15 Annual Plan Progress
	Appendix C - Audit Framework Definitions

	6 Review of the Council's Audit Findings Report for 2013/14
	Appendix A - Grant Thornton, The Audit Findings for Herefordshire Council

	7 Statement of Accounts
	Appendix A - Statement of Accounts 2013-14
	Appendix B - Draft Letter of Representation_
	Appendix C - Annual Governance Statement

	8 Waste VFM
	Appendix One - Final Variation Business Case


